# ADVANCES IN HORTICULTURAL SCIENCE

Formerly Rivista dell'Ortoflorofrutticoltura Italiana founded in 1876 and issued by University of Florence, Italy

## EDITORS-IN-CHIEF

Stefano Mancuso University of Florence Florence, Italy

# ASSOCIATE EDITORS

**Elisa Azzarello** University of Florence Florence, Italy

**Giulia Atzori** University of Florence Florence, Italy

Frantisek Baluska University of Bonn Bonn, Germany

Karim Ben Hamed Laboratoire des Plantes Extrêmophiles Centre de Biotechnologie de Borj Cédria Hammam, Tunisie

**Carla Benelli** National Research Council Sesto Fiorentino (FI), Italy

**Stefano Biricolti** University of Florence Florence, Italy

**Francois Bouteau** Université Paris Diderot-Paris 7, Sorbonne Paris Cité Orsay Cedex, France

**Elena-Cocuta Buciumeanu** National Research and Development Institute for Biotechnology in Horticulture Bucarest, Romania

**Cecilia Brunetti** National Research Council Sesto Fiorentino (FI) Italy

**Stefania Caparrotta** University of Florence Florence, Italy

**Diego Comparini** University of Florence Florence, Italy Mauro Centritto National Research Council Sesto Fiorentino (FI), Italy

Vadzim Dzemidchyk University of Minsk Minsk, Belorus

Rudolf Eibach Institute for Grapevine Breeding Siebeldinge, Germany

**E.P. Eleftheriou** Aristotle University of Thessaloniki Thessaloniki, Greece

Andrea Fabbri University of Parma Parma, Italy Silvano Fares Consiglio per la Ricerca e la sperimentazione in Agricoltura Rome, Italy

Martin Fellner Palacky University and Institute of Experimental Botany ASCR Olomouc-Holice Czech Republic

Vassilis Fotopoulos Cyprus University of Technology Limassol, Cyprus

Monica Gagliano The University of Western Australia Crawley, Australia

**Edgardo Giordani** University of Florence Florence, Italy

Guidi Nissim Werther University of Florence Florence, Italy Luis Gurovich Universidad Católica de Chile Santiago, Chile

**Yoichiro Hoshino** Hokkaido University Sapporo, Japan

Lin Jinxing Beijing Forestry University Beijing, P.R. China

Maurizio Lambardi National Research Council Sesto Fiorentino (FI) Italy

Francesco Loreto National Research Council Rome, Italy

Andrea Luvisi University of Salento Lecce, Italy

George Manganaris Cyprus University of Technology Lemesos, Cyprus

**Elisa Masi** University of Florence Florence, Italy

**Christian Mazars** Paul Sabatier University - Toulouse III Toulose, France

Alessio Mengoni University of Florence Florence, Italy

Franco Miglietta National Research Council S. Michele all'Adige (TN), Italy

Axel Mithoefer Max Planck Institute Jena, Germany **Susan J. Murch** University of British Columbia Kelowna, British Columbia, Canada

**Stefania Nin** CREA Pescia (PT), Italy

**Peter M. Neumann** Faculty of Civil and Environmental Engineering Haifa, Israel

Velemir Ninkovic Department of Ecology Uppsala, Sve

**Camilla Pandolfi** University of Florence Florence, Italy

Alberto Pardossi University of Pisa Pisa, Italy

**Igor Pottosin** Universidad de Colima Colima, Mexico

Silvia Radice Facultad de Agronomía y Ciencias Agroalimetarias Morón, Buenos Aires, Argentina Hava F. Rapoport Instituto de Agricultura Sostenibible, CSIC Cordoba, Spain

Tapani Repo Finnish Forest Research Institute Joensuu, Finland

**Sergey Shabala** University of Tasmania Hobart, Tasmania, Australia

Hans Schultz Geisenheim Research Center Geseinheim, Germany

Jorge Soria INIA Las Brujas, Uruguay

**Vicente Sotés Ruiz** Università Politecnica di Madrid Madrid, Spain

**A.K. Srivastava** National Research Center for Citrus Nagpur, Maharashtra, India

**Cosimo Taiti** University of Florence Florence, Italy Narendra Tuteia ICGEB New delhi, India

**Kawano Tomonori** The University of Kitakyushu Kitakyushu, Japan

Teofilo Vamerali University of Padua,

Padua, Italy

Johan Van Huylenbroeck Institute for Agricultural and Fisheries Research Melle, Belgium

Marie-Christine Van Labeke Ghent University Ghent, Belgium

Liz Van Volkenburgh University of Washington Seattle, Washington, USA

**Carlo Viti** University of Florence Florence, Italy

Yinglang Wan Beijing Forestry University Beijing, P.R. China

# MANAGEMENT EDITOR

**Cinzia Silori** University of Florence Sesto Fiorentino (FI), Italy

## Advances in Horticultural Science is covered in the following indexing and abstracting services:

 ACNP Catalogo Italiano dei Periodici - AGRICOLA - AGRICULTURE Journals - AGRIS -APE Journal - BASE Bielefeld Academic Search Engine - BIOBASE - Biological Abstracts - Biological Science Journals PQ - BIOSIS Preview THOMSON REUTERS -CAB Abstracts - EBSCO - EZB Elektronische Zeitschriften Bibliothek - Universitäts bibliothek Regensburg - Google Scholar -HORTICULTURAL Abstracts -Journal Seek. A Searchable Database of Online Scholarly Journals - JURN - Natural Science Journals PQ - NewJour. Electronic Journals & Newsletters, University of Georgetown - OAISTER oclc - Ornamental Horticulture CABI - Plant Breeding Abstract CABI - Proquest - Scirus ELSEVIER - SciTech Journals - SciVerse SCOPUS ELSEVIER - Searchteam - Ulrich's Periodicals Directory - WoS Web of Science THOMSON REUTERS - WorldCat

Advances in Horticultural Science is published by the Department of Agri-Food Production and Environmental Sciences, University of Florence, Viale delle Idee, 30, 50019 Sesto Fiorentino (FI), Italy Phone +39-055-4574021-22, Fax +39-055-4574910, E-mail: ahs@dispaa.unifi.it

## CONTENTS

NdereyIMANA A., NYALALA S., MURERWA P., GAIDASHOVA S. Growth, yield and fruit quality of tomato under different integrated management options against <i>Tuta absoluta</i> Meyrick	123
Rashidiani N., Nazari F., Javadi T., Samadi S. Comparative postharvest responses of carnation and chrysanthemum to synthesized silver nanopar- ticles (AgNPs)	133
AMUJI C.F., BEAUMONT L.J., RODRIGUEZ M.E. Simulating the impact of projected West African heatwaves and water stress on the physiology and yield of three tomato varieties	147
MENEGATTI R.D., SOUZA A.G., BIANCHI V.J. Different environments and doses of controlled-release fertilizer in peach rootstocks production	157
Rostami Tobnag G., Fattahi S., Khodabakhshzadeh A. Effects of putrescine application in culture medium in improving chamomile [ <i>Chamomilla recutita</i> (L.) Rauschert.] tolerance to osmotic stress under <i>in vitro</i> conditions	167
Raei Y., Sayyadi Ahmadabad M., Ghassemi-Golezani K., Ghassemi S. Pinto bean and black mustard responses to bio-fertilizers under intercroppping system	175
De Paula V.F.S., VILVERT J.C., DE ARÁUJO N.O., DO NASCIMENTO I.B., DE MEDEIROS J.F., AROUCHA E.M.M. Influence of plant biostimulant and spacing on production and postharvest conservation of water- melons cv. Quetzali	183
Аввазіғак А., Valizadeнкал В., Karıмı M., Bagнеrı H. The first report: The effect of garlic extract on rooting of cuttings of some ornamental plants and fruit trees	191
MIRSHEKARI A., MADANI B., WALL M., BIGGS A.R. Aloe vera coatings maintain antioxidants of fig ( <i>Ficus carica</i> L.) fruit during storage	205
TADAYON M.S., HOSSEINI S.M. Effect of spread and shallow irrigation wetted area and application of organic mulch on citrus decline amelioration	213
STEIDLE NETO A.J., LOPES D.C., SILVA W.A. Feasibility of Vis/NIR spectroscopy to detect and estimate fungicide residues on intact lettuces	223

# SHORT NOTE

FERNANDES V.N.A., MANGOLIN C.A., NEVES A.F., SOUSA NOGUEIRA F.C., ZENI NETO H., MACHADO M.F.P.S. Extraction of total protein from shoots of *Cereus* morphologicak variants (Cactaceae) for proteomic analysis





(\*) **Corresponding author:** assinapol@gmail.com

#### Citation:

NDEREYIMANA A., NYALALA S., MURERWA P., GAIDASHOVA S., 2020 - Growth, yield and fruit quality of tomato under different integrated management options against Tuta absoluta Meyrick. - Adv. Hort. Sci., 34(2): 123-132

#### Copyright:

© 2020 Ndereyimana A., Nyalala S., Murerwa P., Gaidashova S. This is an open access, peer reviewed article published by Firenze University Press (http://www.fupress.net/index.php/ahs/) and distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License, which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original author and source are credited.

#### Data Availability Statement:

All relevant data are within the paper and its Supporting Information files.

**Competing Interests:** 

The authors declare no competing interests.

Received for publication 11 January 2020 Accepted for publication 18 February 2020

# Growth, yield and fruit quality of tomato under different integrated management options against *Tuta absoluta* Meyrick

- A. Ndereyimana <sup>1, 2 (\*)</sup>, S. Nyalala <sup>1</sup>, P. Murerwa <sup>1</sup>, S. Gaidashova <sup>2</sup>
- <sup>1</sup> Department of Crops, Horticulture and Soils, Egerton University, PO Box 536, 20155 Egerton, Kenya.
- <sup>2</sup> Department of Agriculture Research and Technology Transfer, Rwanda Agriculture and Animal Resources Development Board, PO Box 5016, Kigali, Rwanda.

Key words: azadirachtin, Beauveria bassiana, integrated pest management, Metarhizium anisopliae, Phytolacca dodecandra, Solanum lycopersicum L., Steinernema, Tephrosia vogelii.

Abstract: This study evaluated the effect of entomopathogens and plant extracts, used against Tuta absoluta, on growth, yield, and fruit quality of tomato. Two field trials were carried out in a randomised compled block design, replicated thrice. The treatments were Steinernema sp. RW14-M-C2a-3, Steinernema sp. RW14-M-C2a-3, Metatech®WP (Metarhizium anisopliae, Strain FCM Ar 23B3), Beauvitech®WP (Beauveria bassiana, Strain J25) as entomopathogens, Tephrosia vogelii and Phytolacca dodecandra as plant extracts, and azadirachtin 0.03% EC. Imidacloprid and water also were included as positive and negative controls, respectively. The best growth and yield parameters were recorded with the entomopathogens and azadirachtin, which were insignificantly different in most cases. The increase in yied of healthy fruit per plant (average of two trials) compared to the negative control (water spray) was 11.4, 10.8,10.1, 9.6, 3.96, 2.2, 11.7 and 2.4 folds for Steinernema sp. RW14-M-C2a-3, Steinernema sp. RW14-M-C2a-3, Metatech®WP, Beauvitech WP, T. vogelii, P. dodecandra, azadirachtin, and imidacloprid, respectively. There was no significant difference in number of leaves per plant and fruit quality parameters. The entomopathogens and azadirachtin, which exhibited a capacity to enhance tomato growth and reduced yield losses due to T. absoluta, are recommended to be included in integrated pest management programme on tomato.

#### 1. Introduction

The increasing world population requires food security, which can be partly achieved by reducing the portion of food lost every year as a result of pests (Kumar and Omkar, 2018). However, yield losses inflicted by crop pests have been observed to increase constantly despite different strategies being implemented globally (Dhaliwal *et al.*, 2010).

Tomato (Solanum lycopersicum L.) is one of the most popular vegeta-

bles in the world and its fruits are a rich source of nutrients and health-promoting compounds (Luna-Guevara *et al.*, 2014; Asensio *et al.*, 2019). One average-sized tomato fruit offers 40% and 20% of the recommended daily amount of vitamins C and A, respectively. It also provides a significant amount of dietary fibres and minerals like calcium and potassium (Tigist *et al.*, 2013). Furthermore, the antioxidant activity of ascorbic acid, carotenoids, and phenols protects humans against cancers and cardiovascular diseases (Tigist *et al.*, 2013; Luna-Guevara *et al.*, 2014). Therefore, any technology used on tomato crop has to be investigated not only for its effect on growth and yield but also on fruit quality parameters.

Several pests have been reported to attack tomato throughout its production cycle (Kumar and Omkar, 2018). The tomato leaf miner, Tuta absoluta Meyrick (Lepidoptera: Gelechiidae), was recognised among the major pests since 1964 in Argentina from where it invaded the rest of South America (Desneux et al., 2010). Following Spain invasion during the year 2006, the pest spread to many other European countries, the Middle East, more than 40 African countries, and almost all Southern West and Central Asian countries neighbouring China, the world's largest tomato producer (Biondi et al., 2018; Mansour et al., 2018). In only one decade, T. absoluta spread drastically and the world tomato production area under its invasion increased from 3% to 60% (Biondi et al., 2018). In Rwanda, T. absoluta was first recorded in Bugesera District in 2015 (FAO, 2015), after which it quickly spread in all tomato production areas of the country. The damage inflicted by T. absoluta affects negatively its growth and development and can lead to total crop failure (Desneux et al., 2010; Biondi et al., 2018). This calls for concerted efforts from different stakeholders in developing effective management strategies against this devastating pest.

Synthetic pesticides have been observed to be less effective against *T. absoluta* (Roditakis *et al.*, 2013) and are associated with various challenges and harmful effects (Brahman *et al.*, 2012; Kumar and Omkar, 2018). The concept of integrated pest management (IPM) was developed to address the drawbacks of solely relying on chemical control. In this perspective, alternatives to synthetic insecticides with reduced negative effects have been the object of research in several parts of the world (Biondi *et al.*, 2018). A lot has been done on natural enemies, which are used in biological control of *T. absoluta* in some parts of the world (Desneux *et al.*, 2010; El-Ghany *et al.*, 2016; Giorgini *et al.*, 2019). Different biopesticides based on entomopathogens and botanical insecticides have also been evaluated and shown to be effective against this pest. However, these studies have been limited to specific biocontrol strains/species and also have been carried out mainly in the pest's area of origin (Jallow *et al.*, 2019). Besides, many other studies have been limited to laboratory conditions (Youssef, 2015; El-Ghany *et al.*, 2016; Giorgini *et al.*, 2019). There is also a scarce information on the effects on different *T. absoluta* management options on growth, yield and fruit quality of tomato.

Entomopathogenic nematodes (EPNs), entomopathogenic fungi (EPFs) and plant extracts (PEs) are among the claimed options for effective management of *T. absoluta* (Mansour *et al.*, 2018). Laboratory studies in Rwanda recommended some EPNs, EPFs, and PEs which can be advanced to field evaluation stage (Ndereyimana *et al.*, 2019 a, b, c). To this aim, the current study investigated the growth, yield and fruit quality of tomato as affected by entomopathogens and plant extracts against *T. absoluta*.

### 2. Materials and Methods

#### Study site

This study was carried out in Bugesera District of Rwanda, in a farmer's field located at 02° 32' 355" South latitude, 30° 26' 963" East longitude and an elevation of 1338 m above sea level. The average annual rainfall and temperature are 854 mm and 21.4°C, respectively (Kabirigi *et al.*, 2017).

### Experimental design, trial establishment, and treatments application

The study evaluated nine treatments in a randomised complete block design with three replications. The individual experimental plots were 3 m long and 2 m wide, with 1.5 m wide paths between them. Thirty days old, healthy and uniform tomato cv. Roma seedlings were transplanted into the plots applied with 20 t of organic manure per hectare and mulched with dry grass. Transplanting for trials one and two was carried out on 3<sup>rd</sup> April 2019 and 28<sup>th</sup> June 2019, respectively.

The treatments included: two local EPN isolates (*Steinernema* sp. RW14-M-C2a-3 and *Steinernema* sp. RW14-M-C2b-1), two commercial formulations of EPFs [Metatech<sup>®</sup> WP: *Metarhizium anisopliae* (Metsch.) Sorok, Strain FCM Ar 23B3, 5 x 109 CFUs/g, and Beauvitech® WP: Beauveria bassiana (Bals.) Vuill., Strain J25, 1 x 1010 CFUs/g], two local plant extracts (Tephrosia vogelii and Phytolacca dodecandra), azadirachtin 0.03% EC (Nimbecidine), imidacloprid (Confidor SL 200) and water. The two last treatments were included as positive and negative controls, respectively. The two EPN isolates used were obtained from Biological Control Laboratory - EPN Production Facility at Rwanda Agriculture and Animal Resources Development Board (RAB) (Yan et al., 2016). Mass production of the EPNs was done through in-vivo method using Galleria mellonella larvae (Kaya and Stock, 1997). For field applications, these EPNs were formulated into sponges and were used at a concentration of 5 x 109 IJs/ha (Gözel and Kasap, 2015).

The EPF formulations were obtained from Dudutech Division, Flamingo Horticulture (K) Ltd, Naivasha, Kenya and were used at a concentration of 250 g/ha. The two local plant extracts were prepared from leaves of local plants (T. vogelii and P. dodecan*dra*). The fine powder was obtained (using an electric grinder) from the leaves dried in a shaded area, mixed with boiled water and kept for 12 hours. The concentration used for field application was 15% weight/volume (w/v) and filtration was done using a muslin cloth. Azadirachtin 0.03% EC (Nimbecidine) and imidacloprid (Confidor SL 200) were used at the rates of 5 ml and 1 ml, respectively, per litre of water. All these treatments were applied weekly using a knapsack sprayer and the application volume was 1000 l/ha (Brusselman et al., 2012).

## Cultural operations

Apart from the difference in applied treatments, all other cultural operations were uniformly done in all the experimental plots. Fungicide application was done every week by alternating Copper oxychloride 50% WP with fungicides containing Mancozeb 80% or Mancozeb (640 g/kg) + Metalaxyl (80 g/kg). Each tomato plant was fertilised with 10 g of NPK 17-17-17 as basal fertiliser, supplemented with 4 g of Urea 46% on 30<sup>th</sup> day after transplanting as per RAB recommendation. Other cultural practices like watering, weeding, and pruning were carried out conventionally.

## Data collection and analysis

Data were collected on growth, yield, and fruit quality parameters. Plant growth parameters: plant height, stem diameter and number of leaves per plant, were recorded every two weeks. Plant height (cm) was measured from the ground to the tip of each of five randomly selected plants using a metre tape. Stem diameter (mm) was measured from the collar using a digital vernier caliper. The number of leaves arising from the main stem was counted. For yield parameters, the numbers of flower trusses per plant and flowers per truss were recorded 40 days after transplanting, while the number of fruits per truss was recorded 60 days after transplanting. The number and yields of healthy and bored fruits were recorded during the harvesting period, which started 72 and 70 days after transplanting in trials one and two, respectively. All the above parameters were taken from five plants selected randomly in the middle of each plot.

Fruit quality parameters, namely fruit firmness (Kg F/cm<sup>2</sup>), total soluble solids (TSS) (°Brix), betacarotene (mg/100 g of fruit), lycopene (mg/100 g of fruit), and ascorbic acid (mg/100 g of fruit), were recorded. To determine fruit firmness, tomatoes were harvested at the pink stage and stored at room temperature until the uniform red ripe stage. Then, five fruits were randomly selected from each treatment lot and fruit firmness measured in the equatorial zone of each tomato using a penetrometer (Ritenour et al., 2002). Total soluble solids were determined on the same fruits used for the determination of fruit firmness using a refractometer (RHW Refractometer, Optoelectronic Technology Company Limited, UK) (Majidi et al., 2011). Beta-Carotene was obtained following the method described by Delia et al. (2004). Lycopene was extracted using acetone and analysed in a spectrophotometer at 503 nm. Lycopene content was then calculated using the formula given by Ranganna (1997) as follows:

# Lycopene content = $3.1206 \times A \times V \times D \times \frac{100}{(W \times 100)}$

where A = Absorption, V = Volume made up, D = Dilution, W = Weight of Sample. Ascorbic acid was determined by titration with 2,6-dichlorophenolin-dophenol dye (AOAC, 1990).

The distribution of the collected data was assessed and the appropriate transformation was undertaken, where necessary, before subjecting them to analysis of variance. In both trials, the numbers of healthy and bored fruits per plant were square-root transformed, while the yield of healthy and bored fruits per plant were log-transformed. The number of fruits per truss was log-transformed in trial one, and arcsine-transformed in trial two; while the number of flowers per truss was arcsinetransformed in trial two. All other parameters were analysed without transformation. To determine the effect of the treatments on tomato fruits yield and quality, analysis of variance was carried out; and the means for significantly different treatments (at  $P \le 0.05$ ) were separated using Tukey's honestly significant difference test. The data analysis was carried out using the Statistical Analysis System package, SAS software version 9.2 (SAS Institute, 2010).

#### 3. Results

#### Tomato growth parameters

Plant height was significantly (P≤0.05) influenced by the studied treatments from 30 days after transplanting (DAP) (Fig. 1). In both trials, the plant height was not significantly different at 15 DAT; with an average of 14.9 and 15.3 cm for trials one and two, respectively. Plant height increased with time but became almost constant at 45 DAT. In trial one, there was no significant difference among the entomopathogens (EPNs and EPFs) and azadirachtin on all days of observation. *Tephrosia vogelii* was not significantly different from all the above at 30, 45, and 60



Fig. 1 - Plant height of tomato cv. Roma under different treatments against *Tuta absoluta* in trials one (A) and two (B).
T1: Steinernema sp. RW14-M-C2a-3, T2: Steinernema sp. RW14-M-C2b-1, T3: Metatech®WP (Metarhizium anisopliae, Strain FCM Ar 23B3), T4: Beauvitech® WP (Beauveria bassiana, Strain J25), T5: Tephrosia vogelii, T6: Phytolacca dodecandra, T7: azadirachtin 0.03% EC, T8: imidacloprid, T9: Water; DAT: Days after transplanting; Different letters above the bars indicate significant difference according to Tukey's test (P≤0.05).

DAT, except *Steinernema* sp. RW14-M-C2a-3. Lower plant height was recorded with *P. dodecandra* and the controls, which were insignificantly different. In trial two, plant height did not significantly differ among the treatments, except *P. dodecandra* and the controls which had lower plant height than others.

Stem diameter did not significantly differ among the treatments at 15 and 30 days after transplanting (DAT) in trial one and at 15 DAT in trial two (Fig. 2). In addition, only the stem diameter in the negative control was significantly lower as compared to the other treatments at 45 DAT in trial one. Phytolacca dodecandra and imidacloprid were similar to the negative control, with significantly lower stem diameter  $(P \le 0.05)$  compared to the other treatments at 60 DAT. For trial two. P. dodecandra and negative control had significantly lower stem diameter as compared to the other treatments at 30 DAT; but at 60 DAT it was only the negative control which had significantly lower stem diameter as compared to azadirachtin and all entomopathogens except Beauvitech<sup>®</sup> WP.

The number of leaves per plant was not significantly affected by the evaluated treatments in both



Fig. 2 - Stem diameter of tomato cv. Roma under different treatments against *Tuta absoluta* in trials one (A) and two (B).
T1: Steinernema sp. RW14-M-C2a-3, T2: Steinernema sp. RW14-M-C2b-1, T3: Metatech<sup>®</sup>WP (Metarhizium anisopliae, Strain FCM Ar 23B3), T4: Beauvitech<sup>®</sup> WP (Beauveria bassiana, Strain J25), T5: Tephrosia vogelii, T6: Phytolacca dodecandra, T7: azadirachtin 0.03% EC, T8: imidacloprid, T9: Water; DAT: Days after transplanting; Different letters above the bars indicate significant difference according to Tukey's test (p≤0.05).

trials. However, the general trend observed in both trials was that slightly higher (but not significantly different) number could be obtained in plots treated with Metatech<sup>®</sup> WP (*M. anisopliae*, Strain FCM Ar 23B3) and azadirachtin in trial one; and with Steinernema sp RW14-M-C2a-3 and Beauvitech® WP (B. bassiana, Strain J25) in trial two (Fig. 3). The average numbers of leaves per plant recorded at 60 DAT in trial one were 13.0, 12.8, 14.0, 12.5, 12.8, 12.6, 13.3, 11.9, and 12.6; while in trial two they were 11.8, 11.6, 11.7, 11.9, 11.1, 11.1, 11.5, 11.2, and 11.3, in plots treated with Steinernema sp. RW14-M-C2a-3, Steinernema sp. RW14-M-C2b-1, Metatech®WP (M. anisopliae, Strain FCM Ar 23B3), Beauvitech® WP (B. bassiana, Strain J25), T. vogelii, P. dodecandra, azadirachtin, imidacloprid, and water, respectively.

# Effect of entomopathogens and plant extracts on tomato yield

The evaluated treatments significantly (P<0.001) influenced tomato yield parameters in both trials (Table 1). Generally, plots treated with the ento-mopathogens or azadirachtin had higher performance as compared to those with plant extracts or controls. A similar number of flower trusses per plant was recorded by *Steinernema* sp. RW14-M-C2a-3, *Steinernema* sp. RW14-M-C2a-3, Metatech<sup>®</sup>WP,



Fig. 3 - Number of leaves per plant for tomato cv. Roma under different treatment against *Tuta absoluta* in trials one (A) and two (B). T1: *Steinernema* sp. RW14-M-C2a-3, T2: *Steinernema* sp. RW14-M-C2b-1, T3: Metatech®WP (*Metarhizium anisopliae*, Strain FCM Ar 23B3), T4: Beauvitech® WP (*Beauveria bassiana*, Strain J25), T5: *Tephrosia vogelii*, T6: *Phytolacca dodecandra*, T7: azadirachtin 0.03% EC, T8: imidacloprid, T9: Water; DAT: Days after transplanting; Similar letters above the bars indicate non-significant difference according to Tukey's test (P≤0.05).

Table 1 - Yield	parameters (mean ± SD)	of tomato under differer	t entomopathogens and	l plant extracts treatments
-----------------	------------------------	--------------------------	-----------------------	-----------------------------

Treatments	Number of flower trusses/plant	Number of flowers/truss	Number of fruits/truss	Number of healthy fruits/plant	Number of bored fruits/plant	Yield of healthy fruits (g/plant)	Yield of bored fruits (g/plant)
Trial one							
T1	11.9 ± 0.2 a	9.7 ± 0.4 a	4.1 ± 0.3 a	5.9 ± 0.2 a	5.8 ± 0.2 a	406.3 ± 10.9 a	333.3 ± 33.4 a
Т2	11.6 ± 0.4 abc	8.5 ± 0.1 bc	4.0 ± 0.1 a	5.6 ± 0.2 a	5.1 ± 0.4 a	381.0 ± 22.3 a	286.8 ± 8.8 a
Т3	11.7 ± 0.2 ab	7.7 ± 0.2 cd	4.1 ± 0.1 a	5.5 ± 0.3 a	6.1 ± 0.4 a	374.4 ± 23.5 a	328.8 ± 34.9 a
Τ4	11.4 ± 0.1 abc	7.3 ± 0.3 de	3.8 ± 0.5 a	5.4 ± 0.2 a	5.6 ± 0.4 a	335.0 ± 34.5 a	313.9 ± 17.3 a
Т5	10.9 ± 0.2 bc	7.4 ± 0.1 de	3.0 ± 0.3 b	2.5 ± 0.3 b	3.2 ± 0.2 b	151.0 ± 12.3 b	161.7 ± 9.7 b
Т6	10.8 ± 0.3 c	6.4 ± 0.2 ef	2.9 ± 0.2 b	1.5 ± 0.1 c	2.6 ± 0.2 cb	81.5 ± 12.5 b	126.2 ± 10.1 b
Т7	12.7 ± 0.1 a	9.4 ± 0.6 ab	4.3 ± 0.2 a	6.5 ± 0.2 a	4.9 ± 0.6 a	402.9 ± 12.7 a	275.7 ± 29.5 a
Т8	10.8 ± 0.3 c	6.5 ± 0.3 ef	3.0 ± 0.4 b	1.7 ± 0.2 c	2.3 ± 0.5 cb	86.6 ± 9.0 b	109.9 ± 26.2 bc
Т9	10.8 ± 0.5 c	5.6 ± 0.7 f	2.5 ± 0.3 b	0.7 ± 0.4 d	1.9 ± 0.5 c	32.5 ± 8.2 c	83.7 ± 22.1 2 b
CV	2.5	4.89	6.53	4.39	5.76	4.2	2.23
Р	<.0001	<.0001	<.0001	<.0001	<.0001	<.0001	<.0001
Trial two							
T1	9.0 ± 0.2 a	7.7 ± 0.3 a	3.8 ± 0.3 a	5.5 ± 0.2 a	4.6 ± 0.7 a	367.8 ± 5.2 a	249.5 ± 22.1 a
T2	9.0 ± 0.2 a	7.4 ±0.2 a	3.7 ± 0.2 a	5.4 ± 0.2 a	4.7 ± 1.0 a	350.9 ± 12.1 a	255.9 ± 38.1 a
Т3	8.8 ± 0.2 ab	5.6 ± 0.2 cb	3.8 ± 0.4 a	4.9 ± 0.4 a	5.6±0.8 a	309.7 ± 26.3 a	302.4 ± 45.9 a
T4	8.8 ± 0.5 ab	5.5 ± 0.2 cb	3.6 ± 0.2 a	4.9 ± 0.4 a	5.3 ± 1.0 a	319.4 ± 33.5 a	273.6 ± 64.8 a
Т5	8.8 ± 0.2 ab	5.9 ±0.2 b	2.8 ± 0.1 b	2.0 ± 0.4 b	4.4 ± 0.4 a	113.1 ± 13.4 b	220.9 ± 18.2 a
Т6	8.1 ± 0.2 b	5.2 ± 0.3 cb	2.4 ± 0.4 b	1.4 ± 0.2 b	2.1 ± 0.1 b	67.0 ± 8.5 c	114.8 ± 17.0 b
Т7	9.3 ± 0.2 a	8.0 ± 0.3 a	4.0 ± 0.2 a	6.0 ± 0.4 a	4.7 ± 0.1 a	392.5 ± 38.1 a	266.6 ± 19.6 a
Т8	8.7 ± 0.1 ab	5.5 ± 0.3 cb	2.7 ± 0.2 b	1.6 ± 0.3 b	1.9 ± 0.5 b	74.7 ± 8.1 c	96.7 ± 22.5 b
Т9	8.1 ± 0.2 b	5.0 ± 0.2 c	2.2 ± 0.3 b	0.8 ± 0.2 c	1.7 ± 0.2 b	35.7 ± 6.7 d	80.0 ± 10.10 b
CV	3.02	2.31	4.17	5.11	7.94	2.3	3.05
Р	0.0004	<.0001	<.0001	<.0001	<.0001	<.0001	<.0001

T1: Steinernema sp. RW14-M-C2a-3, T2: Steinernema sp. RW14-M-C2b-1, T3: Metatech<sup>®</sup>WP (*Metarhizium anisopliae*, Strain FCM Ar 23B3), T4: Beauvitech<sup>®</sup> WP (*Beauveria bassiana*, Strain J25), T5: *Tephrosia vogelii, T6: Phytolacca dodecandra*, T7: azadirachtin 0.03% EC, T8: imidacloprid, T9: Water. Means followed by the same letter (s) are not significantly different (Tukey's test, P≤0.05)

Beauvitech WP, and azadirachtin. These values were significantly (P<0.001) higher than T. vogelii, P. dodecandra, imidacloprid, and water spray in trial one. In trial two, the effect of T. vogelii and imidacloprid was similar to all the treatments but the plot treated with EPNs and azadirachtin recorded a significantly higher number of flower trusses per plant than the negative control. The number of flowers per truss was significantly higher with Steinernema sp. RW14-M-C2a-3 and azadirachtin in trial one, and with all entomopathogenic nematodes and azadirachtin in trial two. Higher numbers of fruits per truss, healthy and bored fruits per plant were recorded with all entomopathogens and azadirachtin, in both trials. A similar trend was observed in the yield of healthy and bored fruits per plant.

# Effect of entomopathogens and plant extracts on tomato fruit quality

Tomato fruit quality parameters were not significantly influenced by the applied treatments against *T. absoluta*. The results obtained were so close to each other that it is not easy to find any trend amongst the treatments (Fig. 4). The overall average values obtained were 3.2 and 3.3 kg F/cm<sup>2</sup> for fruit firmness, 4.2 and 4.4°Brix for TSS, 8.3 and 8.1 mg/100



Fig. 4 - Fruit quality parameters of tomato cv. Roma under different treatment against Tuta absoluta in trials one (A) and two (B). T1: Steinernema sp. RW14-M-C2a-3, T2: Steinernema sp. RW14-M-C2b-1, T3: Metatech®WP (Metarhizium anisopliae, Strain FCM Ar 23B3), T4: Beauvitech® WP (Beauveria bassiana, Strain J25), T5: Tephrosia vogelii, T6: Phytolacca dodecandra, T7: azadirachtin 0.03% EC, T8: imidacloprid, T9: Water; Similar letters above the bars indicate non-significant difference according to Tukey's test (P≤0.05).

g of fruit for beta-carotene, 5.4 and 5.5 mg/100 g of fruit for lycopene, 14.36 and 14.6 mg/100 g of fruit for ascorbic acid in trials one and two, respectively.

#### 4. Discussion and Conclusions

Scarce studies have been conducted on the effects of entomopathogens and plant extracts on growth, yield and fruit quality of tomato. The significant differences observed in plant height and stem diameter could be due to the differences in the efficacy of studied treatments against *T. absoluta*. The damages inflicted by T. absoluta larvae my have affected the physiological and biochemical reactions of tomato plants, so that plant growth was consequently affected (Desneux et al., 2010). Beauveria bassiana which was reported to exhibit endophytic activity by colonising vascular tissues would be expected to impair the normal plant growth. However, different researchers reported that *B*. bassiana does not impede tomato growth (Klieber and Reineke, 2016; Allegrucci et al., 2017). On the other hand, since T. vogelii is a rich source of nitrogen, fixed through biological nitrogen fixation (Stevenson et al., 2012), more growth would be expected in this treatment compared to the others because nitrogen is more involved in plant growth and biomass production (Larbat et al., 2016). This was, however, not observed in this study and could be explained by the fact that the amount sprayed as an insecticide was too little to have a direct significant effect on plant growth. Finally, the insignificant difference in the number of leaves per plant despite the treatments could be because this parameter is associated with the genetic makeup of the plant (Kaushik et al., 2011) and not with cultural practices including pest management.

The significant difference in flower-related parameters could also be due to the difference in the efficacy of the studied treatments. By attacking the floral parts, *T. absoluta* larvae might have damaged some of them before they differentiate into flowers and caused others to drop; which could be the explanation for the flower abortion observed in this study. These results are in agreement with Cherif *et al.* (2013) who reported that *T. absoluta* larvae can damage tomato flower parts and cause flower drop.

The observed significant difference in yield parameters may also have arisen from the indirect effect of *T. absoluta* larvae through their feeding activity in leaf mesophyll (Biondi *et al.*, 2018), which might have slowed down the process of assimilates synthesis and partitioning for their utilisation by different plant organs, including flower parts and fruits. In agreement with the above observation, Desneux *et al.* (2010) and El-Ghany *et al.* (2016) also reported that a tomato attack by *T. absoluta* disturbs its normal growth, development and the subsequent yield. Thus, higher numbers of flower trusses per plant, flowers per truss and fruits per truss recorded with entomopathogens and azadirachtin suggest that these treatments can reduce tomato yield loss as compared to the plant extracts and the controls (imidacloprid and water spray).

In their study, Rab and Haq (2012) found that the number of flowers per truss varied from 17.1 to 30.8 while the number of fruits per cluster was 4.1-6.4 for tomato cv. Roma. However, in the present study, a range of 5.6-9.7 flowers per truss and 2.2-4.3 fruits per truss was obtained. This indicates the ability of *T. absoluta* to negatively affect the flower and fruitbearing capacity of tomato plant. This is one of the reasons for high yield losses frequently observed with *T. absoluta* infestations (Cherif *et al.*, 2013; Biondi *et al.*, 2018).

The higher numbers and yield of healthy fruits that were obtained with EPNs, EPFs, and azadirachtin support our earlier findings in laboratory experiments (Ndereyimana et al., 2019 a, b, c). In line with the findings of this study, Braham et al. (2012), Gözel and Kasap (2015), Youssef (2015), and El-Ghany et al. (2016) reported that EPNs, EPFs, and azadirachtin result in better control of T. absoluta. The performance of plant extracts and imidacloprid (positive control) remained low as it was in our previous laboratory studies (Ndereyimana et al., 2019 a, b). Negative control also recorded very low yield, which was consistent with Desneux et al. (2011) and Biondi et al. (2018) who emphasized that if there are no serious pest management strategies that are meticulously implemented, the yield loss might reach 100%.

Higher number and yield of bored fruits obtained from plots treated with entomopathogens and plant extracts, as compared to plant extracts and controls, might have resulted from the reduced number of aborted and damaged flowers by *T. absoluta* in the plots where these treatments were applied. Although these fruits survived from early abortion and the dropping of progenitor flowers, they were more exposed to *T. absoluta* because they were

many, and thus a group of them was later bored by the pest that spoiled their quality. Compared to the negative control, the yield of healthy fruits obtained with Steinernema sp. RW14-M-C2a-3, Steinernema sp. RW14-M-C2a-3, Metatech®WP, Beauvitech®WP, and azadirachtin increased 12.5, 11.7, 11.5, 10.3 and 12.4 folds, respectively. While compared to the positive control, it was 4.8, 4.5, 4.2, 4.1 and 5.0 folds, respectively. This confirms that, despite the invasive nature of T. absoluta, different management options can reduce significantly its negative impact on the crop. However, dependence on synthetic insecticides should be discouraged as evidenced by the results of this study, which are consistent with several other researchers (Desneux et al., 2010; Roditakis et al., 2013; Biondi et al., 2018).

The commercial value of bored fruits is lost because they are not preferred by customers as external appearance and absence of defects are among the factors determining consumer preference (Asensio et al., 2019). In addition to the larvae that enter inside the fruits, also some pathogens like fungi often get inside through the created holes and cause fruit decaying before or after harvest (Desneux et al., 2010). The findings of this study are supported by previous researchers who worked on other pests and reported that crop pests are among the main factors reducing the yield and quality of field horticultural produce by direct feeding or by favouring several diseases (Kumar and Omkar, 2018). Thus, implementation of IPM is worth to ensure better yield and guality of tomato crop.

Since the damage inflicted by Tuta absoluta on the leaves of tomato plants negatively affects its physiological processes (Desneux et al., 2010; Biondi et al., 2018) and fruit total soluble solids are translocated from the photosynthetic activities in the leaves (Beckles, 2012), significant difference in fruit quality parameters was expected among treatments with different T. absoluta infestation levels. Similarly, the entomopathogens and azadirachtin that exhibited better T. absoluta control would have also resulted in higher quality fruits as compared to the plant extracts and the controls' treatments. The observed non-significant difference in tomato fruit quality parameters: firmness, total soluble solids, beta-carotene, lycopene, and ascorbic acid among treatments against T. absoluta, therefore may be attributed to other factors such as variety, crop nutrition, climatic conditions, fruit ripening stage, and storage period (Marsic et al., 2011; Rab and Haq, 2012; Tigist et al., 2013; Asensio et al., 2019).

Fruit firmness results obtained in this study fall in the range of the values obtained by Rab and Haq (2012). Fruit firmness is an important quality parameter that determines fruit shelf-life and resistance to mechanical damage (Tigist et al., 2013). In line with the current study, Parmar et al. (2018) also obtained a TSS value of 4.8 °Brix for tomato cv. Roma under organic management system. Also, TSS values obtained by Rab and Hag (2012) ranged from 4.08 to 6.10 °Brix under different rates of calcium chloride and borax. The values of beta-carotene and lycopene recorded in this study are close to what was obtained by Parmar et al. (2018) (8.34 mg/100 g and 5.38 mg/100 g of fruit, respectively) for the same variety (Roma) produced organically. The ascorbic acid results obtained in this study agree with the earlier findings of Tigist et al. (2013) who obtained the values of 13.2 and 14.8 mg/100 g after four and eight days of room temperature storage, respectively, for Tomato cv. Roma fruits harvested at the green mature stage.

According to Tigist *et al.* (2013), these quality parameters develop into fruit during the pre-harvest period and they do not get improved after harvesting. However, they can be maintained by proper post-harvest handling and storage. Since pre-harvest activities are responsible for the development of quality parameters in tomato fruits, any technology used to improve its production should also be assessed for its effect on fruit quality.

As a conclusion, the studied entomopathogens and plant extracts significantly affected tomato growth and yield but not the fruit quality parameters. Better yield performance can be obtained with the entomopathogenic nematode isolates (Steinernema sp. RW14-M-C2a-3 and Steinernema sp. RW14-M-C2a-3), commercial formulations of entomopathogenic fungi (Metatech<sup>®</sup>WP: Metarhizium anisopliae, Strain FCM Ar 23B3 and Beauvitech®WP: Beauveria bassiana, Strain J25) and azadirachtin 0.03% EC, which were not significantly different. These biorational control agents are recommended to be included in the IPM of Tuta absoluta. The results of this study will guide producers to select the best control options that can result in higher comparative growth and yield without compromising fruit quality. Further studies should be conducted to confirm the effects of the studied entomopathogens and plant extracts under varied agro-climatic conditions.

#### Acknowledgements

This work was sponsored by United States Agency for International Development, as part of the Feed the Future initiative, under the CGIAR Fund, award number BFS-G-11-00002, and the predecessor fund the Food Security and Crisis Mitigation II grant, award number EEM-G-00-04-00013. The authors are grateful to Egerton University and Rwanda Agriculture and Animal Resources Development Board for providing opportunities to conduct this study. Much appreciation is due to P. Rukundo, B. Kagiraneza, B. Uzayisenga, and J. Kajuga for their technical support. Authors are also thankful to D. Bazagwira, G. Ingabire and P. Mukundwa for their assistance in laboratory work.

#### References

- ALLEGRUCCI N., VELAZQUEZ M.S., RUSSO M.L., PÉREZ M.E., SCORSETTI, A.C., 2017 - Endophytic colonisation of tomato by the entomopathogenic fungus Beauveria bassiana: the use of different inoculation techniques and their effects on the tomato leaf miner Tuta absoluta (Lepidoptera: Gelechiidae). - J. Plant. Prot. Res., 57 (4): 205-211.
- AOAC, 1990 Official method of analysis (15<sup>th</sup> edition). Association of Official Analytical Chemists, INC, Virginia, USA. pp.684.
- ASENSIO E., SANVICENTE I., MALLOR C., MENAL-PUEY S., 2019 - Spanish traditional tomato. Effects of genotype, location and agronomic conditions on the nutritional quality and evaluation of consumer preferences. -Food Chem., 270: 452-458.
- BECKLES D.M., 2012 Factors affecting the postharvest soluble solids and sugar content of tomato (Solanum lycopersicum L.) fruit. Postharvest Biol. Tec., 63(1): 129-140.
- BIONDI A., GUEDES R.N.C., WAN F.H., DESNEUX N., 2018 -Ecology, worldwide spread, and management of the invasive South American tomato pinworm, Tuta absoluta: past, present, and future. - Annu. Rev. Entomol., 63: 239-258.
- BRAHAM M., GLIDA-GNIDEZ H., HAJJI L., 2012 -Management of the tomato borer, Tuta absoluta in Tunisia with novel insecticides and plant extracts. -EPPO bull., 42(2): 291-296.
- BRUSSELMAN E., BECK B., POLLET S., TEMMERMAN F., SPANOGHE P., MOENS M., NUYTTENS D., 2012 - Effect of spray volume on the deposition, viability and infectivity of entomopathogenic nematodes in a foliar spray on vegetables. - Pest Manag. Sci., 68(10): 1413-1418.
- CHERIF A., MANSOUR R., GRISSA-LEBDI K., 2013 -

Biological aspects of tomato leafminer Tuta absoluta (Lepidoptera : Gelechiidae) in conditions of Northeastern Tunisia : possible implications for pest management. - Environ. Exp. Biol., 11: 179-184.

- DELIA B, RODRIGUZ A., MIHOHO K., 2004 *HarvestPlus Handbook for carotenoid Analysis*. - International Food Policy Research Institute (IFPRI), Washington DC, USA, pp. 58.
- DESNEUX N., LUNA M.G., GUILLEMAUD T., URBANEJA A., 2011 - The invasive South American tomato pinworm, Tuta absoluta, continues to spread in Afro-Eurasia and beyond: the new threat to tomato world production. - J. Pest Sci, 84(4): 403-408.
- DESNEUX N., WAJNBERG E., WYCKHUYS K.A.G., BURGIO G., ARPAIA S., NARVÁEZ-VASQUEZ C.A., GONZÁLEZ-CABRERA J., RUESCAS D.C., TABONE E., FRANDON J., PIZZOL J., PONCET C., CABELLO T., URBANEJA A., 2010 -*Biological invasion of European tomato crops by* Tuta absoluta: *Ecology, geographic expansion and prospects for biological control.* - J. Pest Sci., 83(3): 197-215.
- DHALIWAL G.S., JINDAL V., DHAWAN A.K., 2010 Insect pest problems and crop losses: changing trends. Indian J. Ecol., 37(1): 1-7.
- EL-GHANY N.M.A., ABDEL-RAZEK, A.S., EBADAH I.M.A., MAHMOUD Y.A., 2016 - Evaluation of some microbial agents, natural and chemical compounds for controlling tomato leaf miner, Tuta absoluta (Meyrick) (Lepidoptera : Gelechiidae). - J. Plant Prot. Res., 56(4): 373-379.
- FAO, 2015 Quarterly Early Warning Bulletin for Food and Agriculture. FAO, No. 14 January-March 2015.
- GIORGINI M., GUERRIERI E., CASCONE P., GONTIJO L., 2019 - Current strategies and future outlook for managing the Neotropical tomato pest Tuta absoluta (Meyrick) in the Mediterranean Basin. - Neotrop. Entomol., 48(1): 1-17.
- GÖZEL Ç., KASAP I., 2015 Efficacy of entomopathogenic nematodes against the Tomato leafminer, Tuta absoluta (Meyrick) (Lepidoptera: Gelechiidae) in tomato field. - Turk. Entomol. Derg., 39(3): 229-237.
- JALLOW M.F., DAHAB A.A., ALBAHO M.S., DEVI V.Y. 2019 -Efficacy of some biorational insecticides against Tuta absoluta (Meyrick) (Lepidoptera: Gelechiidae) under laboratory and greenhouse conditions in Kuwait. - J. Appl. Entomol., 143(3): 187-195.
- KABIRIGI M., NGETICH F.K., RUSHEMUKA P., MWETU K.K., WASIGE E.J., RUGANZU V.M., NABAHUNGU N.L., 2017 -Implications of tillage practices, management of soil surface and fertilizer application on sustainable dryland agriculture: A case study of Eastern Rwanda. - Afr. J. Agric. Res., 12(31): 2524-2532.
- KAUSHIK S.K., TOMAR D.S., DIXIT A.K., 2011 Genetics of fruit yield and it's contributing characters in tomato (Solanum lycopersicum). - J. Agric. Biotech., 3(10): 209.
- KAYA H.K., STOCK P.S., 1997 Techniques in Insect Nematology, pp. 281-324. - In: LACEY L. (eds.) Manual of Techniques in Insect Pathology. Academic

Press, San Diego, California, USA, pp. 409.

- KLIEBER J., REINEKE A., 2016 The entomopathogen Beauveria bassiana has epiphytic and endophytic activity against the tomato leaf miner Tuta absoluta. - J. Appl. Entomol., 140(8): 580-589.
- KUMAR B., OMKAR, 2018 Insect pest management, pp. 1015-1078. In: OMKAR (eds.) Pests and their management. Springer Nature, Singapore, pp. 1090.
- LARBAT R., ADAMOWICZ S., ROBIN C., HAN P., DESNEUX N., LE BOT J., 2016 - Interrelated responses of tomato plants and their leaf miner Tuta absoluta to nitrogen supply. - Plant biol., 18(3): 495-504.
- LUNA-GUEVARA M.L., JIMÉNEZ-GONZÁLEZ O., LUNA-GUE-VARA J.J., HERNÁNDEZ-CARRANZA P., OCHOA-VELASCO C.E., 2014 - Quality parameters and bioactive compounds of red tomatoes (Solanum lycopersicum L.) cv Roma VF at different postharvest conditions. - J. Food Res., 3(5): 8, 1-11
- MAJIDI H., MINAEI S., ALMASI M., MOSTOFI Y., 2011 -Total Soluble Solids, Titratable Acidity and Ripening index of Tomato in Various Storage Conditions. - Aust. J. Basic Appl. Sci., 5(12): 1723-1726.
- MANSOUR R., BRÉVAULT T., CHAILLEUX A., CHERIF A., GRISSA-LEBDI K., HADDI K., MOHAMED S.A., NOFEME-LA R.S., OKE A., SYLLA S., TONNANG H.E.Z., ZAPPALÀ L., KENIS M., DESNEUX N., BIONDI A., 2018 - Occurrence, biology, natural enemies and management of Tuta absoluta in Africa. - Entomol. Gen., 38(2): 83-112.
- MARSIC N.K., GASPERLIN L., ABRAM V., BUDIC M., VIDRIH R., 2011 - Quality parameters and total phenolic content in tomato fruits regarding cultivar and microclimatic conditions. -Turk. J. Agric. For., 35(2): 185-194.
- NDEREYIMANA A., NYALALA S., MURERWA P., GAIDASHOVA S., 2019 a - *Bioactivity of plant extracts against tomato leaf miner*, Tuta absoluta (*Meyrick*) (*Lepidoptera: Gelechiidae*). - J. Appl. Hortic., 21(2): 146-150.
- NDEREYIMANA A., NYALALA S., MURERWA P., GAIDASHO-VA S., 2019 b - Pathogenicity of some commercial formulations of entomopathogenic fungi on the tomato leaf miner, Tuta absoluta (Meyrick) (Lepidoptera: Gelechiidae). - Egypt. J. Biol. Pest Co., 29(1): 70, 1-5.
- NDEREYIMANA A., NYALALA S., MURERWA P., GAIDASHO-VA S., 2019 c - Potential of entomopathogenic nematode isolates from Rwanda to control the tomato leaf miner, Tuta absoluta (Meyrick) (Lepidoptera: Gelechiidae). - Egypt. J. Biol. Pest Co., 29(1): 57, 1-7.
- PARMAR D.K., THAKUR D.R., JAMWAL, GURUDEVSINGH R.S., 2018 - Evaluation of tomato cultivars for yield, profit and quality performance in an organic management system in north western himalayas, India. - Int. J. Curr. Microbiol. Appl. Sci., 7(10): 498-506.
- RAB A., HAQ I.U., 2012 Foliar application of calcium chloride and borax influences plant growth, yield, and quality of tomato (Lycopersicon esculentum Mill.) fruit. -Turk. J. Agric. For., 36(6): 695-701.
- RANGANNA S., 1997 Manual of analysis of fruit and vegetable products. - Tata McGraw Hill Publishing Co. Ltd.,

New Delhi, India, pp. 634.

- RITENOUR M.A., LAMB E.M., STOFFELLA P.J., 2002 A Portable, digital device for measuring tomato firmness. - Proc. Fla. State Hort. Soc., 115: 49-52.
- RODITAKIS E., SKARMOUTSOU C., STAURAKAKI M., DEL ROSARIO MARTÍNEZ-AGUIRRE M., GARCÍA-VIDAL L., BIELZA P., HADDI K., RAPISARDA C., RISON J.L., BASSI A., TEIXEIRA L.A., 2013 - Determination of baseline susceptibility of European populations of Tuta absoluta (Meyrick) to indoxacarb and chlorantraniliprole using a novel dip bioassay method. - Pest Manag. Sci., 69(2): 217-227.
- SAS INSTITUTE INC, 2010 SAS® 9.2 companion for windows, second edition. - SAS Institute Inc, Cary, NC, USA, pp. 648.
- STEVENSON P.C., KITE G.C., LEWIS G.P., FOREST F., NYIRENDA S.P., BELMAIN S.R., SILESHI G.W., VEITCH

N.C., 2012 - Distinct chemotypes of Tephrosia vogelii and implications for their use in pest control and soil enrichment. - Phytochem., 78: 135-146. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.phytochem.2012.02.025.

- TIGIST M., WORKNEH T.S., WOLDETSADIK K., 2013 -Effects of variety on the quality of tomato stored under ambient conditions. - J. Food Sci. Technol., 50(3): 477-486.
- YAN X., WAWERU B., QIU X. HATEGEKIMANA A., KAJUGA J., LI H., EDGINGTON S., UMULISA C., HAN R., TOEPFER S., 2016 - New entomopathogenic nematodes from semi-natural and small-holder farming habitats of Rwanda. - Biocontrol Sci. Technol., 26(6): 820-834.
- YOUSSEF A.N., 2015 Efficacy of the entomopathogenic nematodes and fungi for controlling the tomato leaf miner, Tuta absoluta (Meyrick) (Lepidoptera: Gelechiidae). - Arab Univ. J. Agri. Sci., 23(2): 591-598.





(\*) **Corresponding author:** f.nazari@uok.ac.ir

#### Citation:

RASHIDIANI N., NAZARI F., JAVADI T., SAMADI S., 2020 - Comparative postharvest responses of carnation and chrysanthemum to synthesized silver nanoparticles (AgNPs). - Adv. Hort. Sci., 34(2): 133-145

#### Copyright:

© 2020 Rashidiani N., Nazari F., Javadi T., Samadi S. This is an open access, peer reviewed article published by Firenze University Press (http://www.fupress.net/index.php/ahs/) and distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License, which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original author and source are credited.

#### Data Availability Statement:

All relevant data are within the paper and its Supporting Information files.

#### **Competing Interests:**

The authors declare no competing interests.

Received for publication 25 November 2019 Accepted for publication 1 April 2020

# Comparative postharvest responses of carnation and chrysanthemum to synthesized silver nanoparticles (AgNPs)

#### N. Rashidiani<sup>1</sup>, F. Nazari<sup>1(\*)</sup>, T. Javadi<sup>1</sup>, S. Samadi<sup>2</sup>

- <sup>1</sup> Department of Horticultural Science, College of Agriculture, University of Kurdistan, Sanandaj, Iran.
- <sup>2</sup> Department of Chemistry, Faculty of Science, University of Kurdistan, Sanandaj, Iran.

Key words: cut flowers, ethylene, microbial growth, silver nanoparticles, vase life, water relations.

Abstract: Carnation (Dianthus caryophyllus L.) and chrysanthemum [Dendranthema grandiflorum (Ramat.) Kitam.] cut flowers are among the most important commodities that dominate flower markets throughout the world. Two major problems in the transportation and marketing of these flowers are their relatively short vase life and the rapid decline of their aesthetic value. In this respect, the current study investigates the effects of silver nanoparticles (AgNPs) on ethylene-sensitive (carnation) and ethylene-insensitive (chrysanthemum) cut flowers. Specifically, this research examines their morpho-physicochemical characteristics, antioxidant enzyme activities and vase life. Here, the AgNPs were synthesized by chemical methods and then applied on both flowers by a pulsing method. The treatments involved two concentrations of AgNPs (0.04 and 0.08 g L<sup>-1</sup>) along with the control (deionized water), and the duration of exposure lasted for 24 h. Then, the flower stems were placed in an aqueous sucrose solution (4%) until the end of the experiment. All traits, except the vase life, were evaluated after 0, 3, 6 and 9 d following the treatments during the vase period. During this time, the control groups of both flowers showed considerable amounts of decrease in the relative fresh weight (RFW), vase solution uptake (VSU), flower diameter, membrane stability index (MSI) and total soluble carbohydrate (TSC). Meanwhile, there were increases in hydrogen peroxide content (H<sub>2</sub>O<sub>2</sub>) and peroxidase (POD) activity. The bacterial population of the stem end and total soluble protein (TSP) increased in carnation petals, but decreased in chrysanthemum petals. The activity of superoxide dismutase (SOD) dropped in carnation petals, whereas it rose in chrysanthemum petals. Using AgNPs at concentrations of 0.08 and 0.04 g L<sup>-1</sup> can optimally extend the vase life of carnation and chrysanthemum, respectively.

#### 1. Introduction

Nowadays, the floriculture industry is one of the most profitable sectors in horticulture. Its financial turnover in all respects amounts to over 300 billion dollars, and one-third of which is related to cut flowers (Chandler and Sanchez, 2012).Consumer demand for cut flowers and ornamental plants are increasing, and the value of production is inevitably becoming higher. In this regard, flower quality is one of the most important indices in the sale and marketing of cut flowers. This makes flower quality an important factor in attracting customers over and over again (Scariot *et al.*, 2014). Therefore, the advancement of post-harvest programs is a definite requirement within the cut flower market.

Even after their separation from mother plants, cut flowers continue to be metabolically active and proceed with all of their vital processes by consuming the available food in their tissues. Carbohydrates, proteins and fat can be used by cut flowers to meet their metabolic demands. The increase in vase life and the delay in flower senescence can be achieved by upholding the normal rate of water uptake, preventing the depletion of carbohydrate storage and limiting the exposure of flowers to ethylene (Halevy and Mayak, 1981).

Water balance is an essential factor in determining the quality and vase life of flowers. It should be maintained between water uptake and transpiration (Lu *et al.*, 2010). Water uptake can be reduced due to the occlusion phenomenon generated by bacterial accumulation, physiological factors or air embolism (Damunupola and Joyce, 2008). Post-harvest senescence occurs within a few days, and is a major limitation in the marketing of cut carnation and chrysanthemum flowers. Stem end blockage is one of the important factors in early wilting of leaves and inflorescences in some cut flowers. van Doorn and Vaslier (2002) reported stem blockage is a major factor causing severe leaf wilting of chrysanthemum.

The in-rolling of petal margin and wilting of whole petals in senescence process in some cut flowers (e.g. carnation), is associated with the self-regulation of ethylene production (Yang and Hoffman, 1984), as a hormone, implying that the flowers are sensitive to ethylene. On the other hand, there are flowers such as chrysanthemum, pericallis and narcissus that initiate senescence without being influenced by ethylene, and thus are considered insensitive to ethylene (Dole and Wilkins, 2005; Jones 2013). Therefore, the short vase life and early wilting of inflorescences of carnation and chrysanthemum may be due to sensitivity of ethylene and stem end blockage, respectively. In fact, in ethylene-sensitive flowers, ethylene is a necessary requirement for the initiation and sustenance of senescence-based processes. The mechanisms by which ethylene can stimulate senescence involve changing the cell structure and increasing the

concentration of reactive oxygen species (ROSs) such as superoxide radicals, hydroxyl radicals and hydrogen peroxide (Abeles *et al.*, 1992).

Studies have also shown that physiological changes occur during senescence. These include chlorophyll decomposition, decreased activity of antioxidant enzymes, increased productions of ethylene and ROSs, along with membrane damage to the cells of cut flowers (Prochazkova and Wilhelmova, 2007).

Advancements in nanotechnology, especially the development of silver nanoparticles (AgNPs), have led to a wide range of nanocomposites with antimicrobial properties. The high surface-to-volume ratio of these particles makes them biologically more active and increases their contact with fungi and bacteria (Chau et al., 2007). AgNPs are becoming popular in the flower industry for their ability to inhibit the synthesis of ethylene and delay the senescence in climacteric flowers (Kim et al., 2005). In addition, AgNPs tend to regulate the stomatal aperture, maintain the chlorophyll content, preserve the relative fresh weight (RFW) and membrane stability index (MSI), reduce the transpiration rate, weight loss, hydrogen peroxide(H<sub>2</sub>O<sub>2</sub>), Malondialdehyde (MDA) and ROSs, and increase the activity of antioxidant enzymes along with their effects on the vase life of different cut flowers such as gerbera (Liu et al., 2009; Solgi et al., 2009; Nazari and Koushesh Saba, 2017), rose (Lu et al., 2010; Nazemi Rafi and Ramezanian, 2013; Hassan et al., 2014), chrysanthemum (Carrillo-López et al., 2016), carnation (Naing et al., 2017; Lin et al., 2019 b), gladiolus (Li et al., 2017), peony (Zhao et al., 2018) and cut gardenia foliage (Lin et al., 2019) a). The application of AgNPs in vase solution of carnation alleviated vascular occlusion by inhibiting bacterial colonisation and biofilm formation on stem-end cut surfaces and in the xylem vessels (Lin et al., 2019 b). Maity et al. (2019) also showed that the Piper betle silver nanoparticles (PbSNPs) in vase solution of Gladiolus have played an important role for scavenging ROSs by enhancing antioxidant enzyme activities that led to decrease in MDA and increased the MSI.

Nanosponges are new nano-sized colloidal carriers synthesized from ß-cyclodextrins that have been prepared for delivering preservative and anti-ethylene compounds (Devecchi *et al.*, 2009). Devecchi *et al.* (2009) evaluated the effect of nanosponges including anti-ethylene molecules, such as 1-methyl-cyclopropene (1-MCP), 1-methylcyclopentene (1-MCPt), 2,5-norbornadiene and AgNO<sub>3</sub> on vase life of carnation flowers. They concluded that, 1-MCP-

nanosponge complex outperformed the other treatments in extending the vase life. In addition, Seglie *et al*. (2011) reported that 1-MCP in cyclodextrin-based nanosponges improved the vase life of carnation cut flowers.

Nonetheless, no report has so far described comparisons between the responses of ethylene-insensitive and ethylene-sensitive flowers to AgNPs. Therefore, the current research is aimed an evaluating how the cut flowers of carnation (highly sensitive to ethylene) and chrysanthemum (insensitive or slightly sensitive) respond to the application of AgNPs by the pulsing method. Comparisons are made between the two types of cut flowers by measuring their morphological, physiological and biochemical properties, as well as their enzymatic activities.

#### 2. Materials and Methods

#### Plant materials and application of treatments

The cut flowers of carnation (*Dianthus caryophyllus* cv. Yellow Viana) and chrysanthemum (*Dendranthema grandiflorum* cv. Boris Becker Sunny) were harvested at their commercial harvesting stage from a soilless-cultured greenhouse. They were taken to the laboratory and the basal ends of the stems were immediately cut to reduce the stem length to 40 cm. Apart from 3-4 leaves on the top of each stem, all other leaves were removed. Then, AgNPs were applied at two concentrations (0.04 and 0.08 g L<sup>-1</sup>) by the pulsing method for 24 h. The flowering stems were individually put in a bottle vase containing 300 mL deionized water. This also contained 4% (w/v) sucrose until the end of the experiment. To prevent the evaporation and contamination of the vase solution, the vase opening was covered with aluminum foil. All traits, except for vase life, were evaluated after 0, 3, 6 and 9 d following the application of treatments. The pH of vase solution at the first day (d 0) was 7.82 and 8.76 for carnation and chrysanthemum, respectively. On d 9 of the vase period the pH of vase solution was 3.95 for carnation and 4.06 for chrysanthemum. The pulsing treatments and vase life were evaluated at  $23\pm2^{\circ}$ C, 50%±10% RH and 12 h of 15-20µmol m<sup>-2</sup>s<sup>-1</sup>irradiance from cool-white fluorescence lamps.

#### Synthesis of AgNPs

To a solution of 0.265 mM (0.045 g) of silver nitrate in 100 mL distilled water, 10 mL of a trisodium citrate aqueous solution (1%) was added slowly at room temperature. After 10 minutes, 0.2 mL of ascorbic acid (0.005 M) was added to the mixture of reaction and stirred for 1 h until a yellow-green AgNPs colloid was formed (Tavallali and Pouresmaeil, 2012). The surface morphology of AgNPs was indicated by scanning electron microscopy (SEM) (TSCAN, Czech Republic) and showed in figure 1, it is exhibited that AgNPs have a size of about 8-80 nm.

#### Measurement of flower and stem diameter

The flower diameter was measured in two directions, and the stem diameter was measured in three parts (i.e. under peduncle, middle, and end of the stem). These measurements were repeated every three days and the average of values were reported.

#### Measurement of relative fresh weight

The relative fresh weight (RFW) of flowering stems in both types of cut flower was calculated every three days by the following formula:

RFW (%) = 
$$(Wt/Wt_0) \times 100$$



Fig. 1 - The SEM image of AgNPs.

where  $W_t$  is the weight of the stem (g) at t = d 0, 3, 6, and 9, while the  $Wt_0$  is the weight of the same stem (g) at t = d 0 (He *et al.*, 2006).

#### Measurement of vase life

The vase life of both types of cut flower was measured by counting the number of days from the beginning of the experiment until 50% of the flower had wilted. In carnations, the occurrence of in-rolling and browning petals by more than one-third was considered as the end of the vase life (Naing *et al.*, 2017). In chrysanthemum, however, the vase life ended when 50% of petals had wilted and the leaves had yellowed (Carrillo-López *et al.*, 2016).

### Measurement of vase solution uptake

The weight of the vase with and without the flower shoots was recorded daily, and the following formula was used for calculating the vase solution uptake (VSU): VSU (mg g<sup>-1</sup> stem f. w.) =  $(S_{t-1}-S_t)$ ; where  $S_t$  is the weight of vase solution (g) at t = d 0, 3, 6 and 9,  $S_{t-1}$  is the weight of vase solution (g) on the previous day (He *et al.*, 2006; Lu *et al.*, 2010).

#### Measurement of membrane stability index

To measure the membrane stability index (MSI) of petals, this method involved the preparation of petal discs (measuring 1 cm in diameter) which were placed in falcons containing 20 mL distilled water. After this, a series of falcons were placed in a warm bath (40°C) for 30 min and their electrical conductivity (EC) was read by a conductivity meter (*C1*) after the falcons had cooled down to 25°C. Then, the second series of falcons was placed in a warm bath of 100°C for 20 min and their EC was read after having cooled down to 25°C (*C2*). In the end, the MSI was calculated using the following equation (Sairam *et al.*, 2002):

#### $MSI = [1 - (C_1/C_2)] 100$

 $C_1$  = EC after exposure to 40°C and  $C_2$  = EC after exposure to 100°C.

#### Measurement of bacterial population of stem end

To measure the bacterial population on the stem end, one gram of the stem end was homogenized and diluted with peptone water until a concentration of 10<sup>-3</sup>was reached. Subsequently, 1 mL of this solution was transferred to Petri dishes and then a volume of 10 mL sterilized plate count agar medium was added to each Petri dish. These were slowly mixed for 5 to 10 s. The cultured Petri dishes were then kept in an incubator at 32°C for 2 d and, after counting the bacterial colonies, the results were reported as log CFU g<sup>-1</sup> (Balestra *et al.*, 2005; Liu *et al.*, 2009).

#### Measurement of total soluble protein

According to the Bradford method (1976), 0.5 g of petal tissue was powdered with liquid nitrogen, and then 0.25 g of polyvinylpyrrolidone (PVP) was added to the solution when stirring the 1.5 mL of potassium phosphate buffer containing sodium metabisulfite (0.019 g per 100 mL buffer). The homogenized samples were centrifuged (HETTCH, Germany) at 4°C for 20 min at 15,000 g. Then, 50  $\mu$ L of supernatant was mixed with 950  $\mu$ L of Bradford solution and, after 15 min, the light absorption was read at 595 nm by a spectrophotometer (UNICO 2100, USA).

### Measurement of peroxidase activity

To measure the peroxidase (POD) enzyme activity, according to a method reported by Hemeda and Klein (1990), first 400  $\mu$ L of 50 mM potassium phosphate buffer (pH 7) was mixed with 40  $\mu$ L of 1% glycol and 40  $\mu$ L of 0.3% hydrogen peroxide in an ice bed. Then immediately, 65  $\mu$ L of protein extract was added to the mentioned composition. The changes in light absorption were read at 120 nm by a spectrophotometer within a wavelength of 470 nm.

### Measurement of superoxide dismutase activity

The activity of superoxide dismutase enzyme (SOD) was measured by the Beyer and Fridovich (1987) method. According to this method, the solution used for the reaction was prepared by mixing 25 mL of 50 mM phosphate buffer (pH 7) with 0.0035 g L-methionine (9.9 mM), 0.004 g NBT (57  $\mu$ M) and 7.5  $\mu$ L Triton X-100. One mL of the reaction mixture was blended with 10  $\mu$ M riboflavin and 20  $\mu$ L of protein extract. The mixture was placed on a shaker at a distance of 30 cm from a 20-watt fluorescent lamp for 10 min. Then, the light absorption was measured at 560 nm by a spectrophotometer.

## Measurement of total soluble carbohydrate

To measure total soluble carbohydrates (TSC), 0.5 g of petal tissue was crushed using liquid nitrogen along with 5 mL of 95% ethanol which helped obtain uniform extracts. The supernatant extract was centrifuged for 10 min at 3,500 g. Then, 1 mL of this extract was combined with 3 mL of Anthrone before being transferred to a warm bath of 100°C. The heat caused the appearance of a colored phase after 10 min. Subsequently, the samples were removed from the warm bath and were allowed to cool down at room temperature. Their light absorption was read at 625 nm. The TSC content of petals was determined by creating a standard curve using standard glucose. The results were expressed as mg g<sup>-1</sup> f.w. (Irigoyen *et al.,* 1992).

#### Measurement of hydrogen peroxide

In order to measure the amount of hydrogen peroxide ( $H_2O_2$ ), the method was similar to the one used by Alexieva *et al.* (2001). Accordingly, 0.2 g of petal tissue was completely ground with 5 mL trichloroacetic acid (TCA). The extract was obtained and centrifuged at 10,000 g for 5 min. Then, 250 µL of the supernatant was mixed with 250 µL of 100 mM phosphate-potassium buffer (pH7) and 500 µL of 1 M of potassium iodide (KI). The absorbance of each sample was read by a spectrophotometer within a wavelength of 390 nm.

#### Statistical analysis

This research was conducted as a factorial based on a completely randomized design (CRD), it had three factors that the first factor was the type of flower at 2 levels (carnation and chrysanthemum), second factor was AgNPs at 3 levels (0.04 and 0.08 g L<sup>-1</sup> along with deionized water) and the third factor was the sampling time at 4 levels (0, 3, 6 and 9 d of the vase period) with 3 replications, each of which included 8cut flower stems. For measuring the vase life, two factors of the type of flower and the sampling time were not considered and its design was as a CRD with three treatments (AgNPs at 0.04 and 0.08 g L<sup>-1</sup> along with deionized water). Data were analyzed using SAS software and a comparison of mean values was made by the LSD test at 5% probability level.

#### 3. Results

#### Relative fresh weight

Based on the comparison of mean values, the relative fresh weight (RFW) of both cut flowers gradually decreased in the control treatment during the vase period. A faster rate of this decline was observed in carnations, as compared to the chrysanthemum. From the initial days to the ninth day, the decrease of RFW in carnations was about twice as much as the decrease in chrysanthemum. The application of 0.04 and 0.08 g L<sup>-1</sup> AgNPs caused the percentage of RFW to remain relatively constant in both cut flowers until the third days, but then the RFW gradually decreased. Furthermore, treating the cut flowers with AgNPs caused a better preservation of their RFW from d 3 to d 9 of the vase period, as compared to the control, but the difference between the two concentrations was no significant. On d 9 of the vase

period, the RFW of chrysanthemum was heavier than that of carnations, and the differences were significant (Fig. 2).

### Vase solution uptake

There was an increase in the rate of vase solution uptake (VSU) by both flowers until the third day of the vase period, by which time the VSU in carnations was almost twice as much as that in chrysanthemum. From the third day onward, the VSU in both flowers decreased. The application of AgNPs caused an increase in the VSU in both flowers compared to the control. On d 9 of the vase period, the VSU in carnations had been significantly affected by both concentrations of AgNPs, whereas the chrysanthemum was only affected by 0.08 g L<sup>-1</sup> AgNPs to a substantial degree (Fig. 3).







Fig. 3 - Effect of two concentrations of AgNPs (0.04 and 0.08 g  $L^{-1}$ ) along with the control (deionized water) on VSU of two cut flowers during the vase period. Values represent means  $\pm$  standard error (n=3). LSD at P≤0.05 was used for means comparison.

### Bacterial population of stem end

The bacterial population of the stem end in carnations increased throughout the vase period. In chrysanthemum, however, the same trend continued until the third days before declining. Both concentrations of AgNPs reduced the bacterial population of the stem end in chrysanthemum during the vase period, making it significantly different when compared to the control on d 9. On the other hand, this trait in carnations was only affected by 0.08 g L<sup>-1</sup> AgNPs to make a significant difference compared to the control. In general, in both flowers, 0.08 g L<sup>-1</sup> AgNPs was more effective than the 0.04 g L<sup>-1</sup> in reducing the bacterial population of the stem end. The highest of this trait among both cut flowers was observed in the control group of chrysanthemum on d 3, whereas the lowest of this value was caused by 0.08 g  $L^{-1}$  AgNPs and measured on d 9 (Fig. 4).

### Changes in the stem and flower diameter

The stem diameter was one of the traits which was not significantly affected by AgNPs in both flowers. Even a comparison between d 0 and 9 of the control groups showed no significant difference. Despite the fact that 0.08 g L<sup>-1</sup> AgNPs in both flowers caused the stem diameter to become thicker in comparison with the stems of plants treated by 0.04 g L<sup>-1</sup> and the control, there were no significant differences between these groups (data not shown).

From d 3 onward, the diameter of both flowers decreased. However, it occurred more dramatically in carnations which shrank twice as much as the chrysanthemum. The effect of AgNPs on changing the flower diameter was significant only in carnations, during their vase period. Although AgNPs increased the diameter of flowers in both species, as compared with their respective control groups, the diameters had finally decreased by d 9 of the vase period. On the mentioned day, these treatments had made a significant difference in carnations only, as compared to the carnations control group. In general, the biggest flower diameter was observed in chrysanthemum on d 0 after being treated with 0.04 g L<sup>-1</sup> AgNPs, and the smallest of all diameters was obtained in the control group of carnations on d 9 (data not shown).

#### Membrane stability index

The decline in values of the membrane stability index (MSI) occurred in both flowers during the vase period, and no significant differences were observed between the two flowers in this respect. In the beginning of the vase period (d 0), the MSI in carnations was higher than in chrysanthemum, but the value of this trait decreased in both flowers through time. On d 9, this decrease was twice as much in carnation when compared to chrysanthemum. In both flowers, AgNPs caused the MSI to increase during the vase period, as compared to the control, but chrysanthemum responded more strongly to the treatment than the extent to which carnations did. In response to AgNPs, chrysanthemum showed a gradual increase in the MSI value - so much so that it became slightly <sup>-1</sup> AgNPs can be a successful treatment for increasing the MSI in carnations. In contrast, however, the concentration of 0.04 g L<sup>-1</sup> worked optimally on chrysanthemum. In general, the highest value of MSI was observed in carnations on d 0 when treated with 0.08 g L<sup>-1</sup> AgNPs, whereas the lowest value occurred in the control on d 9 (Fig. 5).

#### Total soluble protein



Fig. 4 - Effect of two concentrations of AgNPs (0.04 and 0.08 g  $L^{-1}$ ) along with the control (deionized water) on bacterial population of the stem end of two cut flowers during the vase period. Values represent means  $\pm$  standard error (n=3). LSD at P≤0.05 was used for means comparison.

A comparison of the mean values showed that the



Fig. 5 - Effect of two concentrations of AgNPs (0.04 and 0.08 g L<sup>-1</sup>) along with the control (deionized water) on MSI of two cut flowers during the vase period. Values represent means ± standard error (n=3). LSD at P≤0.05 was used for means comparison. content of total soluble protein (TSP) in chrysanthemum petals was about 4 times higher than that of carnation petals on d 0. In carnations, the TSP content of the petals increased during the vase period. Meanwhile, chrysanthemum underwent a different pattern of change, whereby the content of TSP increased from d 0 to d 3, but then decreased sharply until d 6, and continued to decline at a gradual rate until d 9. The AgNPs increased the TSP in both flowers during the vase period, as compared to the control. Generally, the highest value of TSP was observed in chrysanthemum on d 3 in the treatment group of 0.04 g L<sup>-1</sup> AgNPs, whereas the lowest value was observed in the control on d 9 (Fig. 6).

#### Total soluble carbohydrate

The total soluble carbohydrate (TSC) content in carnation petals was more than the content in chrysanthemum petals. In the control groups of both flowers, the content of TSC decreased. The use of AgNPs in both flowers did not cause a significant difference in TSC on d 0, as compared with the control, but thereafter the difference gradually became significant until d9. Applying the AgNP at 0.08 g L<sup>-1</sup> on carnations and at 0.04 g L<sup>-1</sup> on chrysanthemum significantly increased the TSC in comparison with their respective control groups. In general, carnations responded more strongly to the use of AgNPs, and the increase in their TSC content was much greater than in the case of chrysanthemum. The highest TSC content was measured in carnations on d 3 of the vase period after being treated with 0.08 g L<sup>-1</sup> AgNPs. The lowest content was measured in the control group of chrysanthemum on d 9 (Fig. 7).

#### Hydrogen peroxide content

The petals of both flowers initially contained simi-



Fig. 6 - Effect of two concentrations of AgNPs (0.04 and 0.08 g L<sup>-1</sup>) along with the control (deionized water) on TSP of two cut flowers during the vase period. Values represent means ± standard error (n=3). LSD at P≤0.05 was used for means comparison.

lar amounts of hydrogen peroxide (H<sub>2</sub>O<sub>2</sub>) which gradually increased during the vase period. The rate of this increase was higher in carnations compared to the chrysanthemum. When comparing the H<sub>2</sub>O<sub>2</sub> content between d 0 and d 9, its increase in carnations was about three times more than the increase measured in chrysanthemum. The application of AgNPs on both flowers reduced the H<sub>2</sub>O<sub>2</sub> content in their petals, as compared with the control, but the increase was not prevented completely. On the last day of the vase period, the application of AgNPs on carnations led to a significant difference in H<sub>2</sub>O<sub>2</sub> content when compared with the control. However, this was not the case in chrysanthemum. In general, the highest amount of H<sub>2</sub>O<sub>2</sub> was measured in the control group of carnations on d 9 of the vase period. Its lowest amount was obtained in chrysanthemum on d 6 by 0.08 g L<sup>-1</sup> AgNPs (Fig. 8).









#### Peroxidase activity

Based on the results, peroxidase (POD) activity in both flowers increased until d 3 of the vase period and then decreased until d 6 before increasing again thereafter. Using AgNPs on chrysanthemum, unlike carnation, significantly increased the activity of POD in comparison with the control. When treated with 0.04 g L<sup>-1</sup> AgNPs, the chrysanthemum showed a level of POD activity on d 9 that was about 2.5 times greater than the activity in carnations on the same day. In general, the highest level of POD activity was measured in chrysanthemum on d 9 after the treatment with 0.04 g L<sup>-1</sup> AgNPs, whereas the lowest level of activity was measured on d 6 in the control (Fig. 9).

#### Superoxide dismutase activity

Based on the results, that the superoxide dismutase (SOD) activity in carnation petals was about 2.5 times higher than that of chrysanthemum petals on d 0, but on d 9 it was completely different, and the activity of this enzyme in chrysanthemum was more than 4.5 times that of carnation. Generally the activity of SOD dropped in carnation petals, whereas it rose in chrysanthemum petals. The AgNPs decreased the SOD in both flowers during the vase period, as compared to the control. Generally, the highest value of SOD was observed in chrysanthemum on d 9 in the control treatment, whereas the lowest value was observed in carnation on this day of vase period in the treatment group of 0.08 g L<sup>-1</sup> AgNPs (Fig. 10).

#### Vase life

Clearly, AgNPs caused the vase life of both flowers to increase. Both concentrations had a significant effect on carnations, while chrysanthemum was significantly affected by the 0.04 g L<sup>-1</sup> only. In carna-



Fig. 9 - Effect of two concentrations of AgNPs (0.04 and 0.08 g L<sup>-1</sup>) along with the control (deionized water) on POD activity of two cut flowers during the vase period. Values represent means ± standard error (n=3). LSD at P≤0.05 was used for means comparison.



Fig. 10 - Effect of two concentrations of AgNPs (0.04 and 0.08 g  $L^{-1}$ ) along with the control (deionized water) on SOD activity of two cut flowers during the vase period. Values represent means ± standard error (n=3). LSD at P<0.05 was used for means comparison.

tions, the vase life increased parallel to the increase in applied concentrations of AgNPs from 0.04 to 0.08 g L<sup>-1</sup>, the effects of which were significantly different compared to each other. Using 0.08 g L<sup>-1</sup> AgNPs yielded more appropriate results in carnations. On the other hand, the vase life of chrysanthemum was slightly affected in a negative manner as the concentration of AgNPs rose from 0.04 to 0.08 g L<sup>-1</sup>, but the difference between the two concentrations was insignificant. Nonetheless, both caused significant differences in comparison with the control (Fig. 11A and B).

#### 4. Discussion and Conclusions

In this study, the cut flowers of carnation and chrysanthemum showed various levels of decrease in RFW (Fig. 2), VSU (Fig. 3) and flower diameter throughout the vase period. Similar results have been reported after assessing the RFW and VSU of gerbera cut flowers (Liu et al., 2009), rose (Chamani et al., 2005) and cut gardenia foliage (Lin et al., 2019 a) during the vase period. The current study showed that using the AgNPs reduced the bacterial population of the stem end in both flowers, while the RFW was improved as compared to the control. Previous studies confirm such findings on the use of AgNPs in cut flowers such as Gerbera (Liu et al., 2009; Solgi et al., 2009; Nazari and Koushesh Saba, 2017) and rose (Lu et al., 2010; Nazemi Rafi and Ramezanian, 2013; Hassan et al., 2014). These studies showed that the vase life improves when the bacterial population of the stem end decreases, besides when the VSU and RFW increase.



Fig. 11 - Effect of two concentrations of AgNPs (0.04 and 0.08 g L<sup>-1</sup>) along with the control (deionized water) on vase life of carnation (A) and chrysanthemum (B). Values represent means ± standard error (n=3). LSD at P≤0.05 was used for means comparison.

The decrease in the RFW of cut flowers marks the beginning of senescence in flowers, and the more the flowers become closer to the process of senescence, their ability to take up water from the vase is reduced. The imbalance between water uptake and transpiration distorts cell turgor, thereby causing the flowers to wither (Reid and Jiang, 2012). The survival of cut flowers depends largely on a positive water balance: an increase in water uptake and a decrease in water loss (Halevy and Mayak, 1981; Van Doorn, 1997). After being placed in the vase, the flower loses RFW in part because of vascular occlusion and the growth of microorganisms which grow in the vase solution. They reduce the water uptake by blocking the stem end and vessels, thereby causing water stress which is a main factor in the reduction of vase life (van Doorn, 1997; Macnish et al., 2005). Adding a germicide to the vase solution may control the activity of microbes. It has been reported that adding antimicrobial compounds containing Ag<sup>+</sup> ions to the vase solution improves the vase life of cut flowers (Hassan et al., 2014). AgNPs nanoparticles function

effectively because of their high surface-to-volume ratio and their crystallographic surface structure (Rai *et al.*, 2009). Furthermore, Ag<sup>+</sup> ions cause bacterial cell death by affecting membrane structure and permeability, inhibiting DNA transcription, disrupting transport activity and changing cellular content and ATP (Feng *et al.*, 2000; Sondi and Salopek-Sondi, 2004; Rai *et al.*, 2009; Dakal *et al.*, 2016).

This difference in the bacterial population of the stem end of the two cut flowers may depend on the genotype of the plant, as well as the extract and metabolites that are secreted from the stem end and are released into the vase solution, thereby affecting the growth of bacteria. Phenolic compounds are secondary metabolites that are involved in plant defense against pathogens (Naczk and Shahidi, 2004). In traditional Chinese medicine, the flowering heads of *Chrysanthemum indicum* are used as a source of bactericide, with additional antifungal and antiviral properties (Shunying *et al.*, 2005). In agreement with our results, Shunying *et al.* (2005) showed that the chemical composition and secondary metabolites of *Ch. indicum* possess antimicrobial activity.

Flower diameters in this study were significantly influenced by AgNPs in carnation flowers, butthe effect on chrysanthemum was not significant. Dar *et al*. (2014) reported that the flower diameter in *Dianthus chinensis* first increased and then finally decreased during post-harvest development and senescence, respectively. The current research showed that the flower diameter of carnations tends to increase after being treated with AgNPs. This accords closely witha previous report on *Polianthes tuberosa* which was treated with 0.015 g L<sup>-1</sup> AgNPs and led to a significant increase in the diameter of flowers (Bahrehmand *et al.*, 2014).

It is well known that the MSI gradually decreases from the time when the flowers open to the time of their senescence. Such a trend occurs evidently in certain flowers such as Lilium (Bieleski and Reid, 1992), rose (Hassan et al., 2014) and Iris (Ahmad and Tahir, 2016). The senescence process is mainly associated with protein loss, increased lipid peroxidation, membrane leakage, cell wall component degradation and cellular membrane disruption (Buchanan-Wollaston, 1997). AgNPs may preserve the membrane stability by curbing the peroxidation of lipids (Hatami and Ghorbanpour, 2013). There was a lower percentage of MSI in carnation petals, compared to chrysanthemum, which may be due to the fact that carnations are highly sensitive to ethylene. The reason becomes clear when knowing that ethylene

degrades the cell membrane and increases its leakage (van Doorn and Woltering, 2008), thereby resulting in a lower value of MSI. However, AgNPs acts against the production of ethylene (Hassan *et al.*, 2014). In fact, AgNPs induce an efficient cellular electron exchange mechanism which reduces electron leakage and, subsequently, limits the creation of ROSs. AgNPs also dys regulate lipid peroxidation and have a propensity to maintain the MSI (Lu *et al.*, 2010; Hassan *et al.*, 2014).

Previous studies have reported a decrease in TSP content and an increase in protease activity during the vase life of cut flowers (Wagstaff et al., 2005; Dar et al., 2014; Zhao et al., 2018). Quite differently, however, we concluded that changes in the TSP content may vary depending on the type of flower, species and cultivar. Still, contrary to our results, Dar et al. (2014) showed that protein degradation in Dianthus chinensis is a key factor in regulating the senescence process of flowers. Shahri et al. (2011) also reported that TSP decreased during the senescence process of Helleborus orientalis cv. 'Olympicus', while there was an increase in its lowmolecular-weight proteins. Accordingly, realizing an increase of TSP content in carnation petals could be a result of these low-molecular-weight proteins.

It has been shown that in flowers such as Helleborus orientalis and Dianthus chinensis, the TSC is reduced during the senescence process (Shahri et al., 2011; Dar et al., 2014). There was a lower content of TSC in chrysanthemum petals, as compared with carnations, which may be due to the genetic differences between the two plants, as well as the difference in the rate of polysaccharide decomposition during the opening and development of flowers and petals. In agreement with our results, it has been found that the starch and fructan polysaccharides are degraded and reduced during the development of flowers and the expansion of petals in chrysanthemum (Trustyl and Miller, 1991). Therefore, in this study, AgNPs in both flowers may have benefited the vase life by maintaining the content of TSC in petals and by promoting the mechanisms through which carbohydrates stabilize the cell membrane (Ashraf et al., 2010). Furthermore, AgNPs regulate and protect the cellular osmotic potential, inhibit the formation of free radicals (Parida and Das, 2005) and regulate the expression of genes (Rahdari et al., 2012).

Usually, the amount of  $H_2O_2$  increases in plant cells during senescence (Ezhilmathi *et al.*, 2007; Saeed *et al.*, 2014). It can be suggested that high levels of  $H_2O_2$  in carnation petals occur because of the plants sensitivity to ethylene. This can be compared with chrysanthemum which is not sensitive to the hormone. Our results showed that the use of AgNPs on both flowers reduced the production of  $H_2O_2$  in petals, as compared with the control. These results accord closely with a previous report by Hassan *et al.* (2014) where the production of  $H_2O_2$  became significantly limited in roses because AgNPs was used.

Senescence is an oxidation process in which ROS and antioxidant systems are involved (Buchanan-Wollaston, 1997). Plant cells have developed a series of antioxidant mechanisms for defense to prevent the production of ROSs and to limit their destructive effects on proteins, fats and nucleic acids (Arora et al., 2002). The enzymatic part of this system consists of antioxidant enzymes such as SOD, POD, catalase (CAT) and ascorbate peroxidase (APX) which degrade all types of ROSs (Balakhnina and Borkowska, 2013). Depending on the species or type of cultivars, the POD activity and SOD enzymes can exhibit different patterns of change in cut flowers during the senescence process (Hassan et al., 2014). As the production of H<sub>2</sub>O<sub>2</sub> increased in the petals of both flowers during the vase period, the POD enzyme likewise increased its activity to scavenge the higher amounts of H<sub>2</sub>O<sub>2</sub>. Furthermore, Hassan et al. (2014) reported similar results which indicate that petals of the rose cut flower cv. 'First Red' - which is sensitive to ethylene (Chamani et al., 2005) - showed declining levels of SOD activity during the vase period. However, contrary to our results on the incremental trend of POD in carnations and chrysanthemum during the vase period, Hassan et al. (2014) reported that the POD activity in the rose cultivar decreases. It has also been reported that SOD activity in ethylene-sensitive flowers such as carnation is relatively lower compared to ethylene-insensitive flowers such as chrysanthemum. This comprises a major factor in accelerating the senescence (Bartoli et al., 1995).

In addition, it may be suggested that in ethyleneinsensitive flowers such as chrysanthemum, ROS cause the greatest amount of damage to the cell components, thereby leading to a shorter vase life. For this reason, the SOD activity has to increase so as to create a parallel level of scavenging. In certain flowers such as carnations, which are sensitive to ethylene, the level of SOD activity may not be pronounced as much. As previously mentioned, AgNPs cause the plants to acquire an efficient cellular electron exchange mechanism, whereby the electron leakage and ROS production are reduced (Hassan *et al.*, 2014). Perhaps, the activity of SOD does not increase in carnations even when AgNPs are applied.

AgNPs increased the vase life of chrysanthemum and carnation (Figs. 11A and B) by increasing the RFW (Fig. 2) and reducing the bacterial population of the stem end (Fig. 4). The scientific literature contains several reports that mention the efficiency of AgNPs in increasing the vase life of gerbera (Liu *et al.*, 2009; Solgi *et al.*, 2009; Nazari and Koushesh Saba, 2017), rose (Lu *et al.*, 2010; Nazemi Rafi and Ramezanian, 2013; Hassan *et al.*, 2014), chrysanthemum (Carrillo-López *et al.*, 2016), carnation (Naing *et al.*, 2017) and gladiolus (Li *et al.*, 2017).

In conclusion, AgNPs improved the vase life of both cut flowers by contributing to the values of their RFW, VSU, flower diameter, MSI, TSC, TSP and POD activity and by limiting their bacterial population of the stem end and H<sub>2</sub>O<sub>2</sub> levels, as compared to the control. It is highly probable that AgNPs are capable of reducing the expression of genes responsible for the production of ethylene, as well as limiting the rate of transpiration and the opening of stoma. Furthermore, AgNPs have roles in regulating the aperture of the stoma and in reducing MDA production, thereby prolonging the vase life of cut flowers. Ultimately, this research revealed that the use of AgNPs at 0.04 g L<sup>-1</sup> and 0.08 g L<sup>-1</sup> can extend the vase life of at least two cultivars belonging to chrysanthemum and carnation, respectively.

## Acknowledgements

The authors wish to thank the University of Kurdistan for providing facilities and financial support (Grant No. CRC97-00242-1) of this research.

## References

- ABELES F., MORGAN P., SALTVEIT J.R.M., 1992 *Ethylene in plant biology*. Academic Press, San Diego, CA, USA, pp. 399.
- AHMAD S.S., TAHIR I., 2016 Increased oxidative stress, lipid peroxidation and protein degradation trigger senescence in Iris versicolor L. flowers. - Physiol. Mol. Biol. Plants, 22 (4): 507-514.
- ALEXIEVA V., SERGIEV I., MAPELLI S., KARANOV E., 2001 -The effect of drought and ultraviolet radiation on growth and stress markers in pea and wheat.- Plant Cell Environ., 24: 1337-1344.
- ARORA A., SAIRAM R., SRIVASTAVA G., 2002 Oxidative stress and antioxidative system in plants. Curr. Sci., 82: 1227-1238.

- ASHRAF M., AHMAD R., BHATTI A., AFZAL M., SARWAR A., MAQSOOD M., KANWAL S., 2010 - Amelioration of salt stress in sugarcane (Saccharum officinarum L.) by supplying potassium and silicon in hydroponics. -Pedosphere, 20: 153-162.
- BAHREHMAND S., RAZMJOO J., FARAHMAND H., 2014 -Effects of nano-silver and sucrose applications on cut flower longevity and quality of tuberose (Polianthes tuberosa).- Int. J. Hortic. Sci. Technol., 1: 61-77.
- BALAKHNINA T., BORKOWSKA A., 2013 Effects of silicon on plant resistance to environmental stresses.- Int. Agrophys., 27: 225-232.
- BALESTRA G.M., AGOSTINI R., BELLINCONTRO A., MEN-CARELLI F., VARVARO L., 2005 - Bacterial populations related to gerbera (Gerbera jamesonii L.) stem break.-Phytopathol. Mediterr., 44: 291-299.
- BARTOLI C.G., SIMONTACCHI M., GUIAMET J.J., MONTALDI E., 1995 - Antioxidant enzymes and lipid peroxidation during aging of Chrysanthemum morifolium RAM petals. - Plant Sci., 104: 161-168.
- BEYER W.F., FRIDOVICH I., 1987 Assaying for superoxide dismutase activity: some large consequences of minor changes in conditions. Anal. Biochem., 161: 559-566.
- BIELESKI R.L, REID M.S., 1992 Physiological changes accompanying senescence in the ephemeral daylily flower.- Plant Physiol., 98: 1042-1049.
- BRADFORD M.M., 1976 A rapid and sensitive method for the quantitation of microgram quantities of protein utilizing the principle of protein-dye binding. - Anal. Biochem., 72: 248-254.
- BUCHANAN-WOLLASTON V., 1997 The molecular biology of leaf senescence. J. Exp. Bot., 48: 181-199.
- CARRILLO-LÓPEZ L.M., MORGADO-GONZÁLEZ M., MORGA-DO-GONZÁLEZ A., 2016 - Biosynthesized silver nanoparticles used in preservative solutions for Chrysanthemum cv. Puma. - J. Nanomater., 1-10.
- CHAMANI A.B.E., KHALIGHI B.A., JOYCE A.D.C., DONALD E., IRVING A., ZAMANI B.Z.A., MOSTOFI B.Y., KAFI B.M., 2005 - Ethylene and anti-ethylene treatment effects on cut 'First Red' rose. - Appl. Hortic., 7(1): 3-7.
- CHANDLER S.F., SANCHEZ C., 2012 Genetic modification; the development of transgenic ornamental plant varieties.- Plant Biotechnol. J., 10: 891-903.
- CHAU C.F., WU S.H., YEN G.C., 2007 *The development of regulations for food nanotechnology*. - Trends Food Sci. Technol., 18: 269-280.
- DAKAL T.C., KUMAR A., MAJUMDAR R.S., YADAV V., 2016 -Mechanistic basis of antimicrobial actions of silver nanoparticles. - Front Microbiol., 7: 1831.
- DAMUNUPOLA J.W., JOYCE D.C., 2008 When is a vase solution biocide not, or not only, antimicrobial? - J. Jpn. Soc. Hortic. Sci., 77: 211-228.
- DAR R.A., TAHIR I., AHMAD S.S., 2014 *Physiological and biochemical changes associated with flower development and senescence in* Dianthus chinensis *L* Ind. J. Plant Physiol., 19: 215-221.

DEVECCHI M., TROTTA F., SEGLIE L., KIM Y.J., LAVA C.,

DOLCI M., SCARIOT V., 2009 - *Effects of anti-ethylene* compounds included in nanosponges in improving the postharvest longevity of carnation (Dianthus caryophyllus) and buttercup (Ranunculus asiaticus) cut flowers. - Acta Horticulturae, 847: 237-244.

- DOLE J.M., WILKINS H.F., 2005 *Floriculture: Principles and species.* Prentice-Hall Inc, Upper Saddle River, New Jersey, USA, pp. 1023.
- EZHILMATHI K., SINGH V.P., ARORA A., SAIRAM R.K., 2007 -Effect of 5-sulfosalicylic acid on antioxidant activity in relation to vase life of Gladiolus cut flowers. - Plant Growth Regul., 51: 99-108.
- FENG Q.L., WU J., CHEN G., CUI F., KIM T., KIM J., 2000 A mechanistic study of the antibacterial effect of silver ions on Escherichia coli and Staphylococcus aureus. - J. Biomed. Mater. Res., 52: 662-668.
- HALEVY A.H., MAYAK S., 1981 Senescence and postharvest physiology of cut flowers. Part 2. - Hortic. Rev., 3: 59-143.
- HASSAN F.A.S., ALI E.F., EL-DEEB B., 2014 Improvement of postharvest quality of cut rose cv. 'First Red' by biologically synthesized silver nanoparticles. - Sci. Hortic., 179: 340-348.
- HATAMI M., GHORBANPOUR M., 2013 Effect of nanosilver on physiological performance of pelargonium plants exposed to dark storage. - J. Hortic. Res., 21: 15-20.
- HE S., JOYCE D.C., IRVING D.E, FARAGHER J.D., 2006 Stem end blockage in cut Grevillea 'Crimson Yul-lo' inflorescences. - Postharv. Biol. Technol., 41: 78-84.
- HEMEDA H.M., KLEIN B., 1990 *Effects of naturally occurring antioxidants on peroxidase activity of vegetable extracts.* - J. Food Sci., 55: 184-185.
- IRIGOYEN J., EINERICH D., SÁNCHEZ-DÍAZ M., 1992 Water stress induced changes in concentrations of proline and total soluble sugars in nodulated alfalfa (Medicago sativa) plants. - Physiol. Plant., 84: 55-60.
- JONES M.L., 2013 Mineral nutrient remobilization during corolla senescence in ethylene-sensitive and -insensitive flowers.- AoB Plants, 5: plt023.
- KIM J.H., LEE A.K., SUH J.K., 2005 Effect of certain pretreatment substances on vaselife and physiological characters in Lilium spp. - Acta Horticulturae, 673: 307-314.
- LI H., LI H., LIU J., LUO Z., JOYCE D., HE S., 2017 Nano-silver treatments reduced bacterial colonization and biofilm formation at the stem-ends of cut gladiolus 'Eerde' spikes. - Postharv. Biol. Technol., 123: 102-111.
- LIN X., LI H., LIN S., XU M., LIU J., LI Y., HE S., 2019 b -Improving the postharvest performance of cut spray 'Prince' carnations by vase treatments with nano-silver and sucrose. - J. Hortic. Sci. Biotechnol., 94: 513-521.
- LIN S., LI H., XIAN X., LIN X., PANG Z., LIU J., HE S., 2019 a -Nano-silver pretreatment delays wilting of cut Gardenia foliage by inhibiting bacterial xylem blockage. - Sci. Hortic., 246: 791-796.

LIU J., HE S., ZHANG Z., CAO J., LVP., HE S., CHENG G.,

JOYCE D.C., 2009 - Nano-silver pulse treatments inhibit stem-end bacteria on cut gerbera cv. Ruikou flowers. -Postharv. Biol. Technol., 54: 59-62.

- LU P., CAO J., HE S., LIU J., LI H., CHENG G., DING Y., JOYCE D.C., 2010 Nano-silver pulse treatments improve water relations of cut rose. Postharv. Biol. Technol., 57: 196-202.
- MACNISH A., LEONARD R., HUGHE K., NELL T., 2005 -Bacteria-free solutions. - Florists' Rev., 57-60.
- MAITY T.R., SAMANTA A., SAHA B., DATTA S., 2019 -Evaluation of Piper betle mediated silver nanoparticle in post-harvest physiology in relation to vase life of cut spike of Gladiolus. - Bull. Nat. Res. Cent., 43: 1-11.
- NACZK M., SHAHIDI F., 2004 Extraction and analysis of phenolics in food. J. Chromatogr., 1054: 95-111.
- NAING A.H., WIN N.M., HANG J.S., LIM K.B., KIM C.K., 2017 - Role of nanosilver and the bacterial strain Enterobacter cloacae in increasing vase life of cut carnation 'Omea'. - Front. Plant Sci.,8: 1590.
- NAZARI F., KOUSHESH SABA M., 2017 Combination effect of 1-methylcyclopropene (1-MCP) with ajowan essential oil and silver nanoparticles on postharvest life of gerbera (Gerbera jamesonii) cut flowers. - HortSci., 52: 1550-1555.
- NAZEMI RAFI Z., RAMEZANIAN A., 2013 Vase life of cut rose cultivars 'Avalanche' and 'Fiesta' as affected by Nano-silver and S-carvone treatments. - S. Afr. J. Bot., 86: 68-72.
- PARIDA A.K., DAS A.B., 2005 Salt tolerance and salinity effects on plants, a review. Ecotox. Environ. Safe., 60: 324-349.
- PROCHAZKOVA D., WILHELMOVA N., 2007 Leaf senescence and activities of the antioxidant enzymes. - Biol. Plant., 51: 401-406.
- RAHDARI P., TAVAKOLI S., HOSSEINI S.M., 2012 Studying of salinity stress effect on germination, proline, sugar, protein, lipid and chlorophyll content in purslane (Portulaca oleracea L.) leaves. -J. Stress Physiol. Biochem., 8: 182-193.
- RAI M., YADAV A., GADE A., 2009 Silver nanoparticles as a new generation of antimicrobials. - Biotechnol. Adv., 27: 76-83.
- REID M.S., JIANG C.Z., 2012 Postharvest biology and technology of cut flowers and potted plants. - Hortic. Rev., 40: 1-54.
- SAEED T., HASSAN I., ABBASI N.A., JILANI G., 2014 Effect of gibberellic acid on the vase life and oxidative activities in senescing cut gladiolus flowers. - Plant Growth Regul., 72: 89-95.
- SAIRAM R.K., RAO K.V., SRIVASTAVA G., 2002 Differential response of wheat genotypes to long term salinity stress in relation to oxidative stress, antioxidant activity and osmolyte concentration. - Plant Sci., 163: 1037-1046.
- SCARIOT V., PARADISO R., ROGERS H., DE PASCALE S., 2014 - Ethylene control in cut flowers. Classical and innovative approaches. - Postharv. Biol. Technol., 97:

83-92.

- SEGLIE L., MARTINA K., DEVECCHI M., ROGGERO C., TROT-TA F., SCARIOT V., 2011 - The effects of 1-MCP in cyclodextrin-based nanosponges to improve the vase life of Dianthus caryophyllus cut flowers. - Postharv. Biol. Technol., 59: 200-205.
- SHAHRI W., TAHIR I., ISLAM S.T., BHAT M.A., 2011 -Physiological and bio-chemical changes associated with flower development and senescence in so far unexplored Helleborus orientalis Lam.cv. Olympicus. -Physiol. Mol. Biol. Plants, 17: 33-39.
- SHUNYING Z., YANG Y., YU H., YING Y., ZOU G., 2005 -Chemical composition and antimicrobial activity of the essential oils of Chrysanthemum indicum. - J. Ethnopharmacol., 96: 151-158.
- SOLGI M., KAFI M., TAGHAVI T.S., NADERI R., 2009 -Essential oils and silver nanoparticles (SNP) as novel agents to extend vase-life of gerbera (Gerbera jamesonii cv. Dune) flowers. - Postharv. Biol. Technol., 53: 155-158.
- SONDI I., SALOPEK-SONDI B., 2004 Silver nanoparticles as antimicrobial agent, a case study on E. coli as a model for Gram-negative bacteria. - J. Colloid Interface Sci., 275: 177-182.
- TAVALLALI H., POURESMAEIL S., 2012 Determination of ascorbic acid by modified method based on photolumi-

nescence of silver nanoparticles. - Int. J. Chem. Tech. Rese., 4: 304-310.

- TRUSTYL S.E., MILLER W.B., 1991 *Postproduction carbohydrate levels in pot* Chrysanthemums. - J. Amer. Soc. Hortic. Sci., 116: 1013-1018.
- VAN DOORN W.G., 1997 Effects of pollination on floral attraction and longevity. J. Exp. Bot., 48: 1615-1622.
- VAN DOORN W.G., VASLIER N., 2002 Wound-induced xylem occlusion in stems of cut chrysanthemum flowers: roles of peroxidase and catechol oxidase. -Postharv Biol. Technol., 26: 275-284.
- VAN DOORN W.G., WOLTERING E.J., 2008 *Physiology and* molecular biology of petal senescence. - J. Exp. Bot., 59: 453-480.
- WAGSTAFF C., CHANASUT U., HARREN F.J., LAARHOVEN L.J., THOMAS B., ROGERS H.J, STEAD A.D., 2005 -Ethylene and flower longevity in Alstroemeria: relationship between tepal senescence, abscission and ethylene biosynthesis. - J. Exp. Bot., 56: 1007-1016.
- YANG S.F., HOFFMAN N.E., 1984 Ethylene biosynthesis and its regulation in higher plants. - Annu. Rev. Plant Biol., 35: 155-189.
- ZHAO D., CHENG M., TANG W., LIU D., ZHOU S., MENG J., TAO J., 2018 - Nano-silver modifies the vase life of cut herbaceous peony (Paeonia lactiflora Pall.) flowers. -Protoplasma, 1: 1-13.





(\*) **Corresponding author:** felix.amuji@gmail.com

#### Citation:

AMUJI C.F., BEAUMONT L.J., ESPERON RODRI-GUEZ M., 2020 - Simulating the impact of projected West African heatwaves and water stress on the physiology and yield of three tomato varieties. - Adv. Hort. Sci., 34(2): 147-156.

#### Copyright:

© 2020 Amuji C.F., Beaumont L.J., Esperon Rodriguez M. This is an open access, peer reviewed article published by Firenze University Press (http://www.fupress.net/index.php/ahs/) and distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License, which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original author and source are credited.

#### Data Availability Statement:

All relevant data are within the paper and its Supporting Information files.

**Competing Interests:** The authors declare no competing interests.

Received for publication 2 April 2019 Accepted for publication 5 March 2020

# Simulating the impact of projected West African heatwaves and water stress on the physiology and yield of three tomato varieties

#### C.F. Amuji <sup>1, 2 (\*)</sup>, L.J. Beaumont <sup>1</sup>, M.E. Rodriguez <sup>3</sup>

- <sup>1</sup> Department of Biological Sciences, Faculty of Science and Engineering, Macquarie University, North Ryde NSW, 2109, Australia.
- <sup>2</sup> Department of Crop Science, Faculty of Agriculture, University of Nigeria, Nsukka 41001, Enugu State, Nigeria.
- <sup>3</sup> Hawkesbury Institute for Environment, Western Sydney University, Locked Bag 1797, Penrith, NSW 2751, Australia.

Key words: fruit yield, heat stress, Solanum lycopersicum, tomato, water stress.

Abstract: Food security is a major issue in West Africa. As a consequence of climate change, increases in temperature and shifts in precipitation will have major ramifications for which crops can be grown in the region. Here we conducted an experiment to evaluate the impacts of short-term projected heat and water stress on three tomato varieties (Solanum lycopersicum): Oregon Spring, Roma VF, and Tropic. The plants were initially cultivated in the glasshouse programmed at 28/20°C day/night cycle. The treatments investigated were: control (CT); heat stress (Ht); water stress (Ws) and Heat + together with water stress (HtWs). For heatwave treatments, a 35/23°C day/night gradually taken up in a cycle was imposed. The water stress conditions were by decreasing the soil water field capacity by 50%. Leaf gas exchange and plant production parameters were measured. Our result indicated that all varieties suffered from significant declines in yield as consequence of the stresses. The heatwave treatment proved more detrimental on the tomato fruit yield than the water stress, except when these two treatments occurred in sequential cycles. The results of this study suggest that heatwaves and water stress, projected to occur more frequently due to climate change, may adversely impact the growth and yield of these three tomato varieties. Also, there was an unexpected fruit yield performance comparison among varieties tested in this experiment.

#### 1. Introduction

Food security is a global issue that is projected to exacerbate as the human population grows (Godfray *et al.*, 2010). To meet the United Nations Millennium Development Goal of "eradicating extreme poverty and hunger", considerable emphasis have to be placed on the developing regions of the world (Pingali *et al.*, 2006), such as West Africa. West Africa comprises 15 countries and is home to an estimated 350 million people

(30% of the African continent) (United Nations, 2018). The population of this region is increasing rapidly, and is expected to reach 490 million by 2030 (Hollinger and Staatz, 2015).

In some part of West Africa, more than sixty percent of the population are dependent upon rain-fed agriculture, which is characterised by low fertilizer use, poor seed quality, inadequate water management, and low soil fertility (Benin, 2016). Agriculture is also negatively influenced by extreme weather events, such as heatwaves and droughts (Asare-Kyei *et al.*, 2017). Indeed, the United Nations Food and Agricultural Organization reported that the drought occurred from June to August of 2019 in the Sahel region of West Africa, resulted in 9.7 million people being exposed to severe food insecurity, leading to 2 million children being under acute malnutrition (FAO, 2019).

Climate change poses additional concerns for food security in West Africa, particularly as the frequency and intensity of extreme weather events are projected to increase (Sylla et al., 2016). Combined with climate change, the growing human population characterized by rain-fed agriculture in West Africa, suggest that the eradication of poverty and hunger from this region will be challenging. Thus, adaptation to future climate plays a crucial role in securing food production (Easterling et al., 2007) and will require efficient adaptation strategies from the respective governments. While, some of these strategies have low or no cost and are already used in the region (e.g. shifting planting dates or selecting more resilient crop varieties), other strategies, such as developing new varieties or increasing irrigation, will require greater investment (Rosenzweig and Parry, 1994).

## Tomato: a key horticultural crop in West Africa

Tomato (*Solanum lycopersicum* L.) provides substantial economic and nutritional benefits for humanity (Klunklin and Savage, 2017). This crop is one of the world's most highly consumed fruits (Arah *et al.*, 2015), with over 177 million tonnes of production across ~5 million hectares of harvested land globally (FAOSTAT, 2017). Within West Africa, tomato is among the top ten horticultural crops in terms of yield. In 2016, 3.7 million tonnes were produced across 0.7 million ha (FAOSTAT, 2017). This crop is typically grown throughout West Africa under rainfed conditions, with the greatest yield being achieved in the Sudano-Sahelian zone of West Africa, located south of the Sahara Desert and north of the humid Guinea region (Perez *et al.*, 2017).

However, tomato growth and fruit production are affected significantly by climate (Petrozza et al., 2014) and yield is generally reduced in areas with extreme weather events (Oladitan and Akinseye, 2014) such as heatwaves (Hatfield and Prueger, 2015), flooding (Ezin et al., 2010), and drought, as well as pests and diseases (Ximénez-Embún et al., 2016). The optimum growth rate for most tomato varieties require temperatures between 20 and 27°C (Nicola et al., 2008) and 400-600 mm of water throughout their growing period (Jaria, 2012). Temperatures above 32°C can affect vegetative growth and reproduction of tomatoes (Pressman et al., 2002; Abdelmageed et al., 2003; Müller et al., 2016), causing decreases in leaf area and plant development during the flowering stage (Nduwimana and Wei, 2017) and the failure of tomato fruit set (Sato et al., 2000). Water stress may lead to poor tomato plant growth and productivity through inhibition of cell expansion and reduction of stomatal opening (Chaves et al., 2003). Water stress also decreases the rate of photosynthesis, especially through stomatal conductance, as well as abundance of flowers and fruiting quality (Murshed et al., 2013).

Due to the importance of tomato for the West African region and the potential threat of climate change on its production, in this work we assessed the effect of heatwave and water stress on three varieties of tomatoes. We hypothesised that: (1) heatwave and water stress (i.e. less than 50% of soil water field capacity) will have a negative influence on the tomato varieties, causing reductions in fruit yield even after recovery period exposure; (2) the effect of heatwaves followed by water stress will be more severe than either of these stresses alone, causing a significant reduction in fruit yield; and (3) seasonally adapted varieties of tomatoes will respond differently to heatwaves and water stress, with varieties from warmer regions having higher yield than a coolregion variety.

## 2. Materials and Methods

## Plant material and environmental conditions

We selected three varieties of tomato, two of which are commercially grown in West Africa ('Roma' and 'Tropic'), while the third ('Oregon Spring') is typically grown in cooler regions of the world. 'Roma' variety has a strong, compact stem with determinate vines (Gelmesa *et al.*, 2010). This variety has been noted to be particularly suited to climatic conditions in Savannah regions of West Africa (Ojo *et al.*, 2013). *Tropic* was bred in the 1960's in the USA as an indeterminate variety adapted to warm, humid climates (Strobel, 1970). In contrast, *Oregon Spring* was bred as a determinate tomato for cold tolerance (Baggett and Kean, 1986).

The experiment was conducted under controlled environmental conditions at the Plant Growth Facilities glasshouse (PGF) at Macquarie University, Sydney, Australia. Seeds obtained from a seed distribution company called Eden Seeds, Australia, were germinated in a growth chamber at 22°C in commercial punnets. Six weeks after sowing, seedlings of similar height were transplanted to ten litres pots filled with 10 kg of soil mix that contained sand, topsoil, and rocky grey clay. Thirty-six plants of each variety were potted. The plants were initially cultivated in the glasshouse programmed at 28/20°C day/night cycle (temperature ambient, or TA). We kept a minimum night temperature of 20°C. Then from 04:00 h, temperature was increased by 0.5°C every 30 minutes, then remained constant at 28°C until 17:00 h. Following this, temperature was decreased by 0.5°C every 30 minutes to reach the minimum night-time temperature of 20°C. This temperature cycle was selected as it represents the conditions under which tomatoes are commonly grown in West Africa. In addition, a 12-hour photoperiod of 600 µmolm<sup>-1</sup>s<sup>-1</sup> and CO<sub>2</sub> concentration of 400 ppm (parts per million) were maintained in the glasshouses throughout the experiment.

After estimating the irrigation water capacity of the pots, all pots (with the exception of individuals in the water stress treatments, see details below) were watered daily to a 100% soil water field capacity (FC) which equated to a water holding capacity of 35%. The percentage water holding capacity was determined as the gain in the weight of the soil at saturation point divided by the dried weight of the soil x 100:

% water holding cap.= gain in weight of the soil at saturation point  $$_{\rm X\ 100}$$  dried weight of the soil

All plants were given the same quantity of fertilizer fortnightly using Yates Nutricote Standard Grey<sup>®</sup> fertilizer containing NPK (16:4:4) liquid fertilizer at the rate of 1 g L<sup>-1</sup>.

## Experimental design

Our goal was to assess the ecophysiological responses of the three tomato varieties to heatwave and water stress. For heatwave treatments, a 35/23°C day/night cycle (temperature high, or TH)

was imposed, where temperature increased 1°C per hour from the minimum night temperature of 23°C from 04:00 h (local time) to the maximum day temperature of 35°C then kept constant at this till 17:00 h. Before been decreased at the same rate until the minimum temperature was reached (23°C), were it stayed constant again till the 04:00 h, then the cycle continued. This temperature range was selected based on future heat projections for West Africa (Abiodun *et al.*, 2013; Sylla *et al.*, 2016).

Presently, there is no consensus regarding future rainfall patterns for West Africa (Roudier *et al.*, 2011), however increases in the frequency of drought conditions have been projected for the western Sahel sub-region (west of  $\sim 0^{\circ}$ E) (Monerie *et al.*, 2013). Thus, in this study, we simulated water stress conditions by decreasing the soil water field capacity by 50%.

To avoid location specific effects, the position of plants within the glasshouse were randomly rearranged weekly. Once reaching the flowering stage (~six weeks after sowing), three treatments together with the control were initiated for a total duration of eight weeks. Nine individual plants of each variety were placed in each treatment.

Ct - Control. Plants were grown at an ambient temperature (TA) consisting of a 28/20°C day/night cycle. All individuals were watered daily to approximately 100% FC. This condition was maintained for these Ct plants for the whole duration of the experiment. The treatment conditions are explained below:

1. Ws - Water stress treatment. Plants were grown at TA. The soil water field capacity of each individual was measured daily using a soil moisture sensor (Campbell Scientific Australia Pty Ltd -Hydro sense11<sup>®</sup>). During the treatment, all individuals were watered daily to only 50% FC. This condition was maintained throughout the eight weeks of treatment application.

2. *Ht* - *Heat treatment*. Plants were exposed to a cycle of a 14-day heatwave (TH = 23/35°C night /day) followed by 14 days at TA, and were kept well-watered. This cycle of conditions was maintained throughout the eight weeks of treatment application. 3. *HtWs* - *Heat and water stress treat*ment. Plants were exposed to a 7-day heatwave, during which they were well watered then followed by seven days of water stress (i.e. 50% FC) at TA. Also, this cycle of conditions was maintained throughout the eight weeks of treatment application.

After this treatments application period, all the plants were returned to the Ct conditions (see details

above) and allowed to recover for five weeks then the experiment terminated. The above conditions were simulated to imitate what normally happen in nature during a heatwave occurrence.

#### Ecophysiological and production measurements

Ecophysiological responses were assessed by measuring gas exchange traits, which included: transpiration rate, intracellular CO, concentration (Ci), stomatal conductance (gs), and net assimilation rate (E). These traits are widely used to evaluate physiological responses of plants to heat-water stress conditions (Nankishore and Farrell, 2016; Duan et al., 2017). The traits were measured on three mature, fully expanded leaves without damage and in good health, from five plants per treatment and variety using a Licor 6800 portable photosynthesis system (Li COR, Lincoln Nebraska, USA). Gas exchange measurements were taken at the third week (i.e. first week after complete treatments cycle-W3) and eight weeks (i.e. last week of treatment application-W8) between 09:30-14:00 h (local time). Also at the same period the number of flowers per plant were counted from the nine sampling plants per treatment and variety. Subsequently, the number of fruits that developed on these plants was also recorded. Maturity of fruit was determined based on a standard USDA colour chart (e.g. 'light red', UCANR, 2011). During the termination of the experiment (i.e. after the five weeks of recovery period), matured fruits were collected and weighed. The fresh and dry above ground biomass of the sampled plants were weighed and recorded too, with drying undertaken in an oven at 70°C for seven days. Measurements were noted as Fresh Biomass Weight Without Fruit (FWWF), Fresh Fruit Weight (FFW), Total Fresh Biomass Weight (TFW).

## Statistical analysis

A two-way Analysis of variance (ANOVA) model with a correction formula called Satterthwaite approximation was performed to determine the effects of all the treatments (i.e. water treatment vs heat treatment vs both in sequential combination) vs control on the tomato varieties, using the *ImerTest* Package (Kuznetsova *et al.*, 2017) in R version 3.4.3 (R Development Core Team, 2017). As measurements were taken on the same individuals over two different weeks, we used week as a covariate, with plant ID treated as a random effect. Post-hoc tests (Turkey contrasts) were used to compare means between treatments, and results were considered significant when p < 0.05. Statistical differences were reported as different letters on each figure. All figures were drawn in R using the 'ggplot2' (Wickham, 2016) packages.

### 3. Results

#### Ecophysiological measurements

From figure 1 and Table 1 it can be observed that for all the three varieties, transpiration rate differed significantly across treatments and weeks. Transpiration was generally highest among Ht plants and lowest in the HtWs treatment. For 'Oregon Spring', transpiration rates among Ht plants did not differ significantly to Ct, whereas rates were significantly higher among 'Roma's Ht plants. For both *Roma* and *Tropic*, transpiration rates between Ct plants and Ws were not significantly different (Fig. 1).



Fig. 1 - Transpiration rate (mol m<sup>-2</sup> s<sup>-1</sup>) of three tomato varieties (Oregon Spring, Roma and Tropic). The treatments consist of Control (Ct), Water stress (Ws), Heat + Water stress (HtWs) and Heat (Ht). W3 and W8 = weeks of treatments imposition with measurements. Bars with the same letter are not significantly different at P<0.05 according to Turkey's test.

Table 1 -	Intracellular CO,	response (Pa)	of the three	tomato varieties	(Oregon Spring,	Roma and '	Tropic)
-----------	-------------------	---------------	--------------	------------------	-----------------	------------	---------

Tomato varieties	Treatments		Weeks		Interaction	
	F-value	P value	F-value	P value	F-value	P value
Number of fruits						
Oregon Spring	399.681	< 0.001	350.074	< 0.001	0.0466	< 0.001
Roma	206.190	< 0.001	243.735	< 0.001	61.612	0.019
Tropic	289.064	< 0.001	453.048	< 0.001	84.548	< 0.001
Number of flowers						
Oregon Spring	27.092	0.07	19.494	0.177	10.069	0.409
Roma	19.226	0.1568	27.351	0.1130	36.571	0.0289
Tropic	76.114	0.001	74.866	0.001	62.638	0.0033
Intracellular CO <sub>2</sub> response						
Oregon Spring	15.867	0.231	766.736	< 0.001	12.037	0.3126
Roma	46.786	0.015	1.007.011	< 0.001	41.736	0.007
Tropic	41.423	0.023	11.552	0.285	0.9491	0.420
Assimilation Rates						
Oregon Spring	25.944	0.088	295.82	< 0.001	7.449	< 0.001
Roma	0.2935	0.829	911.11	< 0.001	27.802	< 0.001
Tropic	21.725	0.131	1322.9	< 0.001	25.296	< 0.001
Stomatal conductance						
Oregon Spring	59.115	0.006	119.84	< 0.001	72.924	< 0.001
Roma	81.714	0.002	131.58	< 0.001	7.443	< 0.001
Tropic	37.627	0.032	259.27	< 0.001	11.078	< 0.001
Transpiration Rates						
Oregon Spring	65.636	0.04	253.232	< 0.001	13.997	0.247
Roma	23.232	< 0.001	237.1	<0.001	9.214	< 0.001
Tropic	13.053	<0.001	241.49	<0.001	5.393	0.002

The treatments consist of Control (Ct), Water stress (Ws), Heat + Water stress (HtWs) and Heat (Ht). W3 and W8 = weeks of treatments imposition with measurements. Bars with the same letter are not significantly different at P<0.05 according to Turkey's test.

In general, plants exposed to heatwave stress had higher rates of intracellular CO<sub>2</sub> compared to plants in the other treatments. The lowest values occurred among HtWs plants, with similar patterns for the three varieties (Fig. 2). Stomatal conductance  $(g_s)$ across the three varieties was generally higher in Ht plants, and lowest in the HtWs treatment (Fig. 3, Table 1). However, treatment, week, and their interactions differed significantly for each variety. Among Oregon Spring and Roma varieties, Ct and Ht plants had significantly higher  $g_s$  than the HtWs plants. For Tropic, the Ht plants had significantly higher gs than HtWs plants in the weeks observed (Fig. 3, Table 1). Net assimilation rate (E) differed significantly for the weeks and the interaction between treatments and weeks among all the three varieties (Fig. 4; Table 1).

#### Production measurements

For the three varieties, the number of flowers was greater in both of the heatwave treatments (Ht and HtWs) compared to the Ct and Ws treatments. Ht treated plants had significantly the highest number of flowers. Also, by the end of the treatment application (w8), 'Oregon Spring' had an average of 8.5 ( $\pm$  0.6 SD) flowers among plants in the Ws treatment,



Fig. 2 - Intracellular CO<sub>2</sub> response (Pa) of the three tomato varieties (Oregon Spring, Roma and Tropic). The treatments consist of Control (Ct), Water stress (Ws), Heat + Water stress (HtWs) and Heat (Ht). W3 and W8 = weeks of treatments imposition with measurements. Bars with the same letter are not significantly different at P<0.05 according to Turkey's test.



Fig. 3 - Stomatal conductance (mol m<sup>-2</sup> s<sup>-1</sup>) of the three tomato varieties (Oregon Spring, Roma and Tropic). The treatments consist of Control (Ct), Water stress (Ws), Heat + Water stress (HtWs) and Heat (Ht). W3 and W8 = weeks of treatments imposition with measurements. Bars with the same letter are not significantly different at P<0.05 according to Turkey's test.

and 15 ( $\pm$  4) and 20 ( $\pm$  7) flowers on plants in the HtWs and Ht treatments, respectively (Fig. 5). For both 'Roma' and 'Tropic', the average number of fruits that developed per plant differed significantly across treatments, weeks, and their interactions (Table 1). All three varieties produced fewer fruits under both heatwave treatments. This effect was most pronounced for Roma where, by W8 of the treatment period, Ct plants had produced an average of 19.4 ( $\pm$  8.9) fruits per plant compared to Ht plants (Ht: 2.6 $\pm$ 2.4 and HtWs: 0.8 $\pm$ 1.8), and significantly more fruits than plants in the Ws treatment (9.8 $\pm$ 4.4). Oregon Spring produced more fruits in the heatwave treatments compared to the warmer varieties (Fig. 6, Table 1).

In general, heatwave treatments resulted in greater reductions to the harvested fruit weight than the water stress treatment. However, harvested fresh fruit weight (FFW) was higher among Ct plants compared to the other treatments (Fig. 7). This difference was significant for 'Roma' and 'Tropic' (Table 2), although there was no significant difference between Ct and Ws treatments for 'Oregon Spring'.



Fig. 4 - Net assimilation rate response (μmol m<sup>-2</sup> s<sup>-1</sup>) of the three tomato varieties (Oregon Spring, Roma and Tropic). The treatments consist of Control (Ct), Water stress (Ws), Heat + Water stress (HtWs) and Heat (Ht). W3 and W8 = weeks of treatments imposition with measurements. Bars with the same letter are not significantly different at P<0.05 according to Turkey's test.</p>

For 'Roma' and 'Tropic' we found no significant differences among treatments when we compared Fresh Biomass weight without fruits (i.e. FWWF = Fresh Biomass excluding fruit). However, 'Oregon Spring' biomass was significantly greater for Ht plants than the other three treatments. For this variety, heatwave stressed plants were able to maintain growth at the expense of fruit production. We found a significant difference in the total biomass weight (TFW) (due to the adding of fruits weight) among treatments (Fig. 7, Table 2).

#### 4. Discussion and Conclusions

We simulated the impacts of climate change by assessing the response of three varieties of tomato ('Roma', 'Tropic', 'Oregon Spring') to heatwave and water stresses. We found that assimilation rate, transpiration rate, intracellular  $CO_2$  response, and stomatal conductance were all elevated under heatwave stress. In addition, we extended upon previous studies on tomatoes (e.g. Nankishore and Farrell, 2016;





Fig. 5 - Average number of flowers per plant for the three tomato varieties (Oregon Spring, Roma and Tropic). The treatments consist of Control (Ct), Water stress (Ws), Heat + Water stress (HtWs) and Heat (Ht). W3 and W8 = weeks of treatments imposition with measurements. Bars with the same letter are not significantly different at P<0.05 according to Turkey's test.



Fig. 6 - Average number of fruits per plant for the three tomato varieties (Oregon Spring, Roma and Tropic). The treatments consist of Control (Ct), Water stress (Ws), Heat + Water stress (HtWs) and Heat (Ht). W3 and W8 = weeks of treatments imposition with measurements. Bars with the same letter are not significantly different at P<0.05 according to Turkey's test.



- Fig. 7 Fruit yield (marketable harvested fresh fruit) and aerial biomass accumulation response for the three tomato varieties (Oregon Spring, Roma and Tropic). The treatments consist of Control (Ct), Water stress (Ws), Heat + Water stress (HtWs) and Heat (Ht). Measured during the termination of experiment (i.e. after allowing for five weeks' recovery from the treatments). FWWF=Fresh Biomass weight without fruits; FFW=Fresh fruits weights; TFW= Total fresh biomass weight.
- Table 2 ANOVA (F-value and P-value) comparing the impact of the treatments on the harvested fresh fruits and aerial biomass measurements that developed on three varieties of tomato (OregonSpring, Roma and Tropic)

Tomato varieties	Treatments						
—	F-value	P- value					
Fresh weight without fruits (FWWF)							
Oregon Spring	3.04	0.046					
Roma	1.18	0.335					
Tropic	1.93	0.148					
Harvested fresh fruits weights (FFW)							
Oregon Spring	14.66	<0.001					
Roma	18.00	<0.001					
Tropic	9.79	< 0.001					
Total fresh weight (TFW)							
Oregon Spring	6.75	0.002					
Roma	19.89	<0.001					
Тгоріс	10.96	<0.001					

Sivakumar and Srividhya, 2016; Duan *et al.*, 2017; Zhou *et al.*, 2017) by assessing the impact of these stresses individually and sequentially on fruit yield, which is crucial from a socio-economic and food security perspective especially in region like West Africa. We found that these studied three tomato varieties experienced greater decline in yield (i.e. harvested fresh fruit weight) due to heat wave stress compared to water stress. However, under water stress fewer flowers were formed, indicating that heatwave stress results in a higher rate of aborted flowers compared with water stress, since its higher number flowers did not transform to more fruits. Unsurprisingly, a greater impact on the plants fruit yield occurred when exposed to both stressors sequentially (i.e. heatwave then water stress together). Plants exposed to this treatment (i.e. HtWs) were unable to form fruit despite having more flowers than plants exposed to water stress only.

Water and heat stress affect photosynthesis and other physiological processes of tomatoes (Nankishore and Farrell, 2016; Duan et al., 2017; Zhou et al., 2017). Thus, as climate change intensifies, tomato yield in West Africa may decline due to the predicted higher frequency of heatwaves (Engelbrecht et al., 2015). High temperature can deactivate enzyme activity involved in the photosynthetic process, reducing or inhibiting photosynthesis (Rennenberg et al., 2006). This, in turn, has been reported to cause a 2.5% to 10% decline in yield for numerous crop species (Hatfield et al., 2011). In tomatoes, heat stress also has the potential to affect the viability of pollen (Hatfield and Prueger, 2015) resulting in failure of fruit set (Sato *et al.*, 2000). Nevertheless, the impacts of heatwaves can be alleviated with irrigation. Here, we found that stomata closed when the plants in ambient temperature were under water stress, which invariably led to lower rates of leaf gas exchange. This was not the case for the plants under the heatwave treatment that remained well-irrigated, these plants consistently had higher values of stomatal conductance.

Crops differ in their capacity to recover from heatwave and water stress. For instance, some grains like maize (Zea mays L.) and rice (Oryza spp.) require a 10-day period of normal conditions (i.e. lower temperature and irrigation) after heat stress to enable the development of fruits (Hatfield and Prueger, 2015). For our experiment, a period of 14 days of normal conditions (i.e. 28/20°C day/night cycle and well-watered) between heatwave-imposed stress was not enough for plants to recover and produce fruits from the flowers formed, although the magnitude of the impacts on fruit production varied among the varieties. 'Tropic' and 'Oregon Spring' varieties had significantly higher fruit yield than 'Roma'. This finding highlights the vulnerability of these tomato varieties to heatwave and water stress. High temperature can affect allocation of resources, such as above- and below-ground tissues, with a tendency towards higher shoot-to-root ratios (Way and Oren, 2010). Neither heatwave or water stress, individually or sequentially, significantly affected vegetative biomass of the three tomato varieties, which contrasts to yield. Under all treatments within this experiment, the three varieties continued to have normal vegetative growth; however, flowers and the consequent fruit yield were drastically affected indicating the importance of optimal conditions (i.e. temperature and water) to facilitate plant reproduction (Peet and Welles, 2005; Parvej *et al.*, 2010).

Initially, we hypothesised that heat stress would have a greater negative impact on the yield of 'Oregon Spring', the cool region variety, compared to the warm region varieties, i.e. 'Roma' or 'Tropic'. However, our results indicate the opposite, suggesting that *Oregon Spring* may out-perform either 'Roma' and 'Tropic' under similar conditions. This finding may indicate a higher plasticity in 'Oregon Spring' and a higher adaptive capacity. We suggest future research to explore the genetic characteristics of 'Oregon Spring' in response to heatwave and water stress to validate this as a potential variety to use under stress climatic conditions in as used in this experiment.

This study indicated that under a simulated climate projection of 50% less soil water field capacity and a heatwave of 35/23°C-day night cycles for West Africa, leaf gas exchange and fruit yield of three varieties of tomatoes were negatively affected, although vegetative growth was unaffected. Individually, heatwave stress was more detrimental for fruit yield than water stress, although experiencing these two stresses in sequence had an even greater consequence. Hence, ensuring plants are well watered can ameliorate some of the negative impacts of heatwave stress. Further studies are necessary to confirm the relationship existing among the various combinations of the heatwave and water stress conditions on different reproductive stages, such as pollen formation, pollen development and fertilization of tomatoes. Interestingly, the cool adapted variety assessed in this work, 'Oregon Spring', might represent an alternative option in warm temperature regions where 'Roma' and 'Tropic' varieties are underperforming, provided that irrigation is not limited.

#### Acknowledgements

The authors wish to thank Professor B.J. Atwell and Dr. Alessandro Ossola for their technical inputs. This study was supported by a scholarship and research funding from the Macquarie University Australia's International Research Training Program (iRTP).
# References

- ABDELMAGEED A., GRUDA N., GEYER B., 2003 Effect of high temperature and heat shock on tomato (Lycopersicon esculentum Mill) genotypes under controlled conditions. - Deutscher Tropentag 2003, Göttingen, 8-10 October 2003. Conference on International Agricultural Research for Development, 34(10): 1064-1076.
- ABIODUN B.J., LAWAL K.A., SALAMI A.T., ABATAN A.A., 2013 - Potential influences of global warming on future climate and extreme events in Nigeria. - Regional Environ. Change, 13(3): 477-491.
- ARAH I.K., KUMAH E., ANKU E., AMAGLO H., 2015 An overview of post-harvest losses in tomato production in Africa: causes and possible prevention strategies. J. Biol., Agric. Healthcare, 5(16): 78-88.
- ASARE-KYEI D., RENAUD F.G., KLOOS J., WALZ Y., RHYNER J., 2017 - Development and validation of risk profiles of West African rural communities facing multiple natural hazards. PloS One, 12(3): e0171921.
- BAGGETT J., KEAN D., 1986 'Oregon Spring' and 'Santiam' parthenocarpic tomatoes. HortScience, 21: 1245-1247.
- BENIN S., 2016 Impacts of comprehensive Africa Agriculture Development Programme (CAADP) on Africa's Agricultural-led Development. - Intl Food Policy Research Institute, Vol. 1553, Washington DC, USA.
- CHAVES M.M., MAROCO J.P., PEREIRA J.S., 2003 -Understanding plant responses to drought - from genes to the whole plant. - Functional Plant Biology, 30(3): 239-264.
- DUAN H., WU J., HUANG G., ZHOU S., LIU W., LIAO Y., YANG X., XIAO Z., FAN H., 2017 - Individual and interactive effects of drought and heat on leaf physiology of seedlings in an economically important crop. AoB Plants, 9(1): plw090.
- EASTERLING W., AGGARWAL P., BATIMA P., BRANDER K., ERDA L., HOWDEN M., KIRILENKO A., MORTON J., SOUSSANA J.-F., SCHMIDHUBER S., TUBIELLO F.N., 2007 - Food, fibre and forest products, pp. 273-313. -In: PARRY M.L., O.F. CANZIANI, J.P. PALUTIKOF, P.J. VAN DER LINDEN, and C.E. HANSON (eds.) Climate change 2007: Impacts, adaptation and vulnerability. Contribution of working group II to the fourth assessment report of the intergovernmental panel on climate change. Cambridge University Press, UK.
- ENGELBRECHT F., ADEGOKE J., BOPAPE M.-J., NAIDOO M., GARLAND R., THATCHER M., MCGREGOR J., KATZFEY J., WERNER M., ICHOKU C., CHARLES G., 2015 -Projections of rapidly rising surface temperatures over Africa under low mitigation. Environmental Research Letters, 10(8): 085004.
- EZIN V., PENA R.D.L., AHANCHEDE A., 2010 Flooding tolerance of tomato genotypes during vegetative and reproductive stages. - Brazilian Journal of Plant Physiology, 22(2): 131-142.

- FAO, 2019 Sahel Regional overview (July 2019). Food and Agriculture Organization of the United Nations; Resources documents. Rome, Italy.
- FAOSTAT F., 2017 *Statistical data*. Food and Agriculture Organization of the United Nations, Rome, Italy.
- GELMESA D., ABEBIE B., DESALEGN L., 2010 Effects of Gibberellic acid and 2, 4-dichlorophenoxyacetic acid spray on fruit yield and quality of tomato (Lycopersicon esculentum Mill.). - J. Plant Breeding Crop Sci., 2(10): 316-324.
- GODFRAY H.C.J., BEDDINGTON J.R., CRUTE I.R., HADDAD L., LAWRENCE D., MUIR J.F., PRETTY J., ROBINSON S., THOMAS S.M., TOULMIN C., 2010 - Food security: the challenge of feeding 9 billion people. - Science, 327(5967): 812-818.
- HATFIELD J.L., BOOTE K.J., KIMBALL B., ZISKA L., IZAUR-RALDE R.C., ORT D., THOMSON A.M., WOLFE D., 2011 -*Climate impacts on agriculture: implications for crop production.* - Agronomy Journal, 103(2): 351-370.
- HATFIELD J.L., PRUEGER J.H., 2015 Temperature extremes: Effect on plant growth and development. -Weather and Climate Extremes, 10: 4-10.
- HOLLINGER F., STAATZ J.M., 2015 Agricultural Growth in West Africa. Market and policy drivers. - FAO, African Development Bank, ECOWAS. Publication of the African Development Bank and the Food and Agriculture Organization of the United Nations, Rome.
- JARIA F., 2012 Irrigation Scheduling Strategies for Tomato Production in Southwestern Ontario. PhD Thesis submitted at Department of Bioresources Engineering, McGill University Montreal, Quebec, Canda, pp. 40.
- KLUNKLIN W., SAVAGE G., 2017 Effect on quality characteristics of tomatoes grown under well-watered and drought stress conditions. Foods, 6(8): 56.
- KUZNETSOVA A., BROCKHOFF P.B., CHRISTENSEN R.H.B., 2017 - ImerTest package: tests in linear mixed effects models. - J. Statistical Software, 82(13).
- MONERIE P.A., ROUCOU P., FONTAINE B., 2013 Mid-century effects of Climate Change on African monsoon dynamics using the A1B emission scenario. - Int. J. Climatology, 33(4): 881-896.
- MÜLLER F., XU J., KRISTENSEN L., WOLTERS-ARTS M., DE GROOT P.F., JANSMA S.Y., MARIANI C., PARK S., RIEU I., 2016 - High-temperature-induced defects in tomato (Solanum lycopersicum) anther and pollen development are associated with reduced expression of B-class floral patterning genes. - PloS One, 11(12): e0167614.
- MURSHED R., LOPEZ-LAURI F., SALLANON H., 2013 *Effect* of water stress on antioxidant systems and oxidative parameters in fruits of tomato (Solanum lycopersicon *L. cv. Micro-tom*). - Physiology and Molecular Biology of Plants, 19(3): 363-378.
- NANKISHORE A., FARRELL A.D., 2016 The response of contrasting tomato genotypes to combined heat and drought stress. - J. Plant Phys., 202: 75-82.
- NDUWIMANA A., WEI S.M., 2017 Effects of high tempera-

*ture regimes on cherry tomato plant growth and development when cultivated in different growing substrates systems.* - Biol. Clinical Res., 4(1): 1-17.

NICOLA S., TIBALDI G., FONTANA E., 2008 - Tomato production systems and their application to the tropics. -Acta Horticulturae, 821: 27-33.

- OJO G., EKOJA E., UKPOJU O., 2013 Evaluation of tomato (Lycopersicon lycopersicum Mill.) for fruit yield and yield components in the southern guinea Savanna ecology of Nigeria. - Int. J. Agron. Agric. Res., 3(3): 1-5.
- OLADITAN T.O., AKINSEYE F.M., 2014 Influence of weather elements on phenological stages and yield components of tomato varieties in Rainforest Ecological Zone, Nigeria. - J. Nat. Sci. Res., 4(12): 19-24.
- PARVEJ M.R., KHAN M.A., AWAL M.A., 2010 Phenological development and production potentials of tomato under polyhouse climate. J. Agric. Sci. Sri Lanka, 5(1): 19-31.
- PEET M.M., WELLES G.W.H., 2005 Greenhouse tomato production. - Crop Production Sci. Hortic., 13: 257.
- PEREZ K., FROIKIN-GORDON J.S., ABDOURHAMANE I.K., LEVASSEUR V., ALFARI A.A., MENSAH A., BONSU O., HABSATOU B., ASSOGBA-KOMLAN F., MBAYE A.A., NOUSSOUROU M., 2017 - Connecting smallholder tomato producers to improved seed in West Africa. -Agric. Food Security, 6(1): 42.
- PETROZZA A., SANTANIELLO A., SUMMERER S., DI TOM-MASO G., DI TOMMASO D., PAPARELLI E., PIAGGESI A., PERATA P., CELLINI F., 2014 - *Physiological responses to Megafol® treatments in tomato plants under drought stress: a phenomic and molecular approach.* - Scientia Hort., 174: 185-192.
- PINGALI P., STAMOULIS K., STRINGER R., 2006 -Eradicating extreme poverty and hunger: towards a coherent policy agenda. The Development Dimension Trade, Agriculture and Development Policies Working Together. - Organization for Economic Co-operation and Development publication, Paris, France, pp. 167.
- PRESSMAN E., PEET M.M., PHARR D.M., 2002 The effect of heat stress on tomato pollen characteristics is associated with changes in carbohydrate concentration in the developing anthers. - Annals of Botany, 90(5): 631-636.
- R DEVELOPMENT CORE TEAM, 2017 *R: A Language and Environment for Statistical Computing.* R Foundation for Statistical Computing, Vienna.
- RENNENBERG H., LORETO F., POLLE A., BRILLI F., FARES S., BENIWAL R., GESSLER A.J.P.B., 2006 - *Physiological*

responses of forest trees to heat and drought. - Plant Biol., 8(5): 556-571.

- ROSENZWEIG C., PARRY M.L., 1994 Potential impact of climate change on world food supply. - Nature, 367(6459): 133.
- ROUDIER P., SULTAN B., QUIRION P., BERG A., 2011 The impact of future climate change on West African crop yields: What does the recent literature say? Global Environmental Change, 21(3): 1073-1083.
- SATO S., PEET M., THOMAS J., 2000 *Physiological factors limit fruit set of tomato* (Lycopersicon esculentum *Mill.*) under chronic, mild heat stress. - Plant, Cell & Environ., 23(7): 719-726.
- SIVAKUMAR R., SRIVIDHYA S., 2016 Impact of Drought on Flowering, Yield and Quality Parameters in Diverse Genotypes of Tomato. - Adv. Hort. Sci., 30(1): 3-11.
- STROBEL J., 1970 Walter and Tropic-new tomato varieties for Florida growers. - Proceedings of the Florida State Horticultural Society, 1969, 82: 121-124.
- SYLLA M.B., ELGUINDI N., GIORGI F., WISSER D., 2016 -Projected robust shift of climate zones over West Africa in response to anthropogenic climate change for the late 21st century. - Climatic Change, 134(1-2): 241-253.
- UCANR, 2011 USDA color chart for Tomato (Solanum lycopersicum). - University of California Agriculture and National Resources Repository https://ucanr. edu/repository/view.cfm?article=83755%20&groupid= 9
- UNITED NATIONS, 2018 World Population Prospects 2017. United Nations Population Division Publication: Data Booklet. New York, USA.
- WAY D.A., OREN R., 2010 Differential responses to changes in growth temperature between trees from different functional groups and biomes: a review and synthesis of data. - Tree Physiology, 30(6): 669-688.
- WICKHAM H., 2016 *Ggplot 2: Elegant graphics for data analysis.* Springer-Verlag, New York, USA.
- XIMÉNEZ-EMBÚN M.G., ORTEGO F., CASTAÑERA P., 2016 -Drought-stressed tomato plants trigger bottom-up effects on the invasive Tetranychus evansi. - PloS One, 11(1): e0145275.
- ZHOU R., YU X., OTTOSEN C.O., ROSENQVIST E., ZHAO L., WANG Y., YU W., ZHAO T., WU Z., 2017 - Drought stress had a predominant effect over heat stress on three tomato cultivars subjected to combined stress. BMC Plant Biology, 17(1), 24.





(\*) Corresponding author: renata.d.menegatti@gmail.com

#### Citation:

MENEGATTI R.D., SOUZA A.G., BIANCHI V.J., 2020 - Different environments and doses of controlledrelease fertilizer in peach rootstocks production. -Adv. Hort. Sci., 34(2): 157-166.

#### Copyright:

© 2020 Menegatti R.D., Souza A.G., Bianchi V.J. This is an open access, peer reviewed article published by Firenze University Press (http://www.fupress.net/index.php/ahs/) and distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License, which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original author and source are credited.

#### Data Availability Statement:

All relevant data are within the paper and its Supporting Information files.

**Competing Interests:** The authors declare no competing interests.

1 0

Received for publication 3 January 2020 Accepted for publication 1 April 2020

# Different environments and doses of controlled-release fertilizer in peach rootstocks production

## R.D. Menegatti<sup>(\*)</sup>, A.G. Souza, V.J. Bianchi

Department of Botany, Institute of Biology, Federal University of Pelotas, RS, Brazil.

Key words: fertilization, plant nutrition, Prunus persica.

Abstract: The objective of this study was to evaluate the effects of different environments and doses of controlled-release fertilizer (CRF) on the initial growth of peach rootstocks [Prunus persica L. (Batsch)] cv. Capdeboscq. The experimental design was completely randomized, in a 2 x 4 factorial design, four replications and five plants per plot. The treatments were the combination of two cultivation environments (on open-air benches and greenhouse benches) and four doses of CRF (0, 2, 4 and 8 g L<sup>-1</sup> of substrate), in the 19-06-10 NPK formulation. Ninety days after their transplanting, the variables plant height, stem diameter, number of leaves per plant, shoot dry matter, root dry matter, total dry matter, plant height and stem diameter ratio were evaluated in addition to the Dickson Quality Index. All morphological variables evaluated presented a quadratic positive response to the increase of the applied fertilizer until the dosage of maximum technical efficiency (around 6.2 g L<sup>-1</sup>). The maintenance of the plants in greenhouse benches and the incorporation of 4 g L<sup>-1</sup> CRF to the substrate ensures greater efficiency in the input use, reducing the amount of time necessary for peach trees cv. Capdeboscq to achieve their grafting point and to be used as rootstocks.

## 1. Introduction

Southern Brazil is the greatest national peach producer and this region is recognized as one of the main production centers of stone fruit trees in the country, especially peach trees. However, the traditional production system of these species is mostly performed in the field (Bianchi *et al.*, 2014; IBGE, 2018), strongly influenced by climatic conditions.

The use of protected environments is an alternative for the production of stone fruit trees, which can ensure the survival of the plants during the most critical phase of the tree production chain. Especially in rootstock production by seeds, the seedlings emergence stage and initial growth require environment control, as well as optimal nutrition and irrigation, and protection against pests and diseases in order to assure the fast growth and development of the plants (Souza *et al.*, 2017).

The production of fruit plants in protected environments, such as

greenhouses, allows the maintenance of optimum conditions for cultivation throughout the year, anticipating and extending the grafting period, reducing production costs and increasing the plants quality standard for sale (Oliveira *et al.*, 2017).

In Brazil, the traditional production system of stone fruit trees requires 360-540 days to grow a plant that is suitable for trading (Mayer *et al.*, 2015). In this system, the necessary time for rootstocks to reach the grafting point is of approximately 240 days (Fischer *et al.*, 2016). In part, this long period is due to the slow growth of plants in the field during the winter and early spring.

In order to reduce the time between seed germination and the production of rootstocks suitable for grafting, the cultivation in a protected environment, as well as the use of appropriate substrates and fertilizers in the proper doses for the crop are alternatives to optimize the initial phase of the plants growth (Bianchi *et al.*, 2014; Jamal *et al.*, 2017; Menegatti *et al.*, 2019 b).

The environmental conditions of the plant production system directly influence the plants physiological processes and can directly affect plants growth (Souza *et al.*, 2017). Protected environments can promote greater uniformity for the plants growth in comparison with plants produced in the field or in an unprotected environment (Reis *et al.*, 2010; Fischer *et al.*, 2016; Oliveira *et al.*, 2017). Different environments can also affect the germination of seeds, and the growth and quality of the seedlings produced. The interaction between environmental conditions with the application of fertilizers may contribute to optimize the space for plant production in nursery and to reduce the plant production systems impact on the environment.

In addition to the use of commercial substrates, the increase of the nutrient supply is recommended because the substrate alone does not provide enough nutrients for the complete development of the plants (Dutra *et al.*, 2016). Among the many types of fertilizers available, the controlled-release fertilizer (CRF) is the most efficient. CRF promotes the slow release of nutrients and the absorption of the ideal amount throughout the plants' growth period, allowing them to achieve maximum strength (Zamunér Filho *et al.*, 2012; Menegatti *et al.*, 2017 a).

The concomitant use of fertilizers with the substrate favors the formation of more vigorous plants in shorter time, which reduces the period in which they stay in the nursery and, consequently, the production costs (Muniz *et al.*, 2013; Menegatti *et al.*, 2017 b). However, few are the researches that report the use of fertilization as an additional factor to the production of stone fruit trees (Zhang *et al.*, 2014; Jamal *et al.*, 2017; Menegatti and Bianchi, 2019). Even scarcer are the studies that consider plant propagation in a protected environment, such as a greenhouse in comparison with open environments (Picolotto *et al.*, 2007; Reis *et al.*, 2010).

The scarce information about the use of controlled-release fertilizers in the production of peach rootstocks in protected environments encouraged the accomplishment of this study, whose objective was to verify the effect of different environments and doses of CRF on the initial growth of peach trees cv. Capdeboscq for rootstock purposes.

# 2. Materials and Methods

Ripe peach fruits of cv. Capdeboscq were harvested in January 2017 from clonal mother plants kept in the Germplasm Collection of peach rootstocks at the Federal University of Pelotas (UFPel), Brazil. The experiment was conducted between October (2017) and January (2018), at the Department of Botany-UFPel, Capão do Leão, RS, Brazil, at 21° 48' south latitude, 41° 20' west longitude and an altitude of 11 m.

After the harvest of the fruits, the post-harvest management of the pits was carried out according to Picolotto *et al.* (2007). Then the seeds were stratified, as described by Souza *et al.* (2017). After the stratification period (35 days at 7°C), the seeds were sown, 1.0 cm deep, in 72-cell polystyrene trays (114 cm<sup>3</sup> per cell) containing a mixture of orchard soil + vermiculite + medium sand + commercial substrate Plantmax<sup>®</sup> (1:1:1:1) as substrate, and kept in a greenhouse.

When the seedlings, hereinafter referred as "plants", reached the transplant point (15 cm between collar and apex), they were transplanted into 1-liter plastic bags containing washed sand, which was used as substrate (Table 1) and whose CRF (Osmocote®) doses had the N-P-K formulation of 19-06-10 (4-6 months), which were previously incorporated into the sand.

The experimental design was completely randomized, in a 2 x 4 factorial design, with two environments (on open air benches and on benches inside the greenhouse) and four doses of Osmocote<sup>®</sup> (0, 2, 4 and 8 g L<sup>-1</sup> substrate), with four replications and five plants per replication.

"Protected environment" refers to the Arco

Table 1 - Average chemical composition of the sand substrates used in the production of peach tree rootstocks

Substrates	OM** %	V %	H+Al mg dm <sup>-3</sup>	SB mg dm <sup>-3</sup>	CEC mg dm <sup>-3</sup>	P mg dm <sup>-3</sup>	K μg dm <sup>-3</sup>	Ca µg dm⁻³	Mg µg dm⁻³	Zn µg dm⁻³	Fe µg dm <sup>-3</sup>	Mn µg dm⁻³
Sand*	0.00	67.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.44	0.00	0.00
*cond. **ONA_Organic Matter: V- Pace esturation: SP_ Sum of Paces: CEC_ Cation Exchange Conscitu (CEC)												

\*sand; \*\*OM= Organic Matter; V= Base saturation; SB= Sum of Bases; CEC= Cation Exchange Capacity (CEC).

Pampeana metallic structure greenhouse model, covered with a 150-millimeter thick, low-density polyethylene plastic film, arranged at the north-south direction and with the following dimensions: 10.0 m x 21.0 m and with the maximum height of 5.0 m. The benches used in the two environments were 1-meter high metallic structures, positioned at ground level. The environmental open air conditions and the ones in the greenhouse during the period of the experiment are described in Table 2.

Table 2 - Environmental conditions: temperature (T°C), relative humidity (RH%) and global radiation (W m-<sup>2</sup>) in the two cultivation environments (in open-air benches and greenhouse benches) during the cultivation period of peach trees cv. Capdeboscq

Environment	Temperature (°C)	RH (%)	Global radiation (W m-²)
Greenhouse	23.42	66.81	348.50
Open air	21.15	78.62	477.17

Ninety days after transplantation, when 75% of the plants of one of the treatments reached the grafting point (at least 5 mm of stem diameter and 10 cm above the soil), the plants were evaluated for the variables stem diameter (SD), plant height (H) and number of leaves (NL). Based on these data, it was possible to calculate the plant height and stem diameter (H/SD) ratio. The height of the rootstocks was measured using a graduated ruler, and the stem diameter was measured with a digital caliper. The plants were dried in a forced air circulation oven at 70°C for 72 hours to obtain the shoot dry matter (SDM), root dry matter (RDM) and total dry matter (TDM) per plant. The Dickson quality index (DQI) was obtained by the formula: DQI = TDM/ [(H/SD) + (SDM/RDM)], according to Gomes and Paiva (2011).

The stem diameter increase ( $\Delta$ SD) was obtained through the data collected every 15 days until the end of the experiment (90 days after transplantation).

Possible differences between treatments were verified by analysis of variance (ANOVA). The variables that exhibited significant differences were submitted to regression analysis in order to verify the plants growth response in proportion to the CRF increasing doses in both growing environments. The data analysis was performed in the statistical package Sisvar (Ferreira, 2011).

## 3. Results and Discussion

At the end of the experiment (90 days after transplantation), the survival rate of the peach rootstock plants was of 100% for all treatments. All variables exhibited interaction (p < 0.05) between the environment factors and the CRF (Osmocote<sup>®</sup>) doses (Table 3), indicating that the study of factor interaction is important to define the best condition to stimulate plant growth and development.

Table 3 - Summary of the variance analysis for contrasts between the environmental factors of cultivation and CRF (Osmocote®) doses for the variables stem diameter (SD), plant height (H), number of leaves per plant (NL), shoot dry matter (SDM), root dry matter (RDM), total dry matter (TDM), plant height and stem diameter (H/SD) ratio, and the Dickson Quality Index (DQI) of peach trees cv. Capdeboscq 90 days after transplantation

Source of variation	.16	Mean square								
Source of variation	ar	SD (mm)	H (cm)	NL	SDM (g)	RDM (g)	TDM (g)	H/SD	DQI	
Environment (E)	1	128.2 **	1897.8 **	56.2 **	603.8 **	96.9 **	216.2 **	474.4 **	42.0 **	
Dose of CRF (D)	3	137.7 **	549.8 **	109.8 **	233.8 **	37.9 **	84.1 **	103.0 **	60.7 **	
ExD	3	8.0 **	162.9 **	11.6 **	70.1 **	12.6 **	26.9 **	31.4 **	3.9 *	
Mean		4.3	60.8	55.0	5.9	9.6	15.5	13.4	1.7	
CV (%)		4.0	4.3	11.9	10.1	25.5	17.0	6.4	9.7	
Mean Greenhouse		4.6	80.9	64.0	8.48	13.8	22.3	16.7	1.8	
Mean Open air		3.9	40.7	46.0	3.3	5.3	8.6	10.0	1.5	

\* Significant at the probability level (p<0.01) and \*\* significant at the probability level (p<0.05) by the F test.

All morphological variables exhibited a quadratic behavior in the adjustment of the regression equations (Figs. 1, 2, 3 and 4), proving that the highest dose test results decreases the variables values, that is, increasing the fertilizer dosage allows the increase of the plants growth up to the maximum technical efficiency dose (MTED).

The MTED for plant height in the protected environment was of 6.43 g L<sup>-1</sup>, corresponding to the height of 113.8 cm, which was three times higher than the control treatment (substrate without the addition of Osmocote<sup>®</sup>) in the same environment, 90 days after transplantation (Fig. 1). The MTED for plant height in the external environment was of 5.09 g L<sup>-1</sup>, whose plants reached the height of 52.1 cm, in contrast to the 23.9 cm high of the treatment without the addition of CRF (Fig. 1).

Similar height growth was also observed with the application of Osmocote<sup>®</sup> in the studies performed by Silva *et al.* (2011) in the production of Rangpur lime rootstock [*Citrus limonia* L. (Osbeck)] and by Dutra *et al.* (2016) in the growth of Canafistula [*Peltophorum dubium* (Spreng.) Taub.]. However, the environments and doses tested in their studies were different of this one.

The positive effects of CRF application on plant growth in different species reinforce the necessity of specific studies to enable the definition of the MTED for each species and cultivar, which may provide superior growth and efficiency in the use and exploitation of fertilizers by the plants.

The estimated MTED for the SD variable of the plants cultivated in greenhouse was of 7.29 g L<sup>-1</sup>, corresponding to a diameter of 5.51 mm (Fig. 2). According to the current legislation of the Secretary of Agriculture and Food of Rio Grande do Sul



Fig. 1 - Plant height (cm) of the peach plants cv. Capdeboscq, in relation to the dosage of the controlled-release fertilizer (CRF) and two cultivation environments, 90 days after transplanting.

(Ordinance 302/98), the grafting must be performed when the rootstocks reach a SD over 5 mm and a height of 10 cm from the ground. Thus, the MTED estimated for plant grown in greenhouse allows the rootstocks to reach the minimum diameter for grafting at 90 days after transplantation.

On the other hand, in the external environment, the plants have not reach the minimum stem diameter required for grafting during the experiment, even at the highest CRF dose (Fig. 2).



Fig. 2 - Stem diameter (mm) of peach plants cv. Capdeboscq, in relation to the dosage of the controlled-release fertilizer (CRF) and two cultivation environments, 90 days after transplanting.

In peach rootstock production, it is extremely important to define the environment and the fertilizer MTED to obtain the ideal SD for grafting in a shorter period. The minimum diameter of 5 mm is used to make sure that the rootstocks phloem and xylem have greater competence to perform rapid vascular connection between the scion/rootstock (Santarosa *et al.*, 2016), which will allow the effective translocation of the nutrients absorbed by the roots (rootstock) to the aerial part (scion cultivar). This condition will result in a higher percentage of graft-take and growth of the grafted plants, and it will reduce the period to obtain commercial plants.

Souza *et al.* (2013) stress the influence of the rootstock diameter to reduce the time to develop grafted plants of "Ponkan" tangerine. The plants rapid growth was obtained with the use of rootstocks with larger diameter in the appropriate cultivation conditions in the greenhouse.

The best plant growth in both height and stem diameter was obtained in plants grown in a greenhouse with the MTED. This suggests that the greenhouse environment provided better conditions of temperature, humidity and luminosity for the plant growth. Associated with the MTED, these conditions allowed the plants to reach the ideal point for rapid grafting, which is a desired aspect in the production system of peach tree rootstocks.

Paricá seedlings [*Schizolobium amazonicum* Huber ex Ducke] grown in a protected environment also exhibited superior performance for plant height and stem diameter (Frigotto *et al.,* 2015). These authors concluded that greenhouse cultivation significantly increases the growth variable values in comparison with external environment cultivation.

The highest mean number of leaves per plant (97) was obtained with the estimated MTED (4.69 g  $L^{-1}$ ) for the plants grown in the greenhouse (Fig. 3A).

As for the variable number of leaves, it was found that the plants of cv. Capdeboscq cultivated in an open sky achieved DMET higher than plants kept in a greenhouse (Fig. 3), a fact that may be related to phytosanitary problems, such as, for example, small leaf spots and necroses detected in the leaves of this treatment, during the conduction of the plant experiment. These leaf damage possibly induced damage to the leaf photosynthetic apparatus, however, this damage may have been efficiently reversed through the emission and growth of new leaves.

This hypothesis can be supported by the fact that, at this moment, the plant enhances the production of photoassimilates and destines most of it, the maintenance and maximization of the aerial part, making this organ the drain of greater energy demand, both to stimulate the leaf growth maximizing the capture of light, as well as to boost the thickening of the stem diameter ensuring the robustness of the rootstock.

It should also be noted, according to the results obtained in this work, that plants grown in the open suggest that they have prioritized the increase in the diameter of the stem at the expense of growth in height, as shown in Table 4, a strategy that can increase the robustness of the plants and decrease the exposure of the aerial part, guaranteeing their survival for a longer period, as well as the maintenance of the physiological processes in this cultivation environment, which expose the plants to sudden environmental variations.

The cultivation environment has a strong influence on environmental conditions, such as temperature and global radiation, parameters that are indirectly related to the efficiency of plants in terms of light absorption capacity, and later conversion to energy, as well as in the absorption and use of nutrients.

A gradual production increase of shoot dry matter, root dry matter and total dry matter up to the CRF MTED was registered (Fig. 3B, 3C and 3D), regardless of the cultivation environment. However, the plants grown in greenhouse presented higher values for total dry matter. These results corroborate the effects of Osmocote<sup>®</sup> in the growth of Rangpur lime rootstocks, as reported by Scivittaro *et al.* 



Fig. 3 - Number of leaves per plant (3A), shoot dry mass (3B), root dry mass (3C) and total dry mass (3D) of peach plants cv. Capdeboscq, in relation to the dosage of CRF and two cultivation environments.

Table 4 - Mean values of the differences between greenhouse and open air for the variables stem diameter (SD), plant height (H), number of leaves per plant (NL), shoot dry matter (SDM), root dry matter (RDM), total dry matter (TDM), plant height and stem diameter (H/SD) ratio, and Dickson quality index (DQI) of peach plants cv. Capdeboscq 90 days after transplantation

Dose	SD (mm)	H (cm)	NL	SDM (g)	RDM (g)	TDM (g)	H/SD	DQI
0	0.47	10.6	4.6	0.7	1.2	1.9	1.9	0.1
2	0.35	33.4	19.8	4.1	5.8	9.9	6.3	0.2
4	0.84	51.6	38.9	7.0	11.9	19.0	8.4	0.5
8	1.11	64.9	6.4	8.7	14.9	23.7	9.7	0.5

(2004). They found that as controlled-released fertilizer doses increased, the dry matter production of the Rangpur lime rootstocks increased as well.

The leaf area has not been quantified in this study. However, there are previous studies that support the increase of the number of leaves per plant is directly proportional to the growth of the leaf area (Menegatti *et al.*, 2017 a). The greatest leaf area of plants grown in greenhouses provides greater efficiency in solar energy uptake for photosynthesis and photoassimilate production, which is directly related to the nutrient supply, including nitrogen (N), present in the CRF formulation used in this study.

The use of CRF in the MTED ensures the availability and efficient utilization of N by the plants because the leaching level of N is reduced in comparison with conventional fertilizers (Zamunér Filho *et al.*, 2012; Muniz *et al.*, 2013). N is an essential element to the components of the photosynthetic system, such as chlorophylls, carboxylase activity/oxygenase of ribulose 1.5-bisphosphate and carboxylase of phosphoenolpyruvate (Bassi *et al.,* 2018), thus maintaining satisfactory rates of carbon assimilation (Taiz and Zeiger, 2017) and consequently guaranteeing the production of photoassimilates that support plant growth.

The CRF effects on the production of Rangpur lime plants for use as rootstocks were registered by Serrano *et al.* (2006) and Silva *et al.* (2011). They concluded that the fertilizer MTED increases the variables shoot dry matter, root dry matter and total dry matter, stressing the importance of fertilization for the maintenance of the photosynthetic process in order to increase the total dry matter and consequently the plants growth.

The relation between plant height and stem diameter (Fig. 4A) presents a balanced growth of the plants raised in greenhouses.

The H/SD ratio is one of the parameters most used in the plant's quality evaluation. Moreover, it



Fig. 4 - Ratio between height and stem diameter and Dickson quality index of peach plants cv. Capdeboscq, in relation to the dosage of controlled-release fertilizer and two cultivation environments.

reflects the accumulation of reserves and ensures greater resistance and adequate potential of the rootstock (Souza *et al.,* 2013). The index considers two parameters in a single indicator, and it can be used as a guide to determine the quality of the plants.

The balance of the plants growth confirmed by the H/SD ratio may have been favored by the use of CRF. The encapsulated fertilizers, such as CRF, allow the slow release of nutrients through a porous structure (Serrano *et al.*, 2006), becoming available to the plants root system over time and according to their nutritional need, avoiding the leach and loss observed in conventional fertilizers.

In addition to the H/SD ratio, the DQI is a good indicator of plant quality. For its calculation, it considers the plants robustness and biomass distribution balance. Therefore, the higher the value, the better the quality standard of the plants will be (Gomes and Paiva, 2011).

The ideal value considered for the DQI is approximately of 2.00 (Gomes and Paiva, 2011). In our study, the highest DQI was close to 2.2 for the estimated MTED of 6.18 g L<sup>-1</sup> in plants grown in a greenhouse. However, for the plants kept in the external environment, the highest DQI value was of 1.83 with an MTED of 5.72 g L<sup>-1</sup>, which is lower than the ideal value (Fig. 4B).

Previous research from Dutra *et al.* (2016) and Zamunér Filho *et al.* (2012), in addition to the results obtained in the present study, agree with the results for all morphological variables evaluated. A quadratic positive response was obtained proportionally to the increase of the CRF doses up to the MTED (of approximately 6.2 g  $L^{-1}$ ). It proves that the plant will not have higher responses if a dose higher than the MTED is applied.

The  $\Delta$ SD, evaluated every 15 days after the beginning the experiment, is presented in figure 5. For the plants cultivated in a greenhouse, the use of the doses of 4 and 8 g L<sup>-1</sup> of Osmocote<sup>®</sup>, incorporated into the substrate, were proven efficient for the production of rootstocks suitable for grafting after 90 days because they presented a final SD mean of 5.1 mm and 5.5 mm, respectively.

Considering the aforementioned results and the relevance of the SD variable in the production of peach rootstocks, we suggest the incorporation of at least 4 g L<sup>-1</sup> of Osmocote<sup>®</sup> into the commercial substrate and the cultivation of the plants in a greenhouse. Those conditions can increase the efficiency of the fertilizer use to obtain plants that can be grafted after 90 days.

The effects of different environments on the production of peach rootstocks cv. Okinawa were reported by Reis *et al.* (2010). They reached the ideal point for grafting after 179 days in a protected environment. Schmitz *et al.* (2014), evaluating the production of peach rootstocks cvs. Capdeboscq and Okinawa, in three production systems, reached the grafting point after 154 days.

Fischer *et al.* (2016), researching the influence of the stratification period on wet cold in the emergence and production of several peach rootstocks in the field, obtained materials suitable for grafting after 240 days. These results indicate that the use of CRF and a protected environment are promising in the shortening of the productive cycle, as the grafting



Fig. 5 - Increase of stem diameter, over time, of peach plants cv. Capdeboscq, in relation to the dose of the CRF and two cultivation environments (A) Open air and (B) Greenhouse.

point can be reached after 90 days. This outcome is probably due to the ready availability of nutrients and the maintenance of the plants under favorable environmental conditions, although these results must be validated for other cultivars of [*Prunus persica* L. Batsch] rootstocks with potential use in Brazil, such as cvs. Flordaguard, Okinawa and the Tsukuba series (Menegatti *et al.*, 2019 a).

The greatest  $\Delta$ SD occurred between 30 and 60 days after transplantation (Fig. 5), regardless of the dose employed, which may be due to the slow releasing of the nutrients, a main characteristic of the fertilizer used, which resulted in the greater amount of nutrients available to the plants during the experiment (Huett and Gogel, 2000). This result also suggests that it is necessary to replace the mineral elements around 60 days after the first application in order to maintain the plants optimal growth rate. Therefore, studies to elucidate the best CRF replacement period are necessary in order to ensure continued growth through the plants different development stages.

The CRF used in the production of peach rootstocks proved to be a promising alternative in comparison with conventional fertilizers. The CRF slowly and continuously releases nutrients to the plant, avoiding leach losses and volatilization. Furthermore, it ensures a better use of nutrients and reduces the environmental and economic impact (especially by the nitrogen economy, which is an expensive and easily leachable element that has a great potential to pollute the environment).

The negative aspect of using CRF is the higher cost in comparison with conventional fertilizers. However, the application of the MTED, with the purpose of maximizing the input use in the production of rootstocks, has been proving to be an economically viable alternative if we consider the price increase of basic inputs. Other characteristics to be considered are the conventional fertilizers high susceptibility of leaching due to the frequency of irrigation in the nursery and the need for parcelled applications, which are driven by higher production costs (Melo Júnior *et al.*, 2014).

The lowest  $\Delta$ SD presented by plants that are grown in full sunlight (external environment) can be attributed to the restriction of the ideal microclimatic conditions for the plants growth, such as solar radiation, precipitation, wind and temperature. In our region, the high temperatures at full sun, which occur between October and January, may have caused thermal stress. Such conditions reduce transpiration, which consequently decreases the photosynthetic rates and accelerates the respiratory metabolism, reducing the growth rate not only for SD, but for all morphological variables (Afonso *et al.*, 2017; Bassi *et al.*, 2018).

Another factor that may have contributed to reduce the plants growth in external environment was the CRF formulation. The granules contain a homogeneous combination of nutrients and are covered by an organic resin that regulates the nutrients release proportionally to the substrates temperature and humidity (Melo Júnior *et al.,* 2014). In addition to the high temperatures, the heavy rainfall can contribute to accelerate the release of CRF nutrients, resulting in leaching losses.

According to the data provided by the Agroclimatology Station of Pelotas (EAPEL, 2017), between October 2016 and January 2017, the cumulative rainfall reached 549 mm, with a monthly average of approximately 137 mm, concentrated in three to four days of each month. The intense and concentrated precipitation in a short period of time may have caused greater leaching of the nutrients present in the soil solution that had the plants in external environment, reducing the efficiency of the fertilizer use and resulting in lower values for the evaluated variables in comparison with the plants grown in a greenhouse, which did not suffer the influence of the precipitation variable.

Considering the results obtained in this study, it was suggested that the control of the environment for plant cultivation provides greater efficiency in the use of productive resources (nutrients, water, temperature, light and others). In addition to these factors, the use of CRF incorporated into the substrate contributes to cause precocity in the production of peach rootstocks (reduction of the period to reach the grafting point) with a high-quality standard.

## 4. Conclusions

Considering the results obtained in this study, the cultivation of plants in a greenhouse is proposed, since it provides the best conditions for the use of CRF by the plants, and the concomitant use of the minimum dose of 4.0 g  $L^{-1}$  because it reduces the period to reach the grafting point to 90 days.

## Acknowledgements

This study was partially financed by the Coordination for the Improvement of Higher

Education Personnel - Brazil (CAPES).

# References

- AFONSO M.V., MARTINAZZO E.G., AUMONDE T.Z., VILLELA F.A., 2017 - Parâmetros fisiológicos de mudas de Albizia niopoides produzidas em diferentes composições de substrato. - Ciência Florestal, 27(4): 1395-1402.
- BASSI D., MENOSSI M., MATTIELLO L., 2018 Nitrogen supply influences photosynthesis establishment along the sugarcane leaf. - Scientific Reports, 8: 23-27.
- BIANCHI V.J., MAYER N.A., CASTRO L.A.S., 2014 Produção de mudas. - In: RASEIRA M.C.B., J.F.M. PEREIRA, and F.L.C. CARVALHO (eds.) Pessegueiro. Embrapa, Brasília, pp. 249.
- DUTRA T.R., MASSA M.D., SARMENTO M.F.Q., 2016 -Fertilizante de liberação lenta no crescimento e qualidade de mudas de canafístula (Peltophorum dubium). -Revista Floresta, 46:491-498.
- EAPEL, 2017 *Estação Agroclimatológica de Pelotas* [online]. - Website http://cpact.embrapa.br/.
- FERREIRA D.F., 2011 Sisvar: A computer statistical analysis system. - Ciência e Agrotecnologia, 35(6): 1039-1042.
- FISCHER D.L.O., PICOLOTTO L., ROCHA M.S., SOUZA A.G., BIANCHI V.J., 2016 - Influência do período de estratificação em frio úmido sobre a emergência e produção de porta-enxertos de pessegueiro a campo. - Revista Congrega Urcamp, 1: 8-14.
- FRIGOTTO T., BRUN E.J., MEZZALIRA C.C., NAVROSKI M.C., BIZ S., RIBEIRO R.R., 2015 - Crescimento de mudas de Schizolobium amazonicum Huber ex Ducke em diferentes ambientes em viveiro. - Ecologia e Nutrição Florestal, 3: 9-17.
- GOMES J.M., PAIVA H.N., 2011 Viveiros florestais: propagação sexuada. - Ed. UFV, Viçosa, Minas Gerais, Brazil.
- HUETT D.O., GOGEL B.J., 2000 Longevities and nitrogen, phosphorus, and potassium release patterns of polymer coated controlled release fertilizers at 30°C and 40°C. -Communications in Soil Science and Plant Analysis, 31: 959-973.
- IBGE, 2018 Instituto Brasileiro de Geografia e Estatística [online]. - Produção agrícola 2018. https://cidades. ibge.gov.br/brasil/pesquisa/15/11948.
- JAMAL S., SHAH J.A., ALI J., ISMAEEL M., BACHA Z., KHAN A., NAEEM I., 2017 - *Response of peach nursery plants to different doses of nitrogen and plant densities.* - Pure and Applied Biology, 6: 544-552.
- MAYER N.A., UENO B., FISCHER C., MIGLIORINI L.C., 2015 -Porta-enxertos clonais na produção de mudas de frutíferas de caroço. - Embrapa Clima Temperado, Pelotas, Brazil.
- MELO JÚNIOR J.C.F. de A., LIMA A.M.N., TEIXEIRA M.V., CONCEIÇÃO G.C. da, SANTOS L.R. das, 2014 - Depleção de água no substrato e doses de fertilizante Osmocote® na formação de mudas de mamoeiro. - Comunicata

Scientiae, 5: 499-508.

- MENEGATTI R.D., BIANCHI V.J., 2019 Características fisiológicas, nutricionais e de crescimento de portaenxertos de pessegueiro submetidos a diferentes fontes e doses de fertilizantes. - Acta Iguazu, 8(4): 64-77.
- MENEGATTI R.D., GUOLLO K., NAVROSKI M.C., VARGAS O.F., 2017 a - Fertilizante de liberação lenta no crescimento inicial de Aspidosperma parvifolium A. DC. -Scientia Agraria Paranaensis, 16(2): 45-49.
- MENEGATTI R.D., NAVROSKI M.C., GUOLLO K., FIOR C.S., SOUZA A.G., 2017 b - Formação de mudas de guatambu em substrato com hidrogel e fertilizante de liberação controlada. - Revista Espacios, 38: 35.
- MENEGATTI R.D., SOUZA A.G., BIANCHI V.J., 2019 a -Estimating genetic divergence between peach rootstock cultivars using multivariate techniques based on characteristics associated with seeds. - Genet. Mol. Res., 18 (3): 1-10.
- MENEGATTI R.D., SOUZA A.G., BIANCHI V.J., 2019 b -Growth and nutrient accumulation in three peach rootstocks until the grafting stage. - Comunicata Scientiae, 10(4): 467-476.
- MUNIZ C.O., LÔBO L.M., FERNANDES F.P.R., FERREIRA E. M., BRASIL E.P.F., 2013 - Efeito de diferentes adubos NPK no processo de produção de mudas de Eucalipto. -Enciclopédia Biosfera, 9(1): 1162-1168.
- OLIVEIRA R.P. de, SCIVITTARO W.B., CARVALHO F.L.C., SOUZA P.V.D. de, TARILLO V.R.C., LIMA G.A.S. de, 2017 - Produção de Mudas de Citros em Ambiente Protegido. - Embrapa Clima Temperado, Pelotas, Brazil.
- PICOLOTTO L., BIANCHI V.J., NETO A.G., FACHINELLO J.C., 2007 - Different potting mix on formation of withinpackage seedlings of peach. - Scientia Agraria, 8(1): 119-125.
- REIS J.M.R., CHALFUN N.N.J., REIS M.A., 2010 Métodos de enxertia e ambientes na produção de mudas de pessegueiro cv. 'Diamante'. - Pesquisa Agropecuária Tropical, 40: 200-205.
- SANTAROSA E., SOUZA P.V.D. de, MARIAHT J.E. de A., LOU-ROSA G.V., 2016 - Alterações anatômicas do sistema vascular em porta-enxertos de videira. - Pesquisa agropecuária Brasileira, 51: 320-329.
- SCHIMITZ J.D., BIANCHI V.J., PASA M. da S., SOUZA A.L.K. de, FACHINELLO J.C., 2012 - Vigor e produtividade do pessegueiro 'Chimarrita' sobre diferentes porta-enxertos. - Revista Brasileira de Agrociência, 18(1): 1-10.
- SCIVITTARO W.B., OLIVEIRA R.P., RADMANN E.B., 2004 -Doses de fertilizante de liberação lenta na formação do porta-enxerto 'Trifoliata'. - Revista Brasileira de Fruticultura, 26(2): 520-523.
- SERRANO L.A.L., MARINHO C.S., BARROSO D.G., CAR-VALHO A.J.C. de, 2006 - Sistemas de blocos prensados e doses de adubo de liberação lenta na formação de porta-enxerto cítrico. - Ciência Rural, 36(1): 441-447.
- SILVA E.A., SILVA B.M. da, COGO F.D., OLIVEIRA L.M. da, 2011 - Produção de mudas de porta-enxerto de limãocravo em tubetes sob diferentes substratos. -

Enciclopédia Biosfera, 7: 847-855.

- SOUZA A.G., FAQUIN V., CHALFUN N.N., SOUZA A.P., 2013 - Produção de mudas de tangerineira 'Ponkan' em sistema hidropônico. - Revista Ciência Agronômica, 44(2): 902-909.
- SOUZA A.G., SPINELLI V.M., SOUZA R.O. de, SMIDERLE O.J., BIANCHI V.J., 2017 - Optimization of germination and initial quality of seedlings of Prunus persica tree rootstocks. - J. Seed Sci., 39(2): 166-173.

TAIZ L., ZEIGER E., 2017- Plant Physiology. 6th. - Sinauer

Associetes, Sunderland, EUA.

- ZAMUNÉR FILHO A.N., VENTURIN N., PEREIRA A.V., PEREIRA E.B.C., MACEDO R.L.G., 2012 - Dose of controlled-release fertilizer for production of rubber tree rootstocks. - Revista Cerne, 18: 239-245.
- ZHANG Z., LIU G., ZHANG F., ZHENG F., KANG Y., 2014 -Effects of nitrogen content on growth and hydraulic characteristics of peach (Prunus persica L.) seedlings under different soil moisture conditions. - J. Forestry Res., 25(1): 365-375.



# Effects of putrescine application in culture medium in improving chamomile [*Chamomilla recutita* (L.) Rauschert.] tolerance to osmotic stress under *in vitro* conditions

# G. Rostami Tobnag<sup>1(\*)</sup>, S. Fattahi<sup>1</sup>, A. Khodabakhshzadeh<sup>2</sup>

- <sup>1</sup> Department of Horticulture, Faculty of Agriculture, Ferdowsi University of Mashhad, PO Box 91775-1163 Mashhad, Iran.
- <sup>2</sup> Department of Agronomy and Horticultural Sciences, Faculty of Agriculture and Food Industries, Islamic Azad University, Science and Research Branch, PO Box 1477893855 Teheran, Iran.

*Key words:* abiotic stress, drought, essential oil, medicinal plant, physiological response, polyamines.

Abstract: In order to assess the effect of osmotic stress induced mannitol under in vitro conditions on some growth parameters of chamomile [Chamomilla recutita (L.) Rauschert], treatments were arranged and compared for the main effect of osmotic stress induced by mannitol in four levels (0, 2, 4, and 6 g/l), and the interaction effect of osmotic stress x putrescine (0, 0.5, and 1 mM). Osmotic stress, especially induced by 4 and 6 g/l of mannitol, were found to significantly reduce shoot height, root length, the number of shoot and root per plant, the fresh weight of shoot, and the fresh weight of root. When plants were grown on 0.5 mM of putrescine, the fresh weight of root, carotenoid, chlorophyll a, and chlorophyll b were increased, compared to plants grown on medium with 0 and 1 mM of putrescine. Plants grown on medium with 0.5 and 1 mM of putrescine had an increased level of flavonoid, phenolic acid, and proline under four levels of mannitol. The amount of 0.5 mM of putrescine significantly improved plant biomass and essential oil content in plants grown on medium containing 0 and 2 g/l of mannitol. The results showed that the use of putrescine could improve chamomile tolerance to osmotic stress.

## 1. Introduction

Chamomile [*Chamomilla recutita* (L.) Rauschert.] is an important medicinal plant, believed to have many properties. Several studied have indicated the medicinal effects of chamomile on many diseases (reviewed in Singh *et al.*, 2011). With the growing importance of chamomile applications in modern medicine, many studies have focused on the investigation of exogenous factors such as plant growth regulators and environmental stresses on the growth parameters and physiological characteristics. It has been suggested



#### (\*) Corresponding author:

gh.rostamitobnag@mail.um.ac.ir

#### Citation:

ROSTAMI TOBNAG G., FATTAHI S., KHODABAKH-SHZADEH A., 2020 - *Effects of putrescine application in culture medium in improving chamomile* [*Chamomilla recutita (L.) Rauschert.*] tolerance to *osmotic stress under in vitro conditions.* - Adv. Hort. Sci., 34(2): 167-174.

#### Copyright:

© 2020 Rostami Tobnag G., Fattahi S., Khodabakhshzadeh A. This is an open access, peer reviewed article published by Firenze University Press

(http://www.fupress.net/index.php/ahs/) and distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License, which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original author and source are credited.

#### Data Availability Statement:

All relevant data are within the paper and its Supporting Information files.

**Competing Interests:** The authors declare no competing interests.

Received for publication 10 January 2020 Accepted for publication 16 April 2020 that the medicinal properties of chamomile result from its essential oil and antioxidant content (Edris, 2007; Wei and Shibamoto, 2007; Roby *et al.*, 2013). However, these properties are negatively affected by environmental factors such as osmotic stress (Baghalian *et al.*, 2011; Jeshni *et al.*, 2017). A study on drought effects on physiological and phytochemical traits of chamomile reported that agro-morphological characters, essential oil content and composition are significantly decreased in this condition (Baghalian *et al.*, 2011). Afzali *et al.* (2006) showed that osmotic stress induced by polyethylene glycol and mannitol decreases the growth parameters at early growth stages of chamomile.

Polyamines have been found to involve in plant response to biotic/abiotic stress including osmotic stress, and other types of stress such as drought and salinity which impose osmotic stress on plants rather than their own specific effects (Alcázar et al., 2010; Shabala and Munns, 2017; Shokri-Gharelo and Noparvar, 2018). It has been shown that high levels of polyamines in plants are associated with tolerance to abiotic stress (Alcázar et al., 2010; Mandal et al., 2014; Pál et al., 2018). It has also been shown that exogenous application of polyamines, including putrescine, increases the tolerance of plants to stressful conditions (Talaat et al., 2005; Bibi et al., 2010; Hassanein et al., 2013). Exogenous application of putrescine has been shown to improve morphological parameters (plant height, root length, number of shoots and roots, and plants biomass), physiological characters, and phytochemical properties in wheat (Mostafa et al., 2010), geranium (Ayad et al., 2010), and Egyptian carnation (El-Ghorab et al., 2006). Furthermore, positive effects of exogenous putrescine application have been shown to improve growth characters and tolerance under abiotic stress (Ali et al., 2007; Bibi et al., 2010; Hassanein et al., 2013; Mandal et al., 2014).

There is no published evidence on the application of putrescine *in vitro* culture medium and its effects on morphological, physiological, and essential oil content of chamomile under different levels of osmotic stress induced by mannitol. The objectives of this study were therefore to investigate the effect of osmotic stress induced by mannitol under *in vitro* conditions and to evaluate the effects of putrescine on ameliorating the negative effects of osmotic stress on chamomile.

# 2. Materials and Methods

Plant materials and experimental conditions Seeds of German chamomile [Chamomilla recutita (L.) Rauschert.] were used in this work. The experiment was carried out under *in vitro* conditions. Test tubes were used as the experimental unit and one plant was cultured in each test tube. All test tubes used in the experiments were sterilized. Plants were grown in a growth room with temperature 25±2°C, relative humidity 50% and 60% during day and night respectively, and 14h photoperiod throughout the experiment.

In order to measure the main effects of osmotic stress on chamomile and the effects of putrescine application in culture medium in reducing the stress effects, two experiments were designed with the same laboratory conditions. The first was based on a completely randomized design with one factor with four levels (osmotic stress). The second was arranged in factorial design based on completely randomized design (4 x 3) with two factors. Four replications were used in both experiments, and 16 units for the first experiment and 48 for the second experiment were analyzed.

## Medium culture and experiments

Basic MS (Murashige and Skoog, 1962) was used as the culture medium. Seeds of chamomile were sterilized in a commercial chlorine solution (5%) for 20 minutes and then washed three times using distilled water. Seeds were then gently placed on culture media.

In the first experiment, one treatment including mannitol in four levels (control, 2, 4, and 6 g/l in culture media) was studied. In the second experiments, two treatments were studied; four mannitol levels were used, 0 (control), 2, 4, and 6 g/l in culture media to create osmotic stress combined with three levels of putrescine 0 (control), 0.5, and 1 mM.

# Morphological traits

The morphological parameters of chamomile measured in this experiment were following, shoot height (cm), root length (cm), shoot (n/plant), root (n/plant), fresh weight of root (RFW g/plant), and plant biomass (%). Plant height was measured from the crown to the tip of the stem. Fresh root was carefully washed with tap water after harvest and measured from the crown to the tip of the main root. To measure dry weight, plants were dried in an oven with 72°C temperature for 72 hours.

# Chlorophyll content (a and b) and carotenoid

The amount of 0.2 g of fresh leaves were ground in 10 mL of 99% methanol, then centrifuged at 3000 rpm for 5 min. The extract was used to measure light absorption at 653, 470, and 666 nm (Lutts *et al.*, 1996). The following equations were used for calculating chlorophyll content:

CHLa=chlorophyll a= 15.65 A666-7.34 A653 CHLb=chlorophyll b= 27.05 A653-11.21 A666 Cx+c=carotenoid=1000 A470 -2.860 CHLa- 129.2CHLb

# Measurement of flavonoid and phenolic acid

The semi-dried samples were solved in 0.1 mol/l sodium acetate at 20:1 ratio (liquid: sample) at room temperature. The mixture was homogenized and centrifuged at 20000 g for 30 minutes at 4°C. The supernatant were aspirated and used to determine flavonoid and phenolic acid content. The procedure described by Zhishen et al. (1999) was followed to measure flavonoid. The sample mixed with a solution containing aluminium chloride and sodium nitrite was added to 30  $\mu$ l of sodium nitrite (10%), 60  $\mu$ l of aluminium chloride hexahydrate (20%), 200 µl of NaOH (1M) and 400 µl of water. The absorbance reading was recorded at 510 nm every 20 s for 1 minute. The absorbance reading was compared to a standard curve drawn from catechin (69-689 µmol/l). The data were expressed as µmol catechin equivalents per gram of fresh or dry matter.

To measure phenolic acid, 2.5 mL of the Folin-Ciocalteu reagent and 2 ml of saturated sodium carbonate (75 g/L) were mixed with 50  $\mu$ l of sample and homogenized for 10 s and heated for 30 minutes at 45°C. The absorbance reading was recorded at 720 nm and compared to the standard curve made from gallic acid (235-1176  $\mu$ mol/l). The data were expressed as  $\mu$ mol gallic acid equivalents per gram of fresh or dry matter.

# Proline content

To determine proline content of shoot, 0.5 g of the sample were homogenized in 3% (w/v) sulphosalycylic acid and then filtered through filter paper (Bates *et al.*, 1973). Acid ninhydrin and glacial acetic acid were added into the mixture and then heated at 100°C for 1 h in a water bath. Toluene was used to extract the mixture and the absorbance of fraction was read at 520 nm. Proline concentration was determined using calibration curves and expressed as µmol proline g FW.

# Essential oil content

Hydrodestillation was used for the extraction of essential oil, where the sample of 25 g of chamomile herb dried in an oven was homogenized and boiled in 600 mL of distilled water in Clevenger for 3 hours. Then, water was gently removed from the tank and the amount of extracted essential oil was measured.

# Statistical analysis

Three weeks after culturing, the data were analyzed by one-way and two-way ANOVA using JMP8-Statistics Software. Mean values were separated with Duncan's multiple range test ( $P \le 0.05$ ).

# 3. Results

# Effect of osmotic stress on growth parameters

The statistical analysis of data from first experiment (16 experimental units) showed that osmotic stress had significant effects on shoot height and fresh weight of shoot at P<0.01, and on root length, number of shoots, number of roots, and fresh weight of roots at P<0.05. The main effect of osmotic stress on morphological traits is shown in figure 1, with an evident reduction in morphological traits under M2, M4, and M6. Mean comparison of data showed that morphological traits decrease with increasing levels of osmotic stress. Control plant (without stress) showed the highest morphological traits compared to plants grown under M2, M4, and M6. Plants grown on medium with 6 g/l of mannitol showed significant reduction (Fig 1B). The main effect of osmotic stress at M2 and M4 levels was more adverse on shoots than on roots. Root length, number of roots, and fresh weight of root were significantly decreased under M2 and M4 compared to a control group according to Duncan's multiple-range test ( $P \le 0.05$ ), but no significant difference was observed between plants grown under M2 and M4 conditions (Fig. 1B). The number of shoots showed a significant decrease, and plants which were grown on culture medium containing 2 and 4 g/l of mannitol, had no significant difference (P≤0.05) (Fig. 1B). Under M6 conditions, all growth parameters especially shoot traits showed sever reduction.

# Effect of putrescine application on morphological traits under osmotic stress

The second experiment compared two treatments including osmotic stress and application of putrescine (a total of 48 experimental units). Variance analysis of data revealed that interaction effects of osmotic stress and putrescine (OS x Pu) were significant for shoot length, root length, number of shoots, and fresh weight of shoots (Table 1), while the main effect of putrescine was a significant on the fresh weight of roots (Fig. 2). The Interaction effect and the main effect of treatments were not significant on number of roots per plant (Data not shown).



Fig. 1 - Main effects of osmotic stress induced by mannitol (M0= without mannitol, M2= 2 g/l of mannitol, M4= 4 g/l of mannitol, and M6= 6 g/l of mannitol) in culture medium on morphological traits of chamomile. (A) Morphological traits under different levels of osmotic stress (M0= without mannitol, M2= 2 g/l of mannitol, M4= 4 g/l of mannitol, and M6= 6 g/l of mannitol), (B) Mean values of shoot height, root length, number of shoots, and number of roots, (C) Mean values of fresh weight of shoots and roots. Different letters above each bar indicate significant differences according to Duncan's multiple-range test (P≤0.05). FWS= fresh weight of shoot, FWR= fresh weight of root.

Treatment Morphological tr			gical traits	aits Chemical traits				
Mannitol (g/l)	Putrescine (mM)	Shoot length (cm)	Root length (cm)	Shoot (no./plant)	SFW	Flavonoid	Phenolic acid	Proline
M0	Pu0	3.55 b	4.425 b	33.5 a	0.6168 b	33.61 cde	32.87 cde	10.65 d
	Pu0.5	6.025 a	6.325 a	37.5 a	1.615 a	42.02 c	43.24 c	12.86 cd

35 5 a

23 b

24 b

15 b

14.75 cd

19.25 bc

8.25 e

11.5 de

17.25 c

10.75 de

1 357 a

0.34 bcd

0.5138 bc

0.323 bcd

0.126 d

0.4565 bcd

0.1505 d

0.2212 cd

0.5102 bc

0.193 cd

6.075 a

3.275 c

4 bc

2.15 e

3.325 c

3.45 c

1.275 f

2.3 de

3 125 cd

1.175 f

Table 1 - Interaction effects of osmotic stress induced by mannitol and putrescine on morphological and chemical traits of chamomile)

OS \*\* \*\* \*\* \*\* \* Pu \* \*\* \*\* \*\* \*\* \* \*\* OS x Pu Different letters within each column indicate significant differences according to Duncan's multiple-range test (P≤0.05).

\* P<0.05 and \*\*0.01, indicate level of significance.

Pu1

Pu0

Pu0.5

Pu1

Pu0

Pu0.5

Pu1

Pu0

Pu0 5

Pu1

OS= osmotic stress; M0= without mannitol; M2= 2 g/l of mannitol; M4= 4 g/l of mannitol; M6= 6 g/l of mannitol; Pu0= without putrescine; Pu0.5= 0.5 mM of putrescine; Pu1= 1 mM of putrescine; SFW= fresh weight of shoot.

Putrescine significantly increased the fresh weight of roots at 0.5 and 1 mM compared with plants grown on basic MS medium (without putrescine). In terms of shoot length, root length, number of shoots, and fresh weight of shoots, plants grown on a basic

5.6 a

2.1 cde

2.475 cd

1.6 ef

1.925 def

2.775 c

1.1 f

1.125 f

1.9 def

1.3 ef

MS medium containing 0.5 and 1 mM of putrescine and without mannitol showed significantly increased traits compared to control plants (without mannitol and putrescine) and other groups (Table 1). Plants grown on medium containing 2 and 4 g/l of mannitol

36.35 cde

38.38 cd

22.69 e

25.67 de

70.08 b

36.77 cde

45.11 c

71.68 b

69.89 b

90.01 a

34.47 cd

32.5 cde

17.7 e

22.72 de

62.32 b

30.6 cde

44.76 c

67.52 b

62.81 b

90.26 a

12.26 d

16.67 bc

15.99 bc

15.27 bc

18.41 bc

19.27 b

21.46 ab

24.21 a

20.92 ab

20.66 ab

\*

\*\*

M2

M4

M6

Significance

plus 0.5 mM of putrescine (M2Pu0.5 and M4Pu0.5) showed significantly better traits compared to plants grown on medium containing 2 and 4 g/l of mannitol plus 0 and 1 mM of putrescine (M2Pu0, M2Pu1, M4Pu1, and M4Pu1). However, plants grown on medium with 6 g/l of mannitol (severe osmotic stress) and with/without putrescine showed significantly the lowest means compared to other groups (Table 1).

# *Effect of putrescine application on physiological traits under osmotic stress*

Variance analysis of physiological traits showed that main effect of putrescine on carotenoid, chlorophyll a and b was significant (Data not shown), while interaction effect of osmotic stress x putrescine was significant on flavonoid, phenolic acid and proline (Table 1).

The carotenoid, chlorophyll a and b of chamomile were significantly increased in plants grown on medium with 0.5 mM of putrescine (Fig. 2). The flavonoid, phenolic acid, and proline content in plants grown on medium with 1 mM of putrescine plus 6 g/l of mannitol showed the highest content compared to other groups (Table 1). The lowest contents of flavonoid, phenolic acid, and proline in each group (M0, M2,



Fig. 2 - The effect of putrescine on morphological and physiological traits of chamomile (fresh weight of root, carotenoid, chlorophyll a and b). Putrescine was added in 0 (control), 0.5, and 1 mM in culture media. Different letters above each bar indicate significant differences according to Duncan's multiple-range test (P≤0.05).

M4, and M6) were observed in plants grown on medium without putrescine (Pu0) and the highest contents in each group were observed in medium with 1 mM of putrescine (M0Pu1, M2Pu1, M4Pu1, and M6Pu1) compared to control groups.

# Effect of putrescine application on plant biomass and essential oil under osmotic stress

Variance analysis of data related to plant biomass and essential oil showed that the interaction effect of osmotic stress x putrescine was significant (P<0.05) (Data not shown). Plants grown on medium containing 2, 4, and 6 g/l of mannitol (M2, M4, and M6) plus 0.5 and 1 mM of putrescine (Pu0.5 and Pu1) had the lowest plant biomass and essential oil content compared to the control group (MOPu0, MOPu0.5, MOPu1) (Fig. 3 and 4).

The largest increase in biomass was observed in plants on medium without application of mannitol but treated with 0.5 and 1 mM of putrescine



Fig. 3 - Interaction effects of osmotic stress x putrescine on morphological traits of chamomile. Mannitol was used in four levels; 0 (control), 2, 4, and 6 g/l in culture media to create osmotic stress. Putrescine was added in 0 (control), 0.5, and 1 mM in culture media.





(MOPu0.5 and MOPu1). Plants grown on medium with 2 g/l of mannitol plus 0.5 and 1 mM of putrescine had a larger biomass compared to plants grown on M2Pu0, but significantly lower biomass compared to the control group. In plants grown on medium with 4 and 6 g/l of mannitol, no significant difference was observed between plants placed on medium with 0, 0.5, and 1 mM of putrescine (Fig. 3).

The largest amount of essential oil was in the group of plants grown on medium without osmotic stress (M0;) and with 0.5 and 1 mM of putrescine (Pu0.5 and Pu1). The group of plants grown on medium with 2 g/l of mannitol, plants grown on medium with 0.5 and 1 mM of putrescine showed significantly more essential oil (M2Pu0.5 and M2Pu1) compared to plants grown on medium without putrescine (M2Pu0). Even though plants on medium with 0.5 and 1 mM of putrescine plus 4 and 6 g/l of mannitol did not show significant difference compared to plants grown on medium without its application (Fig. 4).

# 4. Discussion and Conclusions

The effect of putrescine application in culture medium containing mannitol has not previously been reported so far. The studies on other plant species and also other types of stresses will therefore be used for discussion. In this study, the effect of osmotic stress created by mannitol under *in vitro* conditions, the main effect of putrescine on the growth of chamomile, and putrescine effects in ameliorating effects of osmotic stress on chamomile were investigated.

Osmotic stress is a side effect of some abiotic stresses such as drought and salinity in which water absorption is limited, leading to conditions similar to drought (Shen et al., 1999). Drought and salt stress have been found to decrease the morphological traits in many medicinal plants, in terms of length and number of shoots and roots, fresh weight of shoots, and fresh weight of roots (Afzali et al., 2006; Jaleel et al., 2008; Arazmjo et al., 2010; Anjum et al., 2011). In agreement with the findings of this study), Afzali et al. (2006) reported a decrease in fresh weight of shoots and roots in chamomile under polyethylene glycol-induced osmotic stress. In another study, Dadkhah (2010) tested the effects of salinity on the plant height and number of shoots of chamomile in a pot experiment. Dadkhah reported a significant decrease in plant height and number of shoots in early stage of the stress. In respect of drought stress induced by mannitol under *in vitro* conditions, Ghaheri *et al.* (2015) findings in *Steviare baudiana* Bertoni are in accordance with the findings of this study.

Regarding putrescine effects in increasing morphological traits, a number of studies have showed that foliar application of putrescine increases plant height, root length, shoot (number per plant), and root (number per plant) (Talaat et al., 2005; Mostafa et al., 2010; Amin et al., 2011; Hassan and Bano, 2016), and improving physiological traits, in terms of chlorophyll a, chlorophyll b, carotenoid (Talaat et al., 2005; Hassan and Bano, 2016), and proline (Hassan and Bano, 2016). This study provides evidence of improved flavonoid, phenolic acid, and other parameters (Table 1, Fig. 2) in chamomiles grown on medium containing 0.5 and 1 mM of putrescine. Studies that investigate effects of putrescine under in vitro conditions have not been found, but in agreement with the findings of this study, several studies have revealed that plants treated with putrescine have increased growth parameters and more tolerance to abiotic stresses such as osmotic stress, drought, salinity, and temperature compared to untreated plants (Jaleel et al., 2008; Alcázar et al., 2010; Hassanein et al., 2013). Investigating the effects of putrescine foliar application on chamomile and sweet marjoram under salinity stress, Ali et al. (2007) found that putrescine significantly increased flavonoid content. In addition, the use of putrescine was found to enhance chlorophyll a, chlorophyll b, carotenoid, phenolic acid, and morphological traits under stress conditions compared to untreated plants (Amin et al., 2011; Shallan et al., 2012; Hassanein et al., 2013; Hassan and Bano, 2016).

Other authors have indicated positive effects of putrescine application on plant biomass and essential oil in chamomile and sweet marjoram (Ali et al., 2007), wheat (Hassan and Bano, 2016), onion (Amin et al., 2011), and cotton (Shallan et al., 2012). Findings in this study showed that putrescine application improves the plant biomass and essential oil content under normal growth conditions and in chamomiles grown on medium containing 2 g/l of mannitol (Fig. 4 and Fig. 5), whereas plants grown on medium with 4 and 6 g/l of mannitol showed remarkable decreased levels of biomass and essential oil compared to the control group, and the study did not find the positive effects of putrescine under these levels of osmotic stress (M4 and M6). In line with these findings regarding the positive effects of putrescine under normal growth conditions and 2 g/l of mannitol stress, Ali *et al.* (2007) reported an increase in the plant biomass in *chamomile and sweet marjoram*, Ayad *et al.* (2010) in *geranium* and El-Ghorab *et al.* (2006) in *Egyptian carnation* reported a high level of essential oil in plants treated with putrescine.

Pál et al. (2018) in their study on wheat reported that putrescine treatment induces stress-responsive genes that overlap with the genes induced by osmotic stress. They suggested that changes induced by putrescine overlap with changes induced by osmotic stress, and lead to better tolerance in plants treated with putrescine. In another study, Bibi et al. (2010) showed that putrescine application significantly increases the endogenous putrescine concentration. They suggested that stress tolerance correlates with an increment of putrescine. The results of the present study do not provide evidence at the molecular level and for the endogenous concentration of putrescine in chamomile but the data showed an increased values of observed traits when putrescine was used in medium culture. As suggested by Mandal et al. (2014), polyamines including putrescine alleviate oxidative stress induced by osmotic stress. It is believed that oxidative stress created by being exposed to abiotic stresses such as osmotic stress, drought, and salinity is one of most important reasons for remarkable reduction of morphological traits and plant yield (Shokri-Gharelo and Noparvar, 2018). Other studies have shown that plants with efficient antioxidant systems, including high level of flavonoid, phenolic components (reviewed in Shabala and Munns, 2017), and plants with high level of proline content (Ahmad et al., 2016) show more tolerance and these indices have been regarded as one of tol-



Fig. 5 - Interaction effects of osmotic stress x putrescine on the essential oil of chamomile. Different letters above each bar indicate significant differences according to Duncan's multiple-range test (P≤0.05).

erance characters in different plants. This study revealed that flavonoid, phenolic acid, and proline are increased in chamomile grown on medium with putrescine (Table 1). This could explain the better morphological and physiological traits as well as essential oil content studied in this work in plants under osmotic stress.

Osmotic stress, especially at M4 and M6 levels (4 and 6 g/l of mannitol) significantly reduce the morphological traits of chamomile under *in vitro* conditions. The main aim of the current study was to use putrescine in culture medium to assess its effects in ameliorating osmotic stress. The values of morphological traits, some physiological traits, and contents of essential oil of chamomile were significantly higher in plants grown on medium containing 0.5 and 1 mM of putrescine compared to plants grown on medium without putrescine application.

Application of putrescine may improve chamomile tolerance to osmotic stress, and may be considered as one of substances that can be used to improve chamomile quality under osmotic stress.

## References

- AFZALI S., HAJABBASI M., SHARIATMADARI H., RAZMJOO K. KHOSHGOFTARMANESH A., 2006 - Comparative adverse effects of PEG-or NaCl-induced osmotic stress on germination and early seedling growth of a potential medicinal plant Matricaria chamomilla. - Pak. J. Bot., 38(5): 1709-1714.
- AHMAD P., ABDEL LATEF A.A., HASHEM A., ABD-ALLAH E.F., GUCEL S. TRAN L.-S.P., 2016 - Nitric oxide mitigates salt stress by regulating levels of osmolytes and antioxidant enzymes in chickpea. - Front. Plant Sci., 7: 347.
- ALCÁZAR R., PLANAS J., SAXENA T., ZARZA X., BORTOLOTTI C., CUEVAS J., BITRIÁN M., TIBURCIO A.F. ALTABELLA T., 2010 - Putrescine accumulation confers drought tolerance in transgenic Arabidopsis plants over-expressing the homologous Arginine decarboxylase 2 gene. - Plant Physiol. Bioch., 48(7): 547-552.
- ALI R., ABBAS H., KAMAL R., 2007 The effects of treatment with polyamines on dry matter, oil and flavonoid contents in salinity stressed chamomile and sweet marjoram. - Plant Soil Environ., 53(12): 529.
- AMIN A., GHARIB F.A., EL-AWADI M., RASHAD E.-S.M., 2011 - Physiological response of onion plants to foliar application of putrescine and glutamine. - Sci. Hortic., 129(3): 353-360.
- ANJUM S.A., XIE X.-Y., WANG L.-C., SALEEM M.F., MAN C., LEI W., 2011 - Morphological, physiological and biochemical responses of plants to drought stress. - Afr. J. Agr. Res., 6(9): 2026-2032.

- ARAZMJO E., HEIDARI M., GHANBARI A., 2010 Effect of water stress and type of fertilizer on yield and quality of chamomile (Matricaria chamomilla L.). - Iranian J. Crop. Sci., 12(2): 100-111.
- AYAD H., REDA F., ABDALLA M., 2010 Effect of putrescine and zinc on vegetative growth, photosynthetic pigments, lipid peroxidation and essential oil content of geranium (Pelargonium graveolens L.). - World J. Agric. Res., 6(5): 601-608.
- BAGHALIAN K., ABDOSHAH S., KHALIGHI-SIGAROODI F., PAKNEJAD F., 2011 - Physiological and phytochemical response to drought stress of German chamomile (Matricaria recutita *L.*). - Plant Physiol. Bioch., 49(2): 201-207.
- BATES L., WALDREN R., TEARE I., 1973 Rapid determination of free proline for water-stress studies. - Plant Soil., 39(1): 205-207.
- BIBI A., OOSTERHUIS D., GONIAS E., 2010 Exogenous application of putrescine ameliorates the effect of high temperature in Gossypium hirsutum L. flowers and fruit development. - J. Agron. Crop. Sci., 196(3): 205-211.
- DADKHAH A.R., 2010 Effect of salt stress on growth and essential oil of Matricaria chamomilla. - Res. J. Biol. Sci., 5(10): 643-646
- EDRIS A.E., 2007 Pharmaceutical and therapeutic potentials of essential oils and their individual volatile constituents: a review. - Phytother R., 21(4): 308-323.
- EL-GHORAB A., MAHGOUB M., BEKHETA M., 2006 Effect of some bioregulators on the chemical composition of essential oil and its antioxidant activity of Egyptian carnation (Dianthus caryophyllus L.). - J. Essent. Oil-Bear. Plants, 9(3): 214-222.
- GHAHERI M., KAHRIZI D., BAHRAMI G., 2015 Effect of mannitol on some morphological characteristics of in vitro stevia rebaudiana *Bertoni.* Biharean Biol., 11(2): 94-97.
- HASSAN T.U., BANO A., 2016 Effects of putrescine foliar spray on nutrient accumulation, physiology, and yield of wheat. - Commun. Soil. Sci. Plan., 47(8): 931-940.
- HASSANEIN R.A., EL-KHAWAS S.A., IBRAHIM S.K., EL-BASSIOUNY H.M., MOSTAFA H., ABDEL-MONEM A.A., 2013 - Improving the thermo tolerance of wheat plant by foliar application of arginine or putrescine. - Pak. J. Bot., 45(1): 111-118.
- JALEEL C.A., MANIVANNAN P., LAKSHMANAN G., GOMATHINAYAGAM M., PANNEERSELVAM R., 2008 -Alterations in morphological parameters and photosynthetic pigment responses of Catharanthus roseus under soil water deficits. - Colloids Surf. B, 61(2): 298-303.
- JESHNI M.G., MOUSAVINIK M., KHAMMARI I., RAHIMI M., 2017 - The changes of yield and essential oil components of German Chamomile (Matricaria recutita L.) under application of phosphorus and zinc fertilizers and drought stress conditions. - J. Saudi Soc. Agric. Sci., 16(1): 60-65.

- LUTTS S., KINET J., BOUHARMONT J., 1996 NaCl-induced senescence in leaves of rice (Oryza sativa L.) cultivars differing in salinity resistance. - Ann. Bot-London., 78(3): 389-398.
- MANDAL C., GHOSH N., DEY N., ADAK M., 2014 Effects of putrescine on oxidative stress induced by hydrogen peroxide in Salvinia natans L. - J. Plant. Interact., 9(1): 550-558.
- MOSTAFA H., HASSANEIN R., KHALIL S., EL-KHAWAS S., EL-BASSIOUNY H., EL-MONEM A.A., 2010 - Effect of arginine or putrescine on growth, yield and yield components of late sowing wheat. - Res. J. Appl. Sci., February: 177-183.
- MURASHIGE T., SKOOG F., 1962 A revised medium for rapid growth and bio assays with tobacco tissue cultures.- Physiol. Plant, 15(3): 473-497.
- PÁL M., MAJLÁTH I., NÉMETH E., HAMOW K.Á., SZALAI G., RUDNÓY S., BALASSA G. JANDA T., 2018 - The effects of putrescine are partly overlapping with osmotic stress processes in wheat. - Plant Sci., 268: 67-76.
- ROBY M.H.H., SARHAN M.A., SELIM K.A.-H., KHALEL K.I., 2013 - Antioxidant and antimicrobial activities of essential oil and extracts of fennel (Foeniculum vulgare L.) and chamomile (Matricaria chamomilla L.). - Ind. Crop. Prod., 44: 437-445.
- SHABALA S., MUNNS R., 2017 Salinity stress: physiological constraints and adaptive mechanisms, pp. 24-63 In :
   SHABALA S. (ed.) Plant stress physiology. 2nd edition.
   CABI, Wallingford, Oxfordshire, UK, pp 362.
- SHALLAN M.A., HASSAN H.M., NAMICH A.A., IBRAHIM A.A., 2012 - Effect of sodium nitroprusside, putrescine and glycine betaine on alleviation of drought stress in cotton plant. - Am. Eurasian J. Agric. Environ. Sci., 12: 1252-1265.
- SHEN B., HOHMANN S., JENSEN R.G., BOHNERT H.J., 1999 -Roles of sugar alcohols in osmotic stress adaptation. Replacement of glycerol by mannitol and sorbitol in yeast. - Plant Physiol., 121(1): 45-52.
- SHOKRI-GHARELO R., NOPARVAR P.M., 2018 Molecular response of canola to salt stress: insights on tolerance mechanisms. - Peer J., 6:e4822.
- SINGH O., KHANAM Z., MISRA N., SRIVASTAVA M.K., 2011 -Chamomile (Matricaria chamomilla L.): an overview. -Pharmacogn. Rev., 5(9): 82.
- TALAAT I.M., BEKHETA M., MAHGOUB M.H., 2005 -Physiological response of periwinkle plants (Catharanthus roseus L.) to tryptophan and putrescine.
  - Int. J. Agric. Biol., 7(2): 210-213.
- WEI A., SHIBAMOTO T., 2007 Antioxidant activities and volatile constituents of various essential oils. J. Agr. Food. Chem., 55(5): 1737-1742.
- ZHISHEN J., MENGCHENG T., JIANMING W., 1999 The determination of flavonoid contents in mulberry and their scavenging effects on superoxide radicals. Food Chem., 64(4): 555-559.





# Pinto bean and black mustard responses to bio-fertilizers under intercropping system

Y. Raei <sup>(\*)</sup>, M. Sayyadi Ahmadabad, K. Ghassemi-Golezani, S. Ghassemi Department of Plant Eco-physiology, Faculty of Agriculture, University of Tabriz, Tabriz, Iran.

Key words: black mustard, land equivalent ratio, nitrogen, pinto bean, relative value total, relative yield total.

Abstract: In order to evaluate the response of pinto bean and black mustard intercropping to application of biological and chemical nitrogen fertilizers, a factorial set of treatments was arranged within randomized complete block design (RCBD) with three replications. In this experiment, fertilizer treatments were non-fertilizer, bio-fertilizers, bio-fertilizers + 50% chemical urea fertilizer (125 kg/ha) and bio-fertilizers + 100% chemical fertilizer (250 kg/ha). The cropping patterns comprised pure stands of bean and black mustard, additive intercropping with a ratio of 50% black mustard + optimum density of pinto bean mono cultures and an additive intercropping with optimum density of two species in mono cultures. Application of bio-fertilizers and chemical fertilizer increased most of the agronomic traits in pinto bean and black mustard plants. The bio-fertilizers + 100% of urea followed by bio-fertilizers + 50% of urea were the superior treatments, compared with other fertilizers. Evaluation of intercropping patterns with using land equivalent ratio (LER), relative yield total (RYT), relative value total (RVT) and relative crowding coefficient (RCC) indices showed that the highest LER and RYT were recorded for bio-fertilizer + 100% chemical fertilizer treatment. The highest RVT and RCC were obtained from control treatment (non-fertilization) in inter-cropping (optimum density of two species). Based on the LER, RVT, RYT and RCC indices, it was evident that intercropping of pinto bean and black mustard was more beneficial than mono cultures. Therefore, it was generally concluded that intercropping pattern was better than monocultures of two species at different levels of fertilizers and also bio-fertilizers application could increase efficiency of chemical fertilizer. Thus, bio-fertilizers + 100% chemical fertilizer and intercropping of pinto bean and black mustard was the better treatment.

## 1. Introduction

To increase the efficacy of crop production, improve soil fertility and environmental protection, an alternative cropping system could be needed (Kiminami et al., 2010). Intercropping is a method for moving towards sustainable agriculture and environmental protection (Habimana et al., 2019; Moghbeli et al., 2019). One of the farming practices is concurrent cultivation of two or more crops in the same field which is experienced in

OPEN ACCESS

(\*) Corresponding author: yaegoob@yahoo.com

#### Citation:

RAEI Y., SAYYADI AHMADABAD M., GHASSEMI-GOLEZANI K., GHASSEMI S., 2020 - Pinto bean and black mustard responses to bio-fertilizers under intercropping system. - Adv. Hort. Sci., 34(2): 175-182.

#### Copyright:

© 2020 Raei Y., Sayyadi Ahmadabad M., Ghassemi-Golezani K., Ghassemi S. This is an open access, peer reviewed article published by Firenze University Press (http://www.fupress.net/index.php/ahs/) and

distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License, which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original author and source are credited.

#### **Data Availability Statement:**

All relevant data are within the paper and its Supporting Information files.

### **Competing Interests:**

The authors declare no competing interests.

Received for publication 31 October 2019

many regions of the world (Tüzel and Öztekin, 2017). Some reasons have been identified for farmers engaging in intercropping which are still valid today. First, it leads to increase in the utilization of environmental factors. This has both space and time dimension.

Plants are different in rooting habitat and have different nutrient requirements. Thus, the intercropping of plants can increase the utilization of nutrients, water and light. Also, intercropping can lead to reduction of adverse conditions in the agroecosystem (Lithourgidis et al., 2011). Intercropping may also lead to better soil management because of the fact that may crops overlap in terms of the time they are in the soil. Other economic reasons such as dependability of returns and increased returns from the same piece of land may make farmers adopt intercropping (Alabi and Esobhawan, 2006). Watikai et al. (1993) and Willy (1990) confirmed that increasing the yield of biomass in intercropping is due to the more absorption of light. The highest performance is achieved when intercropping canopy is composed of two layers: (1) tall plants with narrow leaves and high photosynthetic capacity; (2) dwarf plants with lying leaves and low photosynthetic capacity. In general, the productivity in intercropping is more than sole cropping (Raei et al., 2015).

Among nutrient elements, nitrogen is an important nutrient and has vital functions in plant growth and development. Nitrogen deficiency imposes most limits on crop production compared to other nutrients. With large areas of the arable land in Iran being located in arid and semiarid regions, most of them face low organic matter content as well as nitrogen deficiency and also, to achieve an economically sound production, nitrogen plays a significant role in these regions (Joorabi et al., 2015). On the contrary, slow-release nitrogen fertilizers are effective and inexpensive alternative to soluble N (Jiao et al., 2005). The yield of pea in intercropping of pea and wheat increased by application of slow release nitrogen fertilizer (Abbady et al., 2016). In all around of the globe, for achieved high yield of plants, the chemical fertilizers are extensively being used. However, this type of fertilizers has devastating effects on the health of the soil animals. A better alternative of these chemicals might be to exploit the microbial capabilities to be served as bio-fertilizer (Tomer et al., 2016). Bio-fertilizers colonize at the rhizosphere and improve nutrient accessibility of plants and increase the growth of plants. Microorganisms residing in rhizosphere immensely facilitate trace element's uptake. They may act as biocontrol agent, by means of antagonistic activity against phytopathogenic microorganisms, interfering in the bacterial quorum sensing systems, etc. However, bio-fertilizers perform more than one mechanism for accomplishing plant growth enhancement (Kumar *et al.*, 2014; Dutta and Patel, 2016).

Black mustard is an important oilseed crop. It is often grown as an intercrop or mixed crop either with pulses or cereals crops, but its productivity is very low due to improper combination (Kumar et al., 2014). Bean is also one of the most important food supplements for human, and its protein content is rich (Arija et al., 2007). It is also tolerant to shadow and can be planted in intercropping system and grows well. It can increase the soil nitrogen by nitrogen fixation (Kowal and Kassam, 1978). Intercropping of legumes with non-legumes increases yield per unit area, because they use different nitrogen sources and have low competition for nitrogen (Haugard-Nielsan et al., 2001). The importance of this pulse crop is based on its good nutritive composition and its high market value, which mainly depends on the consumption quality of the product (nutritional and culinary quality of either the seed or the pod). Thus, the present investigation was carried out to study pinto bean and black mustard responses to bio-fertilizers and chemical nitrogen fertilizer, intercropping system and interaction of intercropping system × nitrogen fertilizer.

## 2. Materials and Methods

## Field conditions

The experiment was conducted in 2016 at the Research Farm of the Faculty of Agriculture, University of Tabriz, Iran (Latitude 38°05' N, Longitude 46°17' E, Altitude 1360 m above sea level with the mean annual rainfall of 285 mm). Some physical and chemical properties of soil in experimental area and averages of maximum and minimum temperatures and rainfall during the work in 2016 were shown in Table 1.

## Experimental design and treatments

A factorial set of treatments was arranged with three replications. In this experiment, fertilizer treatments were control (non-fertilizer), bio-fertilizers (azotobarvar 1 and barvar 2), bio-fertilizers + 50% the recommended chemical urea fertilizer (125 kg/ha) and bio-fertilizers + 100% chemical fertilizer (250

				Physical	and chemi	cal propert	ies of exper	imental soi				
Depth (cm)	EC (ds/m)	PH	Organic Carbon (%)	N (%)	P (mg/kg)	K (mg/kg)	Fe (mg/kg)	Ca (mg/g)	Sand (%)	Silt (%)	Clay (%)	Soil type
0-35	2.77	7.75	0.37	0.04	4.90	255	2.60	780	74	14	12	Sandy Ioam
<b>N</b> 4 1			Averages of maximum and minimum temperatures and rainfall									
WOITTIS	·		Ten	nperature	e (°C)				Rainfall	(mm)		
April				9.4					78	.2		
May				16.9					13	.5		
June				22					14	.8		
July				28					0	1		
August				29.4					15	5		

Table 1 - Some physical and chemical properties of experimental soil and averages of maximum and minimum temperatures and rainfall during the work in 2016

kg/ha). Azotobarvar 1 contains the azoto bactervinelandii (strain O4) and barvar 2contains the pantoea agglomerans (strain P5) and pseudomonas putida (strain P13). The cropping patterns comprised pure stands of bean and black mustard, additive intercropping with a ratio of 50% black mustard + optimum density of pinto bean mono cultures and an additive intercropping with optimum density of two species in mono cultures.

### Measurements

Yield and yield components. At maturity and when the moisture content of seeds decreased by about 18%, 10 plants were harvested from each plot and 100 grains weight of pinto bean and black mustard were recorded. Also to determine of grain and biological yields, an area equal to 1 m<sup>2</sup> was harvested from middle part of each plot considering marginal effect and dried in an oven at 75°C for 48 hours. Subsequently, biological and grain yields per unit area were determined. Harvest index was calculated by the following equation:

#### Harvest index = (Grain yield/Biological yield) × 100

### Evaluative indices of intercropping

Land equivalent ratio (LER), as an agronomic index, indicates the efficiency of intercropping for using the resources of the environment compared with mono cultures (Mead and Willey, 1980). The value of unity is the critical value. When the LER is greater than one, the intercropping improves the growth and yield of the cultivars. In contrast, when LER is lower than one the intercropping negatively affects the growth and yield of the plants grown in mixtures (Caballero *et al.*, 1995). The LER was calculated as:

$$LER = \frac{Y_{pb}}{Y_{p}} + \frac{Y_{bp}}{Y_{b}}$$

where  $Y_p$  and  $Y_b$  are the yields of pinto bean and black mustard, respectively, as sole crops and  $Y_{pb}$  and  $Y_{bp}$  are the yields of pinto bean and black mustard, respectively, as intercrops.

Relative value total (RVT) as an economic index proposed by Schultz *et al.* (1982).

This index is widely used now and has been used by many researchers. The RVT was calculated as:

$$RVT = \frac{aP_1 + bP_2}{aM_i}$$

where,  $P_1$  and  $P_2$  are the yields of two different crops in intercropping and  $M_1$  and  $M_2$  are the yields of those of these crops in monocultures ( $M_1 > M_2$ ). Also, a and b are the market prices of crop 1 and 2 respectively.

If the RVT >1, the mixture crop has the advantage and if the RVT <1, pure stand will have an economic advantage. If RVT =1, then these two methods are not economically advantageous to each other.

Relative yield is the ratio of the species response in the mixture to the species response when grown in monoculture. Relative yield total (RYT) is the total RY of the two associated species, as shown in below:

> RYT = RYa + RYb RY<sub>a</sub> = Ya in mixture /Ya in monoculture RY<sub>b</sub> = Yb in mixture /Yb in monoculture

A RYT of 1 indicates that species A and B are making demands on the same resources. If RYT is <1, this shows antagonism between species A and B. If the RYT is >1, the yield of the mixture is greater than that of the single and is preferred.

The Relative Crowding Coefficient (RCC) is a measure of the relative dominance of one species over the other in a mixture (De Wit, 1960). The RCC was calculated as:

$$RCC = (Y_{pb}/Y_p)/(Y_{bp}/Y_b)$$

where  $Y_p$  and  $Y_b$  are the yields of pinto bean and black mustard, respectively, as sole crops and  $Y_{pb}$  and  $Y_{bp}$  are the yields of pinto bean and black mustard, respectively, as intercrops.

If RCC= 1, the amount of crop in the mixture will be equal to monocropping. Also, if RCC <1 indicates that the amount of the product in the mixture has decreased relative to solecrop and if RCC >1, the yield of the mixture is higher than that of pure stand of crops and the mixing is beneficial.

## Statistical analysis

Analyses of variance for data based on the experimental design and comparison of means (Duncan multiple range test) at  $p \le 0.05$  were carried out, using MSTATC software. Excel software 2013 was used to draw figures.

## 3. Results

Analyses of variance showed significant effects of cropping pattern and fertilizers on 100 grains weight, biological and grain yields per unit area of pinto bean and also biological and grain yields per unit area of black mustard. 100 grains weight of black mustard was significantly affected by fertilizer treatments and interaction of cropping pattern × fertilizers (Table 2).

The highest 100 grains weight, biological and grain yields per unit area of pinto bean and grain yield of black mustard were achieved in pure stands of bean and black mustard and also inbio-fertilizers + 100% chemical fertilizer (urea). Maximum biological yield of black mustard was achieved inpure stands of black mustard culture, but there were no significant differences with additive intercropping with optimum density of two species in mono cultures treatment. Also, maximum of this trait was achieved in bio-fertilizers + 100% chemical fertilizer (urea) but, there were no significant differences with bio-fertilizer + 50% chemical fertilizer (Table 3).

Significantly, maximum 100 grains weight of black mustard in different cropping patterns was observed in intercropping with a ratio of 50% black mustard + optimum density of pinto bean mono cultures and bio-fertilizers + 100% chemical fertilizer (urea). Generally, in other cropping patterns there were no considerable differences between fertilizer treatments (Fig. 1).

Evaluation of intercropping efficiency of treatments indicated that land equivalent ratio (LER) is >1 in all intercropping and fertilizer treatments and this showing the superiority of intercropping compared to single cropping. Maximum of LER and relative yield total (RYT) were attended in optimum density of two species and bio-fertilizers + 100% chemical fertilizer (urea). Maximum relative value total (RVT) is related to optimum density of two species with non-fertilizer. Maximum of relative crowding coefficient (RCC) was related to non-fertilizer treatment in 50% of optimum density of two species in pinto bean and optimum density of two species in black mustard (Table 4).

Table 2 - Analysis of variance of the agronomic traits in pinto bean and black mustard under different cropping patterns and fertilizer treatments

		Mean Square										
6	10	Р	into bean (Phas	<i>eolus vulgaris</i> L	.)	В	lack mustard (Bi	rassica nigra L	.)			
Source	đĩ	100 grains weight	Biological yield	Grain yield	Harvest index	100 grains weight	Biological yield	Grain yield	Harvest index			
Replication	2	72.94	3680597	1131685	2.03	0.01	1786035	157796	2.60			
Cropping pattern	2	79.10 **	40310058 **	9924157 **	0.70 NS	0.01 NS	122550980 **	1961700 **	5.77 NS			
Fertilizer (F)	3	140.98 **	37336605 **	9970014 **	17.55 NS	0.14 *	24340924 **	832223 **	2.44 NS			
C × F	6	4.78 NS	989636 NS	236278 NS	6.49 NS	0.17 **	8957965 NS	11308 NS	6.06 NS			
Error	22	2.75	559597	133108	10.29	0.04	5045637	21412	3.77			
Cv %	-	5.23	16.85	16.27	6.40	4.46	17.12	8.53	14.59			

Ns, \* and \*\*: non-significant and significant at  $p \le 0.05$  and  $p \le 0.01$ , respectively.

	Pinto k	pean ( <i>Phaseolus vulg</i>	garis L.)	Black mustard (Brassica nigra L.)			
Treatment	100 grains weight (g)	Biological yield (kg/ha)	Biological yield (kg/ha) Grain yield (kg/ha)		Grain yield (kg/ha)		
Cropping pattern							
C1	34.08± 5.83 a	6505.70± 80.65 a	3269.90± 57.18 a	15181.70± 123.21 a	2066.60± 45.45 a		
C2	32.19± 5.67 b	3793.90± 61.59 b	1911.80± 43.72 b	9437.90± 97.14 b	1272.60± 35.67 c		
C3	29.00±5.38 b	3013.80± 54.89 c	1543.10± 39.28 c	14737.50±121.39 a	1802.10± 42.45 b		
Fertilizer treatments							
F1	26.54±5.15 d	2117.40± 46.01 d	1048.90± 32.38 d	11022.00± 104.98 c	1372.80± 37.05 c		
F2	31.23± 5.58 c	3537.50± 59.47 c	1771.20± 42.08 c	12606.00± 112.27	1542.00±39.26 b		
F3	33.37± 5.77 b	5138.70± 71.68 b	2688.20± 51.84 b	14266.00± 119.44 a	1959.50± 44.26 a		
F4	35.87± 5.98 a	6777.60± 82.32 a	3458.10± 58.80 a	14581.00± 120.75 a	1980.70± 44.50 a		

Table 3 - Means of the agronomic traits in pinto bean and black mustard under different cropping patterns and fertilizer treatments

Different letters in each column indicate significant difference at P≤0.05. Means are average values of three replicates ± standard errors.

C1, C2, C3= pure stands of bean and black mustard, additive intercropping with a ratio of 50% black mustard + optimum density of pinto bean mono cul-

tures and additive intercropping with optimum density of two species in mono cultures, respectively.

F1, F2, F3, F4= control (non-fertilizer), bio-fertilizers (azotobarvar 1 and barvar 2), bio-fertilizer + 50% chemical fertilizer (urea) and bio-fertilizers + 100% chemical fertilizer (urea), respectively.



Fig. 1 - Mean 100 grain weight of black mustard for interaction of cropping pattern × fertilizers. Different letters indicate significant difference at p ≤ 0.05 (Duncan test). C1, C2, C3= pure stands of bean and black mustard,additive intercropping with a ratio of 50% black mustard + optimum density of pinto bean mono cultures and additive intercropping with optimum density of two species in mono cultures, respectively. F1, F2, F3, F4= control (nonfertilizer), bio-fertilizers (azotobarvar 1 and barvar 2), bio-fertilizer + 50% chemical fertilizer urea and bio-fertilizers + 100% chemical fertilizer (urea), respectively.

### 4. Discussion and Conclusions

According to the results, bio-fertilizers + 100% chemical fertilizer (urea) was the best fertilizer treatment in pinto bean and black mustard as, it signifi-

cantly increased the field performance of these plants (Table 3, Fig. 1), followed by bio-fertilizers + 50% chemical fertilizer. However, biological and grain yields for black mustard was affected as similar to bio-fertilizer + 50% chemical fertilizer (urea) with biofertilizers + 100% chemical fertilizer (urea). Therefore, bio-fertilizer application resulted in decreasing 50% of chemical fertilizing. Chemical fertilizer has various negative environmental effects such as soil, water and air pollution, which increase environmental production cost (Moradi et al., 2011). Bio-fertilizer as essential components of organic farming, play a vital role in maintaining long term fertility and sustainability of soil. Bio-fertilizers have the ability to access a major part of nutrients for growing plant along with growth promoting factors (Cordovilla et al., 1999).

Significant reduction of grain and biological yields in intercropping (Table 3) was attributed to interspecific competition between two crops (Bybee-Finley and Matthew, 2018). Pilbeam *et al.* (1994) has noted that grain yield of maize in sole culture was greater than intercropping with bean. Competition for nutrient uptake and deficiency of nitrogen transport are responsible for the reduction of maize yield in intercropping with legumes (Tomar *et al.*, 1988). However, there were not significant differences between sole cropping and optimum density of two species in intercropping system. Therefore, the presence of pinto bean plants hasn't considerable interspecific competition on black mustard plants. Always grain yield of plants did not reduce in intercropping. As an illustration, Long *et al.* (2001) showed that the grain yield of wheat increased 28 to 30% in intercropping with soybean compared to monoculture.

The land equivalent ratio (LER) of the all intercropping treatments was more than 1, which indicated an advantage of intercropping in comparison with monocultures of pinto bean and black mustard (Table 4). This can be attributed to increasing plant density/m<sup>2</sup> and more use efficiency of environmental resources (Nasrollahzadeh Asl et al., 2009). Bio-fertilizers improved LER at all plant population as were applied alone or along with chemical fertilizer. In intercropping system, root interaction could increase the root activity and microbial quantity in the rhizosphere (Zhang, 2013). Interspecific interaction between species in the rhizosphere can also affect nutrient availability and uptake in intercropping (Haugard-Nielsan, 2001). Dua et al. (2005) found that intercropping potato and French bean in all intercropping treatments enhanced yield compared to sole cropping and the amount of LER was more than one. Specific competition usually includes competition for soil water, available nutrients, and solar radiation (Buxton and Fales, 1993). Competition can also have a significant impact on the growth rate of the presented species in intercropping.

Relative value total (RVT) of intercropping treatments was higher than 1 which showed the economic advantage of intercropping compared to monocultures. The highest RVT were observed in the non-fertilizerwith optimum densities of two species. RVT was improved as plant density increased. On these biases RVT values of optimum densities for two species were higher than 50% optimum density at the same fertilizer treatments (Table 4). It was attributed to more improvement intercropping yields compared to monocultures (Javanmard et al., 2018). Several indices such as LER, RVT, relative yield total (RYT), relative crowding coefficient (RCC) (Table 4), competitive ratio, aggressively, actual yield loss, monetary advantage, and intercropping advantage have been developed to describe competition and economic advantage in intercropping (Ghosh, 2004; Midya et al., 2005).

RCC is ability of a species to use limited resource in intercropping with its ability to gain the same resource in intercropping system by using yield comparing and shows the competitive advantage of intercropping components (Snaydon, 1991). RCC of black mustard in most treatment was higher than RCC of pinto been. Its maximum value was observed in treatment non-fertilizer and optimum density of two species about 2.803. The highest value of RCC of pinto been in treatment non-fertilizer and 50% of optimum density of two species. Fertilizer application result in decreasing RCC of pinto bean and increasing

### Table 4 - Evaluation of intercropping efficiency of treatme

	Land equivalent ratio (LER)		Relative v (R <sup>y</sup>	value total VT)	Relative y (R <sup>y</sup>	vield total YT)	Relative coefficien Pinto	Relative crowding coefficient (RCC) of Pinto bean		Relative crowding coefficient (RCC) of Black mustard	
Fertilizer treatments  Control (non-	Inter- cropping (50% of optimum density of two species)	Inter- cropping (optimum density of two species)									
Control (non- fertilizer)	1.003	1.102	3.181	4.758	1.003	1.102	1.073	0.356	0.931	2.803	
Bio-fertilizers (azotobarvar 1 and barvar 2)	1.107	1.349	2.717	3.874	1.107	1.349	1.007	0.559	0.992	1.787	
Bio-fertilizer + 50% chemical fertilizer (urea)	1.253	1.381	2.661	3.229	1.253	1.381	0.879	0.515	1.136	1.940	
Bio-fertilizers + 100% chemical fertilizer (urea)	1.304	1.418	2.401	2.817	1.304	1.418	0.804	0.602	1.242	1.658	

RCC of black mustard in 50% of optimum density of two species. Also, with increasing black mustard density in intercropping, RCC of black mustard was higher than bean at all fertilizer treatments. Generally, fertilizer application, change the superiority of bean toblack mustard (Table 4).

Fertilizer treatments, particularly bio-fertilizers + 100% chemical fertilizer (urea) improved grain yields of pinto bean and black mustard via higher 100 grains weight and biological yield per unit area. Resource use efficiency was increased in intercropping systems. Intercropping diversify agroecosystem, and resulted in sustainable production and increase economic income, in addition, can be effective the use of agricultural land considerably. Finally, it was concluded that intercropping pattern was better than monocultures of two species at different levels of fertilizers and also bio-fertilizers application could increase efficiency of chemical fertilizer and it can reduce the environmental risk and increase field performance of pinto bean and black mustard.

# References

- ABBADY K.A., EL-MAAZ E.I.M., AHMED H.M.R.M., ZOHRY A.A., 2016 - Carbon sequestration as a function of intercropping management practices and different nitrogenous fertilizer types. - J. Soil Sci. Agri. Eng., 7: 565-586.
- ALABI R.A., ESOBHAWAN A.O., 2006 Relative economic value of maize okra intercrops in rainforest zone, Nigeria. J. Cent. Eur. Agr., 7: 433-438.
- ARIJA I., CENTENO C., VIVEROS A., BRENES A., MARZO F., ILLERA J.C., SILVAN G., 2007 - Nutritional evaluation of raw and extruded kidney bean (Phaseolus vulgaris L. var. pinto) in chicken diets. - Poult. Sci., 85: 635-644.
- BUXTON C.L., FALES S.L., 1993 Plant environment and quality, pp. 92-116. In: FAHEY G.C. (ed.) Forage quality, evaluation and utilization. ASA, CSSA and SSSA, Madison, WI, pp. 998.
- BYBEE-FINLEY K.A., MATTHEW R.R., 2018 Advancing intercropping research and practices in industrialized agricultural landscapes. - Agriculture, 8: 80.
- CABALLERO R., GOICOECHEA E.L., HERNAIZ P.J., 1995 -Forage yields and quality of common vetch and oat sown at varying seeding ratios and seeding rates of common vetch. - Field Crops Res., 41: 135-140.
- CORDOVILLA M.P., BERRIDO S.I., LIGERO F., LLUCH C.L., 1999 - Rhizobium strain effects on the growth and nitrogen assimilation in (Pisum sativum L.) and (Vicia faba L.) plants. - Plant Sci., 140: 127-136.
- DE WIT C.T., 1960 *On competition*. Verslag Landbouw-Kundige Onderzoek, 66: 1-28.

DUA V.K., LAL S.S., COVINDAKRISHNAN P.M., 2005 -

Potential and competition indices in potato + French bean intercropping system in Shimla Hills. - Indian J. Agr. Sci., 75: 321-327.

- DUTTA P., DAS K., PATEL A., 2016 Influence of organics, inorganic and bio-fertilizers on growth, fruit quality, and soil characters of Himsagar mango grown in new alluvial zone of West Bengal, India. - Adv. Hort. Sci., 30(2): 81-85.
- GHOSH P.K., 2004 Growth, yield, competition and economics of groundnut/cereal fodder intercropping systems in the semi-arid tropics of India. - Field Crops Res., 88: 227-237.
- HABIMANA S., KALYANA MURTHY K.N., NANJA REDDY Y.A., MUDALAGIRIYAPPA M., VASANTHA KUMARI R., HANU-MANTHAPPA D.C., 2019 - Impact of aerobic rice-leafy vegetables intercropping systems on weed management. - Adv. Hort. Sci., 33(3): 365-373.
- HAUGARD-NIELSAN H., AMBUS P., JENSEN E.S., 2001 -Inter-specific competition and with weed in pea-barley intercropping. - Field Crop Res., 70: 101-109.
- JAVANMARD A., AMANI MACHIANI M., OSTADI A., SEIFI A., KHODAYARI S., 2018 - Evaluation of land productivity, competition and insect diversity in different intercropping patterns of sunflower (Helianthus annuus L.) and soybean (Glycine max L.) under low-input condition. -Iran Agric. Res., 37: 105-116.
- JIAO X., LIANG W., CHEN L., ZHANG H., LI Q., WANG P., WEN D., 2005 - Effects of slow-release urea fertilizers on urease activity, microbial biomass, and nematode communities in an aquic brown soil. - Sci. China Life Sci., 48: 26-32.
- JOORABI S., AKBARI N., CHAICHI M.R., AZIZI K.H., 2015 -Effect of sowing date and nitrogen fertilizer on sorghum (Sorghum bicolor I. var. Speed feed) forage production in a summer intercropping system.-Cercetari Agronomice in Moldova, 3: 63-72.
- KIMINAMI L., FENG J.C.H., FURUZAWA S., 2010 Doublecropping pinto bean after winter barley in western Colorado USA. - J. Life Sci., 4: 96-100.
- KOWAL J.M., KASSAM H., 1978 Agricultural Ecology of Savanna. - Clarendon Press, Oxford, UK, pp. 403.
- KUMAR S., SUYAL D.C., DHAUNI N., BHORIYAL M., GOEL R., 2014 - Relative plant growth promoting potential of Himalayan psychro tolerant Pseudomonas jesenii Strain MP1 against native Cicer arietinum L., Vigna mungo (L.) Hepper; Vigna radiata (L.) Wilczek., Cajanus cajan (L.) Millsp. and Eleusine coracana (L.) Gaertn. -Afr. J. Microbiol. Res., 8(50): 3931-3943.
- LITHOURGIDIS A.S., DORDAS C.A., DAMALAS C.A., VLA-CHOSTERGIOS D.N., 2011 - Annual intercrops: an alternative pathway for sustainable agriculture. - Aust. J. Crop Sci., 5: 396-410.
- LONG L., SUN J., ZHANG F., LI X., YAUNG S., RNGEL Z., 2001 - Wheat - maize or wheat - soybean strip intercropping I. Yield advantage and inter-specific interaction on nutrients. - Field Crops Res.,71: 123-137.

MEAD R., WILLEY R.W., 1980 - The concept of a land equiv-

alent ratio and advantages in yields for intercropping. - Exp. Agric., 16: 217-228.

- MIDYA A., BHATTACHARJEE K., GHOSE S.S., BANIK P., 2005 - Deferred seeding of blackgram (Phaseolus mungo L.) in rice (Oryza sativa L.) field on yield advantages and smothering of weeds. - Crop Sci., 191: 195-201.
- MOGHBELI T., BOLANDNAZAR S., PANAHANDE J., RAEI Y., 2019 - Evaluation of yield and its components on onion and fenugreek intercropping ratios in different planting densities. - J. Clean. Prod., 213: 634-641.
- MORADI R., REZVANI-MOGHADDAM P., NASIRI-MAHAL-LATI M., NEZHADALI A., 2011 - *Effects of organic and biological fertilizers on fruit yield and essential oil of sweet fennel* (Foeniculum vulgare *var. dulce*). - Spanish J. Agric. Res., 9: 546-553.
- NASROLLAHZADEH ASL A., DABBAGH MOHAMMADY NASSAB A., ZEHTAB SALMASI S., MOGHADDAM M., JAVANSHIR A., 2009 - *Potato* (Solanum tuberosum *L.) and pinto bean* (Phaseolus vulgaris *L. var. pinto) intercropping based on replacement method.* - J. Food Agric. Environ., 7: 295-299.
- PILBEAM C.J., OKALEBO R., SIMMONDS L.P., GATHUA K.W., 1994 - Analysis of maize-common bean intercrops in semiarid Kenya. - J. Agri. Sci.,123: 191-198.
- RAEI Y., WEISANY W., GHASSEMI-GOLEZANI K., TORABIAN S., 2015 - Effects of additive intercropping on field performance of potato and green bean at different densities. - Biol. Forum Int. J., 7: 534-540.

- SCHULTZ B., PHILIPPS C., ROSSET P., VANDERMEER J., 1982 - An experiment in intercropping cucumbers and tomatoes in southern Michigan, U.S.A. - Sci. Hort., 18(1): 1-8.
- SNAYDON R., 1991 Replacement or additive designs for competition studies. J. Appl. Ecol., 930-946.
- TOMAR J.S., MACKENZIE A.F., MEHUYS G.R., ALI I., 1988 -Corn growth with foliar nitrogen soil applied nitrogen and legume intercrops. - Agron. J., 80: 802-807.
- TOMER S., SUYAL D.C., GOEL R., 2016 Bio-fertilizers: A timely approach for sustainable agriculture, pp. 375-395. In: CHOUDHARY D.K., A. VARMA, and N. TUTEJA (eds.) Plant-microbe interaction: An approach to sustainable agriculture. Springer Nature Singapore, pp. 509.
- TÜZEL Y., ÖZTEKIN G.B., 2017 *Crop diversification, management and practical uses.* - Fao Plant Production and Protection Paper, 230: 105-122.
- WATIKAI J.M., FUKAI S., BAND J.A., KEATING B.A., 1993 -Radiation interception and growth maize-cowpea inter crop as affected by maize plant- density and cowpea cultivar. - Field Crop Res., 35: 123-133.
- WILLY R.W., 1990 *Resource use in intercropping systems.* - J. Agr. Water Manage., 17: 215-231.
- ZHANG X., HUANG G., BIAN X., ZHAO Q., 2013 Effects of root interaction and nitrogen fertilization on the chlorophyll content root activity photosynthetic characteristics of intercropped soybean and microbial quantity in the rhizosphere. - Plant Soil and Environ., 59: 80-88.



# Influence of plant biostimulant and spacing on production and postharvest conservation of watermelons cv. Quetzali

# V.F.S. de Paula, J.C. Vilvert <sup>(\*)</sup>, N.O. de Aráujo, I.B. do Nascimento, J.F. de Medeiros, E.M.M. Aroucha

Federal Rural University of the Semi-Arid Region, Mossoró, Rio Grande do Norte, Brazil.

Key words: Citrullus lanatus, cold storage, Crop Set<sup>®</sup>, physico-chemical quality, plant growth regulators.

Abstract: The aim of this study was to evaluate the influence of pre-harvest application of plant biostimulant Crop Set<sup>®</sup> and different plant spacings on the production attributes and postharvest quality of watermelon 'Quetzali'. The experiment was set up in a completely randomized split-plot (3 × 2 × 4) design, corresponding to three plant spacings (0.40, 0.45 and 0.50 m), application of the plant biostimulant (with and without) and four storage periods at 10°C and RH 90% (0, 14, 21 and 28 days). Fruits were assessed after harvest in terms of average mass of fruits, number of fruits per plant and yield, and throughout the storage periods for flesh firmness, soluble solids content (SSC), titratable acidity (TA), SSC/TA ratio, pH and total soluble sugars (TSS). The average mass of fruit (4.02 kg) was higher in the larger spacing without application of biostimulant. The pre-harvest application of plant biostimulant negatively influenced SSC of fruits, depending on the plant spacing and storage periods. For TA and TSS content, the effect of this product varies with plant spacing and storage days. The lower plant spacing provided higher TSS to the fruits.

## 1. Introduction

Watermelon [*Citrullus lanatus* (Thunb.) Matsum. and Nakai] is a vegetable belonging to the Cucurbitaceae family that has great economic and social expression, with a world production of 118,413,465 tonnes in 2017. Among the four largest producers are China, Turkey, Iran and Brazil, which together are responsible for 76% of global watermelon production (FAOSTAT, 2019).

In Brazil, the Northeast region is an important pole of agricultural crop, with soil and climate conditions favorable for watermelon cultivation throughout the year. Cultural practices are always studied to increase yield and quality of the products. Watermelon is the second most exported vegetable in Brazil and Quetzali is an early commercial cultivar, with



(\*) **Corresponding author:** jcvilvert@gmail.com

#### Citation:

DE PAULA V.F.S., VILVERT J.C., DE ARÁUJO N.O., DO NASCIMENTO I.B., DE MEDEIROS J.F., AROU-CHA E.M.M., 2020 - Influence of plant biostimulant and spacing on production and postharvest conservation of watermelons cv. Quetzali. - Adv. Hort. Sci., 34(2): 183-189.

#### Copyright:

© 2020 de Paula V.F.S., Vilvert J.C., de Aráujo N.O., do Nascimento I.B., de Medeiros J.F., Aroucha E.M.M. This is an open access, peer reviewed article published by Firenze University Press (http://www.fupress.net/index.php/ahs/) and distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License, which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original author and source are credited.

#### Data Availability Statement:

All relevant data are within the paper and its Supporting Information files.

**Competing Interests:** The authors declare no competing interests.

Received for publication 4 March 2020 Accepted for publication 21 April 2020 the harvest at 70 days. This cultivar has average mass of 2.5 to 6.0 kg, green skin color with dark and thin streaks, red pulp with few seeds and high soluble solids content, which are desirable characteristics for consumers (Dia *et al.*, 2016).

During the vegetable development an unable cultural management of plant, in the field, can cause irreversible damage in fruit cells, which can affect their shelf life. The management techniques can morphologically and physiologically alter the plant, intervening in its productive potential and affecting the quality and the conservation of the fruits are plant spacing (Gomes *et al.*, 2017) and use of plant biostimulants (Martins *et al.*, 2013).

Species grown in high densities, especially cucurbits, produce a large number of fruits per area, but with small size, weight and number per plant, which may affect their development, and consequently, the final quality of fruits (Sabo *et al.*, 2013; Oga and Umekwe, 2016).

On the other hand, plant biostimulants are substances applied to plants that enhance their nutrition efficiency, abiotic stress tolerance and/or quality traits (Jardin, 2015). They can be defined as mixtures of one or more plant growth regulators with other compounds of a different chemical nature, such as mineral salts (Castro and Pereira, 2008), which are applied in various species of fruits and vegetables with the aim of increasing its production and quality (Leão *et al.*, 2005; Costa *et al.*, 2008; Martins *et al.*, 2013; Aroucha *et al.*, 2018).

Crop Set<sup>®</sup> (Improcrop-Kentucky-USA) is a commercial product registered in Brazil as foliar fertilizer, containing 1.5% manganese, 1.5% iron and 1% copper, it is a composed of agave (Yucca shidigera) extracts and mineral micronutrients with cytokininlike action (Leão et al., 2005). The use of plant regulators belonging to the cytokinin group can increase the fruit size (Tecchio et al., 2006; Ainalidou et al., 2016) because inducing cell division and thus stimulating cell growth in plant tissues (Taiz et al., 2015). Nevertheless, its influence on the yield and watermelon conservation was not reported yet. The watermelon shelf life is around 2-3 weeks at 10-15°C (Maynard, 2001), depending on cultivar. A good quality is reached as soluble solid is above 8% (Tlili et al., 2011).

The aim of this study was to evaluate the influence of pre-harvest application of plant biostimulant Crop Set<sup>®</sup> and different plant spacings on the production attributes and postharvest quality of watermelon cv. Quetzali.

# 2. Materials and Methods

The experiment was carried out in Mossoró, state of Rio Grande do Norte, Brazil (4° 39' 39" S, 37° 23' 13" W, and 20 m of altitude). The climate of the region according to Köppen climate classification is BSwh type (hot and dry). The region has average annual temperature of 27°C, average annual precipitation of 673.9 mm, unevenly distributed, and air relative humidity of 68.9%.

The soil of the experimental area is classified as Neossolo quartzarenico (Santos *et al.*, 2018) and its physical-chemical properties are: pH (H<sub>2</sub>0) = 5.52; organic matter: 5.5%; P (Mehlich) = 32 mg dm<sup>-3</sup>; K = 96.5 cmol dm<sup>-3</sup>; Ca = 1.60 cmol dm<sup>-3</sup>; Mg = 0.43 cmol dm<sup>-3</sup>; sand = 935.8 g kg<sup>-1</sup>; silt = 26.5 g kg<sup>-1</sup>; clay = 37.7 g kg<sup>-1</sup>; bulk density = 1.48 g cm<sup>-3</sup>; soil particle density = 2.69 g dm<sup>-3</sup>; and total porosity = 0.45 m<sup>3</sup> m<sup>-3</sup>. The results of the chemical analysis of the irrigation water are: pH = 7.70; electrical conductivity = 2.11 dS m<sup>-1</sup>; K<sup>+</sup> = 0.12 mmol L<sup>-1</sup>; Na<sup>+</sup> = 5.02 mmol L<sup>-1</sup>; Ca<sup>2+</sup> = 10.43 mmol L<sup>-1</sup>; Mg<sup>2+</sup> = 3.05 mmol L<sup>-1</sup>; Cl<sup>-</sup> = 11.48 mmol L<sup>-1</sup>; CO<sub>3</sub><sup>-2</sup> = 0.30 mmol L<sup>-1</sup>; HCO<sub>3</sub><sup>-</sup> = 3.70; Sodium adsorption ratio = 1.9 (mmol<sup>-1</sup>)<sup>0.5</sup>; Hardness = 5.4 mg L<sup>-1</sup>; Cations = 18.7 mmol L<sup>-1</sup>; and Anions = 15.4 mmol L<sup>-1</sup>.

The experiment was set up in a completely randomized split-plot  $(3 \times 2 \times 4)$  design, with six replications, each one corresponding to a plant. The plots consisted of plant spacings  $(2.0 \times 0.4 \text{ m}; 2.0 \times 0.45 \text{ m})$  and 2.0 x 0.5 m), application of the plant biostimulant Crop Set<sup>®</sup> (with and without), and postharvest storage (0, 14, 21 and 28 days) in the subplot (Fig. 1).

Seeds of watermelon cultivar Quetzali were used. Plant biostimulant was sprayed with a 20 L backpack sprayer, with stainless steel cone nozzle with flow rate of 615 mL/min, at 18 and 25 days after transplanting, applying 8 and 16 mL of Crop Set<sup>®</sup>, respectively, regularly on the plants, always in the same way. The dose of the biostimulant was determined according to the manufacturer's recommendations.

The harvest was realized at 65 days after of seedling transplanting. Fruits were transported to Laboratory of Food Technology of the Federal Rural University of the Semi-Arid Region, where part of the fruits were characterized previously by sampling six fruits per treatment. The other part was stored in a cold chamber at 10±2°C and RH 90±1%, for 14, 21 and 28 days. After each storage periods, the fruit quality was evaluated.

Fruits were assessed after harvest for production

in terms of number of fruits per plant, average mass of fruits and yield. At harvest and during cold storage, the quality characteristics were: flesh firmness (N), measured with a 12-mm tip manual penetrometer model 327 FT (McCormick, USA); soluble solids content (SSC, in °Brix), measured with a refractometer (PR - 100, Palette, Atago CO., LTD., Japan); titratable acidity (TA, in % of malic acid), analyzed by titrimetry; SSC/TA ratio; pH, evaluated using a digital potentiometer with glass membrane, calibrated with buffers of pH 7 and 4, according to the method of the Association of Official Analytical Chemists (AOAC, 2016); and total soluble sugars (TSS), measured by the Antrona method, as described by Yemn and Willis (1954), expressing results in percentage (%).



Fig. 1 - Scheme representing the treatments applied to the watermelon fruits.

Data were subjected to analysis of variance and means of the biostimulant and plant spacings factors were compared by the Tukey test ( $p \le 0.05$ ). The effect of storage periods was evaluated by regression analysis. All statistical analysis were carried out using software Sisvar 5.3 (Ferreira, 2014).

## 3. Results

There was effect of plant spacing and biostimulant application on the average mass of fruits. While, the production attributes as number of fruits per plant and yield were not affected by plant spacing or application of plant biostimulant (Table 1).

During the fruit storage, there was a significant interaction effect between plant spacing, biostimulant application and storage periods on SSC (Fig. 2), TA (Fig. 3) and TSS (Table 2) of fruits. Also, there was an isolated effect of the storage periods on the SSC/TA



Fig. 2 - Means followed by the same letter do not differ by the Tukey test (p≤0.05). Uppercase letters compare the storage periods within the biostimulant x spacing combination; lowercase letters compare the presence (A) or absence (B) of the Crop Set® application within the storage period x biostimulant combination; italic lowercase letters compare the means of the plant spacings within storage periods x biostimulant combination. DMS for storage periods = 1.811; DMS for biostimulant application= 1.374; DMS for plant spacing= 1.649.

Table 1 -	Average mass,	number of	f fruits per	plant and	yield of	'Quetzali'	watermelon	depending or	n Crop Set	<sup>®</sup> applicatior
-----------	---------------	-----------	--------------	-----------	----------	------------	------------	--------------	------------	--------------------------

Draduction attribute	Application of even cot		Plant spacing				
Production attribute	Application of crop set	40 cm	45 cm	50 cm			
Average mass (kg)	With	3.43 Aa	3.51 Aa	3.92 Aa			
	Without	3.41 Ba	3.47 Ba	4.02 Aa			
Number of fruits per plant	With	1.16 Aa	1.06 Aa	1.43 Aa			
	Without	0.97 Aa	1.39 Aa	1.58 Aa			
Yield (t ha <sup>-1</sup> )	With	11.77 Aa	10.20 Aa	13.90 Aa			
	Without	10.19 Aa	13.38 Aa	14.29 Aa			

Means followed by the same letter do not differ by the Tukey test (p≤0.05). Uppercase letters compare plant spacings and lowercase letters compare application of biostimulant.

ratio, flesh firmness and pH of fruits (Fig. 4).

Fruits without application of biostimulant had the



Fig. 3 - Means followed by the same letter do not differ by the Tukey test (p≤0.05). Uppercase letters compare the storage periods within the combination of biostimulant x spacing; lowercase letters compare the presence (A) or absence (B) of the Crop Set® application within the storage period x biostimulant combination; italic lowercase letters compare the means of the plant spacings within storage periods x biostimulant combination. DMS for storage periods = 0.012; DMS for biostimulant application= 0.009; DMS for plant spacing= 0.011. highest average mass in the larger plant spacing (50 cm) (Table 1).

The SSC increased, from 0 to 28 days, in fruit from plants on 45 cm spacing, with Crop Set<sup>®</sup> application, and non-spayed plants in growth on 40 and 50 cm spacings (Fig. 2). The biostimulant application only influenced on this physicochemical parameter at the day of the harvest, when fruits produced on 45 cm



Fig. 4 - SSC/TA ratio (A), flesh firmness (B) and pH (C) of 'Quetzali' watermelon depending on storage periods.

Table 2 -	SSC/TA ratio (A)	, flesh firmness (B	) and pH (C) of	'Quetzali'	watermelon	depending on	storage periods
-----------	------------------	---------------------	-----------------	------------	------------	--------------	-----------------

Storage period (days)	Application of Crop Set®			No application of Crop Set®		
	40 cm	45 cm	50 cm	40 cm	45 cm	50 cm
0	7.66 Aa <i>a</i>	5.23 Bb <i>b</i>	7.80 ABa <i>a</i>	6.53 ABaa	7.67 Aa <i>a</i>	7.66 Aa <i>a</i>
14	7.74 Aa <i>a</i>	8.30 Aa <i>a</i>	8.55 Aa <i>a</i>	8.74 Aa <i>a</i>	6.91 Aa <i>ab</i>	6.26 ABb <i>b</i>
21	4.52 Ba <i>a</i>	4.80 Ba <i>a</i>	4.48 Caa	5.14 Ba <i>a</i>	4.36 Ba <i>a</i>	4.94 Ba <i>a</i>
28	4.18 Ca <i>a</i>	4.48 Ba <i>a</i>	5.49 BCa <i>a</i>	4.43 Ba <i>a</i>	5.73 ABa <i>a</i>	5.06 Ba <i>a</i>

Means followed by the same letter do not differ by the Tukey test ( $p \le 0.05$ ). Uppercase letters compare the storage periods within the combination of biostimulant x spacing; lowercase letters compare the presence (A) or absence (B) of the Crop Set<sup>®</sup> application within the storage period x biostimulant combination; italic lowercase letters compare the means of the plant spacings within storage periods x biostimulant combination. DMS for storage time= 2.499; DMS for biostimulant application= 1.896; DMS for plant spacing= 2.275.

spacing with Crop Set<sup>®</sup> application had lower SSC than fruits by plants without application (Fig. 2). The reduction in spacing from 50 to 45 cm possibly increased the competition for water, mineral and luminous resources, leading to a reduction in the size of the fruits and, consequently, to an increase in the SSC due to the concentration effect. Besides that, fruits by non-sprayed plants in 45 and 50 cm spacings showed the highest SSC at 0 and 28 days, respectively. It is important to highlight that fruits produced on 40 cm spacing did not differed from SSC values of higher plant spacing, and therefore is the plant spacing with the best effect on SSC of fruits (Fig. 2).

During the storage, the TA of the fruits decreased as a function of storage periods (Fig. 3). When Crop Set<sup>®</sup> was applied, there was an effect of plant spacings only at the harvest day, in which fruits of 40 cm spacing shown a lowest TA than fruits of 45 and 50 cm spacings (Fig. 3A). No-application of Crop Set<sup>®</sup> did not affect the TA of fruits under different spacings (Fig. 3B).

When comparing fruits with and without application, we observed Crop Set<sup>®</sup> effect at zero and 21 days of storage. At the harvest day, fruits of plants cultivated in 40 cm spacing had lower TA with Crop Set<sup>®</sup> application, while in 45 cm plant spacing, the fruits had higher TA values with application of plant biostimulant. At 21 days of storage, in fruits by 40 cm plant spacing, Crop Set<sup>®</sup> application influenced the TA of fruits, increasing this value compared to the fruits without application of the biostimulant (Fig. 3).

With Crop Set application, fruits in 40 cm plant spacing showed a highest sugar content at the first 14 days of storage. On 45 and 50 cm spacing, fruits had the highest sugar content at 14 days, with further reduction of these values (Table 2). In all plant spacings, without Crop Set application, fruits shown high sugar content until 14 days of storage, followed by the decrease of these values. When comparing fruits with and without Crop Set<sup>®</sup> application, we observed that the plant biostimulant reduced sugar content of 45 cm spacing fruits at harvest. In contrast, this product shown a positive effect on 50 cm plant spacing fruits at 14 days of storage, elevating their sugar content (Table 2).

Comparing the different spatial arrangements in Crop Set<sup>®</sup> sprayed plants, we observed a lowest sugar content in fruits in 45 cm plant spacing, only at harvest. In plants without application, the 40 cm spacing favored sugar accumulation on the fruits, differing of the highest plant spacing at 14 days of storage (Table 2).

During storage, SSC/TA ratio had an increase of 65% from zero (106.81) to 28 days (314.61) (Fig. 4A). Despite the reduction in both parameters, the more pronounced reduction in TA, compared to SSC, increased the SSC/TA ratio.

The flesh firmness of fruits varied from 14.6 N to 10.9 N during storage, decreasing 25% (Fig. 4B).

During storage, we observed a variation of the pH in the fruits, starting in 5.19 at the harvest and ending in 5.02 at 28 days (Fig. 4C).

# 4. Discussion and Conclusions

The highest average mass of fruits by non-sprayed plants produced in the larger plant spacing (50 cm) can be attributed to the lower competition among the plants for soil nutrients, water and solar radiation, due to the lower density, which can lead to greater fruit development. Furthermore, a larger plant spacing reduce incidence of diseases, improving the mass of fruits (Bastos *et al.*, 2008; Ban *et al.*, 2011; Jafari *et al.*, 2016).

The use of plant growth regulators can affect crop growth and development, stimulating cell division and increasing nutrient and water uptake (Castro and Vieira, 2001). In this study, the application of the biostimulant may have caused this effect, which reflects the absence of difference between plant spacings in relation to the average mass of fruits by sprayed plants.

Our results showed an increase of SSC in fruits on 45 cm spacing, with Crop Set<sup>®</sup> application, and nonspayed plants in growth on 40 and 50 cm spacings. According to Yau *et al.* (2010), the SSC of fruits usually decrease after a few days of storage due to the respiration process of the fruit, which is the oxidative breakdown of sugars into simpler molecules. In this case, the increase on the SSC of watermelon fruits observed during storage can be attributed to the solubilization of pectins. The sweetness is the most critical quality trait of watermelon, being mostly influenced by mono- and di-saccharides found in the fruit juice, and partly on other solutes, being all contributes to the juice SSC (Kyriacou *et al.*, 2018).

In relation to the Crop Set<sup>®</sup> application, Martins *et al.* (2013) observed that this biostimulant raised the SSC of 'Quetzali' and 'Style' watermelons. Some studies did not find influence of plant spacing on SSC of watermelon fruits (Bastos *et al.*, 2008; Gomes *et al.*,

2017). The SSC in an important quality attribute of watermelon fruits, being desirable that they have values of SSC higher than 8°Brix (Tlili *et al.*, 2011), reached in this study.

Watermelon acidity is mainly attributed to the accumulation of malic acid (Özdemir et al., 2016) and its content tends to decrease during storage due to its use as a substrate in respiration (Silveira et al., 2013). Corroborating with the results of the present study, Silva et al. (2016) and Yau et al. (2010) also observed decreasing of the TA of fruits during the watermelon storage. Gomes et al. (2017) and Bastos et al. (2008) reported in their works that the plant spacing have not influence on TA of watermelon fruits. In its turn, Campagnol et al. (2012) found effect of plant spacing on fruit acidity, with the highest values in lowest plant spacing. In relation to Crop Set<sup>®</sup> application, Martins et al. (2013) did not observe an effect of this plant biostimulant on the TA of 'Quetzali' watermelons, differently of 'Style' fruits, which TA had reduction when this product was applied in the plants. Aroucha et al. (2018) emphasize that small variations in acidity levels of watermelon fruits are little significant, due to the low concentration of organic acids.

The reduction of sugar content of fruits observed at the last days of storage is related to the respiratory process of the fruits, that involves oxidative degradation of carbohydrates and organic acids.

The SSC/TA ratio of the fruits increased over storage. This parameter in an important indicator of flavor of fruits. Generally, highest SSC/TA ratio indicates a greater sweetness of fruits. This ratio is used to evaluate maturity and palatability of watermelon fruits. Values found in this work are much higher than those pointed by Campagnol *et al.* (2012) in 'Smile' watermelon, which showed SSC/TA ratio variation from 75.55 to 81.88.

The flesh firmness of the fruits decreased 25% over storage. This attribute is important to detect ripeness of watermelon fruits, being associated with the pectin solubilization and depolymerisation (Kyriacou *et al.*, 2018). The same way that this work, Martins *et al.* (2013) did not observe effect of Crop Set<sup>®</sup> application on flesh firmness of watermelons of cultivars Quetzali and Style. Besides that, Campagnol *et al.* (2012) also did not appoint influence of plant spacing on flesh firmness of 'Smile' watermelon fruits.

A small variation on pH was observed on the fruits, and it is explained by the buffer capacity of some fruits, which stabilizes pH even when the

decrease of TA is high (Paulson and Stevens, 1974).

In conclusion, the pre-harvest application of plant biostimulant Crop Set<sup>®</sup> negatively influenced some quality characteristics of 'Quetzali' watermelon, including the decrease of SSC of fruits, depending on the plant spacing and storage periods. In relation to titratable acidity and total sugar content, the effect of this product varies with plant spacing and storage days. The 40 cm plant spacing provided higher total sugar content to the fruits. Still, the 50 cm spacing increased mass of fruit without alter the yield, besides increasing acidity and soluble solids content at the end of storage, being the recommended plant spacing for 'Quetzali' watermelon plants.

# References

- AINALIDOU A., TANOU G., BELGHAZI M., SAMIOTAKI M., DIAMANTIDIS G., MOLASSIOTIS A., KARAMANOLI K., 2016 - Integrated analysis of metabolites and proteins reveal aspects of the tissue-specific function of synthetic cytokinin in kiwifruit development and ripening. - J. Proteomics, 143: 318-333.
- AOAC, 2016 Official methods of analysis of AOAC international - 20<sup>th</sup> Edition. Association of Analytical Chemists, Gaithersburg, MD, USA.
- AROUCHA E.M.M., SOUSA C.M.G., MEDEIROS J.F., GOIS G.B., NASCIMENTO I.B., ARAUJO N.O., 2018 - Preharvest application of plant biostimulant on the quality and shelf-life of yellow melon (Cucumis melo L.). - J. Agric. Sci., 10(2): 252-260.
- BAN D., BAN S.G., OPLANIĆ M., HORVAT J., NOVAK B., ŽANIĆ K., ŽNIDARČIČ D., 2011 - Growth and yield response of watermelon to in-row plant spacings and mycorrhiza. - Chilean J. Agric. Res., 71(4): 497-502.
- BASTOS F.G.C., AZEVEDO B.M., REGO J.L., VIANA T.V.A., D'ÁVILA J.H.T., 2008 - *Efeitos de espaçamentos entre plantas na cultura da melancia na Chapada do Apodi.* -Rev. Ciên. Agron., 39(2): 240-244.
- CAMPAGNOL R., MELLO S.C., BARBOSA J.C., 2012 Vertical growth of mini watermelon according to the training height and plant density. Hortic. Bras., 30(4): 726-732.
- CASTRO P.R.C., PEREIRA M.A., 2008 Bioativadores na agricultura, pp. 118-126. - In: GAZZONI D.L. (ed.) Tiametoxam: uma revolução na agricultura brasileira. Editora Vozes, Petrópolis, Brazil.
- CASTRO P.R.C., VIEIRA E.L., 2001 Aplicações de reguladores vegetais na agricultura tropical. - Editora Agropecuária, Guaíba, Brazil, pp. 132.
- COSTA C.L.L., COSTA Z.V.B., COSTA JUNIOR C.O., ANDRADE R., SANTOS J.G.R., 2008 - Utilização de bioestimulante na produção de mudas de melancia. - Revista Verde, 3(3):110-115.
- DIA M., WEHNER T.C., HASSELL R., PRICE D.S., BOYHAN

G.E., OLSON S., KING S., DAVIS A.R., TOLLA G.E., 2016 -Genotype × environment interaction and stability analysis for watermelon fruit yield in the United States. - Crop Sci., 56(4): 1645-1661.

- FAOSTAT, 2019 *Food and agriculture data*. Food and Agriculture Organization of the United Nations, Rome, Italy.
- FERREIRA D.F., 2014 Sisvar: a Guide for its Bootstrap procedures in multiple comparisons. - Ciênc. Agrotec., 38(2): 109-112.
- GOMES R.F., SANTOS L.S., MARIN M.V., DINIZ G.M.M., RABELO H.O., BRAZ L.T., 2017 - Effect of spacing on mini watermelon hybrids grown in a protected environment. - Austr. J. Crop Sci., 11(5): 522-527.
- JAFARI P., JALALI A.H., TADAIONFAR S., 2016 Comparing the irrigation water efficiency, yield and yield components of watermelon in different depths of furrow and different plant densities. - J. Crop Production and Processing, 5(18): 291-299.
- JARDIN P., 2015 Plant biostimulants: definition, concept, main categories and regulation. - Sci. Hortic., 196: 3-14.
- KYRIACOU M.C., LESKOVAR D.I., COLLA G., ROUPHAEL Y., 2018 - Watermelon and melon fruit quality: The genotypic and agro-environmental factors implicated. - Sci. Hortic., 234: 393-408.
- LEÃO P.C.S., SILVA D.J., SILVA E.E.G., 2005 Efeito do ácido giberélico, do bioestimulante crop set e do anelamento na produção e na qualidade da uva 'Thompson Seedless' no Vale do São Francisco. - Rev. Bras. Frutic., 27(3): 418-421.
- MARTINS J.C.P., AROUCHA, E.M.M., MEDEIROS J.F., NASCI-MENTO I.B., PAULA V.S., 2013 - Características póscolheita dos frutos de cultivares de melancia, submetidas à aplicação de bioestimulante. - Caatinga, 26(2): 18-24.
- MAYNARD N.D., 2001 Watermelons: Characteristics, production, and marketing - Amer. Soc. Hort. Sci. Press, Alexandria, Virginia, pp. 227.
- OGA I.O., UMEKWE P.N., 2016 *Effects of pruning and plant spacing on the growth and yield of watermelon* (Citrullus lanatus *L.) in Unwana-Afikpo.* Int. J. Sci. Res., 5(4): 110-115.
- ÖZDEMIR A.E., ÇANDIR E., YESTIŞIR H., ARAS V., ARSLAN Ö., BALTAER Ö., ÜSTÜN D., ÜNLÜ M., 2016 - Effects of

rootstocks on storage and shelf life of grafted watermelons. - J. Appl. Bot. Food Quality, 89: 191-201.

- PAULSON K.N., STEVENS M.A., 1974 Relationships among titratable acidity, pH and buffer composition of tomato fruits. - J. Food Sci., 39(2): 354-357.
- SABO M.U., WAILARE M.A., ALIYU M., JARI S., SHUAIBU Y.M., 2013 - Effect of NPK fertilizer and spacing on growth and yield of watermelon (Citrullus lanatus L.) in Kaltungo local government area of Gombe State, Nigeria. - Scholarly J. Agric. Sci., 3(8): 325-330.
- SANTOS H.G., JACOMINE P.K.T., ANJOS L.H.C., OLIVEIRA V.A., LUMBRERAS J.F., COELHO M.R., ALMEIDA J.A., ARAUJO FILHO J.C., OLIVEIRA J.B., CUNHA T.J.F., 2018 -Brazilian soil classification system. - Embrapa, Brasilia, Distrito Federal, pp. 356.
- SILVA A.C., AROUCHA E.M.M., CHAVES S.W.P., MEDEIROS J.F., PAIVA C.A., ARAÚJO N.O., 2016 - Efeito de diferentes doses, formas de aplicação e fontes de P na conservação de melancia sem sementes. - Hortic. Bras., 34(4): 529-536.
- SILVEIRA A.C., AGUAYO E., ARTÉS F., 2013 Shelf-life and quality attributes in fresh-cut Galia melon combined with fruit juices. - LWT - Food Sci. Technol., 50: 343-348.
- TAIZ L., ZEIGER E., MOLLER I.M., MURPHY A., 2015 Plant physiology and development. - 6th Edition, Sinauer Associates, Sunderland, Massachusetts, USA, pp. 761.
- TECCHIO M.A., LEONEL S., CAMILI E.C., MOREIRA G.C., PAIOLI-PIRES E.J., RODRIGUES J.D., 2006 - Uso de bioestimulante na videira 'Niagara Rosada'. - Ciência e Agrotecnologia, 30(6): 1236-1240.
- TLILI I., HDIDER C., LENUCCI M.S., RIADH I., JEBARI H., DALESSANDRO G., 2011 - *Bioactive compounds and antioxidant activities of different watermelon* (Citrullus lanatus (*Thunb.*) *Mansfeld*) *cultivars as affected by fruit sampling area.* - J. Food Compost. Anal., 24(3): 307-314.
- YAU E.W., ROSNAH S., NORAZIAH M., CHIN N.L., HASSAN O., 2010 - Physico-chemical compositions of the red seedless watermelons (Citrullus lanatus). - Int. Food Res. J., 17(2): 327-334.
- YEMN E.W., WILLIS A.J., 1954 The estimation of carbohydrate in plant extracts by anthrone. - Biochem. J., 57(3): 508-514.




(\*) **Corresponding author:** abbasifar1965@yahoo.com

#### Citation:

ABBASIFAR A., VALIZADEHKAJI B., KARIMI M., BAGHERI H., 2020 - The first report: The effect of garlic extract on rooting of cuttings of some ornamental plants and fruit trees. - Adv. Hort. Sci., 34(2): 191-204.

#### Copyright:

© 2020 Abbasifar A., Valizadehkaji B., Karimi M., Bagheri H. This is an open access, peer reviewed article published by Firenze University Press (http://www.fupress.net/index.php/ahs/) and distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License, which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original author and source are credited.

#### Data Availability Statement:

All relevant data are within the paper and its Supporting Information files.

**Competing Interests:** The authors declare no competing interests.

Received for publication 19 September 2019 Accepted for publication 23 April 2020

## The first report: The effect of garlic extract on rooting of cuttings of some ornamental plants and fruit trees

#### A. Abbasifar<sup>(\*)</sup>, B. Valizadehkaji, M. Karimi, H. Bagheri

Department of Horticultural Sciences, Faculty of Agriculture and Natural Resources, Arak University, 38156-8-8349 Arak, Iran.

Key words: antimicrobial property, callus, culture substrate, grape, hormone, sycamore, wild privet.

Abstract: One of the problems with the use of cuttings, particularly woody and semi-woody ones, is to root them for propagation of various plant species. The use of rooting hormones involves a high cost of foreign exchange and creates many environmental problems. Garlic extract has a lot of antimicrobial properties and can prevent the release of microorganisms in the culture medium of plants. In this study, garlic extract at three concentrations (0, 25, and 50 g/L) was investigated on the rooting of three different species include easy-to-root cuttings (rose, wild privet, and poplar), moderate-root cuttings (sycamore, berry, and grape), and hard-to-root cuttings (apple, sour cherry, and cherry) in three applications of the culture substrate, on the cuttings, and in the callus stage. Results showed that garlic extract can be used at a concentration of 25 g/L at the callus formation stage to improve the quantity and quality of grape cuttings in terms of shooting and rooting. The quantity and quality of shoots and roots for wild privet cuttings can be improved with garlic extract at 25 g/L and be used on the cuttings. Garlic extract at concentrations of 50 and 25 g/L can be used in the callus stage to enhance the quantity and quality of sycamore and berry cuttings, respectively. No positive effects were observed in the other plants, or positive effects were found only either on shooting or on rooting traits.

#### 1. Introduction

Since the uniformity of plants used in gardens and green spaces is important, one of the most effective methods of non-sexual propagation is now the use of various cuttings worldwide. One of the important problems of using cuttings, particularly hardwood and semi-hardwood ones is to root them. To overcome this critical problem, manufacturers apply different methods, one of which is the use of different rooting hormones, particularly auxins (Guan *et al.*, 2015). Although the use of hormones for rooting is very effective, these substances are mostly imported goods that require a large amount of foreign money. In addition, the use of plantderived substances instead of chemicals and synthetic auxins to deal with adverse environmental effects is an issue that has been considered in the European Union in recent years. This has led to an increasing interest in the production of substances that can help propagate a variety of plants and, at the same time, are environment friendly (Wojdyła, 2004; Pacholcza et al., 2016). Also, one of the problems during rooting of cuttings is the substrate contamination with pathogens, and consequently the contamination of cuttings and their failure in rooting (Hartmann et al., 2002). According to a previous studies (Wojdyła, 2004; Pacholczak et al., 2016), the use of natural substances can reduce production costs and provide better accessibility compared to chemicals. In addition to various chemical compounds, the use of natural substances in the cultivation of commercial plants is today gaining interest among manufacturers and producers, which has been accompanied by positive and interesting results. In some cases, such substances have even been appropriately replaced chemical compounds due to better results. If plant extracts can be used to root the cuttings, a new step will be taken towards this branch of agricultural science in addition to saving costs and non-dependency on the imports of hormones as well as avoiding environmental contaminants. Plant essential oils play an important role in disinfecting, stimulating, and improving growth, increasing dry matter, and protecting the plant against environmental damages and stresses (Bai et al., 2007).

Garlic extract is a substance with antioxidant, antimicrobial, and antibacterial properties (Harris et al., 2001). Garlic active compounds often accumulate in its underground organ (garlic bulb). Garlic contains sulfide compounds such as allyn, diallyl sulfides, and allicin, with allicin being the most abundant compound in the garlic extract, accounting for approximately 70% of these compounds (Sadaga et al., 2016). It has been shown that garlic planting in vegetable hydroponic substrates prevents the development of many diseases and reduces microbial population in the substrate (Liu et al., 2014). Garlic extract has many allelopathic chemicals (Wang et al., 2015). The most important chemicals and minerals found in garlic extract are lipids, carbohydrates, fibers, manganese, potassium, sulfur, calcium, phosphorus, magnesium, sodium, vitamin B6, vitamin C, glutamic acid, arginine, aspartic acid, leucine, and lysine (Al Mayahi and Fayadh, 2015).

Given the importance of ornamental trees and flowers and also fruit trees in human health and economics, this study aimed to investigate the possible effects of garlic extract at different concentrations on rooting of cuttings and propagation of rose, wild privet, poplar, sycamore, berry, grape, apple, sour cherry, and cherry cuttings to achieve the best treatment. There is a large body of literature concerning the effect of using hormones on the rooting of cuttings and its optimization (Guan et al., 2015), but no research has so far been conducted on the effect of plant extracts on plant rooting. In the design of this research, therefore, attempts were made to treat the cuttings of different plants with garlic extract in terms of rooting to obtain acceptable results at the beginning of the experiment. This research also tried to use an extract that is suitable for disinfection of the substrate. This was the first report on the use of garlic extract on the rooting of different plants, and it is hoped that the results could pave the ground for further research in this field.

## 2. Materials and Methods

This research was conducted at the research greenhouse of the Faculty of Agriculture and Natural Resources, University of Arak. To investigate the effect of garlic extract on the rooting of different cuttings, a factorial experiment (cuttings as the first factor and garlic extract concentrations as the second factor) was carried out in a completely randomized design with three replications each with 10 cuttings.

## Plant materials

Three types of cuttings including easy-to-root cuttings (rose, wild privet, and poplar), moderate-root cuttings (plane, berries, and grapes), and hard-toroot cuttings (apple, sour cherry, and cherry) were prepared from healthy and genetically uniform native plants in the planting season (December). The cuttings were 10-15 cm in length with a thickness of 5-7 mm.

## Extraction of garlic cloves

The garlic cloves were first peeled and grated for each independent experiment. Then, 10 g of the grated garlic was placed in 10 ml of water at room temperature for 24 h. The garlic extract was obtained after passing through filter papers.

# Preparation of seedbed, planting of cuttings, and application of treatments

The sandstone culture substrate was similar for all cuttings. Each experiment was consisted of three replicates each with 10 cuttings. Cuttings were grown in 9 rows at 10 cm spacing on a row and 2 cm spacing between the rows in the substrate. The extract con-

centrations were 0 (control), 25, and 50 g/L of distilled water for 2 seconds. The extract was used at three times: 1) extract dispersion on the culture substrate during substrate preparation and before planting the cuttings, 2) at planting the cuttings by inserting the bottom half of the cuttings in the extract to disinfect the cuttings, and 3) dispersion on the substrate at the tips of the cuttings in the callus formation stage. After planting, the cuttings were kept and irrigated regularly under greenhouse conditions for 3 months.

#### Measuring morphological traits

Immediately after the collection of root and aerial samples, their fresh weight was measured using a digital scale. To determine the dry matter content, the samples were placed in an oven at 70°C for 48 h. Finally, the dry weights of shoots and roots were determined with a digital scale. Further measured traits were the number of roots and shoots, root and shoot length, and longest roots and shoots. During the experiment and the growth of cuttings, the average temperature and relative humidity were 22°C and 35%, respectively, in the greenhouse.

Data were independently normalized with such methods as the removal of outliers (data higher and lower than twice the root mean square error) using the equation X = Y + 0.5, and were then analyzed using SAS 9.4 software. Mean values were compared with Duncan's multiple range test at p<0.05.

#### 3. Results

## The use of different concentrations of garlic extract in the substrates of cuttings

Shoot-related characteristics. The interaction effect of garlic extract treatment × the substrate and plant type significantly affected the number of green cuttings, total shoot length, number of shoots, mean shoot length, length of the longest shoots, and fresh and dry weights of the shoots. Increasing the extract concentration elevated the number of green cuttings, total shoot length, average shoot length, length of the longest shoots, and fresh and dry weights of shoots in rose cuttings. Elevated number of green cuttings, total shoot length, average shoot length, and length of the longest shoots were observed in wild privet with the extract levels. In poplar cuttings, all the traits improved markedly at a moderate concentration (25 g/L) (Table 1).

The use of garlic extract in sycamore cuttings had

no positive effects on shoot-related traits. In berry cuttings, the moderate concentration had positive impacts on the number of green cuttings and total shoot length, but it was not significant on the other traits (Table 1). In grape cuttings, moderate concentration of garlic extract positively affected the number of green cuttings, average shoot length, and shoot fresh and dry weights, while the high concentration (50 g/L) was not significantly different from the moderate one or had a negative effect. In apple cuttings, the moderate concentration significantly increased the number of green cuttings, and both moderate and high concentrations led to increased number of shoots, but the use of garlic extract had no significant effects on the other traits. In sour cherry cuttings, no positive effects were observed on all the traits. In cherry cuttings, the use of garlic extract at both concentrations had slight positive effects on the number of green cuttings, total shoot length, number of shoots, mean shoot length, and length of the longest shoots (Table 1).

In this experiment, the highest number of green cuttings, total shoot length, and the longest shoot length were obtained in wild privet with 50 g/L, with the highest number of shoots and fresh shoots at 25 g/L of garlic extract. The highest number of green cuttings belonging to wild privet cuttings was not significantly different from berry cuttings treated with a moderate concentration. Also, the average shoot length was higher in poplar cuttings treated with a moderate concentration than the other cuttings (Table 1).

*Root-related traits.* In this experiment, the interaction of garlic extract concentrations × substrate and plant type was significant on total length of roots, root number, mean root length, longest root length, and root fresh and dry weights. Garlic extract at a concentration of 50 g/L had positive effects on total length of roots, root number, mean root length, longest root length, and root fresh and dry weights of rose roots. Total root length and root number were uppermost in wild privet plant at a high concentration (50 g/L). Also, the moderate concentration (25 g/l) produced the longest roots and the highest root fresh and dry weights in this plant (Table 2).

In poplar cuttings, a concentration of 25 g/l resulted in significant increases in total length of roots, root number, mean root length, longest root length, and root fresh and dry weights. There were no significant increases in root traits of sycamore cuttings with the extract application. The extract application was not useful on rooting traits in berry cuttings. Extract

## Adv. Hort. Sci., 2020 34(2): 191-204

Table 1 -	Effects of different	concentration of	garlic extract	(the culture	substrate)	on shoot-related	characteristics
-----------	----------------------	------------------	----------------	--------------	------------	------------------	-----------------

Treatments	Number of green cuttings	Total length of shoots	Number of shoots	Shoot length mean (cm)	The highest shoot length (cm)	Fresh weight (gr)	Dry weight (gr)
Plant							
Rose	0 56 fg	0 89 e	0.67 ef	0.67 ef	0 78 de	0 02 d	b 00 0
Wild privet	7 44 h	181 50 a	33.00 a	5.63 a	19 62 a	5.02 d	0.58 a
Poplar	1 78 de	21 39 d	2 78 e	4 96 b	8 17 h	0.62 c	0.03 c
Sycamore	2 33 d	2 78 e	2.78 e	0.99 e	1 72 d	0.01 d	0.01 cd
Berry	9.11 a	43.04 h	23.70 c	1 78 d	5.44 c	0.05 d	0.01 cd
Grane	7 33 h	33.22 c	11 55 c	2.62 c	8.78 h	2.58 h	0.01 cu
Annle	3.89 c	2 80 0	5 78 d	2.02 C	0.20 D	2.50 b	0 00.0
Sour cherry	1.33 of	3 89 6	2.70 d	0.86 e	0.50 de	0 00 d	0.00 d
Chorry	0.22 g	0.11 o	0.22 EI	0.30 E	0.11 o	0.00 d	0.00 d
	0.22 g	0.11 e	0.221	0.111	0.11 e	0.00 u	0.00 u
Garric extract concentrat	10n (g·L)	22.00 h	7 22 h	1 71 6	4 17 4	0.77 h	0.00 -
Control (U g.L)	3.41 D	23.80 b	7.23 D	1.71 D	4.17 D	0.77 D	0.09 a
25 g·L	4.26 a	34.98 a	9.46 a	2.88 a	6.35 a	1.01 a	0.06 b
50 g·L	3.67 0	20.44 b	7.88 D	1.11 C	4.17 D	0.70 b	0.02 C
Plant × garlic extract con	centration $(g \cdot L)$						(22.2
Rose × 0	0.00 J	0.00 g	0.001	0.00 J	h00.0	g00.0	f00.0
Rose × 25	0.67 hij	0.67 g	1.00 hi	0.50 ghij	0.50 fgh	g00.0	00.0 f
Rose × 50	1.00 ghij	2.00 g	1.00 hi	1.50 efghi	1,83 fgh	g08.0	ef 01.0
Wild privet × 0	5.00 cd	128.17 c	29.00 bc	5.47 c	17.00 c	b82.5	a72.0
Wild privet × 25	7.67 b	224.75 b	37.50 a	5.37 c	17.50 c	a47.7	b63.0
Wild privet × 50	9.67 a	255.00 a	32.67 b	6.89 b	26.75 a	d00.4	c10.0
Poplar × 0	1.00 ghij	4.67 g	1.00 hi	1.33 efghij	1-33 fgh	g05.0	f00.0
Poplar × 25	3.67 def	59.50 d	4.67 gh	13.55 a	22.67 b	e42.1	cd07.0
Poplar × 50	0.67 hij	0.00 g	2.67 ghi	0.00 j	0.50 fgh	g38.0	ef02.0
Sycamore × 0	2.67 efg	5.17 g	3.00 ghi	1.57 defgh	2.67 fg	g00.0	f00.0
Sycamore × 25	2.33 fgh	3.00 g	2.33 ghi	1.02 fghij	2.00 fgh	g00.0	f00.0
Sycamore × 50	2.00 fghi	0.17 g	3.00 ghi	0.37 hij	0.50 fgh	g05.0	def03.0
Berry × 0	8.33 ab	36.67 ef	19.67 d	1.38 defg	5.67 e	g17.0	ef02.0
Berry × 25	9.67 a	47.47 de	27.00 c	1.67 defgh	5.33 e	g00.0	f00.0
Berry × 50	9.33 ab	45.00 e	26.00 c	1.58 defg	5.33 e	g00.0	f00.0
Grape × 0	7.67 b	27.00 f	11.00 e	2.61 de	7.50 de	f91.0	cde06.0
Grape × 25	8.67 ab	38.33 ef	13.33 e	2.84 d	8.17 d	c49.4	cd08.0
Grape × 50	5.67 c	34.33 ef	10.33 ef	2.42 de	9.17 d	e78.1	cde06.0
Apple × 0	3.67 def	2.33 g	4.67 gh	0.50 ghij	0.50 fgh	0.00 g	0.00 f
Apple × 25	4.33 cde	3.17 g	6.33 fg	0.50 ghij	0.50 fgh	0.00 g	0.00 f
Apple × 50	3.67 def	3.17 g	6.33 fg	0.50 ghij	0.50 fgh	0.00 g	0.00 f
Sour cherry × 0	2.33 fgh	10.17 g	4.00 ghi	2.08 def	2.83 f	0.00 g	0.00 f
Sour cherry × 25	1.00 ghij	1.00 g	3.00 ghi	0.33 hij	0.33 fgh	0.00 g	0.00 f
Sour cherry × 50	67.0 hij	0.50 g	0.67 hi	0.17 ij	0.33 fgh	0.00 g	0.00 f
Cherry × 0	0.00 j	0.00 g	0.00 i	0.00 j	0.00 h	0.00 g	0.00 f
Cherry × 25	0.33 ij	0.17 g	0.33 hi	0.17 ij	0.17 gh	0.00 g	0.00 f
Cherry × 50	0.33 ij	0.17 g	0.33 hi	0.17 ij	0.17 gh	0.00 g	0.00 f
<i>P</i> -value							
Plant	<0.0001	<0.0001	<0.0001	<0.0001	<0.0001	<0.0001	<0.0001
Garlic extract conc.	0.0072	<0.0001	0.0001	<0.0001	<0.0001	0.0215	<0.0001
Plant × garlic extract							
concentration (g·L)	< 0.0001	< 0.0001	0.0072	< 0.0001	< 0.0001	< 0.0001	<0.0001

Mean values followed by the similar letters within a column are not significantly different from each other at  $P \le 0.05$  (Duncan's multiple range test).

Table 2 - Effects of different concentration of garlic extract (the culture substrate) on root-related traits
---

Treatments	Total length of roots	Number of roots	Root length mean (cm)	The highest root length (cm)	Fresh weight (gr)	Dry weight (gr)
Plant						
Rose	2.61 d	0.55 d	0.36 c	0.33 d	0.2 d	0.00 d
Wild privet	318.75 a	42.57 a	8.43 a	21.22 a	5.27 a	0.58 a
Poplar	29.61 c	3.33 c	4.14 b	7.12 c	0.62 c	0.03 c
Sycamore	0.83 d	0.33 d	0.17 c	0.33 d	0.01 d	0.01 cd
Berry	2.61 d	0.78 d	0.18 c	1.00 d	0.05 d	0.01 cd
Grape	73.06 b	10.12 b	4.84 b	11.00 b	2.58 b	0.06 b
Apple	0.00 d	0.00 g	0.00 c	0.00 d	0.00 d	0.00 d
Sour cherry	0.00 d	0.00 g	0.00 c	0.00 d	0.00 d	0.00 d
Cherry	0.00 d	0.00 g	0.00 c	0.00 d	0.00 d	0.00 d
Garlic extract concentration (	g·L)	-				
Control (0 g·L)	28.67 b	3.44 c	1.92 b	3.48 b	0.77 b	0.09 a
25 g·L	52.83 a	8.27 a	2.43 a	6.00 a	1.01 a	0.06 b
50 g·L	29.74 b	4.64 b	1.41 c	3.48 b	0.70 b	0.02 c
Plant × garlic extract concent	ration (q·L)					
Rose × 0	0.00 g	0.00 f	0.00 f	0.00 e	0.00 g	0.00 f
Rose × 25	0.00 g	0.00 f	0.00 f	0.00 e	0.00 g	0.00 f
Rose × 50	7.83 g	1.67 f	1.07 f	1.00 e	0.08 g	0.01 ef
Wild privet × 0	202.67 c	21.00 c	9.91 a	19.00 b	5.82 b	0.72 a
Wild privet × 25	418.25 b	56.00 b	8.68 b	28.00 a	7.47 a	0.63 b
Wild privet × 50	462.00 a	a00.67	6.71 c	16.67 b	4.00 d	0.10 c
Poplar × 0	4.33 g	f67.0	0.87 f	1.67 e	0.05 g	0.00 f
Poplar × 25	82.50 e	e33.7	10.18 a	17.33 b	1.42 e	0.07 cd
Poplar × 50	2.00 g	f00.2	0.00 f	0.00 e	0.38 g	0.02 ef
Sycamore × 0	0.00 g	0.00 f	0.00 f	0.00 e	0.00 g	0.00 f
Sycamore × 25	0.00 g	0.00 f	0.00 f	0.00 e	0.00 g	0.00 f
Sycamore × 50	1.00 g	f00.1	0.50 f	1.00 e	0.05 g	0.03 def
Berry × 0	6.50 g	f33.1	25.0 f	2.50 e	0.17 g	0.02 ef
Berry × 25	0.00 g	0.00 f	0.00 f	0.00 e	0.00 g	0.00 f
Berry × 50	0.00 g	1.00 f	0.31 f	0.50 e	0.00 g	0.00 f
Grape × 0	42.50 f	8.00 e	5.72 cd	9.50 d	0.91 f	0.06 cde
Grape × 25	96.50 d	12.50 d	3.06 e	14.00 c	4.49 c	0.08 cd
Grape × 50	80.17 e	10.67 d	4.75 d	11.00 d	1.78 e	0.05 cde
Apple × 0	0.00 g	0.00 f	0.00 f	0.00 e	0.00 g	0.00 f
Apple × 25	0.00 g	0.00 f	0.00 f	0.00 e	0.00 g	0.00 f
Apple × 50	0.00 g	0.00 f	0.00 f	0.00 e	0.00 g	0.00 f
Sour cherry × 0	0.00 g	0.00 f	0.00 f	0.00 e	0.00 g	0.00 f
Sour cherry × 25	0.00 g	0.00 f	0.00 f	0.00 e	0.00 g	0.00 f
Sour cherry × 50	0.00 g	0.00 f	0.00 f	0.00 e	0.00 g	0.00 f
Cherry × 0	0.00 g	0.00 f	0.00 f	0.00 e	0.00 g	0.00 f
Cherry × 25	0.00 g	0.00 f	0.00 f	0.00 e	0.00 g	0.00 f
Cherry × 50	0.00 g	0.00 f	0.00 f	0.00 e	0.00 g	0.00 f
P-value						
Plant	<0.0001	<0.0001	<0.0001	<0.0001	<0.0001	<0.0001
Garlic extract conc.	<0.0001	<0.0001	<0.0001	<0.0001	<0.0001	<0.0001
Plant × garlic extract concentration (g·L)	<0.0001	<0.0001	<0.0001	<0.0001	<0.0001	<0.0001

Mean values followed by the similar letters within a column are not significantly different from each other at  $P \le 0.05$  (Duncan's multiple range test).

application in grape cuttings had significant impacts on all rooting traits. Root growing was not observed in the cuttings of apple, sour cherry, and cherry. In this experiment, the highest total root length and number of roots were observed in wild privet cuttings at a high concentration and the highest mean root length was recorded in poplar cuttings at a moderate concentration. The root length and fresh weight were uppermost in wild privet cuttings with a moderate concentration of garlic extract, and the highest root dry weight was measured in the cuttings of this plant in the control treatment (Table 2).

# The effects of different concentrations of garlic extract on the cuttings

Shoot-related characteristics. The interaction of plant type and extract concentration resulted in significant impacts on the number of green cuttings, total shoot length, number of shoots, mean shoot length, longest shoot length, and fresh and dry weights of shoots. The application of garlic extract did not have positive effects on all the traits in rose cuttings. In wild privet cuttings, moderate concentration (25 g/L) could further elevate the number of green cuttings, total shoot length, number of shoots, and shoot fresh weight. The longest shoot length and shoot dry weight were observed in wild privet cuttings at high concentration treatment (50 g/L) (Table 3).

The application of garlic extract in poplar cuttings had positive effects on average shoot length and longest shoot length, with no positive impacts on the other traits. Garlic extract at moderate concentration significantly affected all shooting traits in sycamore cuttings. In berry cuttings, the use of this extract at both concentrations led to fairly positive influences on the longest shoot length and fresh and dry weights of the shoots, but no positive effects were observed on the other traits. In grape cuttings, no positive effects were observed on the traits except for the number of green cuttings at 25 g/L and dry weight of shoots at 50 g/L. There was no positive effects on the traits in garlic extract treatments of apple cuttings. Moreover, in sour cherry cuttings, only the mean shoot length was positively influenced by the moderate concentration (Table 3).

In cherry, cuttings treated with a moderate concentration had positive effects on the number of green cuttings, total shoot length, number of shoots, mean shoot length, longest shoot length, and shoot fresh weight. The highest number of green cuttings was found in berry cuttings at all concentrations. Total shoot length and number of shoots were uppermost in wild privet cuttings at moderate-level treatment. In wild privet cuttings, maximum mean shoot length occurred at a concentration of 50 g/l and the longest shoot length was obtained at both moderate and high concentrations. Also, the highest fresh and dry weight of shoots was measured in sycamore cuttings in the control (Table 3).

*Root-related traits.* Analysis of the experimental data showed that garlic extract yielded significant effects on total length of roots, number of root, mean root length, root length, and root fresh and dry weights of different cuttings. Rose plant cuttings were not rooted in any of the treatments. In wild privet cuttings, an extract concentration of 25 mg/L increased the total root length and both high and moderate concentrations produced the highest roots (Table 4).

Garlic extract treatments had no positive effects on all root traits in poplar cuttings. The application of different extract concentrations in sycamore cuttings led to no significant differences with the control. The berry, apple, sour cherry, and cherry cuttings were not rooted in this experiment. In grape cuttings, the use of garlic extract at both moderate and high concentrations produced positive impacts on the total root length, number of roots, the longest root length, and root fresh and dry weights (Table 4).

# Using different concentrations of garlic extract in the callus stage

Shoot-related characteristics. According to the results of ANOVA, the interaction of plant type and garlic extract concentrations led to significant differences in all shoot-related traits at 1% level. The highest number of green cuttings was found in wild privet, berry, and grape cuttings, but there were no significant differences between the control and treatments. A high concentration of garlic extract had a negative effect on the number of green cuttings in poplar, while it had positive effects on rose and sycamore cuttings at both garlic extract concentrations. In apple cuttings, a high concentration of garlic extract positively affected the number of green cuttings. Garlic extract had no effects on sour cherry cuttings and produced negative consequences in cherry cuttings. The highest shoot length was obtained in poplar cuttings treated with 50 g/L of garlic extract. The highest shoots were measured in poplar cuttings treated with garlic extract. There were no significant differences in the shoot length and the longest shoots in wild privet and rose cuttings with garlic extract treatments. The moderate concentration in sycamore cuttings, both concentrations in berry cut-

Table 3 -	Effects of different	concentration of	f garlic ex	tract (on the	e cuttings) (	on shoot-rela	ated characteristics
-----------	----------------------	------------------	-------------	---------------	---------------	---------------	----------------------

Treatments	Number of green cuttings	Total length of shoots	Number of shoots	Shoot length mean (cm)	The highest shoot length (cm)	Fresh weight (gr)	Dry weight (gr)
Plant							
Rose	0.33 f	0.50 e	0.44 e	0.50 d	0.44 f	0.15 d	0.01 f
Wild privet	7 78 h	111 00 a	33 25 a	3 46 b	12 78 h	8 34 h	2 23 h
Poplar	6 67 c	71 50 b	9 44 c	8 99 a	18 00 a	11 50 a	2.20 b
Svcamore	1.50 c	3.72 de	2.00 e	1.19 c	1.83 e	1.08 d	0.10 ef
Berry	10.00 a	27.11 c	20.89 b	1.34 c	3.22 d	3.77 c	1.02 d
Grape	6.55 c	30.00 c	9.78 c	3.11 b	7.05 c	8.61 b	1.19 c
Apple	1.78 e	0.69 e	1.78 e	0.28 d	0.33 f	0.16 d	0.03 ef
Sour cherry	2.89 d	6.61 d	4.67 d	1.61 c	3.31 d	0.29 d	0.20 e
Cherry	0.67 ef	0.33 e	0.67 e	0.22 d	0.22 f	0.05 d	0.01 f
Garlic extract concentration (	a.( )			0.22 0		0107 0	0.01
Control $(0 \text{ g}, 1)$	4 46	29.61 a	8 63	231 a	5.04	3 72	0.84 a
25 g.l	4.40	25.01 a 25.37 h	9.78	2.51 a	4 56	3.72	0.64 h
50 g.l	3.96	25.57 b	8 31	2.25 a	5 21	3.44	0.04.0
Diant y garlie sytract concents	J.50	10.57 C	0.51	1.40 0	5.21	5.15	0.51 a
Plant × gariic extract concenti	1 00 of a	1 50 a	1 22 :	1 50 ch	1 22 ofb	0 4F f	0.04 h
Rose × 0	1.00 eig	1.50 g	1.551	1.50 gn	1.35 gm	0.45 I	0.04 h
Rose × 25	0.00 g	0.00 g	0.001	0.00 j	0.00 h	0.00 f	0.00 h
NUSE × 50	0.00 g	0.00 g	0.001	0.00 J	11.00 c	0.00 T	1 02 4
Wild privet × 25	7.55 DC	107 92 o	25.07 C	2.02 do	12.22 hc	0.77 C	1.05 U
Wild privet × 20	0.07 dD	127.05 d	41.55 a	2.52 d	13.55 DC	10.07 D	2.50 C
Poplar × 0	7.33 DC	104.00 D	33.30 b	3.52 u	14.00 D	12 97 a	2.49 DC
Poplar × 25	7.07 DC	35.50 c	12.07 u 8 00 def	7.52 C	19.00 a	13.87 a	5.55 a 1 53 do
Poplar $\times$ 50	5.07 C	59.50 e	7.67 of a	10.10 D	19.00 a	0.93 C 8 05 h	1.55 ue
Sycamore X 0	0.50 efg	0.67 g	2.07 eig	21.10 a 10 1 ghi	20.00 a 1 50 σfb	1.22 of	2.77 b
Sycamore x 25	2.50 elg	7.33 g	2.00 mi	1 96 fg	1.50 gill	1.22 er	0.04 h
Sycamore × 50	2.07 de	7.55 g	1.00 j	0.50 ig	0.50 el	0.22 f	0.02411
Borny O	1.00 eig	0.17 g	1.00 T	0.50lj	0.50 gri	0.25 I	0.05 11
Borny × 25	10.00 a	20.07 ef	20.00 C	1.44 gii 1.70 fab	3.00 gi	1 21 d	0.84 g
Borny × 50	10.00 a	22 50 f	19.00 C	1.70 Igii	3.07 ef	4.31 U 2 08 d	1.01 lg
Grapo X 0	10.00 a	22.301	23.07 C	0.87 mj	5.00 gi	5.50 u	1.201
Grape × 0	0.33 C	20.22 of	0.08 de	3.49 d	0.33 U	0.85 C	1.13 lg
Grape × 20	6.33 c	29.55 er	11 33 de	2.40 u	6.50 d	9.17 D 9.80 h	1.00 lg
Apple × 0	2.33 def	1 17 g	2 33 hi	0.33 ii	0.30 d	0.10 f	1.55 Ei
Apple $\times 25$	2.33 def	1.17 g 0 57 g	2.33 hi	0.35 ij	0.55 gh	0.10 T	0.01 h
Apple $\times$ 50	2.55 der	0.37 g	2.55 m	0.33 i	0.50 gh	0.37 f	0.08 h
Sour cherry x 0	3 33 d	0.35 g	7.67.efg	1 44 gh	6 00 de	0.02 i 1 1/L of	0.01 h
Sour cherry x 25	2 00 defg	3 67 g	3 67 fahi	1 92 fg	2.00 fgb	0.49 f	0.20 h
Sour cherry x 50	3 33 d	5.87 g	3.67 fghi	1.52 rg	1 25 fgh	1.04 ef	0.32 h
Cherry x 0	0.33 fg	0.17 g	0.33 i	0.17 i	17.0 gh	0.04 f	0.02 h
Cherry x 25	1 33 def	0.67 g	1 33 i	0.33 ji	0 33 gh	0.17 f	0.00 h
Cherry × 50	0.33 fg	0.07 g	0.33 i	0.17 i	17 0 gh	0.01 f	0.01 h
P-value	0.00 %	0.17 8	0.001	0.17	1,10 Bil	0.011	0.0111
Plant	<0.0001	<0.0001	<0.0001	<0.0001	<0.0001	<0.0001	<0 0001
Garlic extract concentration	0 333€	0.0001	0.0001	~0.0001 0 0010	0.0001	0.0001	
Plant × garlic extract concen- tration (g.1)	<0.0001	<0.0001	<0.0001	<0.001	<0.0001	<0.0001	<0.0001

Mean values followed by the similar letters within a column are not significantly different from each other at  $P \le 0.05$  (Duncan's multiple range test).

Table 4 -	Effects of different	concentration of	f garlic extract	(on the	cuttings) o	n root-related	traits
-----------	----------------------	------------------	------------------	---------	-------------	----------------	--------

Treatments	Total length of roots	Number of roots	Root length mean (cm)	The highest root length (cm)	Fresh weight (gr)	Dry weight (gr)
Plant						
Rose	b 00 0	0 00 c	0 00 c	b 00 0	0 00 d	b 00 0
Wild privet	292 70 a	42 40 a	6 53 b	18 83 h	4 91 a	0.48 a
Poplar	171 61 b	13.87 h	11 83 a	20.87 a	1.95 c	0.16 b
Sycamore	0 33 d	0.22 c	0 15 c	0.22 d	0.03 d	0 00 d
Berry	0 00 d	0.00 c	0.00 c	0.00 d	0 00 d	0 00 d
Grape	98.39 c	13.11 b	7.17 b	17.00 c	3.77 b	0.12 c
Annle	0 00 d	0.00 c	0.00 c	0 00 d	0.00 d	0 00 d
Sour cherry	0.00 d	0.00 c	0.00 c	0.00 d	0.00 d	0.00 d
Cherry	0 00 d	0.00 c	0.00 c	0 00 d	0 00 d	b 00 0
Garlic extract concentration (a	.( )	0.000	0.00 0	0.00 4	0.00 4	0.00 4
Control (0 g-1)	-/ 46.68 b	4.40 c	3.30 a	5.54 b	1.18 a	0.08 a
25 g·l	63.30 a	7.42 a	2.60 ab	5.00 b	1.25 a	0.06 b
50 g·L	41.18 b	5.60 b	2.28 ab	6.54 a	0.83 b	0.07 b
Plant × garlic extract concentro	ation (a·L)					
Rose x 0	0.00 g	0.00 e	0.00 f	0.00 f	0.00 e	0.00 g
Rose × 25	0.00 g	0.00 e	0.00 f	0.00 f	0.00 e	0.00 g
Rose × 50	0.00 g	0.00 e	0.00 f	0.00 f	0.00 e	0.00 g
Wild privet× 0	265.50 b	42.00 a	6.33 e	16.00 d	6.99 a	0.57 a
Wild privet× 25	331.50 a	44.33 a	6.25 e	21.00 b	5.34 b	0.45 b
Wild privet× 50	203.50 c	37.00 b	6.92 e	19.50 bc	2.19 cd	0.41 c
Poplar× 0	241.00 b	15.33 c	14.24 a	24.00 a	3.15 c	0.29 d
Poplar × 25	117.67 e	4.50 d	9.82 c	18.00 cd	1.27 d	0.03 g
Poplar × 50	159.17 d	18.67 c	11.23 b	19.67 bc	1.43 d	0.18 e
Sycamore× 0	0.00 g	0.00 e	0.00 f	0.00 f	0.00 e	0.00 g
Svcamore × 25	1.00 g	0.00 e	0.44 f	0.67 f	0.00 e	0.00 g
Svcamore × 50	0.00 g	0.00 e	0.00 f	0.00 f	0.00 e	0.00 g
, Berry × 0	0.00 g	0.00 e	0.00 f	0.00 f	0.00 e	0.00 g
Berry × 25	0.00 g	0.00 e	0.00 f	0.00 f	0.00 e	0.00 g
, Berry × 50	0.00 g	0.00 e	0.00 f	0.00 f	0.00 e	0.00 g
Grape × 0	59.50 f	7.33 d	8.33 d	12.00 e	2.45 c	0.03 g
Grape × 25	119.50 e	16.33 c	6.23 e	19.00 bc	4.51 b	0.06 f
Grape × 50	116.17 e	15.67 c	7.34 de	19.67 bc	4.34 b	0.26 d
Apple × 0	0.00 g	0.00 e	0.00 f	0.00 f	0.00 e	0.00 g
Apple × 25	0.00 g	0.00 e	0.00 f	0.00 f	0.00 e	0.00 g
Apple × 50	0.00 g	0.00 e	0.00 f	0.00 f	0.00 e	0.00 g
Sour cherry × 0	0.00 g	0.00 e	0.00 f	0.00 f	0.00 e	0.00 g
Sour cherry × 25	0.00 g	0.00 e	0.00 f	0.00 f	0.00 e	0.00 g
Sour cherry × 50	0.00 g	0.00 e	0.00 f	0.00 f	0.00 e	0.00 g
Cherry × 0	0.00 g	0.00 e	0.00 f	0.00 f	0.00 e	0.00 g
Cherry × 25	0.00 g	0.00 e	0.00 f	0.00 f	0.00 e	0.00 g
Cherry × 50	0.00 g	0.00 e	0.00 f	0.00 f	0.00 e	0.00 g
P-value	5					5
Plant	<0.0001	<0.0001	<0.0001	<0.0001	<0.0001	<0.0001
Garlic extract concentration	0.0658	0.3573	0.0213	0.1200	0.0068	< 0.0001
Plant x garlic extract concon						
tration (g·L)	<0.0001	<0.0001	< 0.0001	<0.0001	<0.0001	<0.0001

Mean values followed by the similar letters within a column are not significantly different from each other at  $P \le 0.05$  (Duncan's multiple range test).

tings, and a high concentration in apple cuttings resulted in desirable effects on this trait. The effect of this extract was positive in sour cherry cuttings, and there was a negative effect on the length of shoots produced in cherry cuttings (Table 5).

The fresh weight of shoots was uppermost in wild privet cuttings treated with 25 g/L of garlic extract, which was not significantly different from that of grape cuttings at 50 g/L. Dry weight of wild privet cuttings was the highest in all treatments. The use of garlic extract increased fresh and dry weights of shoots in poplar, sycamore, and berry cuttings. In grape and apple cuttings, a high concentration of garlic extract yielded useful impacts on the fresh and dry weights of shoots while it led to negative consequences in sour cherry and cherry cuttings (Table 5). Overall, the use of garlic extract at the time of callus formation was evaluated to be positive on the shootrelated traits of sycamore, berry, and apple cuttings.

Root-related traits. Analysis of experimental data showed that different concentrations of garlic extract significantly influenced rooting characteristics of different cuttings in the callus stage at 1% level. The use of garlic extract could significantly affect the root number and length at moderate concentration and root dry weight at both concentrations in the callus stage of rose cuttings. The use of moderate concentration had a significant effect on the increase of all root traits in wild privet cuttings in the callus stage. The high concentration caused a decrease in the number of roots and an increase in root length, and the moderate concentration increased the longest root length of poplar cuttings. The use of garlic extract at this stage caused a significant decrease in fresh and dry weights of roots in poplar cuttings. Sycamore cuttings showed some increases in the root traits at the moderate concentration. Berry cuttings increased the number of roots to some extent at both concentrations. In the cuttings of this plant, the length of roots was the greatest at the moderate concentration of garlic extract and the longest root length, and root fresh and dry weights were greater at the concentration of 50 g/L. In grape cuttings, the moderate concentration increased the number of roots and the high concentration elevated root length. In the cuttings of this plant, both concentrations increased the length of the longest root and reduced root fresh and dry weights. Root growing did not occur in apple, sour cherry, and cherry cuttings (Table 6).

The highest number of rooted cuttings was observed in wild privet cuttings treated with the

moderate concentration of garlic extract, which did not differ significantly with the grape and control wild privet cuttings at the same concentration. The highest root length was obtained in wild privet cuttings treated with moderate concentration, which did not show significant differences with the cuttings treated with the high concentration. The longest roots and highest root dry weight were recorded in wild privet cuttings at moderate concentration. Poplar control cuttings gained the highest fresh weight (Table 6).

## 4. Discussion and Conclusions

According to the results of three experimental sections, it seems that the effects of garlic extract on the traits related to shoots and roots of different cuttings depend on the time of use, species type, and the extract concentration. In the first section, the use of high garlic extract concentration (50 g/l) in rose cuttings and moderate concentration (25 g/l) in wild privet, poplar, berry, grape, apple, and cherry cuttings had positive impacts. Garlic extract had no positive effects on shoot traits in sycamore and sour cherry culture substrates. In Schefflera arboricola, garlic extract application increased plant height, leaf number, and fresh and dry weights of leaves (Hanafy et al., 2012). In leguminous plants, the extract especially at high concentrations caused negative effects on growth and decreased plant height (Adeleke, 2015). Also, using a high concentration of garlic extract in the culture substrates of rose and wild privet, and moderate concentration in poplar and grape substrates had positive effects on their rooting traits. However, a high concentration of garlic extract was not effective in the rooting of sycamore, berry, apple, sour cherry, and cherry cuttings. Considering the evaluated shoot and root traits, the use of 50 g/L and 25 g/L of garlic extract was useful in rose cuttings and poplar and grape cuttings, respectively.

Garlic extract contains many allelopathic chemicals (Wang *et al.,* 2015) with a known antimicrobial and antibacterial agent (Harris *et al.,* 2001). Garlic planting in vegetable hydroponic substrates has been shown to prevent them from many diseases and to reduce the microbial population in the substrate (Liu *et al.,* 2014). The positive effects of garlic extract are more evident at low and moderate concentrations. High concentrations of garlic extract led to decreased growth of shoots and roots due to increased allelo-

## Adv. Hort. Sci., 2020 34(2): 191-204

Table 5 -	Effects of different concentrat	on of garlic extract	(in the callus stage)	) on shoot-related characteristics
-----------	---------------------------------	----------------------	-----------------------	------------------------------------

Turaturata	Number of	Shoot length	The highest	Fresh	Dry
ireatments	green	mean (cm)	snoot length	weight (gr)	weight (gr)
	cuttings	(en)	(em)	(81)	(81)
Plant					
Rose	1.22 cd	5.46 c	10.44 d	2.27 d	0.70 e
Wild privet	9.67 a	8.54 b	29.78 b	23.08 a	7.09 a
Poplar	4.89 b	18.14 a	35.14 a	13.08 b	4.76 b
Sycamore	0.78 d	2.14 de	2.44 e	0.40 de	0.08 ef
Berry	8.78 a	3.66 cd	10.33 d	5.26 c	1.43 d
Grape	8.67 a	8.41 b	15.39 c	21.81 a	2.98 c
Apple	1.22 cd	1.45 e	1.61 e	0.17 e	0.03 ef
Sour cherry	2.33 c	2.46 de	3.83 e	0.53 de	0.09 ef
Cherry	0.33 d	0.78 e	0.50 e	0.03 e	0.01 f
Garlic extract concentration (g·L)					
Control (0 g·L)	4.00	5.08	9.94 b	6.47 b	1.65 b
25 g·L	4.59	5.36	12.50 a	7.82 a	2.08 a
50 g·L	4.04	6.10	12.27 a	6.06 b	1.88 a
Plant × garlic extract concentration	n (g·L)				
Rose × 0	0.67 def	5.73 cdef	11.67 cdef	1.84 fgh	0.33 hi
Rose × 25	2.00 cdef	4.98 defg	9.00 efgh	3.19 efgh	0.92 ghi
Rose × 50	1.00 cdef	5.66 def	10.67 defg	1.79 fgh	0.84 ghi
Wild privet × 0	9.67 a	8.54 cd	30.17 b	21.34 b	6.95 a
Wild privet × 25	10.00 a	8.81 c	27.83 b	26.27 a	7.41 a
Wild privet × 50	9.33 a	8.26 cd	31.33 b	20.89 b	6.92 a
Poplar × 0	5.33 b	17.27 b	26.50 b	10.19 d	3.78 cd
Poplar × 25	6.33 b	15.03 b	37.67 a	14.92 c	5.51 b
Poplar × 50	3.00 c	21.09 a	40.00 a	13.79 c	4.66 bc
Sycamore × 0	0.00 f	0.00 i	0.00 j	0.00 h	0.00 i
Sycamore × 25	1.33 cdef	5.00 defg	5.67 ghij	0.48 gh	0.15 hi
Sycamore × 50	1.00 cdef	1.43 ghi	1.67 ji	0.73 gh	0.00 i
Berry × 0	8.33 a	3.08 efghi	5.00 fghi	3.03 de	1.14 ghi
Berry × 25	9.00 a	4.08 efgh	11.83 cdef	5.10 ef	1.35 fgh
Berry × 50	9.00 a	3.82 fghi	12.17 cdef	6.66 e	1.81 fg
Grape × 0	8.67 a	8.45 cd	17.00 c	21.71 b	3.31 de
Grape × 25	9.00 a	7.66 cde	13.67 cde	21.88 b	3.18 de
Grape × 50	8.33 a	9.13 c	15.50 cd	25.87 a	2.46 ef
Apple × 0	0.67 def	1.00 hi	0.83 ji	0.03 h	0.03 i
Apple × 25	0.67 def	1.00 hi	0.83 ji	0.06 h	0.01 i
Apple × 50	2.33 cde	3.42 fghi	3.17 hij	0.41 gh	0.06 i
Sour cherry × 0	2.00 cdef	0.67 hi	1.00 ji	0.28 gh	0.06 i
Sour cherry × 25	2.67 cd	3.54 fghi	5.33 ghij	0.49 f	0.17 hi
Sour cherry × 50	2.33 cde	3.17 fghi	5.17 ghij	0.48 gh	0.05 i
Cherry × 0	0.67 def	1.00 hi	0.83 ji	0.07 h	0.01 i
Cherry × 25	0.33 ef	1.33 ghi	0.67 j	0.03 h	0.01 i
Cherry × 50	0.00 f	0.00 i	0.00 j	0.00 h	0.01 i
<i>P</i> -value					
Plant	< 0.0001	<0.0001	< 0.0001	< 0.0001	< 0.0001
Garlic extract concentration	0.1060	0.1614	0.1060	0.0159	0.1672
Plant x garlic extract concentra					
tion (g·L)	<0.0001	<0.0001	<0.0001	<0.0001	<0.0001

Mean values followed by the similar letters within a column are not significantly different from each other at  $P \le 0.05$  (Duncan's multiple range test).

Table 6 -	Effects of different	concentration of garli	c extract (in the callu	s stage) on root-related traits
-----------	----------------------	------------------------	-------------------------	---------------------------------

Treatments	Number of roots	Root length mean (cm)	The highest root length (cm)	Fresh weight (gr)	Dry weight (gr)
Plant					
Rose	1.22 d	5.60 c	7.83 c	0.40 d	0.04 d
Wild privet	9.00 a	16.59 a	32.79 a	13.04 b	4.40 a
Poplar	3.87 c	14.91 a	24.74 b	6.31 c	0.80 c
Sycamore	0.44 ef	1.28 d	2.28 d	0.04 d	0.01 d
Berry	1.00 de	8.82 b	8.07 c	0.35 d	0.06 d
Grape	b14.8	10.09 b	26.78 b	14.65 a	2.59 b
Apple	0.00 f	0.00 d	0.00 d	0.00 d	0.00 d
Sour cherry	0.00 f	0.00 d	0.00 d	0.00 d	0.00 d
Cherry	0.00 f	b 00 0	0 00 d	0 00 d	0 00 d
Garlic extract concentration (a.1)	0.001	0.00 u	0.00 u	0.00 u	0.00 u
Control $(0 \text{ g} \cdot 1)$	2 08 h	4 22 h	7 19 h	4 45 a	0 64 b
25 g.l	3.08.2	7.09.2	12.86 a	3.57 h	0.87 a
50 g.l	2.26 h	7.05 a	12.30 a	2.27 c	0.64 b
Diant x garlic overget concentration (g	2.20 0	7.01 a	12.55 a	2.27 C	0.04 0
Plant × guine extract concentration (g	·L)	4 79 ~	7 22 0	0.25 a	0.00 ~
Rose × 0	0.07 lg	4.78 g	7.33 e	0.25 e	0.00 g
Rose × 25	2.33 e	0.02 lg	8.33 e	0.30 e	0.031
Kose × 50	0.67 fg	5.39 g	7.83 e	0.65 e	0.09 f
Wild privet× 0	9.00 ab	14.33 DC	26.50 DC	12.89 DC	3.63 D
wild privet× 25	10.00 a	19.26 a	35.67 a	13.96 b	5.06 a
Wild privet× 50	8.00 bc	16.31 ab	32.00 ab	11.89 bc	3.80 b
Poplar× 0	5.00 d	11.24 cde	17.07 d	17.24 a	1.18 d
Poplar × 25	4.50 d	14.80 b	30.67 ab	3.05 d	0.50 et
Poplar × 50	2.33 e	18.68 a	26.50 bc	2.29 de	0.73 de
Sycamore× 0	0.00 g	0.00 f	0.00 f	0.00 e	0.00 f
Sycamore × 25	1.00 fg	3.42 gh	3.83 ef	0.09 e	0.01 f
Sycamore × 50	0.33 fg	0.00 h	3.00 ef	0.02 e	0.00 g
Berry × 0	0.33 fg	0.00 h	0.00 f	0.03 e	0.03 f
Berry × 25	1.33 ef	13.90 bcd	7.50 e	0.24 e	0.03 f
Berry × 50	1.33 ef	9.62 ef	13.83 d	0.78 e	0.13 f
Grape × 0	7.00 c	9.64 ef	24.33 c	18.68 a	3.99 b
Grape × 25	9.00 ab	9.84 ef	28.00 bc	14.47 b	2.18 c
Grape × 50	7.67 c	10.80 de	28.00 bc	10.89 c	2.06 c
Apple × 0	0.00 g	0.00 h	0.00 f	0.00 e	0.00 f
Apple × 25	0.00 g	0.00 h	0.00 f	0.00 e	0.00 f
Apple × 50	0.00 g	0.00 h	0.00 f	0.00 e	0.00 f
Sour cherry × 0	0.00 g	0.00 h	0.00 f	0.00 e	0.00 f
Sour cherry × 25	0.00 g	0.00 h	0.00 f	0.00 e	0.00 f
Sour cherry × 50	0.00 g	0.00 h	0.00 f	0.00 e	0.00 f
Cherry × 0	0.00 g	0.00 h	0.00 f	0.00 e	0.00 f
Cherry × 25	0.00 g	0.00 h	0.00 f	0.00 e	0.00 f
Cherry × 50	0.00 g	h00.0	0.00 f	0.00 e	0.00 f
P-value					
Plant	<0.0001	<0.0001	<0.0001	<0.0001	<0.0001
Garlic extract concentration	<0.0001	<0.0001	<0.0001	<0.0001	0.0474
Plant × garlic extract concentration	0.000				
(g·L)	<0.0001	<0.0001	<0.0001	<0.0001	<0.0001

Mean values followed by the similar letters within a column are not significantly different from each other at  $P \le 0.05$  (Duncan's multiple range test).

pathic properties (Adeleke, 2015). One of the reasons for the failure of rooting in the cuttings is the substrate contamination to pathogenic agents and their entry into the stem, and as a result, the contamination of cuttings and failure in rooting (Hartmann *et al.,* 2002). Garlic extract is a strong disinfectant that resulted in increased rooting and improved shooting.

In the second part of the experiment, using the moderate concentration of garlic extract had positive impacts on the shoot and root traits of wild privet cuttings. Garlic extract contains auxin hormone, and immersing the tips of olive cuttings in garlic extract in combination with other natural auxins-containing substances (e.g., algae) produced the longest roots and increased the number of shoots, leaf number, mean shoot length, and dry weight of shoots (Gad and Ibrahim, 2018). The same authors reported that the compound was able to compete with IBA and no significant differences were found in these traits with those of IBA-treated olive cuttings.

In the third part of the experiment, the use of moderate-level garlic extract in the callus stage of rose and sycamore cuttings and the high concentration in the callus stage of the berry cuttings had positive effects on the shoot and root traits. There is ample evidence that garlic extract has an allelochemical property that affects cell division, absorption of water and minerals, phytohormone metabolism, respiration and photosynthesis, enzyme function, and expression of genes (Portales-Reyes *et al.*, 2015; Sadaqa *et al.*, 2016).

Biostimulators are a group of naturally occurring substances that can be applied either as spraying or at the tips of cuttings, and some of these substances increase water absorption and nutrient transfer, and stimulate growth processes, with possible hormonal properties (Dobranszki and Teixeira da Silva, 2010); a few of them had positive effects on ornamental pine propagation and rooting of ornamental plant cuttings (Shevchenko, 2008; Szabó and Hrotkó, 2009; Pacholczak et al., 2016). These substances stimulate the processes occurring in plants to increase growth. Khan et al. (2009) and Borowski (2009) reported that natural substances alter the growth and development of cells in the root system and the concentration of many substances in the plant. The mechanism of the physiological and biochemical processes of these substances remains unknown, and their information and application in horticulture and plant propagation are very limited and require further study and attention (Du Jardin, 2015; Ertani et al., 2015).

202

Many plant extracts such as coconut juice, banana pulp, potato puree, date sap, corn extract, papaya extract, and beef extract have been used in micropropagation to enhance plant growth (Islam *et al.*, 2003; Murdad *et al.*, 2010; Nambiar *et al.*, 2012; Sudipta *et al.*, 2013). The accumulation of carbohydrates, particularly simple ones (monomers), in the rooting zone is essential for rooting onset at early stages, and carbohydrate concentrations of applied natural substances had high influences on the rooting (Costa *et al.*, 2007).

Active oxygen species (ROSs) are oxygen species that destruct cells and destroy membranes and nucleic acids during such tensions as cutting and mechanical damage to cuttings. ROSs, therefore, is always present at rooting event. Biostimulators and natural substances used to increase the growth of different plants reduce the effects of various stresses on plants (Dobranszki and Teixeira da Silva, 2010). Phenolic compounds are classified into simple phenols, phenolic acids, hydroxycinnamic derivatives, and flavonoids. Researchers have reported that many phenolic compounds and flavonoids function as strong antioxidant compounds that are found abundantly in many plant extracts, including medicinal plants. The active ingredients of medicinal plants include complex chemical compounds produced and stored in the organs of medicinal plants and protect cells from oxidative damage (Lin and Harnly, 2010). The extracts of medicinal plants have many antimicrobial properties and can prevent the release of microorganisms in the culture medium and plant growth media (Radwan et al., 2015).

Considering the shoot and root traits evaluated in the three experiments, the use of 50 g/L and 25 g/L of garlic extract was useful in rose cuttings and poplar and grape cuttings, respectively. Moderate concentration (25 g/L) of garlic extract revealed positive effects on shoot and root traits of wild privet cuttings. Also, the use of moderate garlic extract had positive effects on rose, and at a high concentration (50 g/L) on sycamore cuttings and on berry cuttings in the callus stage. As a result, to improve the quantity and quality of shooting and rooting in rose cuttings, garlic extract can be used at a concentration of 50 g/L in the substrate or 25 50 g/L in the callus formation stage. A comparison of data from these two experiments indicated that the use of 25 g/L was more effective in the callous formation stage. Also, to improve the quality and quantity of shoots and roots in wild privet cuttings, garlic extract can be used at 25 g/L on the cuttings. The quality and quantity of poplar and berry cuttings can be improved by concentrations of 50 g/L and 25 g/L of garlic extract in the callus stage. No positive impacts were noticed on the other plants, or positive effects were seen only on shooting or rooting traits.

## References

- ADELEKE M.T.V., 2015 Effect of Allium sativum (garlic) extract on the growth and nodulation of cowpea (Vigna unguiculata) and groundnut (Arachis hypogea). - Afr. J. Agric. Res., 11(43): 4304-4312.
- AL MAYAHI M.Z., FAYADH M.H., 2015 The effects of garlic extract, its application methods and their interaction on growth and yield of potato, Solanum tuberosum (L.) Cv. Latonia. - Adv. Agric. Bot. Int. J. Bioflux Soc., 7(1): 59-69.
- BAI N.R., BANU N.R.L., PRAKASH J.W., GOLDI S.J., 2007 -Effects of Asparagopsis taxiformis extract on the growth and yield of Phaseolus aureus. - Int. J. Basic appl. Biol., 1(1): 6-11.
- BOROWSKI E., 2009 Response to chilling in cucumber (Cucumis sativus L.) plants treated with triacontanol and Asahi SL. - Acta Agrobot., 62:165-172.
- COSTA J.M., HEUVELINK E., POL P.A., PUT H.M.C., 2007 -Anatomy and morphology of rooting in leafy rose stem cuttings and starch dynamics following severance. -Acta Horticulturae, 751: 495-502.
- DOBRANSZKI J., TEIXEIRA Da SILVA J.A., 2010 -*Micropropagation of apple. A review.* - Biotech. Adv., 28: 462-488.
- DU JARDIN P., 2015 Plant biostimulants: Definition, concept, main categories and regulation. - Sci. Hortic., 196: 3-14.
- ERTANI A., SAMBO P., NICOLETTO C., SANTAGATA S., SCHI-AVON M., NARDI S., 2015 - *The use of organic biostimulants in hot pepper plants to help low input sustainable agriculture*. - Chem. Biol. Technol. Agric., 2(11): 1-10.
- GAD M.M., IBRAHIM M.M., 2018 Effect of IBA and some natural extracts on rooting and vegetative growth of Picual olive sucker and shoot cuttings. - Curr. Sci. Int., 7 (2): 191- 203.
- GUAN L., MURPHY A.S., PEER W.A., GAN L., LI Y., 2015 -Physiological and molecular regulation of adventitious root formation. - CRC Crit. Rev. Plant Sci., 34: 506-521.
- HANAFY M.S., SAADAWY F.M., MILAD S.M.N., ALI R.M.,
  2012 Effect of some natural extracts on growth and chemical constituents of Schefflera arboricola plants. -J. Hortic. Sci. Ornam. Plants, 4(1): 26-33.
- HARRIS J.C., COTTRELL S.L., PLUMMER S., LLOYD D., 2001 -Antimicrobial properties of Allium sativum (garlic). -Appl. Microbiol. Biotechnol., 57: 282-286.
- HARTMANN H.T., KESTER D.E., DAVIES Jr., GENEVE R.L., 2002 - *Plant propagation: Principles and practices.* -Prentice Hall International, London, UK, pp. 864.

- ISLAM M.O., RAHMAN A.R.M.M., MATSUI S., PRODHAN A.K.M.A., 2003 - Effects of complex organic extracts on callus growth and PLB regeneration through embryogenesis in the Doritaenopsis orchid. - Jarq-Jpn. Agr. Res. Q., 37(4): 229-235.
- KHAN W., RAYIRATH U.P., SUBRAMANIAN S., JITHESH M.N., RAYORATH P., HODGES D.M., CRITCHLEY A.T., CRAIGIE J.S., NORRIE J., PRITHIVIRAJ B., 2009 - Seaweed extracts as biostimulants of plant growth and development. - J. Plant Growth Regul., 28: 386-399.
- LIN L.Z., HARNLY J.M., 2010 Identification of the phenolic components of chrysanthemum flower (Chrysanthemum morifolium Ramat). - Food Chem., 120: 319-326.
- LIU T., CHENG Z., MENG H., AHMAD I., ZHAO H., 2014 -Growth, yield and quality of spring tomato and physicochemical properties of medium in a tomato/ garlic intercropping system under plastic tunnel organic medium cultivation. - Sci. Hortic., 170: 159-168.
- MURDAD R., LATIP M.A., AZIZ Z.A., RIPIN R., 2010 Effects of carbon source and potato homogenate on in vitro growth and development of Sabah's endangered orchid: Phalaenopsis gigantea. - Asia Pac. J. Mol. Biol. Biotechnol., 18(1): 199-202.
- NAMBIAR N., TEE C.S., MAZIAH M., 2012 Effects of organic additives and different carbohydrate sources on proliferation of protocorm like bodies in Dendrobium Alya Pink. - Polyolefins J. (POJ), 5(1): 10-18.
- PACHOLCZAK A., NOWAKOWSKA K., MIKA N., BORKOWS-KA M., 2016 - The effect of the biostimulator Goteo on the rooting of ninebark stem cuttings. - Folia Hortic., 28(2): 109-116.
- PORTALES-REYES C., VAN DOORNIK T., ELIZABETH H., SCHULTHEIS T.S., 2015 - A novel impact of a novel weapon: allelochemicals in Alliaria petiolata disrupt the legume-rhizobia mutualism. - Biol. Invasion, 17: 2779-2791.
- RADWAN I.N., RANDA B., HEND A.N., CAMILIA G., 2015 -Evaluation of antimicrobial effi cacy of four medicinal plants extracts used as root canal irrigant on Enterococcus faecalis: An in-vitro study. - Int. Dental Medical J. Adv. Res., 1: 1-8.
- SADAQA E., MOHAMMED S., QARI S., ALI K., 2016 -Genotoxix effect of garlic extract on root tips of Allium Cepa L. - J. Pharm Biol. Sci., 11(2): 41-44.
- SHEVCHENKO Y., 2008 Effects of biostimulators on growth and physiological reactions of vegetables - tested on cucumber (Cucumis sativus L.). - PhD. dissertation. Humboldt-Univ., Berlin, Germany, pp. 182.
- SUDIPTA K.M., SWAMY M.K., ANURADHA M., 2013 -Influence of various carbon sources and organic additives on in vitro growth and morphogenesis of Leptadenia reticulate (Wight & Arn), a valuable medicinal plant of India. - Int. J. Pharma Sci. Rev., 21(2): 174-179.
- SZABÓ V., HROTKÓ K. 2009 Preliminary results of biostimulator treatments on Crataegus and Prunus stock-

plants. - Bulletin UASVM Hort., 66: 223-228.

WANG M., WU C., CHENG Z., MENG H., 2015 - Growth and physiological changes in continuously cropped eggplant (Solanum melongena L.) upon relay intercropping with garlic (Allium sativum L.). - Front Plant Sci., 6: 262. WOJDYŁA A.T., 2004 - Chitosan (Biochikol 020 PC) in the control of some ornamental foliage diseases. -Commun Agric. Appl. Biol. Sci., 69: 705-715.





(\*) Corresponding author:

a\_mirshekari@yu.ac.ir

#### Citation:

MIRSHEKARI A., MADANI B., WALL M., BIGGS A.R., 2020 - Aloe vera coatings maintain antioxidants of fig (Ficus carica L.) fruit during storage. -Adv. Hort. Sci., 34(2): 205-212.

#### Copyright:

© 2020 Mirshekari A., Madani B., Wall M., Biggs A.R. This is an open access, peer reviewed article published by Firenze University Press (http://www.fupress.net/index.php/ahs/) and distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License, which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original author and source are credited.

#### Data Availability Statement:

All relevant data are within the paper and its Supporting Information files.

**Competing Interests:** The authors declare no competing interests.

Received for publication 16 May 2019 Accepted for publication 31 October 2019

## Aloe vera coatings maintain antioxidants of fig (*Ficus carica* L.) fruit during storage

## A. Mirshekari<sup>1(\*)</sup>, B. Madani<sup>2</sup>, M. Wall<sup>3</sup>, A.R. Biggs<sup>4</sup>

- <sup>1</sup> Department of Agronomy and Plant Breeding, Yasouj University, Yasouj, Iran.
- <sup>2</sup> Horticultural Crops Research Department, Natural Resources Research and Education Center of Hormozgan, AREEO, Bandar Abbas, Iran.
- <sup>3</sup> U.S. Department of Agriculture, Agricultural Research Service, Hilo, HI, USA.
- <sup>4</sup> West Virginia University, Tree Fruit Research and Education Center, Kearneysville, WV, USA.

Key words: coating, Ficus carica, phytochemicals, quality.

Abstract: Demand for fig fruit is increasing because of its high antioxidant capacity and health benefit for human. So, interest in maintaining bioactive components of fruit has been increased. However, antioxidant capacity of fruits decreases during storage. Fresh fruits of the well-known fig (Ficus carica L.) cultivar 'Siyah' were grown in Fars Province, Iran, treated with different concentrations of Aloe vera gel prior to being placed into cold storage. We examined fruit for firmness, soluble solids contents, anthocyanin concentrations, total phenolic compounds, flavonoid concentrations, ascorbic acid content, antioxidant activity, phenylalanine ammonia-lyase and superoxide dismutase activities. Figs coated with Aloe vera gel maintained higher firmness, anthocyanin concentrations, total phenolic compounds, flavonoid concentrations, ascorbic acid content, and antioxidant capacity than the control. Phenylalanine ammonia-lyase and superoxide dismutase activities were enhanced with Aloe vera gel treatments. The results showed that Aloe vera gel treatments could be an alternative to the current chemical protocols for preserving nutraceutical traits of fig fruit by maintaining antioxidant capacity during storage.

#### 1. Introduction

Fig fruit is an important part of the Mediterranean food and is rich in fibers and antioxidant compounds (Arvaniti *et al.*, 2019). Antioxidant compounds are rich in fruits like fig and can prevent free radical formation. Foods which are rich in phytochemicals decrease incidence of disease and maintain body healthful (Singh, 2016). For this reason, it is important to use these phytochemicals in our diet (Singh, 2016). It has been detected that anthocyanin intake can prevent heart diseases and promote anti-carcinogenic and hypoglycemic activities. Thus, high content of anthocyanin has made fig attractive for consumers. Also, figs con-

tain high level of flavonoid which reduces oxidative stress (Reyes-Avalos *et al.*, 2016). Delicate epidermal tissue, climacteric behavior and extensive softening make fig fruit susceptible to the wounding and spoilage which limit shelf life of fruit (Bahar and Lichter, 2018). Also, it has been confirmed that antioxidant activity of fruits decreases during storage (Madani *et al.*, 2016). Therefore, maintenance of antioxidants of fig fruit during storage is important, because of their health benefits for human.

Several strategies have been implemented to maintain bioactive compounds of fruit during storage. Among them, coatings are popular because of their biodegradable and non-toxic materials (Reyes-Avalos et al., 2016; Allegra et al., 2017). They provide a barrier against gas transfer, which delays ripening and improves taste and texture (Khaliq et al., 2019). The Aloe vera gel compounds are mainly polysaccharides, minerals, sugars, vitamins, and antioxidant agents like phenolic compounds (Rasouli et al., 2019). Application of Aloe vera gel has received increased attention by the food industry due to its effectiveness for increasing shelf-life of fresh products and increasing antioxidant activity (Sogvar et al., 2016). Moreover, Aloe vera gel maintained antioxidant activity of button mushrooms (Mirshekari et al., 2019) and sapota fruit (Khalig et al., 2019). However, few studies have addressed the effects of edible coatings on quality of fig under cold storage conditions. Application of alginate-chitosan decreased fungal contamination and increased firmness of fig fruit under cold storage (Reyes-Avalos et al., 2016).

Thus, the objective of this study was to determine the effects of Aloe vera gel application at different concentrations for maintaining phytochemicals of fig fruit during cold storage. We examined several beneficial phytochemicals (anthocyanin, total phenolic compound, total flavonoid concentration, and ascorbic acid), antioxidant activity, and phenylalanine ammonia-lyase and superoxide dismutase activities.

## 2. Materials and Methods

## Plant materials and treatments

Mature harvested figs (*Ficus carica* L.), cv. Siyah (black, firm with 13% soluble solids content) grown in Fars Province, Iran, were transported to the Faculty of Agriculture of Yasouj University. Mature leaves of greenhouse-grown Aloe vera plants were excised. The leaf matrix was detached from the outer cortex, and then the hydroparenchyma was mixed in a blender. The mixture was filtered through cheesecloth to remove the fibers, and the filtrate constituted fresh Aloe vera gel (Sogvar *et al.*, 2016). Defectfree fruits with uniform size and color were divided into four groups, each group received one of four treatments: 1) control (0%), 2) Aloe vera gel 1:3 (25%), 3) 1:1 (50%), and 4) 3:1 (75%). After that, all fruits were placed into plastic trays (285 x 125 x 65 mm) over-wrapped with plastic films [0.02 mm-thick polyvinyl chloride (PVC)]. Trays with fruit were stored at 2±1°C and 85-90% RH for 15 days (cold storage). Analyses were performed after 0, 3, 6, 9, 12, and 15 days of cold storage.

## Firmness, soluble solids (SSC) and ascorbic acid content

A digital fruit hardness tester (STEP Systems GmbH, Germany) with a 5-mm diameter probe was used to determine fruit firmness (expressed in Newtons (N). Five g of the homogenate of a composite sample using a kitchen blender (Nu-777, Nautiunl, Japan) with 40 mL of distilled water was used for analyses of chemical parameters (Ranganna, 1986). Then samples filtered through cotton wool. SSC was measured with a handheld refractometer (Atago-Pal1, Tokyo, Japan) and expressed as percent. Ascorbic acid content was determined using the 2, 6dichlorophenolindophenol dye titration method described by Mirshekari et al. (2017). Five g of fruit tissues homogenized in 90 ml of 3.0% metaphosphoric acid solution. An aliquot of the sample (10 ml) was titrated against 2, 6-dichlorophenolindophenol dye until a pink color persisted for 15 s and results expressed as mg ascorbic acid per 100 g of fresh weight (FW).

## Anthocyanin and flavonoid concentration (FC)

Anthocyanin content in fruit samples was measured by the pH differential method described by Hassanpour (2015). Two g of samples was added to the 20 ml of methanol containing HCl (1%). The mixture was centrifuged at 17,000 g for 15 min at 4 °C. Absorbance of supernatant was measured in a spectrophotometer (Shimadzu, USA) at 530 and 700 nm in buffers at pH 1.0 and 4.5, using following formula:

$$A = [(A_{530} - A_{700}) pH_{1.0} - (A_{530} - A_{700}) pH_{4.5}]$$

Results were expressed as mg of cyanidin-3-O-glucoside equivalents per 100 g of FW.

FC was measured according to the method described by Saba and Sogvar (2016). Extraction from four g of the sample was done using 50 ml methanol. One mL aliquot of catechin standard solution (0-100

mg L<sup>-1</sup>) or samples were added to 10 mL volumetric flasks containing 4 mL water. Initially 0.3 mL of 5% NaNO<sub>2</sub> was added to the flask, following 0.3 mL of 10% AlCl<sub>3</sub> was added after 5 min, and then 2 mL of 1 M NaOH was added to the mixture. Immediately, the solution was diluted to a final volume of 10 mL with water and mixed thoroughly. The absorbance was measured at 510 nm, using a spectrophotometer (UV/Vis Perkin Elmer, Lambda EZ201, USA) and result was expressed as mg catechin equivalents per 100 g of FW.

# Total phenolic compounds (TPC) and antioxidant activity

Fruit extract was prepared using the method described by Ong et al. (2013). Fruit tissue (2 g) was homogenized in a glass tube with 10mL of methanol (80%). The mixture was then incubated at 45°C for 1 h. For TPC measurement 0.1 mL of the crude extract solution was placed in a test tube and 0.1 mL distilled water in a test tube served as the control (blank). Then six millilitres of water was added to the sample and blank. After that, 0.5 mL undiluted Folin-Ciocalteu reagent was added to the mixtures. Between 30 s and 8 min later, 1.5 mL saturated sodium carbonate was added. Then 1.9 mL water was added to the solutions to give a final volume of 10 mL and the mixture vortexes and incubated for 2 h at 35°C. The absorption of TPC was determined at 765 nm using a spectrophotometer. A calibration standard curve was established using gallic acid. TPC was determined against the standard gallic acid calibration curve and the absorbance value was converted to mg of gallic acid equivalents (GAE) per 100 gram of fresh weight (mg GAE 100  $g^{-1}$  FW) (Ong *et al.,* 2013).

Antioxidant capacity (ferric reducing antioxidant power (FRAP) and trolox equivalent antioxidant capacity (TEAC) assays were determined spectrophotometrically, according to Benzie and Strain (1996) and Kerem *et al.* (2006), respectively. The results were expressed as Fe<sup>2+</sup> equivalents mM kg<sup>-1</sup> for FRAP and  $\mu$ M trolox equivalents for TEAC in 100 g of FW.

# *Phenylalanine ammonia-lyase (PAL) and superoxide dismutase (SOD) activities*

Fig samples were frozen in liquid nitrogen and then stored at -80°C until analysis. Each frozen sample (10 g) was ground with a mortar and pestle and used to determine PAL and SOD activity. Two g of samples was homogenized in a 4 mL solution containing 0.05 mol L<sup>-1</sup> Tris-HCl buffer (pH =7.5), 3 mmol L<sup>-1</sup> MgCl<sub>2</sub> and 1 mmol L<sup>-1</sup> EDTA at 4°C. The homogenate was then centrifuged at 25,000 g for 20 min at 4°C and the supernatant was used as the crude extract for SOD and PAL assays (Maghoumi *et al.*, 2013). Measurement of PAL activity was performed at 290 nm, according to the method described by Aghdam *et al.* (2012). PAL activity was evaluated as nM cinnamic acid h<sup>-1</sup> mg<sup>-1</sup> protein. The procedure for assay of SOD was performed using methods described by (Maghoumi *et al.*, 2013). SOD activity was assayed by measuring its ability to inhibit the photochemical reduction of nitro blue tetrazolium. The absorbance by the reaction mixture was read at 560 nm. Concentration of protein of the extracts was determined according to Bradford (1976) with bovine serum albumin as a standard. Enzyme activity was expressed as unit mg<sup>-1</sup> protein.

## Sensory evaluation

Texture, taste and overall quality of samples analyzed by ten trained panelist after 15 days at cold storage ( $2\pm1^{\circ}C$ ) and transferring fruits to the room temperature for sensory analysis. The sensory were evaluated using a hedonic scale 1-5, where 1= very poor, 2= poor, 3= fair, 4= good and 5= excellent.

## Experimental design and statistical analysis

All experiments were conducted within a completely randomized design (CRD). Data were pooled before analysis and the whole experiment was repeated three times. In each biological and technical experiment 328 fruit were used. There were four replicates per treatment in each experiment. Data were subjected to analysis of variance using the Statistical Analysis System (SAS, ANOVA procedure) version 8.2 (SAS Institute Inc., Cary, NC, USA). The means were compared with the Duncan's Multiple Range Test (DMRT) at significance level of 0.05.

## 3. Results and Discussion

## Firmness, SSC and ascorbic acid content

Firmness is the key factor of quality and which changes during ripening (Madani *et al.*, 2014). Fruit firmness was reduced during storage irrespective of treatment, but Aloe vera gel treated fruits softened more slowly (Fig. 1A). Short postharvest life of fig fruit is because of softening and epidermal cracking (Villalobos *et al.*, 2016). Aloe vera film acts as a barrier which prevents  $O_2$  uptake on fruit, thereby decreases softening and ripening processes (Hassanpour, 2015). Moreover, polygalacturonase and pectin methylesterase activity increases during ripening, and this causes fruit softening (Madani *et*  *al.*, 2014). The results are comparable with Reyes-Avalos *et al.* (2016) who indicated that alginate-chitosan coating could maintain firmness of fig fruit during storage. Aloe vera gel might decrease polygalacturonase and pectin methylesterase activity and thereby maintain firmness of fig fruit during cold storage.

There were significant differences in the SSC among treatments. SSC of control fruits increased during storage (Fig. 1B). However, Aloe vera gel treated fruits had the lowest SSC compared to the control during cold storage. The increase in SSC might be related to the solubilization of polyuronides and hemicelluloses of fruit cell walls and hydrolysis of insoluble polysaccharide into simple sugars (Tanada-Palmu and Grosso, 2005). These results are compara-



Fig. 1 - Firmness (A), soluble solid concentration (SSC) (B) and ascorbic acid content (C) values in figs (*Ficus carica* L.) 'Siyah' fruit treated with Aloe vera gel (0, 25, 50 and 75%). Fruit were stored at 2°C. Vertical bars represent standard error of means of three experiments with four replicates per experiment.

ble with Rasouli *et al.* (2019) and (Martínez-Romero *et al.*, 2017) who mentioned that Aloe vera gel reduced the SSC of orange and plum fruit, respective-ly. Aloe vera gel might decrease respiration rate and SSC in fig fruit.

During cold storage, ascorbic acid content of control fruit decreased from 24.75 mg per 100 g of FW to 7 mg per 100 g of FW (Fig. 1C). However, Aloe vera gel treated fruits maintained ascorbic acid content relative to the control. Ascorbic acid is the most important antioxidant which decreases the damage of ROS (Rasouli et al., 2019). Autoxidation causes ascorbic acid losses during storage when combines with oxygen in the air (Baraiya et al., 2015). Aloe vera gel might causes a barrier layer for gas and decreases oxidation of ascorbic acid which caused by ascorbate oxidase enzyme in the presence of oxygen (Sogvar et al., 2016). Since ascorbic acid has beneficial effect on human health, the positive effects of Aloe vera gel on maintaining ascorbic acid content of fig fruit can be interested for nutraceutical purposes.

#### Anthocyanin, FC, TPC and antioxidant capacity

Fig fruit is rich in phenolic compounds, which are responsible for antioxidant activity (Ercisli et al., 2012). Anthocyanin of non-treated fruits at harvest and after 15 days of cold storage was 11.12 and 21.45 of mg cyanidin-3-O-glucoside equivalents per 100 g FW, respectively. (Fig. 2A). Aloe vera gel 50% and 75% treatments increased anthocyanin after 15 days at cold storage relative to the control. (Fig. 2A). Moreover, FC of Aloe vera gel treatments was significantly higher than control during cold storage (Fig. 2B). TPC decreased during cold storage regardless of treatments; but TPC of treated fruits were significantly higher than that of non-treated fruits (Fig. 2C). From a biological and nutritional perspective, the antioxidant capacity of anthocyanin is important (Wang et al., 1996); therefore, maintaining anthocyanin is potentially beneficial. It has been also reported that strawberries, and bush blueberry treated with chitosan maintained higher levels of anthocyanin (Wang and Gao, 2013; Chiabrando and Giacalone, 2015).

Flavonoids are water soluble polyphenolic molecules which have health promoting effects like antioxidants, radical scavengers, anti-mutagenic, anti-inflammatory, anti-carcinogen, and anti-depressant (Singh, 2016). Moreover, with their antioxidant activity, they increase shelf life of fruits and vegetables (Ververidis *et al.*, 2007). Nair *et al.* (2018) showed higher FC in guava fruit treated with chitosan coatings. Also, (Khaliq *et al.*, 2019) indicated that Aloe vera gel treated sapodilla fruits had higher FC.

Phenols are one of the most important antioxidant compounds of fruits and vegetables. The application of coatings like Aloe vera gel might delay senescence and decrease TPC loss during storage (Rasouli *et al.*, 2019). Increase in anthocyanin, FC and TPC of fruit treated with Aloe vera gel is comparable to those reported previously by Hassanpour (2015) for raspberry fruit treated with aloe vera gel. This may be related to the persistent biosynthesis of anthocyanin, flavonoids and TPC after harvesting. Also, enzymes which are involved in biosynthesis process of TPC, flavonoids and anthocyanin like PAL might be up regulated with Aloe vera gel treatment. The higher nutraceutical compounds detected in loquat fruits coated with chitosan could be related to



Fig. 2 - Anthocyanin (A), flavonoid (B) and total phenolic concentrations (TPC) (C) values in figs (*Ficus carica* L.) 'Siyah' fruit treated with Aloe vera gel (0, 25, 50 and 75%). Fruit were stored at 2°C. Vertical bars represent standard error of means of three experiments with four replicates per experiment.

the lower ROS due to the long-time physiological stress of storage (Petriccione *et al.*, 2015). Therefore, Aloe vera treated fruit might have a protective effect on nutraceutical compounds in delaying their oxidative processes and bio-transformation during storage.

Figs treated with Aloe vera gel had higher antioxidant activity during cold storage, which indicated by TEAC and FRAP. However, antioxidant activity of control fruit decreased during storage (Fig. 3A-B). Serrano et al. (2006) observed that Aloe vera gel treatment increased antioxidant activity in grape. It was supposed that antioxidant activity of Aloe vera gel is related to aloe-emodin, a hydroxyanthraquinone present in Aloe vera gel leaves and extracts (Serrano et al., 2006). Therefore, higher antioxidant capacity observed in Aloe vera gel treated fig fruit could be related to the biochemical components of Aloe vera extract. Association was stated between the bioactive compounds and antioxidant activity, with the coated samples recording higher antioxidant activity (Anraku et al., 2011).



Fig. 3 - Antioxidant capacity with trolox equivalent antioxidant capacity (TEAC) (A) and ferric reducing antioxidant power (FRAP) (B) in figs (*Ficus carica* L.) 'Siyah' fruit treated with Aloe vera gel (0, 25, 50 and 75%) during cold storage at 2°C. Vertical bars represent standard error of means of three experiments with four replicates per experiment.

#### PAL and SOD

PAL activity in treated fruits increased during storage when compared with the control (Fig. 4). This indicates that Aloe vera gel treatment activated enzymes that are important in biosynthetic pathways of secondary metabolites of fruit. PAL is the first enzyme in phenylpropanoid pathway which catalyzes conversion of phenylalanine to trans-cinnamic acid and plays an important role in phenolic compounds biosynthesis (Hassanpour, 2015). PAL connects primary metabolism (shikimic acid pathway) to secondary metabolism (phenylpropanoid pathway) (Razavi and Hajilou, 2016). The results are comparable with Hassanpour (2015) who demonstrated that PAL activity in raspberry fruit increased when treated with Aloe vera gel. We suggest that Aloe vera gel treatment might be an efficient strategy for maintaining phenolic content in fig fruit via activation of PAL.



Fig. 4 - Phenylalanine ammonia-lyase (PAL) activity in figs (*Ficus carica* L.) 'Siyah' fruit treated with Aloe vera gel (0, 25, 50 and 75%) during cold storage at 2°C. Vertical bars represent standard error of means of three experiments with four replicates determinations per experiment.

SOD activity of non-treated figs was reduced during storage. However, SOD activity increased from day 3 to 6 in cold storage and decreased afterward when treated with Aloe vera gel (Fig. 5). Superoxide dismutases (SODs) which are metalloenzymes, are believed to play a crucial role in antioxidant defense because they catalyze the dismutation of  $O_2^-$  to  $H_2O_2^-$ . However, defensive action of SOD against  $O_2^-$ shows age-related changes. Higher SOD activity of Aloe vera coating treatments have been associated with cold storage stress tolerance fruit because it neutralizes the reactivity of the superoxide radical, which is over produced under stress (Bowler *et al.*, 1992). These results are comparable with Sun *et al.* (2010) who reported that SOD activity in litchi fruit treated with chitosan was higher than control fruit. These results have suggested that Aloe vera gel treatment might maintain TPC, FC and anthocyanin of fig fruit by increasing activity PAL and SOD enzymes.

#### Sensory evaluation

According to the judges, postharvest Aloe vera application did not have any negative effect on texture, taste and overall quality of fig (Fig. 6). The positive effect has an important role for consumers to buy the fruit. These results are in agreement with Song *et al.*, 2013 in which Aloe vera gel coated fresh cut apple had higher score than un-coated fruits.



Fig. 5 - Superoxide dismutase (SOD) activity in figs (*Ficus carica* L.) 'Siyah' fruit treated with Aloe vera gel (0, 25, 50 and 75%) during cold storage at 2°C. Vertical bars represent standard error of means of three experiments with four replicates determinations per experiment.



Fig. 6 - Sensory evaluation in figs (*Ficus carica* L.) 'Siyah' fruit treated with Aloe vera gel (0, 25, 50 and 75%) after transferring from 15 days in cold storage to the ambient temperature.

Thus, these results revealed that Aloe vera coting could decrease the loss of the sensory characteristics of fruit.

## 4. Conclusions

This research indicated that Aloe vera gel plays a positive role in maintaining TPC, anthocyanins, FC and antioxidant than control fruit. We conclude that Aloe vera gel treatment could be a useful alternative to the current chemical protocols for preserving nutraceutical traits of fig fruit by maintaining antioxidant capacity during storage.

## Acknowledgements

The authors would like to acknowledge Yasouj University for providing facilities for this experiment.

## References

- AGHDAM M.S., ASGHARI M., FARMANI B., MOHAYEJI M., MORADBEYGI H., 2012 - Impact of postharvest brassinosteroids treatment on PAL activity in tomato fruit in response to chilling stress. - Sci. Hortic., 144: 116-120.
- ALLEGRA A., SORTINO G., INGLESE P., SETTANNI L., TODARO A., GALLOTTA A., 2017 - The effectiveness of Opuntia ficus-indica mucilage edible coating on postharvest maintenance of 'Dottato' fig (Ficus carica L.) fruit. - Food Packag. Shelf Life, 12: 135-141.
- ANRAKU M., FUJII T., KONDO Y., KOJIMA E., HATA T., TABUCHI N., MARUYAMA T., 2011 - Antioxidant properties of high molecular weight dietary chitosan in vitro and in vivo. - Carbohydr. Polym., 832: 501-505.
- ARVANITI O.S., SAMARAS Y., GATIDOU G., THOMAIDIS N.S., STASINAKIS A.S., 2019 - Review on fresh and dried figs: Chemical analysis and occurrence of phytochemical compounds, antioxidant capacity and health effects. - Food Res. Int., 119: 244-267.
- BAHAR A., LICHTER A., 2018 Effect of controlled atmosphere on the storage potential of Ottomanit fig fruit. -Sci. Hortic., 227: 196-201.
- BARAIYA N.S., RAO T. V.R., THAKKAR V.R., 2015 -Improvement of postharvest quality and storability of jamun fruit (Syzygium cumini L. Var. Paras) by zein coating enriched with antioxidants. - Food Bioprocess Tech., 11: 2225-2234.
- BENZIE I.F., STRAIN J.J., 1996 The ferric reducing ability of plasma (FRAP) as a measure of "antioxidant power": the FRAP assay. Anal. Biochem., 239: 70-76.
- BOWLER C., MONTAGU M.V., INZE D., 1992 Superoxide dismutase and stress tolerance. Annu. Rev. Plant Biol.,

43: 83-116.

- BRADFORD M.M., 1976 A rapid and sensitive method for the quantitation of microgram quantities of protein utilizing the principle of protein-dye binding. - Anal. Biochem., 72: 248-254.
- CHIABRANDO V., GIACALONE G., 2015 Anthocyanins, phenolics and antioxidant capacity after fresh storage of blueberry treated with edible coatings. - Int. J. Food Sci. Nutr., 66: 248-253.
- ERCISLI S., TOSUN M., KARLIDAG H., DZUBUR A., HADZIAB-ULIC S., ALIMAN Y., 2012 - Color and antioxidant characteristics of some fresh fig (Ficus carica L.) genotypes from Northeastern Turkey. - Plant Foods Hum. Nutr., 67: 271-276.
- HASSANPOUR H., 2015 Effect of Aloe vera gel coating on antioxidant capacity, antioxidant enzyme activities and decay in raspberry fruit. - LWT-Food Sci. Technol., 60: 495-501.
- KEREM Z., BILKIS I., FLAISHMAN M.A., SIVAN L., 2006 -Antioxidant activity and inhibition of α-glucosidase by trans-resveratrol, piceid, and a novel trans-stilbene from the roots of Israeli Rumex bucephalophorus L. - J. Agric. Food Chem., 54: 1243-1247.
- KHALIQ G., RAMZAN M., BALOCH A.H., 2019 Effect of Aloe vera gel coating enriched with Fagonia indica plant extract on physicochemical and antioxidant activity of sapodilla fruit during postharvest storage. - Food Chem., 286: 346-353.
- MADANI B., MIRSHEKARI A., YAHIA E., 2016 Effect of calcium chloride treatments on calcium content, anthracnose severity and antioxidant activity in papaya fruit during ambient storage. - J. Sci. Food Agric., 96: 2963-2968.
- MADANI B., MOHAMED M.T.M., WATKINS C.B., KADIR J., AWANG Y., SHOJAEI T.R., 2014 - Preharvest calcium chloride sprays affect ripening of Eksotika II'papaya fruits during cold storage. - Sci. Hortic., 171: 6-13.
- MAGHOUMI M., GÓMEZ P.A., MOSTOFI Y., ZAMANI Z., ARTÉS-HERNÁNDEZ F., ARTÉS F., 2013 - Combined effect of heat treatment, UV-C and superatmospheric oxygen packing on phenolics and browning related enzymes of fresh-cut pomegranate arils. - LWT-Food Sci. Technol., 54: 389-396.
- MARTÍNEZ-ROMERO D., ZAPATA P.J., GUILLÉN F., PAL-ADINES D., CASTILLO S., VALERO D., SERRANO M., 2017 - The addition of rosehip oil to Aloe gels improves their properties as postharvest coatings for maintaining quality in plum. - Food Chem., 217: 585-592.
- MIRSHEKARI A., MADANI B., GOLDING J.B., 2017 -Suitability of combination of calcium propionate and chitosan for preserving minimally processed banana quality. - J. Sci. Food Agric., 97: 3706-3711.
- MIRSHEKARI A., MADANI B., GOLDING J.B., 2019 Aloe vera gel treatment delays postharvest browning of white button mushroom (Agaricus bisporus). - J. Food Meas. Charact., 13: 1250-1256.

NAIR M.S., SAXENA A., KAUR C., 2018 - Effect of chitosan

and alginate based coatings enriched with pomegranate peel extract to extend the postharvest quality of guava (Psidium guajava L.). - Food Chem., 240: 245-252.

- ONG M.K., FORNEY C.F., ALDERSON P.G., ALI A., 2013 -Postharvest profile of a Solo variety 'Frangi' during ripening at ambient temperature. - Sci. Hortic., 160: 12-19.
- PETRICCIONE M., PASQUARIELLO M.S., MASTROBUONI F., ZAMPELLA L., DI PATRE D., SCORTICHINI M., 2015 -Influence of a chitosan coating on the quality and nutraceutical traits of loquat fruit during postharvest life. - Sci. Hortic., 197: 287-296.
- RANGANNA S., 1986 Handbook of analysis and quality control for fruit and vegetable products. - Tata McGraw Hill Publishing Co. Ltd., New Delhi, India, pp. 1112.
- RASOULI M., SABA M.K., RAMEZANIAN A., 2019 Inhibitory effect of salicylic acid and Aloe vera gel edible coating on microbial load and chilling injury of orange fruit. -Sci. Hortic., 247: 27-34.
- RAZAVI F., HAJILOU J., 2016 Enhancement of postharvest nutritional quality and antioxidant capacity of peach fruits by preharvest oxalic acid treatment. - Sci. Hortic., 200: 95-101.
- REYES-AVALOS M.C., FEMENIA A., MINJARES-FUENTES R., CONTRERAS-ESQUIVEL J.C., AGUILAR-GONZÁLEZ C.N., ESPARZA-RIVERA J.R., MEZA-VELÁZQUEZ J.A., 2016 -Improvement of the quality and the shelf life of figs (Ficus carica) using an alginate-chitosan edible film. -Food Bioprocess Technol., 9: 2114-2124.
- SABA M.K., SOGVAR O.B., 2016 Combination of carboxymethyl cellulose-based coatings with calcium and ascorbic acid impacts in browning and quality of freshcut apples. - LWT-Food Sci. Technol., 66: 165-171.
- SERRANO M., VALVERDE J.M., GUILLÉN F., CASTILLO S., MARTÍNEZ-ROMERO D., VALERO D., 2006 - Use of Aloe vera gel coating preserves the functional properties of

table grapes. - J. Agric. Food Chem., 54: 3882-3886.

- SINGH S., 2016 Enhancing phytochemical levels, enzymatic and antioxidant activity of spinach leaves by chitosan treatment and an insight into the metabolic pathway using DART-MS technique. - Food Chem., 199: 176-184.
- SOGVAR O.B., SABA M.K., EMAMIFAR A., 2016 Aloe vera and ascorbic acid coatings maintain postharvest quality and reduce microbial load of strawberry fruit. -Postharvest Biol. Technol., 114: 29-35.
- SONG H.Y., JO W.S., SONG N.B., MIN S.C., SONG K.B., 2013 - Quality change of apple slices coated with Aloe vera gel during storage. - J. Food Sci., 78: C817-C822.
- SUN D., LIANG G., XIE J., LEI X., MO Y., 2010 Improved preservation effects of litchi fruit by combining chitosan coating with ascorbic acid treatment during postharvest storage. - African J. Biotechnol., 9: 3272-3279.
- TANADA-PALMU P.S., GROSSO C.R., 2005 Effect of edible wheat gluten-based films and coatings on refrigerated strawberry (Fragaria ananassa) quality. - Postharvest Biol. Technol., 36: 199-208.
- VERVERIDIS F., TRANTAS E., DOUGLAS C., VOLLMER G., KRETZSCHMAR G., PANOPOULOS N., 2007 -Biotechnology of flavonoids and other phenylpropanoid-derived natural products. Part I: Chemical diversity, impacts on plant biology and human health. -Biotechnol. J., 2(10): 1214-1234.
- VILLALOBOS M.D.C., SERRADILLA M.J., MARTÍN A., LÓPEZ CORRALES M., PEREIRA C., CÓRDOBA M.D.G., 2016 -Preservation of different fig cultivars (Ficus carica L.) under modified atmosphere packaging during cold storage. - J. Sci. Food Agric., 96: 2103-2115.
- WANG H., CAO G., PRIOR R.L., 1996 Total antioxidant capacity of fruits. J. Agric. Food Chem., 44: 701-705.
- WANG S.Y., GAO H., 2013 Effect of chitosan-based edible coating on antioxidants, antioxidant enzyme system, and postharvest fruit quality of strawberries (Fragaria x ananassa Duch.). - LWT-Food Sci. Technol., 52: 71-79.





(\*) Corresponding author: m.tadayon@areeo.ac.ir

#### Citation:

TADAYON M.S., HOSSEINI S.M., 2020 - Effect of spread and shallow irrigation wetted area and application of organic mulch on citrus decline amelioration. - Adv. Hort. Sci., 34(2): 213-221.

#### Copyright:

© 2020 Tadayon M.S., Hosseini S.M. This is an open access, peer reviewed article published by Firenze University Press (http://www.fupress.net/index.php/ahs/) and distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License, which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original author and source are credited.

#### Data Availability Statement:

All relevant data are within the paper and its Supporting Information files.

**Competing Interests:** The authors declare no competing interests.

Received for publication 1 January 2020 Accepted for publication 5 May 2020

## Effect of spread and shallow irrigation wetted area and application of organic mulch on citrus decline amelioration

## M.S. Tadayon (\*), S.M. Hosseini

Soil and Water Research Department, Agricultural Research, Education and Extension Organization (AREEO), Shiraz, Iran.

Key words: Citrus decline, fibrous root, irrigation, orange, root decay.

Abstract: Citrus decline threatens the orchards in the southern part of Iran. Roots begin to die-out before citrus decline deterioration. In this study, the effect of expanding the irrigation wetted area and decreasing the irrigation depth, and application of compost as organic mulch on root development and amelioration of citrus decline in Valencia orange trees (Citrus sinensis L. Osbeck) was investigated. Experimental factors contained the different percentage of irrigation wetted area and decreasing irrigation effective root depth by drip irrigation system at three levels - W0 (control): 30-40% with 60 cm effective root depth; W1: 50-60% with 45 cm effective root depth; W2: 70-80% with 30 cm effective root depth under tree canopy area and the factor of annual application of compost as organic mulch at two levels - M0 (control): means no application of compost and M1: application of 80 kg compost under tree canopy area with 10 cm thickness as ground cover, after rotating the top soil at 10 cm depth for all treatments. The results showed that, annual application of compost as organic mulch under tree canopy area and expanding the irrigation wetted area with decreasing irrigation effective root depth, significantly improved fibrous root length and density at a lower soil depth and decreased the indices of citrus decline such as root rot percentage, leaf and fruit drop and shoot die back. Also these treatments increased the water productivity and fruit quality of in declining Valencia orange trees.

## 1. Introduction

Citrus decline, commonly known as 'dieback', 'chlorosis' or neglectosis, is not a specific disease but a syndrome expressing many disorders in the plant. Such syndrome leads to decline in productivity, reduced productive life and poor fruit quality. The symptoms of citrus decline contain root rot and blackening, shoot die back, growth stunt, fruit drop, reduction of canopy, smaller leaf number and size and leaf blotchy mottle (Meena *et al.*, 2018). Stress-sensitive trees fail to maintain sufficient carbohydrate availability resulting in the dieback of the stressed tissues (Kreuzwieser and Rennenberg, 2014). Also, the percentage of total soluble solids and fruit juices in healthy trees is more than declined trees (Mauk and Shea, 2002). Declining trees have more water stress and more affected trees tend to have higher percentage leaf and fruit drop rates than healthy appearing trees. Soil condition and water status (water stress and water logging) significantly reduce the citrus fibrous root density and increase the severity of citrus decline (Kozlowski, 1997; Graham *et al.*, 2013; Morgan, 2015; Graham, 2017).

Citrus decline is an issue that threatens the economy of various regions of the world, including southern Iran. There are several factors that affect the incidence of this complication. The most important influential factors on citrus decline are environmental stresses such as soil physicochemical conditions (compaction, high pH, bicarbonate, salinity) and soil nutritional status (Srivastava and Singh, 2009), soil moisture content (water stress and water logging with deficit or over irrigation), and biological stresses including rootstock, nematodes, Greening disease (Huanglongbing), Tristesa virus disease, phytophthora fungal infection and root fusarium (Johnson and Graham, 2015; Graham, 2017; Meena et al., 2018; Dewdney et al., 2019). According to the USDA, since 2004-2005 total Florida citrus production declined by Greening disease from 169.1 to 94.2 million boxes in 2015-2016, down 44.4% (USDA, 2017).

The ideal environment for citrus root development is a porous, medium-textured, well-drained soil, where water is easily available but not in excess (Dewdney et al., 2019). Mulching with organic matter helps retain moisture in the top soil by reducing surface evaporation, as well as moderating soil surface temperatures. It also enhances the decomposition process of soil organic matter and improve the soil aeration and availability of nutrients in the soil (Gong et al., 2006; FAO, 2011). Increasing root water uptake efficiency and life span is possible by irrigation management such as time and duration (decrease water stress and water logging), also improving the growth environment and drainage, soil compaction, soil thermal stress, bicarbonate and osmosis stress (Huber and Haneklaus, 2007; Dewdney et al., 2019). Increased root density also increases water uptake (Morgan *et al.*, 2006).

In arid and semi-arid regions, the application of drip irrigation system results in root accumulation under emitter (Fernandez *et al.*, 1991; Tanasescu and Paltineanu, 2004; Ruiz-Sanchez *et al.*, 2005), so the expansion of irrigation wetted area could enhance the fibrous root density under declining condition. Increasing irrigation frequency and decreasing irriga-

tion depth stimulate root length density and increase water uptake and under these conditions, irrigation at the field capacity increases root density by 50% (Kadyampakeni *et al.*, 2014 a).

In citrus decline new root growth did not stop, but the root survival time was reduced from 9 to 12 months to 4 months and the root decay and dieback were increased (Dewdney et al., 2019). Citrus decline cause water stress and under such condition root growth is preferable to shoot growth (Hsiao and Xu, 2000). Root development dependent on soil aeration and moisture as two fundamental parameters for root healthiness, growth and distribution. Root growth in sandy and loamy soils with higher organic matter content is stronger, and increment in soil clay content has a negative relationship with the density of citrus roots (Koudounas, 1994) and the slope of clay content in soil profile is directly related to the effect of citrus decline deterioration (Srivastava and Singh, 2009). In citrus, the highest fibrous length densities were observed in the humid part of the soil at a depth of 0 to 15 cm with higher root activity until 2 m horizontal distance from the trunk (Alves et al., 2012). The rate of soil water depletion is directly related to the abundance of fibrous roots and in general pattern of water uptake in citrus fruits indicates that water is drained by surface roots with higher amounts of available soil water (Noling, 2003).

Lack of soil aeration and excessive soil moisture causes more severe damage than lack of moisture in declining trees, due to stop breathing and the breakdown of root cells. There is also the growth of anaerobic microenvironments and the production of substances such as nitrite that is toxic for the roots. Centralize wetted area and excessive irrigation results in water logging, oxygen deficiency and root fungal infestationin the root zone (Johnson and Graham, 2015). Deficit irrigation and soil water stress stimulates longitudinal and singular growth without lateral roots and repeated moisture stress causes thicker fibrous roots in citrus that could decrease the water uptake efficiency by the citrus roots (Castle, 1978). Increment of soil aeration and soil moisture distribution and retention could provide the better condition for root development and amelioration of citrus decline. So in this experiment, the effects of spreading irrigation wetted area and decreasing irrigation depth, and annual application of compost as organic mulch on root development and diminishing of citrus decline indices in Valencia orange was investigated.

## 2. Materials and Methods

The experiment was conducted in a commercial orchard (28°38'13.12" N, 54°40'29.69" E and altitude 1138 m) of Darab region, with very hot and dry climate (Table 1), located in south west of Fars province in Iran, over three consecutive years 2016 to 2018. Ninty-six uniform 12-year-old Valencia orange trees (*Citrus sinensis* L. Osbeck), on lime (*Citrus aurantifolia*) rootstock with citrus decline symptoms (sparse foliage, chlorotic leaves, twig drying, premature leaf fall, reduced productivity and fruit size and die-back canopy complication) were selected based on canopy diameter and labeled based on experimental plan. The distance between the trees was 4×5 m and irrigated by drip irrigation system with a loop contained 6 emitters (4 liters per hour).

Before the application of experimental treatments, a composite soil sample were taken from 0-30 and 30-60 cm depths in Oct. 2014 (Table 2). Soil samples characteristics were determined at analytical laboratory of Soil and Water Research Department, Fars Agricultural and Natural Resources Research and Education Center, Zarghan, Iran. The soil of the experimental field site was calcareous with high pH, high total neutralizing value, and low amount of organic carbon, available P and Mn (Table 2). The fertilizer application was conducted based on soil test and contained fertigation of ammonium sulfate (21-0-0-24S, 450 g tree<sup>-1</sup>), potassium sulfate (0-0-53+17S, 150 g tree<sup>-1</sup>) and triple superphosphate (450 g tree<sup>-1</sup>), manganese sulfate (32Mn, 18S, 250 g tree<sup>-1</sup>) and iron chelate (200 g tree<sup>-1</sup> sequestrene 138-Fe EDDHA 6%, 150 g tree<sup>-1</sup>).

A Factorial (3×2) experiment was conducted in a randomized complete block design with four replications and each plot with four declining trees over three years. Experimental factors contained the different percentage of irrigation wetted area and decreasing irrigation effective root depth by drip irrigation system at three levels as follows:

• W0 (control)= 30-40% with 60 cm effective root depth;

- W1= 50-60% with 45 cm effective root depth;
- W2= 70-80% with 30 cm effective root depth under tree canopy area.

Also, the factor of annual application of compost as organic mulch at two levels:

- M0 (control) = means no application of compost;
- M1= application of 80 kg compost with 10 cm thickness as ground cover under tree canopy area.

	Temperature (°C)				Relativ	ve humio	dity (%)	Precipitation (mm) Evap (mr			Evapo. (mm)	vapo. Sunny No. (mm) day day		Max wind (m s- <sup>1</sup> )		
	Min	Max	Ave.	Abs. Min	Abs. Max	Min	Max	Ave.	Amount	No. rainy	Max daily	(montly sum)	(montly sum)	frost	Direc. degree	Velo. m/s
April	11.5	26.4	19.0	3.8	34.7	26	70	48	32.50	6	43.70	182.0	276.0	0	253	13
May	16.7	33.6	25.2	9.4	41.6	16	51	34	6.46	2	24.80	286.6	331.4	0	240	15
June	21.6	39.3	30.4	15.6	44.4	11	37	24	1.10	1	9.60	382.8	356.6	0	200	14
July	25.5	41.7	33.6	15.4	46.5	12	38	25	0.92	1	5.80	428.3	341.3	0	171	15
August	26.2	40.9	33.6	19.2	45.2	14	40	27	5.76	2	20.50	422.3	339.8	0	207	16
September	21.9	38.5	30.2	16.2	42.6	14	44	29	0.82	1	4.70	336.0	327.5	0	180	10
October	16.0	33.6	24.8	7.6	38.8	16	48	32	0.32	1	2.60	228.4	308.0	0	226	10
November	10.4	26.5	18.5	2.0	33.5	22	62	42	8.48	2	50.20	138.2	269.6	0	249	8
December	5.7	20.1	12.9	-2.2	30.0	32	76	54	40.25	5	51.80	79.1	234.9	0	207	7
January	3.8	17.0	10.4	-2.6	25.6	36	81	58	64.77	6	65.40	64.4	226.1	3	205	8
February	5.0	17.7	11.3	-2.6	25.8	35	81	58	49.88	6	68.20	79.3	238.4	1	240	10
March	8.0	21.8	14.9	0.2	31.6	30	74	52	37.26	7	63.00	116.7	241.1	0	238	12

Table 1 - Long-term mean of climatic elements of the study area (Darab) synoptic meteorological station statistical period (1997-2018)

Table 2 - Soil characteristics in the experimental orchard

Soil depth	Bulk density (g cm <sup>-*</sup> )	Field capacity (%)	Wilting point (%)	EC (dS.m <sup>-1</sup> )	рН	TNV (%)	OC (%)	P (mg kg <sup>-1</sup> )	K (mg kg <sup>-1</sup> )	Zn (mg kg <sup>-1</sup> )	Mn (mg kg <sup>-1</sup> )	Cu (mg kg <sup>-1</sup> )	Soil texture
0-30	1.25	19.5	10.3	1.32	8.15	35.2	0.76	7.3	264.5	0.76	3.12	0.57	Sandy loam
30-60	1.28	19.3	10.4	1.36	8.16	37.7	0.62	7.2	252.4	0.62	3.19	0.56	Sandy loam

Compost applied 50 cm away from the trunk of the tree and over the soil surface, after rotating the soil at 10 cm depth for all treatments in March of each year. The physico-chemical properties of the applied compost contained organic carbon (22%), total nitrogen content (1.5%), C/N ratio (15), P<sub>2</sub>O<sub>5</sub> (0.8%), K<sub>2</sub>O (0.7%), electrical conductivity (6.4 dS. m<sup>-1</sup>), pH (7.6), moisture content (12%), density (380 kg.m<sup>-3</sup>), particle diameter (6 mm). The amount of irrigation wetted area was adjusted by increasing the number of emitters (6, 9 and 12 per loop with 4 liters per hour discharge) and the irrigation interval was determined by placing tensiometers (Irrometer Tensiometer Model SR Manual Gauge 12 in) deep down at three irrigations effective root depth (60, 45 and 30 cm, respectively) according to the irrigation experimental factor. Each year in February, the composite soil sample were taken from 0-10 cm and the percentage of soil organic matter, porosity and bulk density (g cm<sup>-3</sup>) were determined. The amount of organic matter was measured by weight loss of ovendried (105°C) soil sample after loss on ignition at 400°C. To determine the porosity of the samples, divide the pore space volume by the total volume and multiply the result by 100. Soil bulk density was determined by the weight of dry soil divided by the total soil volume. The amount of consumed irrigation water was measured by contours in each treatment. Over the three seasons, the indices of citrus decline were determined on tagged main branches on each tree quadrates. At the late spring, new flush lengths and the percentage of shoot dieback were measured. Leaf and fruit drop percentage were determined by counting their number at two separate time (after June drops and pre-harvest time). Leaf samples (contain 100 leaves) were collected during July-August from fully expanded new flush sub-terminal leaves from non-fruiting from tagged branches. Total chlorophyll content was determined by the method worked out by Lichtenthaler (1987). Leaf fresh weight  $(W_{i})$ were recorded quickly using an analytical balance (Mettler Toledo AL104, Switzerland). Then, they were dried at 120°C in a circulation oven for 20 minutes, and the temperature dropped to 80°C until the constant weight (dry weight, W<sub>d</sub>) was reached. Then the leaf relative water content (RWC) was calculated as:

Leaf relative water content (%) = [(Wf - Wd)/Wf] x 100

Individualleaf areas (LA) were determined by Licor leaf area meter, and sample were dried and specific leaf weights, SLW (mg cm<sup>-2</sup>) were measured as:

Specific leaf weight (mg cm-<sup>2</sup>) = Wd/LA

Root sampling was carried out under emitters from depth of 30, 45 and 60 cm soil depth, based on the effective root depth considered in the irrigation experimental factor, by auger (diameter 9 cm and height 25 cm), in Early-August (Alves *et al.*, 2012). After washing the root samples, length, weight and number of fibrous root with less than 0.2 cm diameter was determined by digital ruler and weight scale, and length density (cm cm<sup>-3</sup>), density (mg cm<sup>-3</sup>) and the percentage of decayed fibrous root were determined in the soil sample volume harvested by auger (1589.6 cm<sup>3</sup>) (Alves *et al.*, 2012).

At the harvesting time total fruit yield per trees was determined by the scale. A random sample of 50 fruits per plot was provided to determine fruit diameter (average of two perpendicular diameters), total soluble solids, pH and titratable acidity of the juice. Total soluble solids (Brix) were determined by using hand refractometer (WYT portable model) and juice total acid was measured by titration method with 0.1 N sodium hydroxide until pH meter reads 8.2 (Graham, 2017). Fruit juice percentage was calculated by fruit juice weight divided by fruit total weight. Water productivity (kg m<sup>-3</sup>) was calculated based on the yield of trees to the amount of consumed irrigation water. The data set was auto scaled before analysis. All the parameters for three years were subjected to combine analysis of variance (ANOVA) by MSTAT-C software. Means were compared by Duncan's multiple range test and Pearson correlation were determined by SPSS software.

#### 3. Results

The results of the combine analysis of variance (ANOVA) over three consecutive seasonal growths from 2016 to 2018, indicated that there was a significant effect of experimental factors on improvement of citrus decline deterioration indices in Valencia orange (Tables 4-8). Annual application of compost as organic mulch and adding them to 10 cm top soil in the following years had significant effect on the increment of soil organic matter and soil porosity up to 170.45, 13.18% respectively, and decreasing soil bulk density by 11.98% at 10 cm soil depth in comparison with control (without application of compost as mulch) (Table 3).

Annual application of compost as organic mulch significantly increased the fibrous roots length density and fibrous roots density of Valencia orange trees by 34.63 and 38.27% respectively. Also the interac-

		-	
	Soil organic	Soil	Bulk
Treatments	matter	porosity	density
	(%)	(%)	(g cm- <sup>3</sup> )
W0M0	1.42 ± 0.12 b	42.05 ± 1.21 b	1.49 ± 0.04 a
W1M0	1.24 ± 0.14 b	41.86 ± 1.32 b	1.43 ± 0.04 a
W2M0	1.30 ± 0.10 b	42.42 ± 1.15 b	1.42 ± 0.05 a
W0M1	3.38 ± 0.07 a	47.08 ± 1.01 a	1.31 ± 0.06 b
W1M1	3.84 ± 0.08 a	48.51 ± 1.02 a	1.27 ± 0.07 b
W2M1	3.50 ± 0.07 a	47.39 ± 0.93 a	1.24 ± 0.06 b

Table 3 - Effects of experimental treatments on 10 cm top soil organic matter, porosity and bulk density over three consecutive seasonal growths from 2016 to 2018

tion between expansion the percentage of irrigation wetted area along with and decreasing irrigation effective root depth with annual application of compost as organic mulch (W1M1 and W2M1), significantly increased the fibrous root density up to 87.09 and 112.9% and decreased the root decay by 43.23 and 46.48% at a lower soil depth respectively in comparison with control (W0M0) (Table 4).

Table 4 -Effects of experimental treatments on root characteristics of declining Valencia orange over three consecutive seasonal growths from 2016 to 2018

Treatments	Fibrous roots length density (cm cm -³)	Fibrous root density (mg cm- <sup>3</sup> )	Root decay (%)
W0M0	0.043 ± 0.003 d	0.31 ± 0.08 d	66.24 ± 6.21 a
W1M0	0.054 ± 0.002 c	0.48 ± 0.06 c	53.72 ± 8.60 b
W2M0	0.056 ± 0.002 c	0.49 ± 0.06 c	54.25 ± 7.32 b
W0M1	0.066 ± 0.003 b	0.53 ± 0.04 bc	48.07 ± 7.56 b
W1M1	0.065 ± 0.004 b	0.58 ± 0.04 b	37.60 ± 8.14 c
W2M1	0.075 ± 0.003 a	0.66 ± 0.03 a	35.45 ± 8.81 c

Mean separation ( $\pm$  SD) within columns followed by different letters are significantly different at *P*≤0.05 using Duncan's new multiple range tests.

In comparison with control (without compost as mulch), application of compost as organic mulchsignificantly increased the total leaf chlorophyll content and new flushes length up to 36.3 and 29.67% respectively and decreased leaf and fruit drop (Table 5, 6) and shoot dieback by 40.21, 38.18 and 40.59%, respectively (Table 5), in declining Valencia orange trees, respectively. Increment the irrigation wetted area percentageand decreasing the effective root depth for irrigation, significantly increased leaf chlorophyll contentand flush lengthand reduced leaf and fruit drop and shoot dieback. The interaction between the expansion of irrigation wetted area with annual application of compost as organic mulch (W1M1 and W2M1) had the highest impact on the increment of total leaf chlorophyll contentup to 58.62 and 62% and flush length by 75.78 and 80.9% and decreasing leaf drop 56.17 and 71.1%, fruit drop by 44.62 and 63.3% and shoot dieback by 56.3, 76.44%, respectively, in comparison with control (W0M0).

Leaf relative water content, specific leaf weight, fruit diameter and tree yield increased with annual application of compost as organic mulchanddeveloping the irrigation wetted area (Table 6). The interaction between irrigation wettedarea and annual application of compost as organic mulch (W1M1 and W2M1) had the highest impact on the increment of leaf relative water content up to 11.91 and 14.25% and specific leaf weight up to 18.75 and 22.66%, respectively, in comparison with control (W0M0) (Table 6). Also Fruit diameter significantly increased by increment of wetted area and application of mulch by 15.9 and 14.11%, respectively (Table 6).

The highest yield of Valencia orange trees was belonged to the interaction between irrigation wetted area of 70-80% with 30 cm effective root depth for irrigation and application of compost mulch

Table 5 - Effects of experimental treatments on vegetative growth indices of declining Valencia orange over three consecutive seasonal growths from 2016 to 2018

Treatments	Total leaf chlorophyll content (mg g- <sup>1</sup> FW)	Flush length (cm)	Leaf drop (%)	Shoot dieback (%)
W0M0	0.29 ± 0.03 d	24.82 ± 2.31 d	35.30 ± 1.12 a	35.70 ± 2.11 a
W1M0	0.34 ± 0.02 c	35.53 ± 3.78 c	27.63 ± 1.53 b	29.62 ± 3.10 b
W2M0	0.36 ± 0.01 c	38.35 ± 3.81 b	21.30 ± 1.71 c	17.60 ± 2.27 d
W0M1	0.42 ± 0.03 b	39.47 ± 3.15 b	24.70 ± 1.92 bc	25.25 ± 2.15 c
W1M1	0.46 ± 0.02 a	43.63 ± 2.80 a	15.45 ± 1.65 d	15.60 ± 2.84 d
W2M1	0.47 ± 0.02 a	44.90 ± 2.66 a	10.20± 1.86 e	8.41 ± 1.90 e

Mean separation ( $\pm$  SD) within columns followed by different letters are significantly different at  $P \le 0.05$  using Duncan's new multiple range tests.

Mean separation ( $\pm$  SD) within columns followed by different letters are significantly different at *P*≤0.05 using Duncan's new multiple range tests.

(Table 7). Annual application of compost as organic mulch had significant effect on the reduction of consumed irrigation water by 17.39% in comparison with control (without mulch). The interaction between irrigation wetted area and annual application of compost as organic mulch (W1M1 and W2M1) had the highest impact on the increment of water productivity up to 53.06 and 49.79% respectively, in comparison with control (W0M0), and there was no significant difference between them (Table 7). Expansion of irrigation wetted area and decrease effective root depth for irrigation under the condition of compost mulch applicationhad the greatest effect on water productivity in Valencia orange. Annual application of compost as organic mulch significantlyincreased the fruit juice content by 11.98%, total soluble solids (Brix) by 10.96%, Brix/Titratable acidity ratio by 24.52% in declining Valencia orange trees. Fruit acidity was significantly reduced by annual application of mulch. Increment of irrigation wetted area percentage significantly, increased fruit juice and brix/titratable acidity ratio. The interaction between increased irrigation wetted area with mulch application (W1M1 and W2M1), resulted in the highest increase in fruit juice percentage by 35.43 and 34%, total soluble solidsby 23 and 26.36% and brix/titratable acidity ratio by 49.6 and 57.6%, respectively in comparison with control (W0M0) (Table 8).

 Table 6 Effects of experimental treatments on the leaf relative water content, specific leaf weight, fruit drop and fruit diameter of declining Valencia orange over three consecutive seasonal growths from 2016 to 2018

Treatments	Leaf relative water content (%)	specific leaf weight (mg cm-²)	Fruit drop (%)	Fruit diameter cm)
W0M0	83.50 ± 5.30 d	3.84 ± 0.12 d	31.15 ± 1.10 a	7.23 ± 0.10d
W1M0	89.64 ± 5.24 c	4.12 ± 0.08 c	25.12 ± 1.32 b	7.58 ± 0.08 c
W2M0	91.25 ± 4.22 bc	4.36 ± 0.07 bc	21.84 ± 1.25 bc	8.20 ± 0.07 b
W0M1	88.36 ± 5.75 c	4.04 ± 0.09 cd	19.61 ± 1.74 c	7.71 ± 0.08 c
W1M1	93.45 ± 4.12 ab	4.56 ± 0.06 ab	17.25 ± 2.11 c	8.38 ± 0.06 a
W2M1	95.48 ± 4.53 a	4.71 ± 0.06 a	11.43 ± 2.73 d	8.25 ± 0.07 ab

Mean separation ( $\pm$  SD) within columns followed by different letters are significantly different at  $P \le 0.05$  using Duncan's new multiple range tests.

 Table 7 Effects of experimental treatments on the leaf characteristics, fruit quantity and water productivity of declining Valencia orange over three consecutive seasonal growths from 2016 to 2018

Treatments	Total tree yield (kg)	Consumed irrigation water (m³ ha-¹ year-¹)	Water productivity (kg m-³)
W0M0	62.33 ± 2.14 e	11625.28 ± 136.58 c	2.45 ± 0.11 c
W1M0	71.05 ± 2.71 d	13857.14 ± 122.61 b	2.39 ± 0.16 c
W2M0	83.10± 1.50 c	14631.67 ± 121.25 a	2.66 ± 0.14 bc
W0M1	68.47 ± 2.43 d	10363.64 ±136.84 d	3.01 ± 0.12 b
W1M1	89.40± 1.37 b	10904.76 ± 132.70 d	3.75 ± 0.11 a
W2M1	94.40± 1.15 a	11869.57 ± 126.39 c	3.67 ± 0.12 a

Mean separation ( $\pm$  SD) within columns followed by different letters are significantly different at  $P \le 0.05$  using Duncan's new multiple range tests.

Table 8 - Effects of experimental treatments on the fruit quality indices of declining Valencia orange over three consecutive seasonal growths from 2016 to 2018

Treatments	Fruit juice (%)	Titratable acidity (g 100-1 ml)	Total soluble solids (Brix)	Brix/Titratable acidity ratio
W0M0	42.64 ± 2.02 d	1.16 ± 0.01 a	9.56 ± 0.61 d	8.94 ± 0.22 f
W1M0	48.80 ± 1.81 c	0.94 ± 0.03 b	11.13 ± 0.35 c	10.26 ± 0.19 e
W2M0	53.71 ± 1.60 b	0.95 ± 0.02 b	11.87 ± 0.24 b	11.87 ± 0.17 c
W0M1	47.65 ± 2.17 c	0.82 ± 0.02 c	12.29 ± 0.73 a	11.23 ± 0.18 d
W1M1	57.75 ± 1.61 a	0.74 ± 0.03 d	11.76 ± 0.40 b	13.37 ± 0.15 b
W2M1	57.14 ± 1.55 a	0.84 ± 0.03 c	12.08 ± 0.37 b	14.09 ± 0.14 a

Mean separation ( $\pm$  SD) within columns followed by different letters are significantly different at  $P \le 0.05$  using Duncan's new multiple range tests.

Results showed that fibrous root density had a significant negative correlation with leaf drops (r= -0.791) and shoot dieback (r= -0.612) (Table 9). Also fibrous root density had positive and significant correlation with flush length (r= 0.624), leaf water content (r= 0.732) and specific leaf weight (r= 0.631). The root decay percentage had significant negative correlation with leaf chlorophyll content (r= -0.643), flush length (r= -0.632), leaf water content (r= -0.603), leaf specific weight (r= -0.638), yield (r= -0.691), water productivity (r= -0.602), and Brix/TA (r= -0.684). Also there was a positive and significant correlation between the percentage of root decay with leaf drops (r= 0.784), shoot dieback (r= 0.692), and fruit drops (r= 0.704) (Table 9). Specific leaf weight had positive and significant correlation with leaf chlorophyll content (r= 0.482) (Table 9). There was a negative correlation between fruit drops and relative water content of leaves (r= -0.774). Tree water productivity had a positive and significant correlation with the leaf chlorophyll content (r= 0.612), leaf relative water content (r= 0.766), and specific leaf weight (r= 0.677) (Table 9).

## 4. Discussion and Conclusions

Citrus decline was directly related to root decay and decreasing of fibrous root density and root expansion in Valencia orange trees. Tree performance is a function of how the root system is distributed over a large volume of soil to absorb water and nutrients (Lehmann, 2003). In arid and semi-arid regions, the highest density of fibrous roots in the drip irrigation system is located under the emitters and soil wetted area (Ciancio and Mukerji, 2008; Alves *et al.*, 2012). The rate of water adsorption by the tree is reduced when the soil oxygen level is low (Levy, 1998; Boman *et al.*, 1999) and the most influential soil condition on citrus decline are soil moisture condition (Meena *et al.*, 2018), and soil compaction (Srivastava and Singh, 2009). Root development is related to the hydrophilicity of roots, soil aerationand distribution of soil moisture (Ruiz-Sanchez *et al.*, 2005).

Our results showed that Application of compost as organic mulch and rotating them with 10 cm topsoil improved soil physical properties such as soil organic matter, porosity and bulk density which could provide the best conditions for root development. This treatment could increase the soil aeration and soil moisture retention at topsoil, as two key factors for root health and growth (Boman and Parsons, 2002; Nelson *et al.*, 2008; Johnson and Graham, 2015). Meanwhile, it could reduce surface evaporation, moderate soil surface temperatures and provide the best condition for root development for declining Valencia orange trees. Application of organic mulches on Eureka lemon (*Citrus limon* Burm) significantly increased the soil moisture status in various soil

Table 9 - Pearson correlation coefficients between the means of citrus decline indices of Valencia orange over three consecutive seasonal growths from 2016 to 2018

	Chlorophyll content	Flush length	Leaf drop	Shoot dieback	LRWC <sup>1</sup>	SLW <sup>2</sup>	Fruit drop	Fruit diameter	Yield	Water productivity	Brix/TA.	Fibrous roots density	Fibrous roots length density	Root decay
Chlorophyll content	1.00													
Flush length	0.64 **	1.00												
Leaf drop	-0.51 *	-0.64 **	1.00											
Shoot dieback	-0.55 *	-0.74 **	0.78 **	1.00										
LRWC	0.54 *	0.64 **	-0.77 **	-0.75 **	1.00									
Fruit drop	-0.66 **	-0.25 NS	0.67 **	0.64 **	-0.71 **	-0.69 **	1.00							
Fruit diameter	0.43 *	0.49 *	-0.52 *	-0.51 *	0.52 *	0.53 *	-0.53 *	1.00						
Yield	0.59 **	0.65 **	-0.76 **	-0.67 **	0.66 **	0.60 **	0.26 NS	0.75 **	1.00					
Water	0 61 **	0 50 *	0.75 **	0 65 **	0 77 **	0 60 **	0.75.**	0 70 **	0 70 **	1.00				
productivity	0.01	0.50	-0.75	-0.05	0.77	0.00	-0.75	0.78	0.78	1.00				
Brix/T.A.	0.63 **	0.52 *	-0.70 **	-0.68 **	0.15 NS	0.57 **	-0.66 **	0.13 NS	0.57 **	0.46 *	1.00			
Fibrous roots density	0.71 **	0.62 **	-0.79 **	-0.61 **	0.73 **	0.63 **	-0.71 **	0.64 **	0.70 **	0.71 **	0.62 **	1.00		
Fibrous roots length density	0.58 *	0.48 *	-0.59 **	-0.54 *	0.68 **	0.59 **	-0.54 *	0.61 **	0.62 **	0.59 **	0.52 *	0.78 **	1.00	
Root decay	-0.64 **	0.63 **	0.78 **	0.69 **	-0.60 **	-0.64 **	0.70 **	-0.66 **	-0.69 **	-0.60 **	-0.68 **	-0.64 **	-0.71 **	1.00

<sup>1</sup> Leaf relative water content.

<sup>2</sup> Specific leaf weight.

\*, \*\* significant at 5 and 1% statistical levels respectively; NS = not significant.

depths and farmyard manure were found to be more effective in producing maximum growth extension (Kumar et al., 2015). The irrigation wetted area, also affect citrus root system development and distribution (Alves et al., 2012). In our experiment, the expansion of irrigation wetted area and reduction the effective root depth for irrigation with annual application of compost as organic mulchand its rotation in the 10 cm soil depth, increased the fibrous root length and root densityat lower soil depths and decreased root decay in Valencia orange trees. Also, leaf relative water content, specific leaf weight and fruit diameter in Valencia orange significantly increased with developing the irrigation wetted area. Increment of fibrous root length and root density at lower soil depths with decreasing the irrigation depth and consequent improvement of tree water status were in agreement with the results that showed more root distribution in the drip irrigation method was at the depth of 15 cm, with high water uptake efficiency (Kadyampakeni et al., 2014 b). Annual application of compost as organic mulch significantly decreased the consumed irrigation water in Valencia orange trees. Increasing soil organic carbon improve the healthy root system of citrus (Sharma et al., 1986). There was a positive and significant correlation between leaf relative water content and leaf chlorophyll content (r= 0.540), and flush lengths (r= 0.643) and a significant negative correlation between leaf water content and leaf drops (r= -0.771), and shoot dieback (r= -0.748) (Table 8). It has been shown that clementine 'Nules' vegetative growth and fruit size was higher with increasing numbers of emitters on the double drip-lines treatments (Abouatallah et al., 2012).

We conclude that annual application of compost as organic mulch under tree canopy area and its rotation at 10 cm soil depth at following years and expanding the irrigation wetted area and decreasing the irrigation effective root depth, significantly improved the indices of citrus decline and increased the water productivity and fruit quality in Valencia orange trees.

## Acknowledgements

The authors greatly appreciate Mr. Mojtaba Dadgar who provided the commercial orchard for this experiment and Fars Agricultural Research, Education and Extension center.

## References

- ABOUATALLAH A., SALGHI R., EL-FADL A., AFFI N., GHNIZAR Y., ZARROUK A., HAMMOUTI B., 2012 -Impact assessment of drippers distribution around the tree on soil moisture, roots and fruits growth of Citrus. -Der Pharma Chemica., 4.5: 1969-1981.
- ALVES J. Jr., BANDARANAYAKE W., PARSONS L.R., EVANGE-LISTA A.W., 2012 - Citrus root distribution under water stress grown in sandy soil of central Florida. -Engenharia Agrícola, 32(6): 1109-1115.
- BOMAN B., LEVY Y., PARSONS L., 1999 Water management, pp. 72-81. In: TIMMER L.W., and L.W. DUNCAN (eds.) Citrus health management. APS press, Am. Phytopath. Soc., St. Paul. MN, USA, pp. 221
- BOMAN B., PARSONS L.R., 2002 Evapotranspiration, pp. 163-174. - In: BOMAN B. (ed.) Water and Florida citrus: use, regulation, irrigation, systems, and management. University of Florida Cooperative Extension Service, Institute of Food and Agriculture Sciences.
- CASTLE W.S., 1978 Citrus root systems: their structure, function, growth, and relationship to tree performance. - Proc. Inter. Soc. Citriculture, pp. 62-69.
- CIANCIO A., MUKERJI K.G., 2008 Integrated management of diseases caused by fungi, phytoplasma and bacteria. Vol. 3. Springer Science & Business Media, pp. 74-75.
- DEWDNEY M., EVAN M., JOHNSON G., GRAHAM J.H. Jr., 2019 - [33 CG022] Brown rot of fruit. - EDIS, pp. 107971.
- FAO, 2011 Training manual for (healthy and productive mandarin tree) combating citrus decline problem in Nepal. - Food And Agriculture Organization of United Nations, Rome, Italy, TCP/NEP/3302(D).
- FERNÁNDEZ J.E., MORENO F., CABRERA F., ARRUE J.L., MARTÍN-ARANDA J., 1991 - Drip irrigation, soil characteristics and the root distribution and root activity of olive trees. - Plant and Soil, 133(2): 239-251.
- GONG D., KANG S., ZHANG L., DU T., YAO L., 2006 A twodimensional model of root water uptake for single apple trees and its verification with sap flow and soil water content measurements. - Agric. Water Manag., 83(1-2): 119-129.
- GRAHAM J., 2017 Horticultural factors that contribute to tolerance of citrus to Huanglongbing (HLB). -Fruticultura 2017 Symposium, October 18, Univ. Florida Citrus Research and Education Center.
- GRAHAM J.H., JOHNSON E.G., GOTTWALD T.R., IREY M.S., 2013 - Presymptomatic fibrous root decline in citrus trees caused by Huanglongbing and potential interaction with Phytophthora spp. - Plant Disease, 97(9): 1195-1199.
- HSIAO T.C., XU L.K., 2000 Sensitivity of growth of roots versus leaves to water stress: biophysical analysis and relation to water transport. - J. Exp. Bot., 51(350): 1595-1616.
- HUBER D.M., HANEKLAUS S., 2007 Managing nutrition to

control plant disease. - Landbauforschung Völkenrode, 57(4): 313.

- JOHNSON E.G., GRAHAM J.H., 2015 Root health in the age of HLB. Citrus Ind., 98: 14-18.
- KADYAMPAKENI D.M., MORGAN K.T., SCHUMANN A.W., NKEDI-KIZZA P., 2014 a - Effect of irrigation pattern and timing on root density of young citrus trees infected with Huanglongbing disease. - HortTechnology, 24(2): 209-221.
- KADYAMPAKENI D.M., MORGAN K.T., SCHUMANN A.W., NKEDI-KIZZA P., OBREZA T.A., 2014 b - Water use in drip-and microsprinkler-irrigated citrus trees. - Soil Sci. Soc. Amer. J., 78(4): 1351-1361.
- KOUDOUNAS C., 1992 Soil-citrus relationship studies in Cyprus. - Inter. Symp. Current Developments in Mediterranean Tropical and Subtropical Fruit Production and Research, 365: 147-150.
- KOZLOWSKI T.T., 1997 *Responses of woody plants to flooding and salinity.* Tree physiology, 17(7): 490-519.
- KREUZWIESER J., RENNENBERG H., 2014 Molecular and physiological responses of trees to waterlogging stress.
  Plant, Cell & Environ., 37(10): 2245-2259.
- KUMAR V., BHAT A.K., SHARMA V., GUPTA N., SOHAN P., SINGH V.B., 2015 - Effect of different mulches on soil moisture, growth and yield of Eureka lemon (Citrus limon burm) under rainfed condition. - Indian J. Dryland Agricultural Research and Development, 30(1): 83-88.
- LEHMANN J., 2003 Subsoil root activity in tree-based cropping systems, pp. 319-331. - In: ABE J.J. (ed.) Roots: The dynamic interface between plants and the earth. Springer, Dordrecht, Germany, pp. 460.
- LEVY Y. 1998 *Citrus irrigation*, pp. 113-126. In: EL-OTMANI M., and A. AIT-OUBAHOU (eds.) *Nouveaux acquis de la recherche en agrumiculture*. Inst. Agronomique Veterinaire Hassan II Agadir Morocco.
- LICHTENTHALER H.K., 1987 Chlorophylls and carotenoids: pigments of photosynthetic biomembranes. - Methods Enzymol., 148: 350-382.

- MAUK P.A., SHEA T., 2002 Questions and answers to citrus management. - University of California, County of Riverside and U.S. Department of Agriculture Cooperating.
- MEENA A.K., DUTTA F., MARAK M.C., MEENA R.K., 2018 -Citrus decline. - Int. J. Curr. Microbiol. App. Sci., 7(4): 1-9.
- MORGAN K.T., 2015 Improved citrus nutrient uptake by modification of irrigation water quality, soil water content and soil. - Soil Water Sci., University of Florida, USA.
- MORGAN K.T., OBREZA T.A., SCHOLBERG J.M., PARSONS L.R., WHEATON T.A., 2006 - *Citrus water uptake dynamics on a sandy Florida Entisol.* - Soil Sci. Soc. Amer. J., 70(1): 90-97.
- NELSON S.D., UCKOO R.M., ESQUIVEL H., ENCISO J.M., JONES K., 2008 - Compost effects in "Rio Red" grapefruit production on a heavy textured soil. - Dynamic Soil, Dynamic Plant, 2: 67-71.
- NOLING J.W., 1993 Citrus root growth and soil pest management practices. - University of Florida Cooperative Extension Service, Institute of Food and Agriculture Sciences, EDIS, USA.
- RUIZ-SÁNCHEZ M.C., PLANA V., ORTUÑO M.F., TAPIA L.M., ABRISQUETA J.M., 2005 - Spatial root distribution of apricot trees in different soil tillage practices. - Plant and Soil, 272(1-2): 211-221.
- SHARMA O.N., GUPTA K.R., GUPTA R.K., 1986 Soil status of healthy and chlorotic orchards of Jammu. - Res. Dev. Rep., 3(14): 41-44.
- SRIVASTAVA A.K., SINGH S., 2009 Citrus decline: Soil fertility and plant nutrition. - J. Plant Nutr., 32(2): 197-245.
- TANASESCU N., PALTINEANU C., 2004 Root distribution of apple tree under various irrigation systems within the hilly region of Romania. - Inter. Agrophysics, 18(2): 175-180.
- USDA, 2017 *Florida Citrus statistics.* United States Department of Agriculture, FL, USA.





(\*) Corresponding author: antonio@ufsj.edu.br

#### Citation:

STEIDLE NETO A.J., LOPES D.C., SILVA W.A., 2020 - Feasibility of Vis/NIR spectroscopy to detect and estimate fungicide residues on intact lettuces -Adv. Hort. Sci., 34(2): 223-232.

#### Copyright:

© 2020 Steidle Neto A.J., Lopes D.C., Silva W.A. This is an open access, peer reviewed article published by Firenze University Press (http://www.fupress.net/index.php/ahs/) and distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License, which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original author and source are credited.

#### Data Availability Statement:

All relevant data are within the paper and its Supporting Information files.

#### **Competing Interests:**

The authors declare no competing interests.

Received for publication 20 February 2020 Accepted for publication 13 May 2020

## Feasibility of Vis/NIR spectroscopy to detect and estimate fungicide residues on intact lettuces

## A.J. Steidle Neto (\*), D.C. Lopes, W.A. Silva

Federal University of São João del-Rei, Campus Sete Lagoas, Sete Lagoas, Minas Gerais, Brazil.

Key words: dithiocarbamate, *Lactuca sativa* L., multivariate data analysis, spectral reflectance.

Abstract: Pesticides are applied repeatedly to grain, fruit, and vegetable crops for protection against pathogens, pests, and weeds, in short periods of time before harvest. The effective and fast monitoring of chemical residues in agricultural products is important for the assurance of healthy food. This study was accomplished to evaluate the feasibility to detect and estimate the concentration of dithiocarbamate fungicide (mancozeb) residues on intact lettuce leaves based on Vis/NIR spectral reflectance measurements and multivariate data analysis. In the pre-harvest interval, a high initial rate of decline of dithiocarbamate residues was observed between one and seven days after pesticide spraying (decrease of 90.3%), while a slower decline was verified from seventh to fourteenth day (decrease of 8.7%). The usefulness of this spectrometric method has been evidenced by determination of dithiocarbamate residues at concentrations between 0.23 and 10.3 mg CS, kg<sup>-1</sup>, with detection and quantitation limits of 0.49 and 1.41 mg CS, kg<sup>-1</sup>, respectively. Vis/NIR spectral reflectance combined to the partial least square analysis have potential to be applied for estimating dithiocarbamate concentrations on intact lettuce leaves, presenting advantages such as real-time measurements and the possibility to be built into the industrial processing lines.

## 1. Introduction

Consumers demand grain, fruits, and vegetables with high sensorial and nutritional qualities, but without pesticides. Although the correct use of fungicides does not cause problems of public concern in health and environmental areas, undesirable residues can remain on agricultural products after harvest if inappropriate or abusive treatments are applied without respecting safety recommendations indicated by the specialized agencies and manufacturers (López-Fernández *et al.*, 2013).

In modern agriculture, pesticides are applied repeatedly to grain, fruit, and vegetable crops for protection against pathogens, pests, and weeds, in short periods of time before harvest (Jankowska *et al.*, 2019). The main exposure to pesticides for humans is via food, especially by consumption of agricultural products.

Introduced between 1940 and 1980, dithiocarbamate fungicides still represent an important class of pesticides widely used in agriculture. They are characterized by a broad spectrum of activity against various plant pathogens, low acute mammal toxicity, and low production costs (Crnogorac and Schwack, 2009). However, laboratory studies showed that dithiocarbamates can result in neuropathology, thyroid toxicity, and developmental toxicity to the central nervous system (IPCS, 1993; Caldas *et al.*, 2006).

Mancozeb is an ethylene-bis-dithiocarbamate used as fungicide to protect fruit and vegetable crops from a range of fungal diseases (Pereira *et al.*, 2014) and was considered a multipotent carcinogenic agent in a long-term study (Belpoggi, 2002). This fungicide is registered to 38 food crops, occupy the third place in the ranking of the most commercialized pesticides in Brazil in terms of tones of active ingredient (ANVISA, 2018; IBAMA, 2018).

Caldas *et al.* (2006) reported data obtained from the Program on Pesticide Residue Analysis in Food (PARA), coordinated by the Brazilian National Sanitary Surveillance Agency (ANVISA), about dithiocarbamate residues on 34% of lettuce samples in a total of 297 analyzed, based on vegetable samples collected from 2001 to 2004. In another Brazilian study, accomplished from 2005 to 2015, Jardim *et al.* (2018) showed that 14.6% of 1483 lettuces presented dithiocarbamate residues. López-Fernández *et al.* (2013) verified the presence of mancozeb and other dithiocarbamate residues on 72% of lettuce samples collected at Spain, with some samples containing residues three times higher than the maximum limit (5 mg kg<sup>-1</sup>).

Various methods have been improved for the determination of dithiocarbamate residues, including gas and/or liquid chromatography, often in conjunction with mass spectrometry (Crnogorac and Schwack, 2009). These current methods requiring sample preparation (destructive), time consuming, and laboratory labor demanding, well-trained personnel and relatively expensive process chemistry. They also produce chemical and sample waste, which adversely affects product traceability by preventing real-time decision-making (Salguero-Chaparro *et al.*, 2013; Steidle Neto *et al.*, 2017). Although more sensitive, these methods are suitable for spot checks.

The reasons for Vis/NIR spectroscopy great success as one of the most important and versatile techniques in analytical chemistry include its speediness and easiness to handle and provide molecular specific information for different types of samples in any physical state, with little or no previous chemical treatment (Gonzálvez et al., 2011). However, one possible drawback is the range of concentration of the target analyte. Pesticide residues tend to have very small concentrations in foods. Despite this, previous studies proved the feasibility of spectroscopy to detect and quantify low concentrations of analytes in fruits and vegetables (Saranwong and Kawano, 2005; Gonzálvez et al., 2011; Acharya et al., 2012). Nevertheless, very few published studies have addressed the use of Vis/NIR spectroscopy for predicting pesticides residues in harvested intact samples. The scientific researches of Sánchez et al. (2010), for peppers, and Jamshidi et al. (2016), for cucumbers, reported estimates of pesticides without pre-treatment or preparation of samples. This advantage allows that spectroscopy technique can be built into the processing line, enabling large-scale individual analysis and real-time decision-making. Another recent technique for trace level detection of pesticides is the Surface Enhanced Raman Spectroscopy (SERS), that use noble metal nanostructures (e.g. gold) to increase the weak signals from analytes. But, SERS requires spectrometer, laser source, probe, sample holder, and substrates that are more expensive when compared with spectral reflectance equipment.

The present scientific research was carried out to evaluate the feasibility to detect and estimate the concentration of dithiocarbamate fungicide residues on intact lettuce leaves based on Vis/NIR spectral reflectance measurements and multivariate data analysis.

## 2. Materials and Methods

## Lettuce cultivation

Lettuce (*Lactuca sativa* L. cv. Regina) with plain green leaves, was cultivated under organic conditions in a certified farm located at the Capim Branco city, Minas Gerais State, Brazil (19° 34' S latitude, 44° 10' W longitude, and 816 m a.s.l.). According to Köppen classification, the region climate is Cwa (warm temperate - mesothermal), with dry winter and rainy summer.

The lettuce seeds were planted in plastic trays containing organic substrate. Seedling production occurred under a low-density polyethylene cover (Suncover Av Blue 120  $\mu$ m, Ginegar Polysack, São Paulo, Brazil), which allowed a better irrigation control and was internally coated with a photoselective

shading mesh (ChromatiNet Raschel Red 35%, Ginegar Polysack, São Paulo, Brazil), capable of reducing the percentage of beam solar radiation on the plants, also increasing the fresh mass production.

The vigorous and healthy seedlings were individually transplanted to plastic pots containing a thin gravel layer overlapped by soil mixed with organic compound (cattle manure and vegetable biomass). The crop irrigation was performed by a drip system, controlled by a digital timer. The experiment consisted of 500 lettuce plants. However, 355 plants were effectively used as experimental units and 145 plants were cultivated for boundary effects.

Some days before plants reach the physiological maturation, the lettuces were transported to a greenhouse with the objective of performing the fungicide spraying. The greenhouse is located at the Campus Sete Lagoas of the Federal University of São João del-Rei, which is distant from the organic farm about 22 km. This greenhouse also was covered and coated with the same polyethylene film and photo selective shading mesh described above.

## Fungicide spraying

A non-systemic fungicide (mancozeb) was used, which is classified in the alkylenebis group (dithiocarbamate). The active ingredient of this pesticide is a Carbon Disulphide (CS<sub>2</sub>) precursor and is registered in the Brazilian Ministry of Agriculture, Livestock, and Food Supplies (MAPA) for application on some crops. However, the dithiocarbamate (mancozeb) is not authorized by the Brazilian National Sanitary Surveillance Agency (ANVISA) for lettuce crop. This fungicide was chosen based on reports of the Brazilian Monitoring Program for Pesticides Residues in Food, developed by ANVISA, that mentioned the indiscriminate use of this pesticide on lettuces and other crops by some Brazilian farmers. Contrarily, this fungicide is authorized for lettuce crop by other agencies and committees, such as the European Food Safety Authority and the FAO Codex Alimentarius.

The solubilization of mancozeb in water was done to provide a sufficient volume for uniform and homogeneous application on lettuces. The dosage prescribed in the Brazilian package leaflet for other green leafy vegetables, such as cabbage, was adopted (2-3 kg of fungicide ha<sup>-1</sup>). This dose is recommended to control the mildew (*Peronospora parasítica*) and the pod spot (*Alternaria brassicae*). Excepting for five plants (control units), which were randomly selected in the greenhouse, the application of mancozeb to lettuces was performed using an electric sprayer (droplets with average diameter of 29 µm). The application time and distance from the sprayer nozzle to the plants were standardized.

Similar to the dosage, the pre-harvest interval for consumption of green leafy vegetables informed in the Brazilian package leaflet (14 days) was considered in this study. Samplings for the spectral reflectance measurements and laboratory analyzes were carried out on alternate days during the preharvest interval, totaling 7 days and starting one day after the fungicide spraying.

Daily 10 samples were collected, each one weighting more than 500 g and corresponding to five lettuce plants randomly selected. The fresh mass was determined using a precision balance and discarding the roots. Therefore, 50 plants were used per day, totaling 350 plants during the sampling period.

The statistical design was entirely randomized with 7 treatments (alternate days after spraying) and 10 repetitions (samples).

## Reflectance measurements

Spectral reflectance was measured by a miniature and hand-held spectrometer (JAZ-EL350, Ocean Optics, Dunedin, USA), coupled to a tungsten-halogen light source, and preconfigured to acquire and store reflectance data from 350 to 1000 nm, with spectral resolution of 1.3 nm. A specific clip probe (SpectroClip-R, Ocean Optics, Dunedin, USA) was used to collect reflected light from the lettuce leaves (Fig. 1). This probe contains an integrating sphere that captures diffuse reflected light more efficiently



Fig. 1 - Hand-held spectrometer, clip probe, and diffuse reflectance standard used to collect reflected light from the lettuce leaves.

than lens-based collection optics. The active illuminated leaf area in the clip probe is 5 mm diameter. Two premium fibers Vis/NIR (600 µm) interconnected the spectrometer and the light source to the clip probe. A diffuse reflectance standard with Spectralon<sup>™</sup> was used as a reference to measure spectral reflectance.

After the warm up time of the light source, the reference standard measurements were made before the spectral reflectance measurements on lettuce leaves. Data acquisitions were performed in a temperature-controlled environment with the purpose of avoiding the overheating of the light source and the spectrometer detector due to the extended using time. The reflectance values were calibrated by means of the software (OceanView, Ocean Optics, Dunedin, USA) and expressed as a relative percentage of the reference standard (Xing *et al.*, 2006):

$$R_{\lambda}^{cal} = \left[ \left( R_{\lambda}^{leaf} - R_{\lambda}^{dark} \right) / \left( R_{\lambda}^{ref} - R_{\lambda}^{dark} \right) \right] \times 100$$
(1)

where  $R_{\lambda}^{cal}$  is the calibrated spectral reflectance from the leaves (%),  $R_{\lambda}^{leaf}$  is the spectral reflectance from the leaves (dimensionless),  $R_{\lambda}^{dark}$  is the spectral reflectance considering light absence (dimensionless), and  $R_{\lambda}^{ref}$  is the spectral reflectance from the diffuse reflectance standard (dimensionless).

Three leaves of each plant were randomly selected from the external, middle, and central parts of the lettuce head. Three separate measurements on standardized and equidistant locations of the adaxial surface were performed in each leaf, avoiding its central vein and boundaries. Thus, 3195 spectral signatures were obtained during the sampling period, considering the 350 sprayed plants and the five control lettuces (without dithiocarbamate).

The electronic files containing the spectral signatures were stored in a memory card and later transferred to a notebook for analyzes performed with electronic spreadsheets. During the analyzes, spectral signature averages were obtained for each lettuce sample. After this, data was stored in an external hard disk.

## Dithiocarbamate analytical determination

Samples were quartered, milled in an electric grinder, placed in hermetic packages, and frozen at - 30°C in an ultrafreezer for minimizing the degradation and metabolization of the dithiocarbamate.

The analytical determination of the concentration of dithiocarbamate was performed based on the method proposed by Cullen (1964) and improved by Keppel (1971). Mancozeb residues were measured by the spectrophotometric determination of the cupric complex formed with the  $CS_2$  evolved from the acid decomposition of dithiocarbamate in the presence of stannous chloride as a reducing agent (Caldas *et al.*, 2004). The solution of the complex formed from the reaction between  $CS_2$  and copper (II) acetate monohydrate was measured at 435 nm in UV/Vis spectrophotometer (Cary 50, Varian, Agilent Technologies Inc., USA). At the end of the laboratory analyzes, 70 reference measurements were obtained, corresponding to 10 values for each treatment.

## Data analysis

The Partial Least Squares (PLS) multivariate analysis was applied with the purpose of developing a mathematical model capable of predicting the dithiocarbamate concentrations based on lettuce pretreated spectral signatures. Thus, a response matrix, composed by the dithiocarbamate concentrations obtained by laboratory analytical measurements, was correlated with a spectral matrix, containing the average reflectance measurements. An orthogonal basis of latent variables was constructed one by one in such a way that they were oriented along the directions of maximal covariance between the two original spaces (response and spectral matrices), trying to achieve an optimal prediction for new data (Wold et al., 2001; Anderson, 2009; Cozzolino et al., 2011).

The latent variables were calculated by iterative methods as linear combinations of the original independent variables (spectral reflectances) and the dependent ones (dithiocarbamate concentrations). New variables were found, representing estimates of the latent variables or their rotations. These new variables were called X-scores and were predictors of the response ones. A weight matrix was also calculated so that each of their elements maximized the covariance between response variables and the corresponding latent variable scores. The unexplained part of the predictor variables was represented by the deviations between the measured and predicted responses, which were also calculated and called Yresiduals (Wold, 2001; Lopes and Steidle Neto, 2018).

The detrending pre-treatment was applied to the spectral signatures prior to the model calibration and external validation. The detrending algorithm corrected scatter and simple deformations of the spectra baseline as vertical shift and slope (Barnes *et al.*, 1989; Steidle Neto *et al.*, 2016). According to Moura *et al.* (2016), this was the most effective pre-treatment for removing irrelevant information which could not be handled by the regression technique and principal component analysis.
As recommended by Huang et al. (2008), two thirds of the data for each response variable were used as the calibration with cross-validation set, whereas one third of the data as the external validation set. The calibration set was used for developing the model and the external validation set was employed for assessing the calibrated model prediction performance. This procedure was applied for predicting independent data, not related with those included in the calibration with cross-validation set (Agelet and Hurburgh, 2014). During calibration the leave-group-out cross-validation technique was applied to data. This sampling plan also agrees with the suggested by Kramer (1998), who affirmed that the number of data in the calibration set should be more than 10 times the number of variable components in the experiment. In this study the dithiocarbamate residues represented the independent source of significant variation in the data.

The software SPECTOX was specifically developed for this study with the purpose of assisting in the spectral reflectance data processing and the multivariate analysis (calibration and validation), also allowing the performance evaluation of the prediction model for dithiocarbamate concentrations. The SPECTOX was written in Java language, by using the free NetBeans IDE (Apache Software Foundation, Maryland, USA). Additional algorithms of the pretreatments and multivariate methods were included in the SCILAB software (Scilab Enterprises, Versailles, France).

The optimal number of latent variables was determined as recommended by Jha (2010), considering the minimum value for the root mean square error to avoid over fitting (Eq. 2).

$$RMSE = \sqrt{\frac{\sum (Y_o - Y_p)^2}{n}}$$
(2)

Where RMSE is the root mean square error (mg kg<sup>-1</sup>),  $Y_o$  are the values measured by the UV/Vis spectrophotometer (mg kg<sup>-1</sup>),  $Y_p$  are the values predicted by the model (mg kg<sup>-1</sup>), and n is the number of samples (dimensionless).

The calibration and cross-validation processes were evaluated by the root mean square errors for calibration (RMSEC) and cross-validation (RMSECV) sets, respectively. Additionally, the predictive capacity of the adjusted model regarding external validation was evaluated by the statistical parameters mean absolute error (MAE), mean bias error (BIAS), coefficient of determination (R<sup>2</sup>), and index of agreement (d).

Willmott and Matsuura (2005) pointed out that

MAE (Eq. 3) is unambiguous and the most natural measure of the mean error magnitude. These authors considered that MAE should be used as the basis for all dimensioned evaluations and inter-comparisons of model performance. The BIAS (Eq. 4) represents the average difference between measured and predicted data. Thus, values close to zero indicate low systematic error between the measured and predicted values (high accuracy of the model). Also, negative BIAS values indicate underfitting, while positive BIAS values reveal overfitted predictions (Steidle Neto et al., 2016). The coefficient of determination (Eq. 5) represents the proportion of explained variance of the response variable in the validation set, with results varying from 0 to 1, and the maximum value reflecting a perfect agreement between measured and predicted data (Steidle Neto et al., 2017). Finally, index of agreement (Eq. 6) varies from 0 to 1, where the maximum value reflects a perfect agreement between measured and predicted data. As affirmed by Willmott (1981), this is an important index since it is not a measure of correlation or association in the formal sense but rather a measure of the degree to which the model's predictions are error free.

$$MAE = \frac{\sum |Y_p - Y_o|}{n}$$
(3)

$$BIAS = \frac{\sum(Y_o - Y_p)}{n}$$
(4)

$$R^{2} = \frac{[\Sigma(Y_{p} - \bar{Y}_{p})(Y_{o} - \bar{Y}_{o})]^{2}}{\Sigma(Y_{p} - \bar{Y}_{p})^{2}\Sigma(Y_{o} - \bar{Y}_{o})^{2}}$$
(5)

$$d = 1 - \frac{\sum (Y_{p} - Y_{o})^{2}}{\sum (|Y_{p} - \bar{Y}_{o}| + |Y_{o} - \bar{Y}_{o}|)^{2}}$$
(6)

Where MAE is mean absolute error (mg kg<sup>-1</sup>), BIAS is the mean bias error (mg kg<sup>-1</sup>),  $R^2$  is the coefficient of determination (dimensionless), and d is index of agreement (dimensionless).

The limit of detection (LOD) and limit of quantitation (LOQ) are frequently used to describe the smallest concentrations of a sample that can be reliably measured by an analytical procedure. The LOD corresponds to the lowest analyte concentration at which detection is feasible, while the LOQ is the lowest concentration at which the analyte can be effectively quantified. Thus, LOQ tends to be equivalent or higher than LOD (Armbruster and Pry, 2008). In this study, the statistical LOD and LOQ determinations were applied (CLSI, 2004; Jeon *et al.*, 2007). That is, the spectra of five representative blank lettuce samples (containing no dithiocarbamate residues) were measured, following the same procedures used during the calibration and external validation of the PLS model. The mean and standard deviation of the predicted  $CS_2$  concentrations were calculated based on these spectra, which were used as input for the developed model. The LOD and LOQ were equal to the mean of the predicted  $CS_2$  concentrations plus three times or ten times the standard deviation of the mean, respectively. According to CLSI (2004) and Armbruster and Pry (2008), although the blank samples are devoid of analyte, they can produce an analytical signal that might be consistent with a low concentration of dithiocarbamate.

## 3. Results

Figure 2 presents the degradation curve of dithiocarbamate residues on lettuce leaves during the preharvest interval, obtained from average values of laboratory analytical measurements. The estimated halflife of the dithiocarbamate residues was 5-7 days. The rates of decline of dithiocarbamate concentration in two-day intervals were quite variable from first to seventh day after spraying (4.7, 3.2, and 1.4 mg CS<sub>2</sub> kg<sup>-1</sup>), corresponding to a decrease of 90.3%. After the seventh day, the rates of decline were 0.3 mg CS<sub>2</sub> kg<sup>-1</sup>, indicating a decrease of 8.7%. Although very small concentration residues persisted at the final of preharvest interval, the results indicate that after this period the pesticide metabolization is advanced, assuring reliability for lettuce consumption.

The PLS model for dithiocarbamate concentration on lettuces was more precise and accurate when detrending pre-treatment was applied to spectral signatures, compared with predictions obtained from spectra without pre-treatment or treated with other methods (centering, standardization, first and second derivatives). Despite NIR bands were more sensible,



Fig. 2 - Dithiocarbamate concentration decay (mg CS<sub>2</sub> kg<sup>-1</sup>) on lettuce leaves at seven intervals after mancozeb spraying. Vertical bars represent the standard error of the average values.

all wavelengths (350-1000 nm) presented potential to explain the dithiocarbamate concentration residues on lettuce leaves from spectral reflectance, contributing to the good performance of the prediction PLS model.

Table 1 shows the statistical results for the dithiocarbamate concentration model, considering the calibration with cross-validation and external validation datasets. The data processing showed that the use of more than four latent variables for dithiocarbamate concentrations resulted in an over-fitting, characterized by a slight divergence in the downward trend of the RMSE, which continued to decrease for calibration (RMSEC), but almost established for cross-validation (RMSECV).

The proposed PLS model was satisfactory since presented low RMSEC, RMSECV, RMSE, MAE, and BIAS when compared to the range values (Table 1). Additionally, the performance of the model for the external validation presented high index of agreement (0.94), reflecting a good accuracy for independent predictions of the dithiocarbamate concentra-

 

 Table 1 Statistical parameters of calibration with cross-validation and external validation processes for the estimation model of dithiocarbamate concentration on lettuces

	Calibration		External validation
Number of latent variables	4	R <sup>2</sup> (dimensionless)	0.87
RMSEC (mg CS <sub>2</sub> kg <sup>-1</sup> )	1.86	RMSE (mg CS <sub>2</sub> kg <sup>-1</sup> )	1.41
RMSECV (mg CS <sub>2</sub> kg <sup>-1</sup> )	2.74	MAE (mg CS <sub>2</sub> kg <sup>-1</sup> )	1.24
Range (mg CS <sub>2</sub> kg <sup>-1</sup> )	0.23-10.3	BIAS (mg CS <sub>2</sub> kg <sup>-1</sup> )	-0.37
		d (dimensionless)	0.94

tions on lettuces. The negative BIAS value indicated a majority tendency of underfitting predictions by the model, mainly from 2.3 mg  $CS_2$  kg<sup>-1</sup> (Fig. 3). Also, low BIAS value represented small systematic error (Table 1).

Regarding the differences among statistics presented in Table 1, the spectral measurements and predictions of external validation may deviate from the calibration as they originate from different sample sets. As mentioned by Liu and Ying (2005), in this way, the ability of the calibration model to withstand unknown variability is assessed.

The correlations between values determined by the reference analytical method and those predicted by the external validation of the PLS model are presented in figure 3. Prediction performance resulted in good agreement between reference and estimated values, with  $R^2$  of 0.87 (Table 1), indicating that 87% of the measured values were accurately represented by the model.

The comparison of parameters (LOD, LOQ, and range) associated to different methods of determination of dithiocarbamates on lettuces are showed in



Fig. 3 - External validation of the PLS model for estimating dithiocarbamate concentrations (mg CS<sub>2</sub> kg<sup>-1</sup>) on lettuce leaves.

Table 2. The LOD and LOQ values verified in this study were higher than those obtained with the gas or liquid chromatography, as well as the spectrophotometric method.

The usefulness of the methodology presented in this study has been evidenced by the determination of dithiocarbamate residues on lettuce samples at concentrations between 0.23 and 10.3 mg  $CS_2$  kg<sup>-1</sup>. This range can be considered appropriated when the results of previous studies are used as reference (Table 2). Further, values between these lower and upper limits are sufficient to measure a wide range of dithiocarbamate concentrations on lettuces.

### 4. Discussion and Conclusions

Past studies showed dithiocarbamate degradation profiles for lettuces similar to those found in this study. Yip *et al.* (1971) found that the dithiocarbamate concentration (maneb) from a single spray on lettuces declined from 45 mg kg<sup>-1</sup> initially to about 5 mg kg<sup>-1</sup> after 15 days (decrease of 89%). On the other hand, Hughes and Tate (1982) monitored mancozeb residues on lettuces and verified a reduction of 90 mg kg<sup>-1</sup> after a 14-day interval (decrease of 72%). These authors also reported a high initial rate of decline in dithiocarbamate concentration during the first seven days after spraying, confirming the high degradation of analyte.

Despite of the dithiocarbamates with active ingredient based on mancozeb are not authorized by ANVISA for lettuces in Brazil, the European Food Safety Authority (EFSA) allows the use of this pesticide on lettuce crop in the countries that integrate the European Union, considering a maximum residue limit of 5 mg kg<sup>-1</sup> (EFSA, 2013). In addition to the dietary risk, the edafoclimatic differences and dietary patterns of the countries justify the distinct positions between ANVISA and EFSA. Based on the results, lettuces presented dithiocarbamate concentrations

Table 2 - Limit of detection, limit of quantitation, and range (expressed in mg CS<sub>2</sub> kg<sup>-1</sup>) for different methods of determination of dithiocarbamates on lettuces

Method	Limit of detection	Limit of quantitation	Range	Reference
Gas chromatography	0.004	0.013	0.04-5.0	Česnik and Gregorčič (2006)
Liquid chromatography	0.04	0.11	0.50-9.3	López-Fernández <i>et al.</i> (2012)
Gas chromatography	0.02	0.05	0.04-1.0	Pizzutti <i>et al.</i> (2017)
Spectrophotometric	0.28	0.40	0.20-4.5	Pizzutti <i>et al.</i> (2017)
Spectrometric	0.49	1.41	0.23-10.3	Present study

lower than the maximum residue limit established by EFSA from the fourth day after spraying.

According to Lopes and Steidle Neto (2018) detrending, which was the most appropriated spectral pre-treatment in this study, is usually used to remove specific data offsets that are not related to the chemical or physical properties of interest for the chemometric modeling. Sánchez *et al.* (2010) also developed PLS models for predicting pesticide residues on intact peppers using near-infrared reflectance spectroscopy, applying detrending method for scatter correction in data, and obtaining good results. Steidle Neto *et al.* (2016) affirmed that detrending was the best spectra pre-treatment when predicting chlorophyll content in lettuces, helping to remove non-linear trends in spectroscopic data, and consequently correcting scatter.

The number of latent variables considered adequate for predicting dithiocarbamate concentrations on lettuce leaves in this study agree with Cozzolino et al. (2011), who affirmed that if more than optimum number of latent variables is used, the solution can become over-fitted and the model will be very dependent on the dataset, giving poor predictions. Otherwise, using less than the optimum number of latent variables will cause under-fitting and the model will not be accurate enough to capture the variability in the data. This result also agrees with other researchers who applied spectroscopy and PLS models to non-destructively predict of pesticide concentrations. Jamshidi et al. (2016) showed that 5-7 latent variables were required for PLS models when predicting diazinon residues on cucumbers.

Although the proposed model tended to underestimate the pesticide concentrations, slight overestimates were verified for low dithiocarbamate concentrations, evidenced in this study until the fifth day after spraying.

The method based on spectral reflectance provided sufficient sensibility for detecting and quantifying concentrations lower than the maximum residue limit allowed by the European Food Safety Authority for mancozeb-based dithiocarbamates on lettuces (5 mg kg<sup>-1</sup>). Makino *et al.* (2009) used spectral reflectance for detection and quantification of chlorpyrifos residues on apple surface, also demonstrating the feasibility of spectroscopy for estimating low concentrations of pesticide residues in fruits.

According to Acharya *et al.* (2012), the spectral features can be assigned to overtone and combination bands of various C-H and N-H bonds within these molecules. Considering that the chemical structure of

mancozeb has 2 NH and 2  $CH_2$ , and that the NH bond position is unhindered within the chemical structure, there is a high likelihood it will produce a sharp and strong absorption band, which should improve detection of mancozeb.

The mean spectral signatures of intact lettuce leaves with absence and presence of fungicide presented differences mainly in NIR region, with fungicide-contaminated samples resulting in greater absorbance than that in the fungicide-free lettuce leaves. According to that reported by Sánchez *et al.* (2010) and Jamshidi *et al.* (2016), increase of the absorbance in NIR region after 900 nm could be due to the C-H absorption.

Based on the results, it can be said that the Vis/NIR spectroscopy combined to the multivariate data analysis have potential to be applied as an alternative method to estimate dithiocarbamate concentrations on lettuce leaves. However, the success and widespread adoption of this method also depends of suitable measurement practices. It is important that measurements are performed using a spectrometer with high spectral resolution, after the time required to warm-up the light source, and after adequate spectrometer calibration (proper sampling of reference standard). Additionally, important factors to achieve good results include the standardization of the measurement points in the samples, the homogeneity of the target area, and the positioning of samples on a black non-reflective panel with the purpose of prevent the light reflection going through the leaf. Another essential aspect is related to the incidence angle of the light bunch, which is emitted by the light source over the sample and directly influences the light reflection by sample (Steidle Neto et al., 2017). Although the effects of the abovementioned individual error sources may appear small, their combined presence may result in measurements with significant errors, influencing the spectral reflectance independently of dithiocarbamate concentrations, as well as, the model predictions.

Vis/NIR spectral reflectance measurements combined to the partial least square analysis showed to be feasible and effective as a promising method for estimating concentration of dithiocarbamate fungicide residues on intact lettuce leaves. The developed PLS model allowed the detection and quantification of the dithiocarbamate without any preparation and/or processing of lettuce samples. This method offers advantages over traditional laboratory methods, such as real-time measurements and the possibility to be built into the industrial processing lines, enabling large-scale individual analysis in 100% of the lettuces.

The spectral behavior of other vegetable species certainly will differ from that of lettuce, as well as, different dithiocarbamate types (thiram, metiram, propineb, zineb, ziram, and maneb) tend to cause variations in the estimating models. Future researches will be performed in order of evaluating these effects when detecting and quantifying fungicide residues in vegetable crops. The results of these new studies will complement the findings of the present work, making this a more wide-ranging method.

## Acknowledgements

The authors are grateful to the Foundation for Research Support of the Minas Gerais State (FAPEMIG) in Brazil, which provided funding to acquire the accessories for spectrometer and materials for the experimental setup (grant number CAG-APQ-01495-15).

# References

- ACHARYA U.K., SUBEDI P.P., WALSH K.B., 2012 Evaluation of a dry extract system involving NIR spectroscopy (DESIR) for rapid assessment of pesticide contamination of fruit surfaces. - Am. J. Anal. Chem., 3: 524-533.
- AGELET L.E., HURBURGH C.R. Jr., 2014 Limitations and current applications of near infrared spectroscopy for single seed analysis. - Talanta, 121: 288-299.
- ANDERSON M., 2009 A comparison of nine PLS1 algorithms. - J. Chemometrics, 23: 518-529.
- ANVISA, 2018 *Monografias de agrotóxicos*. Agência Nacional de Vigilância Sanitária (ANVISA), Brasília, Distrito Federal, Brasil.
- ARMBRUSTER D.A., PRY T., 2008 Limit of blank, limit of detection and limit of quantitation. Clin. Biochem. Rev., 29: 49-52.
- BARNES R.J., DHANOA M.S., LISTER S.J., 1989 Standard normal variate transformation and de-trending of nearinfrared diffuse reflectance spectra. - Appl. Spectrosc., 43: 772-777.
- BELPOGGI F., SOFFRITTI M., GUARINO M., LAMBERTINI L., CEVOLANI D., MALTONI C., 2002 - Results of long-term experimental studies on the carcinogenicity of ethylene-bis-dithiocarbamate (mancozeb) in rats. - Annals of New York Academy of Sciences, 982: 123-136.
- CALDAS E.D., MIRANDA M.C.C., CONCEIÇÃO M.H., SOUZA L.C.K.R., 2004 - Dithiocarbamates residues in Brazilian food and the potential risk for consumers. - Food. Chem. Tox., 42: 1877-1883.

- CALDAS E.D., TRESSOU J., BOON P.E., 2006 Dietary exposure of Brazilian consumers to dithiocarbamate pesticides - A probabilistic approach. - Food. Chem. Tox., 44: 1562-1571.
- ČESNIK H.B., GREGORČIČ A., 2006 Validation of the method for the determination of dithiocarbamates and thiuram disulphide on apple, lettuce, potato, strawberry and tomato matrix. - Acta Chim. Slov., 53: 100-104.
- CLSI, 2004 Protocols for determination of limits of detection and limits of quantitation (guideline). Document EP17. - Clinical and Laboratory Standards Institute (CLSI), Wayne, USA.
- COZZOLINO D., CYNKAR W.U., SHAH N., SMITH P., 2011 -Multivariate data analysis applied to spectroscopy: potential application to juice and fruit quality. - Food Res. Int., 44: 1888-1896.
- CRNOGORAC G., SCHWACK W., 2009 *Residue analysis of dithiocarbamate fungicides*. Trends Anal. Chem., 28: 40-50.
- CULLEN T.E., 1964 Spectrophotometric determination of dithiocarbamates residues on food crops. - Anal. Chem., 36: 221-224.
- EFSA, 2013 The 2010 European Union report on pesticide residues in food. - European Food Safety Authority, Parma, Italy, pp. 511.
- GONZÁLVEZ A., GARRIGUES S., ARMENTA S., DE LA GUARDIA M., 2011 - Determination at low ppm levels of dithiocarbamate residues in foodstuff by vapour phase-liquid phase microextraction-infrared spectroscopy. - Anal. Chim. Acta, 688: 191-196.
- HUANG H., YU H., XU H., YING Y., 2008 Near infrared spectroscopy for on/in-line monitoring of quality in foods and beverages: a review. - J. Food Eng., 87: 303-313.
- HUGHES J.T., TATE K.G., 1982 Dithiocarbamate spray residues on lettuces, tomatoes, berry fruits, and apples. - New Zeal. J. Exp. Agr., 10: 301-304.
- IBAMA, 2018 Relatórios de comercialização de agrotóxicos. - Inst. Brasileiro do Meio Ambiente e dos Recursos Naturais Renováveis, Brasília, Distrito Federal, Brasil.
- IPCS, 1993 Mancozeb pesticide residues in food: 1993 evaluations Part II Toxicology. - International Programme on Chemical Safety (IPCS), US Environmental Protection Agency, Washington, USA.
- JAMSHIDI B., MOHAJERANI E., JAMSHIDI J., 2016 -Developing a Vis/NIR spectroscopic system for fast and non-destructive pesticide residue monitoring in agricultural product. - Measurement, 89: 1-6.
- JANKOWSKA M., LOZOWICKA B., KACZYŃSKI P., 2019 -Comprehensive toxicological study over 160 processing factors of pesticides in selected fruit and vegetables after water, mechanical and thermal processing treatments and their application to human health risk assessment. - Sci. Tot. Environ., 652: 1156-1167.
- JARDIM A.N.O., MELLO D.C., BRITO A.P., VAN DER VOET H., BOON P.E., CALDAS E.D., 2018 - Probabilistic dietary

risk assessment of triazole and dithiocarbamate fungicides for the Brazilian population. - Food Chem. Tox., 118: 317-327.

- JEON H.R., EL-ATY M.A., CHO S.K., CHOI J.H., KIM K.Y., PARK R.D., SHIM J.H., 2007 - Multiresidue analysis of four pesticide residues in water dropwort (Oenanthe javanica) via pressurized liquid extraction, supercritical fluid extraction, and liquid-liquid extraction and gas chromatographic determination. - J. Sep. Sci., 30: 1953-1963.
- JHA S.N., 2010 Nondestructive evaluation of food quality: theory and practice. - Springer Science & Business Media, New York, USA.
- KEPPEL G.E., 1971 Collaborative study of the determination of dithiocarbamate residues by a modified carbon disulfide evolution method. - J. AOAC, 54: 528-532.
- KRAMER R., 1998 Chemometric techniques for quantitative analysis. - CRC Press, New York, USA.
- LIU Y., YING Y., 2005 Use of FT-NIR spectrometry in noninvasive measurements of internal quality of "Fuji" apples. - Post. Biol. Tech., 37: 65-71.
- LOPES D.C., STEIDLE NETO A.J., 2018 Classification and authentication of plants by chemometric analysis of spectral data. - In: BARCELÓ D., J. LOPES, and C. SOUSA (eds.) Comprehensive analytical chemistry, vibrational spectroscopy for plant varieties and cultivars characterization. Elsevier, Amsterdam, Netherlands, pp. 316.
- LÓPEZ-FERNÁNDEZ O., RIAL-OTERO R., GONZÁLEZ-BARREIRO C., SIMAL-GÁNDARA J., 2012 - Surveillance of fungicidal dithiocarbamate residues in fruits and vegetables. - Food Chem., 134: 366-374.
- LÓPEZ-FERNÁNDEZ O., RIAL-OTERO R., SIMAL-GÁNDARA J., 2013 - Factors governing the removal of mancozeb residues from lettuces with washing solutions. - Food Contr., 34: 530-538.
- MAKINO Y., OSHITA S., MURAYAMA Y., MORI M., KAWAGOE Y., SAKAI K., 2009 - Nondestructive analysis of chlorpyrifos on apple skin using UV reflectance. -Trans. ASABE, 52: 1955-1960.
- MOURA L.O., LOPES D.C., STEIDLE NETO A.J., FERRAZ L.C.L., CARLOS L.A., MARTINS L.M., 2016 - Evaluation of techniques for automatic classification of lettuce based on spectral reflectance. - Food Anal. Meth., 9: 1799-1806.
- PEREIRA S.I., FIGUEIREDO P.I., BARROS A.S., DIAS M.C., SANTOS C., DUARTE I.F., GIL A.M., 2014 - *Changes in*

the metabolome of lettuce leaves due to exposure to mancozeb pesticide. - Food Chem., 154: 291-298.

- PIZZUTTI I.R., KOK A., SILVA R.C., ROHERS G.N., 2017 -Comparison between three chromatographic (GC-ECD, GC-PFPD and GC-ITD-MS) methods and a UV-Vis spectrophotometric method for the determination of dithiocarbamates in lettuce. - J. Braz. Chem. Soc., 28: 775-781.
- SALGUERO-CHAPARRO L., GAITÁN-JURADO A.J., ORTIZ-SOMOVILLA V., PEÑA-RODRÍGUEZ F., 2013 - Feasibility of using NIR spectroscopy to detect herbicide residues in intact olives. - Food Contr., 30: 504-509.
- SÁNCHEZ M.-T., FLORES-ROJAS K., GUERRERO J.E., GUARRIDO-VARO A., PÉREZ-MARÍN D., 2010 -Measurement of pesticide residues in peppers by nearinfrared reflectance spectroscopy. - Pest Manage. Sci., 66: 580-586.
- SARANWONG S., KAWANO S., 2005 Rapid determination of fungicide contaminated on tomato surfaces using the DESIR-NIR: a system for ppm-order concentration. -J. Near Inf. Spect., 13: 169-175.
- STEIDLE NETO A.J., LOPES D.C., PINTO F.A.C., ZOLNIER S., 2017 - Vis/NIR spectroscopy and chemometrics for nondestructive estimation of water and chlorophyll status in sunflower leaves. - Biosyst. Eng., 155: 124-133.
- STEIDLE NETO A.J., MOURA L.O., LOPES D.C., CARLOS L.A., MARTINS L.M., FERRAZ L.C.L., 2016 - Non-destructive prediction of pigment content in lettuce based on visible-NIR spectroscopy. - J. Sci. Food Agr., 97: 2015-2022.
- WILLMOTT C.J., 1981 On the validation of models. Phys. Geog., 2: 184-194.
- WILLMOTT C.J., MATSUURA K., 2005 Advantages of the mean absolute error (MAE) over the root mean square error (RMSE) in assessing average model performance. - Clim. Res., 30: 79-82.
- WOLD S., SJÖSTROM M., ERIKSSON L., 2001 *PLS-regres*sion: a basic tool of chemometrics. - Chem. Intell. Lab. Sys., 58: 109-130.
- XING J., BRAVO C., MOSHOU D., RAMON H., DE BAERDEMAEKER J., 2006 - Bruise detection on 'Golden Delicious' apples by vis/NIR spectroscopy. - Comput. Electron. Agr., 52: 11-20.
- YIP G., ONLEY J.H., HOWARD S.F., 1971 Residues of maneb and ethylenethiourea of field-sprayed lettuce and kale. J. AOAC, 54: 1373-1375.





# (\*) Corresponding author:

mfpsmachado@uem.br

### Citation:

FERNANDES V.N.A., MANGOLIN C.A., NEVES A.F., SOUSA NOGUEIRA F.C., ZENI NETO H., MACHADO M.F. P.S., 2020 - *Extraction of total protein from shoots of Cereus morphological variants* (*Cactaceae*) *for proteomic analysis.* - Adv. Hort. Sci., 34(2): 233-240.

### Copyright:

© 2020 Fernandes V.N.A., Mangolin C.A., Neves A.F., Sousa Nogueira F.C., Zeni Neto H., Machado M.F.P.S. This is an open access, peer reviewed article published by Firenze University Press (http://www.fupress.net/index.php/ahs/) and distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License, which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original author and source are credited.

### Data Availability Statement:

All relevant data are within the paper and its Supporting Information files.

**Competing Interests:** The authors declare no competing interests.

Received for publication 4 September 2019 Accepted for publication 16 January 2020

# Extraction of total protein from shoots of *Cereus* morphological variants (Cactaceae) for proteomic analysis

# V.N.A. Fernandes <sup>1</sup>, C.A. Mangolin <sup>2</sup>, A.F. Neves <sup>1</sup>, F.C. Sousa Nogueira <sup>3</sup>, H. Zeni Neto <sup>4</sup>, M.F.P.S. Machado <sup>2</sup>(\*)

- <sup>1</sup> Postgraduate Program in Genetics and Breeding, Universidade Estadual de Maringá, Maringá PR, Brazil.
- <sup>2</sup> Department of Biotechnology, Genetics and Cell Biology, Universidade Estadual de Maringá, Maringá PR, Brazil.
- <sup>3</sup> Department of Chemistry of Proteins, Unidad Proteomics, Chemistry Institute, Universidade Federal do Rio de Janeiro, Rio de Janeiro, RJ, Brazil.
- <sup>4</sup> Department of Agronomy, Universidade Estadual de Maringá, Maringá PR, Brazil.

*Key words*: cactus, phenotypic variants, protein extraction, SDS-PAGE, succulent tissues.

Abstract: Since there is a hypothesis that qualitative and/or quantitative differences of specific proteins may be associated with morphological variants in cacti of the Cereus genus (phenotypes erect, tortuosus and monstruosus), in current study we tested three different methods for protein extraction from shoots of the phenotypic variants to obtain protein fractions for further proteomic analysis. The TCA/acetone method for protein extraction revealed a larger number of well-defined bands in SDS-PAGE system than the methods with phenol. The quantification of protein extracted by TCA/acetone ranged between 0.488 (tortuosus) and 2.92 µg·mL<sup>-1</sup> (monstruosus). Although the use of phenol is the most appropriate procedure for protein extraction from recalcitrant tissues, results have shown that extraction buffer containing two antioxidant agents (EDTA and  $\beta$ -mercaptoethanol) and PMSF to prevent protein degradation was efficient to avoid proteolysis and lower protein yield, than using TCA/acetone precipitation for protein extraction from shoots of Cereus sp. The use of extraction buffer with appropriate combinations of antioxidant agents, phenol-complexing agents, and protease inhibitors may be an efficient alternative for proteins extraction from succulent and recalcitrant tissues (such as cactus plants) using a simple protein extraction method.

## 1. Introduction

Since the 1960s the study on proteins from plant tissues is frequently restricted by extraction procedures from different tissues (Loomis, 1969; 1974; Kelley and Adams, 1977). Different procedures for protein extraction have been reported for different tissues and plant species to obtain

protein fractions which are adequate for electrophoresis and polypeptides characterization on gel. Taxa and tissues have their own set of endogenous tannins, phenols and phenoloxidases which interfere differently with protein stability. Protein extraction from cactus tissues is particularly an arduous process due to the abundance of complex heteropolysaccharides, coupled to endogenous tannins, phenols and phenoloxidases in the shoot tissues of adult plants. Heteropolysaccharides confer high viscosity to the extraction solution after shoottissue homogenization and hinder the solubilization of proteins.

Protein extraction has been a primordial stage for the studies on proteomics. The detection of proteins and protein variants found in cells of a given tissue under specific conditions (functional genomic) (Wilkins et al., 1996; Westermeier and Naven, 2002) requires adequate solubilization and stability of protein fractions. The first step should establish a procedure for protein extraction from shoots, or rather, for the proteome analysis in shoots of phenotypic variants of cactus from genus Cereus. The Cereus plants have been mainly used as forage for ruminants (Silva et al., 2011) and fruits and pulp are used in the preparation of cookies, pies, and pastries (Almeida et al., 2007). Several studies have revealed the importance of the C. peruvianus species as fruit crop (Mizrahi, 2014). While the C. jamacaru plants constitute a wild natural resource in the semiarid region of Northeastern Brazil, an industrial and economic importance has been attributed to the C. peruvianus species cultivated in the Southern region of Brazil (Alvarez et al., 1995; Barros and Nozaki, 2002). Medicinal importance is also attributed to C. peruvianus since arabinogalactan extracted from the gum has been indicated for the treatment of gastric ulcers (Tanaka et al., 2010). Phenotypic variants of cacti from the genus Cereus, tagged tortuosus and monstruosus varieties, are frequently cultivated together with plants featuring typical columnar-erect shoots in home gardens and public parks and squares in Brazil's southern region. Although the origin of the tortuosus and monstruosus varieties has not been reported in the literature, the qualitative and/or quantitative differences of specific proteins may be associated with the morphological variants.

Since the success of a proteomic experiment depend on the correct identification of proteins, three different methods described by He and Wang (2008) for protein extraction from shoots of the three phenotypic variants of *Cereus* were employed in the current study. The methods described by He and Wang (2008) were used in protein extraction from *Aloe vera* tissues, a succulent and recalcitrant plant similar to cacti. It is expected that protocols described by these authors may be suitable for protein extraction and quantification from shoots of *Cereus* plants.

## 2. Materials and Methods

Samples of *Cereus* plants with typically erect shoots and plants of the varieties *tortuosus* and *monstruosus* (Fig. 1), cultivated in south Brazil (in Maringá PR Brazil, at 23°25′38″ S; 51°56′15″ W), were collected from home gardens and maintained in the Experimental Botanic Garden of the State University of Maringá (altitude 554.9 m; 23°25′S; 51°25′W). Pieces of shoots (2 g) from erect, *tortuosus* and *monstruosus* plants (four plants of each morphology) were collected and used as samples for protein extraction. The cuticle and the fractions of cells with chlorophyll were removed from the pieces of shoot to minimize the contamination of the samples by polysaccharides.

Fresh shoot sections (2 g) of each *Cereus* plant with erect shoots (E1-E4) and plants of the varieties *tortuosus* (T1-T4) and *monstruosus* (M1-M4) were ground to a fine powder in liquid nitrogen and homogenized in 2 mL buffer 0.02 M Tris-HCl pH 7.5, 0.25 M sucrose, 0.01M ethylene glycol tetraacetic acid (EDTA), 0.001 M phenylmethylsulfonyl fluoride (PMSF), 1% Triton X-100 and 2% β-mercaptoethanol, following method by He and Wang (2008). Proteins were extracted from two samples of each E1-E4, T1-



Fig. 1 - Different morphologies of Cereus peruvianus plants showing stems: erect (A), tortuosus (B), monstruosus (C).

T4, and M1-M4 plants (Table 1).

After homogenization, 1.0-mL aliquots from each *Cereus* plants were transferred to 2 mL microtubes and prepared by three procedures: i) TCA-acetone precipitation; ii) phenol extraction, and iii) improved phenol extraction method according to described by He and Wang (2008).

Protein was quantified by the fluorometric method in a Fluorometer Qubit<sup>®</sup> 1.0 using Qubit<sup>®</sup> Protein Assay kit from Life Technologies. Polyacrylamide gel (12%) was prepared with 16.2 mL of 30% acrylamide and 0.8% bis-acrylamide dissolved in 4 mL of 1.5 M Tris-HCl, pH 8.8, 107  $\mu$ L 10% SDS, 5.7 mL twice-distilled water, 320  $\mu$ L 2% ammonium persulfate and 16  $\mu$ L TEMED. Stack gel was prepared at a final concentration of 5%, pH 6.8: 3 mL of 10% acrylamide and 5% bis-acrylamide dissolved in 3 mL of 0.24 M Tris-HCl pH 6.8, 30  $\mu$ L twice-distilled water, 250  $\mu$ L 2% ammonium persulfate and 3  $\mu$ L TEMED. Further, 25 mM Tris/200 mM glycine, pH 8.3, and 0.1% SDS were employed in the electrode chambers.

Samples were taken from the freezer and 2  $\mu$ L loading dye [20% glycerol 10 mM, Tris-HCl 1.5 M pH 8.8, 10% (w·v<sup>-1</sup>) bromophenol blue, 10% SDS (w·v<sup>-1</sup>),  $\beta$ -mercaptoethanol 2% (v·v<sup>-1</sup>), and twice-distilled water q.s.p.] were added to 8  $\mu$ L of sample and applied to the gel. Electrophoresis was performed in Tris-glycine buffer at 200 volts, for thirty minutes, for the stacking gel, followed by two hours and thirty minutes for the separation of the proteins. After electrophoresis, the gel was fixed in a fixation solution (40% methanol; 70% acetic acid) and stained in silver 20% following protocol by Laemmli (1970). After migration, gels were stained, photographed and the images were analyzed with GelAnalyzer 19.1 software (http://www.gelanalyzer.com/) to transform electrophoretic bands into peaks, to calculate Rf and estimate the molecular weight of proteins.

The protein quantification ( $\mu g \cdot \mu L^{-1}$ ) by the fluorometric method in duplicate of morphological variants of Cereus with shoots erect (E1-E4), tortuosus (T1-T4), and monstruosus (M1-M4) obtained by extraction with TCA/acetone method described by He and Wang (2008) were analyzed using the software R (R Core Team, 2019) with the packages: i) "nortest" (Gross and Ligges, 2015) to verify the normality of the errors by the Lilliefors test (Lilliefors, 1969), ii) "car" (Fox and Weisberg, 2019) to verify the independence of errors by the Durbin-Watson test (Durbin and Watson, 1951), and iii) the "ExpDes" package (Ferreira et al., 2018) to verify the homogeneity of variances by the O'Neill and Matthews test (O'Neill and Matthews, 2000). All these procedures were admitting the error at 1% of significance.

## 3. Results and Discussion

The TCA/acetone method for protein extraction from shoots of *Cereus* plants revealed a larger number of well-defined bands in SDS-PAGE system than the methods with phenol and improved-phenol extraction. In the TCA/acetone method, each homogenized tissue (plant tissues with shoots erect, *tortuosus* and *monstruosus*) in the extraction buffer was centrifuged at 15,000 rpm for 30 min at 4°C. The supernatant was then recovered and placed in a new tube where ¼ of the volume of acetone containing 50% trichloroacetic acid (TCA) was added. The solution was incubated for 2 h, at -20°C and centrifuged again at 15,000 rpm for 40 min, at 4°C. The supernatant was then discarded and the pellet was

Table 1 - Protein quantification (μg μL<sup>-1</sup>) by the fluorometric method in duplicate of morphological variants of *Cereus* with shoots erect (E1-E4), *monstruosus* (M1-M4), and *tortuosus* (T1-T4) obtained by the extraction with TCA/acetone method described by He and Wang (2008)

Erect		Mon	struosus	Tortuosus	
sample	μg∙μL⁻¹	sam	μg∙μL⁻¹	sample	µg∙µL <sup>-1</sup>
E1	0.824	M1	2.64	T1	1.090
	0.658		2.68		0.990
E2	0.732	M2	1.71	T2	0.768
	0.766		1.91		1.150
E3	0.964	M3	2.26	Т3	1.740
	0.874		2.40		1.520
E4	1.100	M4	2.54	T4	0.488
	1.480		2.92		0.592

washed three times with acetone containing 0.2% 1,4-Dithiothreitol (DTT). Pellets were then dissolved in 50  $\mu$ L lysis buffer (8 M urea, 4% NP-40 and 1% DTT) and stocked at -20°C.

The quantification of protein extracted by TCA/acetone method was made in duplicate (two samples of each shoot morphology: erect, *tortuosus* and *monstruosus*) and ranged between 0.488 (*tortuosus*) and 2.92 µg·mL<sup>-1</sup> (*monstruosus*) (Table 1).

The normality of the errors by the Lilliefors test (Lilliefors, 1969), the independence of errors by the Durbin-Watson test (Durbin and Watson, 1951) and the homogeneity of variances by the O'Neill and Matthews test (O'Neill and Matthews, 2000) showed that there were no restrictions by *p*-values regarding analysis of variance (ANOVA) procedure (Table 2).

Significant differences (at 1% level) in protein concentrations within and between *Cereus* plants with the erect, *tortuosus* and *monstruosus* morphologies were detected by ANOVA procedure (Table 3).

The non-significant experimental error indicates that the sampling error (different morphologies) may justify the differences in protein concentrations between *Cereus* plant morphologies. Non-significant experimental error assures the researcher more reliable results because the effect of uncertainty is smaller (Patterson, 1946; Cochran and Cox, 1957; Snedecor and Cochran, 1980).

Table 2 - p-values of the normality of errors by the Lilliefors test (Lilliefors, 1969), independence of errors by the Durbin-Watson test (Durbin and Watson, 1951) and the homogeneity of variances by the O'Neill and Matthews test (O'Neill and Matthews, 2000)

Procedure	Normality	Independence	Variance
Lilliefors	0.8897		
Durbin-Watson		0.0379	
O'Neill and Matthews			0.4089

Table 3 - Mean Squares (MS) of the comparison of protein concentrations from the three *Cereus* morphologies (erect, *tortuosus* and *monstruosus* shoots) and their respective sampling and experimental mistakes

	MS
Morphologies	5.2477 **
Sample error	0.2969 **
Experimental error	0.0251

\*\* p-value <0.01.

A higher protein concentration in *monstruosus* plants than in erect and *tortuosus* plants has been detected by Tukey's test (Tukey, 1953) employed to compare the averages of protein concentrations in erect, *tortuosus* and *monstruosus* plants (Table 4). Figure 2 also illustrates the highest protein concentration in *monstruosus* plants and shows the amplitude of concentration rates within each plant.

Differences in protein concentrations in *Cereus* plants with the erect, *tortuosus* and *monstruosus* morphologies indicate that it is necessary to evaluate the protein concentration in more than one plant with the same morphology to specify the average protein concentration of each morphology. Differences in protein concentrations among *Cereus* plants with erect, *tortuosus* and *monstruosus* morphologies detected in current study support the hypothesis that qualitative and/or quantitative differences of specific proteins may be associated with morphological variants in cacti of the *Cereus* genus, and may be used to justify a proposal for further proteomic analysis.

The phenol extraction method described by He and Wang (2008) revealed a number of protein frac-

Table 4 - Mean protein concentrations (µg  $\mu L^{\text{-1}}$ ) from the three

Cereus morphologies (erect, tortuosus and monstruo-

0.9248 b

sus) revealed by the Tukey's test					
Morphology	Mean protein concentraction (μg·μL-1)				
Monstruosus	2.3825 a				
Tortuosus	1.0423 b				

Erect



Fig. 2 - Amplitude of the concentration values observed within monstruosus (M), tortuosus (T), and erect (E) plants of Cereus. tions smaller than the number of protein fractions detected by the TCA/acetone precipitation method in Cereus plants, while protein fractions were absent with the improved phenol extraction method described by He and Wang (2008)(Fig. 3). The GelAnalyzer software was useful to create calibration curves and to estimate the quantity of the protein from a band. Figure 4 shows the calibration curve that make a correspondence between the quantity of the protein loaded on each lane and the areas of the peaks of each lane (the software name the area of the peak as raw volume and the conventional units are in pixels). The correlation coefficients of such calibration curves were higher than 0.99 for proteins with molecular masses ranging from 24 until 180 kDa (Table 5). However, data obtained by MS (Mass Spectrometry analysis) indicated proteins with molecular weights varying from 220 to 15 kDa. In gel regions without clear band distinction in 1DE SDS-PAGE were detected considerable amounts of protein identified by MS. Preliminary Mass Spectrometry analysis identified 753 proteins extracted by the TCA/acetone precipitation method in the Cereus plants (unpublished results).

Improved phenol extraction method was described as the most appropriate procedure for pro-



Fig. 3 - Protein extraction from shoots of *Cereus* with erect (samples 1-2, 5-6, 9-10), *tortuosus* (samples 3, 7, 11) and *monstruosus* (samples 4, 8, 12) morphologies, with TCA/acetone method (samples 1-4), with phenol extraction method (samples 5-8) and with the improved-phenol extraction method by He and Wang (2008) (samples 9-12), in the SDS-PAGE system 12%.



Fig. 4 - The main panels of Gel Analyser software showing the image of the entire electrophoresis gel (panel A); the bands from the selected lane from panel A are transformed in peaks (panel B) and their area are computed in panel C, as raw volume (conventional units). Based on the molecular weights of the markers (in panel D), the correspondence between the molecular mass and the migration (as Rf) of the protein is presented.

Lane				MW	of each band	(KDa)			
Lane 1	-	-	-	-	-	-	45	-	24
Lane 2	-	-	-	77	-	-	45	-	24
Lane 3	-	145	90	77	-	-	45	39	-
Lane 4	180	145	90	77	-	-	45	39	-
Lane 5	-	-	-	-	-	-	45	-	-
Lane 6	-	145	90	77	61	-	45	39	24
Lane7	-	-	-	-	-	-	45	-	-
Lane 8	-	-	-	-	-	58	45	-	-

Table 5 - Quantity of the protein loaded on each lane detected with TCA/acetone method (samples 1-4) and with phenol extraction method (samples 5-8) in the SDS-PAGE system 12% from the *Cereus* plants

tein extraction from Aloe vera tissues, a succulent plant, similar to cacti. Phenol has also been considered as the most effective for the removal of unwanted interfering substances from the protein samples of tissues from other recalcitrant plants (He and Wang, 2008; Pavoković et al., 2012; Riffel et al., 2012). It has been postulated that, in the case of particularly recalcitrant tissues, acetone and TCA/acetone precipitation do not sufficiently remove nucleic acids, carbohydrates and polyphenols, which cause co-precipitation and degradation of proteins. The phenol method, although more laborious and timeconsuming, resulted in higher protein yield and with the lowest contamination rate of samples than the TCA/acetone precipitation method alone for protein extraction from recalcitrant tissues (He and Wang, 2008; Pavoković et al., 2012; Wu et al., 2014).

However, results from the current study are indicative that the use of an extraction solution containing two antioxidant agents (EDTA and β-mercaptoethanol) and PMSF to prevent protein degradation was efficient to avoid proteolysis and lower yield of proteins using TCA/acetone precipitation for protein extraction from shoots of Cereus sp. Although the use of phenol is reported to be the most appropriate procedure for protein extraction from recalcitrant tissues, a significant proportion on cellular proteins may be lost from the extracts during the extraction procedure with phenol. The phenol extraction method involves more steps than the TCA/acetone method while a 'minimum-steps' method is preferred with protein extraction procedures (Isaacson et al., 2006). The TCA/acetone method described by He and Wang (2008) involved only one precipitation, two centrifugations and three washes after homogenization of the tissues, whereas nine steps (including one overnight precipitation at -20°C) were reported for phenol method. Thus, the use of the TCA/acetone method described by He and Wang (2008) represented a minimum-steps method and, thus, a shorter time for the extraction of proteins from shoot tissues of *Cereus* plants.

A relatively simple extraction buffer containing one phenol-complexing agent (PVP) and two antioxidant agents (β-mercaptoethanol and EDTA) was also used for electrophoresis of the several isozymes in shoot tissues of the cactus Cereus peruvianus (Mangolin and Machado, 1997), while phenol and ammonium acetate were employed for the protein extraction from callus tissues of C. peruvianus (Mangolin et al., 1999) for two-dimensional electrophoresis of callus tissues grown in culture media containing different concentrations of auxin and cytokinin. Only one phenol-complexing agent (PVP) and a cocktail of protease inhibitors (Roche, USA) were used for protein extraction from tissues of the cactus Mammillaria gracilis grown in vitro (Rogic' et al., 2015). The TCA/acetone/ $\beta$ -mercaptoethanol method plus protease inhibitors (Roche, USA) was also employed for protein extraction from several species of succulent plants and some cactus species (Lophocereus marginatus, Mammillaria magnimamma and Opuntia ficus-indica) instead of phenol precipitation method (Lledías et al., 2017). The evidence from these studies actually demonstrates that, in the case of tissues with different levels of interfering substances, different phenol complexing agents and different antioxidant agents are required. The physiological state of each tissue is the decisive factor of a greater or lesser complexity in protein extraction processes. As types and concentrations of polysaccharides, polyphenols and other secondary metabolites may be induced in response to environmental factors, different types and concentrations of phenolcomplexing agents and antioxidant agents may be needed for the same tissue in different environmental conditions. According to Wendel and Weeden (1989), extraction solutions for tissues with moderate levels of interfering substances require at least two phenol-complexing and two antioxidant agents, while at least four phenol-complexing and three antioxidant agents are needed for tissues with high levels of interfering substances.

## 4. Conclusions

The simplest method (TCA/acetone precipitation), described by He and Wang (2008), and the use of two antioxidant agents and a protease inhibitor showed a number of protein fractions greater than the number of protein fractions detected with the phenol method in shoots of Cereus analyzed in current study (plants with erect shoots and plants of the varieties tortuosus and monstruosus). The authors' expectation is to use this simple method of extracting proteins for proteomic analysis of the phenotypic variants from the genus Cereus. However, the use of phenol or other phenol-complexing and antioxidant agents to extract proteins from shoots of other Cereus plants grown in different regions or in different environmental conditions (different seasons of the year, e.g.) may be needed. Consequently, the proposal to establish a 'universal protocol' for succulent plants, such as cacti, seems unattainable. Therefore, testing with extraction buffers and precipitation methods, which may be time-consuming and laborious, seems indispensable for further analysis of other *Cereus* plants in a proteomic-based approach.

## Acknowledgements

The authors would like to thank the Coordenação de Aperfeiçoamento de Pessoal de Nível Superior, Brasília, DF, Brazil) for financial support (CAPES; Finance Code 001) and Conselho Nacional de Desenvolvimento Científico e Tecnológico (CNPq), Grant No. 306508/2013-3.

## References

- ALMEIDA C.A., FIGUEIREDO R.M.F., QUEIROZ A.J.M., OLIVEIRA F.M.N., 2007 - *Características físicas e químicas da polpa de xiquexique*. - Rev. Ciências Agronômica, 38: 440-443.
- ALVAREZ M., COSTA S.C., HUBER A., BARON M., FONTANA J.D., 1995 *The cuticle of the cactus* Cereus peruvianus *as a source of a homo-D-galacturonan.* Appl. Biochem. Biotechn., 51/52: 367-377.

- BARROS M.J., NOZAKI J., 2002 Pollutants abatement from effluents of paper and pulp industries by flocculation/coagulation and photochemical degradation. - Quimica Nova, 25: 736-740.
- COCHRAN W.G., COX G.M., 1957 *Experimental designs*, 2nd edn. - John Wiley, New York, London and Sydney.
- DURBIN J., WATSON G.S., 1951 Testing for Serial Correlation in Least Squares Regression, II. -Biometrika, 38: 159-179.
- FERREIRA E.B., CAVALCANTI P.P., NOGUEIRA D.A., 2018 *ExpDes: Experimental Designs. R package version 1.2.0.* https://CRAN.R-project.org/package=ExpDes
- FOX J., WEISBERG S., 2019 An {R} Companion to Applied Regression, Third Edition. - Thousand Oaks Sage, CA, USA.
- GROSS J., LIGGES U., 2015 Nortest: Tests for Normality. R package version 1.0-4. - https://CRAN.Rproject.org/package=nortest
- HE C.-F., WANG Y.-M., 2008 Protein extraction from leaves of Aloe vera L., a succulent and recalcitrant plant, for proteomic proteins analysis. - Plant Mol. Biol. Rep., 26: 292-300.
- ISAACSON T., DAMASCENO C.M.B., SARAVANAN R.S., HE Y., CARMEN CATALA' C., SALADIE' M., ROSE J.K.C., 2006 - Sample extraction techniques for enhanced proteomic analysis of plant tissues. - Nature Protocols, 1: 769-774.
- KELLEY W.A., ADAMS R.P., 1977 Preparation of extracts from juniper leaves for electrophoresis. -Phytochemistry, 16: 513-516.
- LAEMMLI U.K., 1970 Cleavage of structural during the assembly of the head of bacteriophage T4. Nature, 227: 680-685.
- LILLIEFORS H.W., 1969 On the Kolmogorov-Smirnov test for the exponential distribution with mean unknown. -J. Amer. Stat. Assoc., 64: 387-389.
- LLEDÍAS F., HERNÁNDEZ F., RIVAS V., GARCIA-MENDOZA A., CASSAB G.I., NIETO-SOTELO J., 2017 - A rapid and reliable method for total protein extraction from succulent plants for proteomic analysis. - Protein J., 36: 308-321.
- LOOMIS W.D., 1969 Removal of phenolic compounds during the isolation of plant enzymes. - Methods Enzymol., 13: 555-563.
- LOOMIS W.D., 1974 Overcoming problems of phenolics and quinones in the isolation of plant enzymes and organelles. - Methods Enzymol., 31: 528-544.
- MANGOLIN C.A., MACHADO M.F.P.S., 1997 Isozyme extraction from shoot tissue of Cereus peruvianus (Cactaceae) for electrophoresis analysis. - Biochem. Genet., 35: 205-210.
- MANGOLIN C.A., OTTOBONI L.M.M., MACHADO M.F.P.S., 1999 - Two-dimensional electrophoresis of Cereus peruvianus (Cactaceae) callus tissue proteins. -Electrophoresis, 20: 626-629.
- MIZRAHI Y., 2014 *Cereus peruvianus* (Koubo) new cactus fruit for the world. Rev. Brasil. Fruticul., 36: 68-78.
- O'NEILL M.E., MATHEWS K.L., 2000 A weighted least

squares approach to Levene' test of homogeneity of variance. - Aust. N.Z.J. Stat., 42: 81-100.

- PATTERSON R.E., 1946 The use of adjusting factors in the analysis of data with disproportionate subclass numbers. J. Amer. Stat. Assoc., 41: 334-346.
- PAVOKOVIĆ D., KRIŽNIK B., KRSNIK-RASOL M., 2012 -Evaluation of protein extraction methods for proteomic analysis of non-model recalcitrant plant tissues. -Croatica Chemica Acta, 85: 177-183.
- R CORE TEAM, 2019 *R: A language and environment for statistical computing*. R Foundation for Statistical Computing, Vienna, Austria.
- RIFFEL A., VIANA L.S., COSTA J.G., SANT'ANA A.E.G., 2012 -Boletim de Pesquisa e Desenvolvimento: avaliação de métodos de extração de proteínas de tecido foliar e radicular de cana-de-açúcar para estudos de proteômica [Research and Development Bulletin: evaluation of methods of extracting leaf and root cane protein from sugarcane for proteomics studies]. - Embrapa Tabuleiros Costeiros, Aracaju, SE, Brazil.
- ROGIC' T., HORVATIC' A., TKALEC M., CINDRIC' M., BALEN B., 2015 - Proteomic analysis of Mammillaria gracilis Pfeiff. in vitro-grown cultures exposed to iso-osmotic NaCl and manitol. - Plant Cell Tissue and Organ Cult., 122: 127-146.
- SILVA J.G.M., MELO A.A.S., REGO M.M.T., LIMA G.F.C., 2011 - Native cacti associated with 'sabiá' and 'flor de

seda' shrub hays in dairly goats' feeding. - Rev. Caatinga, 24: 158-164.

- SNEDECOR G.W., COCHRAN W.G., 1980 Statistical Methods, 7th edn. - Iowa State University Press, Ames, Iowa, USA.
- TANAKA L.Y.A., OLIVEIRA A.J.B., GONÇALVES J.E., CIPRIANI T.R., SOUZA L.M., MARQUES M.C.A., WERNER M.F.P., BAGGIO C.H., GORIN P.A.J., SASSAKI G.L., JACOMINI M., 2010 - An arabinogalactan with anti-ulcer protective effects isolated from Cereus peruvianus. - Carbohidrate Polymers, 82: 714-721.
- TUKEY J.W., 1953 Some selected quick and easy methods of statistical analysis. Trans. N.Y. Acad. Sci., 16: 88-97.
- WENDEL J.F., WEEDEN N.F., 1989 Visualization and interpretation of plant isozymes, pp. 5-45. - In: SOLTIS D.E., and P.S. SOLTIS (eds.) Isozymes in plant biology. Discorides Press, Portland, OR, USA.
- WESTERMEIER R., NAVEN T., 2002 *Proteomics in practice: A laboratory manual of proteome analysis.* - Wiley-VCH, Weinheim, Germany.
- WILKINS M.R., PASQUALI C., APPEL R.D., 1996 From proteins to proteomes: large scale protein identification by two-dimensional electrophoresis and amino acid analysis. - Biotechnology, 14: 61-65.
- WU X., GONG F., WANG W., 2014 Protein extraction from plant tissues for 2-DE and its application in proteomic analysis. - Proteomics, 14: 645-658.